

transfer pricing documentation standards 2019



FOREWORD

Over the last decade, due to economic developments, many countries experienced reduced tax bases and declining tax revenues. As a consequence, the pressure has never been higher on governments and tax authorities to protect domestic tax revenues without increasing tax rates. In order to increase the tax base, many countries decided to work together in the project led by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) on Base Erosion and Profit Shifting, which came known as the BEPS-project. The BEPS-project resulted in 15 action points to increase the tax base by countering tax avoidance. With 4 action points dealing with transfer pricing, it is clear that transfer pricing has become one of the most important areas tax authorities will be focusing on going forward.

Within this context, BEPS action point 13 provides guidance to countries by establishing common minimum standards for transfer pricing documentation for midsize and large size multinational enterprises, consisting of a Master File, Local File and a country-by-country report. This publication provides the reader with a comprehensive overview of the implementation of BEPS action point 13 in domestic legislation, which not only covers documentation standards but also deals with specific local requirements on domestic exemptions, timing and penalty regimes.

PKF has a global transfer pricing practice and provides a one-stop service for multinational groups in taking care of their transfer pricing requirements across many jurisdictions. With offices in over 400 locations, we operate in more than 150 countries across our 5 regions, and specialise in providing high quality transfer pricing services to international and domestic organisations in all our markets. We can assist you in managing your transfer pricing risks and ensuring that your transfer pricing policies and documentation are BEPS-proof. Notably, our services include:

BEPS-proof transfer pricing health check

A diagnostic health check will identify inappropriate BEPS transfer pricing policies and inadequate documentation from a BEPS and local standpoint. This will provide a clear summary of potential issues.

Development of transfer pricing mechanisms and policies

We will develop your transfer pricing policies and ensure they conform to OECD and local country principles and regulations.

Preparation of transfer pricing documentation based on a functional analysis

We can help you prepare robust documentation to support the arm's-length pricing nature of your related party transactions, including supportive transfer pricing studies and reports.

Advance Pricing Agreements

We assist throughout the negotiation process with a tax authority to agree a specified transfer pricing method which can be applied to certain transactions and remove uncertainty.

Responses to transfer pricing questions from the authorities

We assist you in responding to tax authority queries, in any jurisdiction, where rational explanations of why your related party transactions comply with local regulations are required.

Representation and dispute resolution

We will assist you to defend against additional tax assessments resulting from administrative or legal challenges to your transfer pricing policies.

Against this background, our publication of "PKF transfer pricing documentation standards" is intended to give you an initial overview of essential requirements for transfer pricing documentation in important countries regarding ever-recurring questions. The positive feedback we received on our first edition in 2018 has encouraged us to produce an updated and expanded edition in 2019, in which even more countries are commented upon than in the first edition. To find more information on how PKF may help you with your transfer pricing requirements, please visit our website at www.pkf.com/services/taxation/transfer-pricing.

IMPORTANT DISCLAIMER

All information contained herein is believed to be correct at the time of publication, 31 March 2019. The contents should not be used as a basis for action without further professional advice.

While utmost care has been taken in the compilation of this publication, no responsibility will be accepted for any inaccuracies, errors or omissions.

This publication should not be regarded as offering a complete explanation of the taxation matters that are contained within this publication. This publication has been sold or distributed on the express terms and understanding that the publishers and the authors are not responsible for the results of any actions which are undertaken on the basis of the information which is contained within this publication, nor for any error in, or omission from, this publication.

The publishers and the authors expressly disclaim all and any liability and responsibility to any person, entity or corporation who acts or fails to act as a consequence of any reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this publication.

Accordingly no person, entity or corporation should act or rely upon any matter or information as contained or implied within this publication without first obtaining advice from an appropriately qualified professional person or firm of advisors, and ensuring that such advice specifically relates to their particular circumstances.

PKF International Limited (PKFI) administers a family of legally independent firms. Neither PKFI nor the member firms of the network generally accept any responsibility or liability for the actions or inactions of any individual member or correspondent firm or firms.

PKF INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

MARCH 2019

© PKF INTERNATIONAL LIMITED AII RIGHTS RESERVED USE APPROVED WITH ATTRIBUTION

CONTENTS

FOREWORD	i
IMPORTANT DISCLAIMER	ii
CONTENTS	iii
STRUCTURE OF COUNTRY DESCRIPTIONS	iv
ARGENTINA	1
AUSTRALIA	6
AUSTRIA	13
BELGIUM	19
BRAZIL	24
BULGARIA	
CHILE	34
CHINA	37
CZECH REPUBLIC	44
DENMARK	46
ECUADOR	55
GERMANY	58
GREECE	64
HONG KONG	69
HUNGARY	75
INDIA	80
ITALY	86
JAPAN	94
KENYA	
KOREA (SOUTH KOREA)	
MEXICO	
NETHERLANDS	115
PAKISTAN	121
PERU.	
POLAND	131
PORTUGAL	139
ROMANIA	144
RUSSIA	
<u>SLOVAKIA</u>	
<u>SPAIN</u>	
SWITZERLAND	
<u>UKRAINE</u>	171
UNITED KINGDOM	
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA	

- 1. Introduction
- 1.1 Legal context
- 1.2 Practical context

2. Formal requirements

- 2.1 Which taxpayers
- 2.2 Aggregation of transactions
- 2.3 Deadlines (timing)
- 2.4 Materiality
- 2.5 Retention of documents
- 2.6 Frequency of documentation updates
- 2.7 Tax return disclosures
- 2.8 Burden of proof
- 2.9 Penalties
- 2.10 Interest
- 2.11 Use of most reliable information
- 2.12 Languages
- 2.13 Confidentiality

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

- 3.1 Master File
- 3.2 Local File

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

- 4.1 Threshold and required content
- 4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Buenos Aires	Gustavo Director	+54 11 5235 6446
		gdirector@pkfargentina.com.ar

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

Many changes were introduced into local legislation from 1998 onwards in relation to the treatment to be applied to transactions between related parties, most of them aimed at making local rules consistent with the OECD approach. The five transfer pricing methods specified in OECD Guidelines are comparable uncontrolled price (CUP), resale price minus, cost plus, profit split, and the transactional net margin method (TNMM)) and were introduced in Article 15 of the Income Tax Act.

These transfer pricing methods became applicable to transactions ranging from the transfers of tangible (except when Article 8 is to be applied) and intangible property, services, financial transactions, and licensing of intangible property. Transfer pricing documentation requirements were introduced in 2000 and the requirement to file such documentation in 2001.

In Argentinean tax legislation, there are no references to the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines. Nevertheless, in the Regulatory Decree of the Income Tax Law, the five factors of comparability are added, with a similar scope to those mentioned in the Guidelines.

Also in line with the OECD Guidelines were the clarifications on what would be considered comparable transactions for each different type of transaction (financial, intangibles, services, etc.), and the comparability adjustments that could be used to reduce the differences in comparability.

Regulations currently in effect:

- Income Tax Act art. 8, 14, 15, 15.1, 129 and 130.
- AFIP (Administración Federal de Ingresos Públicos Inland Revenue Service) General Ruling 1122 (applicable for fiscal years beginning on 31 December 1999).
- AFIP (Administración Federal de Ingresos Públicos Inland Revenue Service) General Ruling 4130: CbC Report and Information Regime for members of a MNE Group.

1.2 Practical context

The tax authorities are expected to become more aggressive and skilled in transfer pricing. Fiscal tax audits are expected to increase significantly, as training improves and inspectors gain experience in transfer pricing audits. As the number of audits increases, some of the main areas being examined include intercompany debt, technical services fees, commission payments, royalty payments, transfers of intangible property, and management fees.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

Transfer pricing rules apply to:

- taxpayers who carry out transactions with related parties located abroad and who are encompassed by the provisions of Article 69 of the Income Tax Act (mainly local corporations and local branches, other types of companies, associations or partnerships, trusts or similar entities);
- taxpayers who carry out transactions with individuals or legal entities located in countries with low or no taxation, whether related or not;
- taxpayers resident in Argentina, who carry out transactions with permanent establishments abroad that they own; and
- taxpayers resident in Argentina who are owners of permanent establishments located abroad, for transactions carried out by the latter with related parties located abroad.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

Separate documentation of each business transaction is necessary. An aggregation is possible to apply each method; therefore the transactions can be assessed together.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

- Form 742: to be submitted on the first 6-month period of the fiscal year, in the 5th month after the first half-year end;
- Form 969: to be submitted 15 days after the due date for general delivery of an Income Tax Return (5 months after fiscal year end);
- Form 743 + Transfer Pricing Report with the certification by an independent CPA (through Form 4501) + Statutory Financial Statements (in case they have not already been filed before): to be submitted every year in the 8th month after the end of the fiscal year;
- Form 4501, in order to submit the pdf file with the Transfer Pricing Report and the certification by an independent CPA, to be submitted every year in the 8th month after the end of the fiscal year;
- · Form 741: to be submitted on a half-year basis in the 5th month after each half-year end;
- · Form 867: to be submitted every year in the 7th month after the end of the fiscal year;
- · Form 968: to be submitted monthly before the last business day of the following month;
- Record of Related Parties: must be filed following fiscal year 2014 and any update should be informed 10 business days after the related party relationship is entered into/discontinued.
- RG 4130 information regime form MNE affiliates, or CbC Report: to be submitted every year in the 3rd month after the end of the fiscal year.

Taxpayers must submit these TP Tax Returns and documentation electronically through the AFIP's website.

2.4 Materiality

All transactions with a related party should be supported by TP documentation. There is no threshold below which no TP documentation is required.

2.5 Retention of documents

The statute of limitations for federal tax matters is 5 years, which consequently applies for transfer pricing. This period begins on 1 January of the year following the year in which the tax return is due. The transfer pricing documentation must be kept by the taxpayer for up to 5 years after the period established by the statute of limitations (therefore 11 years).

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

The documentation is required for each year in which transactions with foreign-related parties occur.

The tax authorities require taxpayers to prove that they have operated under the arm's-length principle.

The documentation should not only be contemporaneous, but it should exist at the due date for filing informative returns. As from that moment, the documentation should be available to examiners and it should be kept until 5 years after the expiration of the statute of limitation period for the relevant tax.

The data that the local taxpayer should document and which are necessary for the Tax Administration to review or apply some of the methods set forth in Argentine legislation are:

- Taxpayer data and information about their functions or activities (production, research and development, marketing, sale and distribution, shipment, inventory, installation, after-sale service, administration, accounting, legal, personnel, information technology, finance, etc.);
- Complete information about the foreign-related party and documentation, if any, indicating the nature of the relevant transaction;
- · Transactions made with related parties, amounts and currency used;
- · Consolidated financial statements, if applicable based on the pricing method used;
- · Contracts and agreements executed;
- Information about the taxpayer's financial standing, about the enterprise's environment and the market in which it operates, commercial strategies, cost structure; and
- · Information and documentation supporting the transfer pricing procedure followed.

2

2.7 Tax return disclosures

Transfer pricing requirements in Argentina state the obligation of the taxpayers to submit the following Informative Tax Returns:

- Form 742: for transactions with related entities located in foreign countries or companies located in non-cooperative countries (jurisdictions not mentioned in the "cooperative for fiscal transparency purposes" list, available at AFIP website in the following link http://www.afip.gob.ar/jurisdiccionesCooperantes/);
- Form 969: for transactions with related entities located in foreign countries or companies located in non-cooperative countries. This Form requires more detailed information than Form 743;
- Form 743: for transactions with related entities located in foreign countries or companies located in non-cooperative countries;
- Form 4501: used for filing the required Transfer Pricing Report and the certification by an independent certified public accountant (CPA), and it should contain three digital signatures: the taxpayer, the CPA involved, and the representative of the professional association where the CPA has been licensed;
- Form 741: for imports and exports of commodities with independent entities, not located in non-cooperative countries;
- Form 867: for imports and exports of tangible goods (non-commodities) with independent entities, not located in non-cooperative countries, which are jointly above ARS 1 million (approximately USD 60,000); and
- · Form 968: for transactions performed between local related parties.
- RG 4130 information regime for local MNE affiliate, or CbC Report: This information regime includes the disclosure of the final entity who will submit the CbC Report for the group, if applicable.

2.8 Burden of proof

The general rule is that the taxpayer has the burden of proof, as it is obligated to file a report with certain information related to transfer pricing regulations together with the income tax return. If the taxpayer has submitted proper documentation, AFIP must demonstrate why the taxpayer's transfer prices are not arm's length and propose an amount of transfer pricing adjustment in order to challenge the transfer prices of the transaction. Once the AFIP has proposed an alternative transfer pricing method and adjustment, it is up to the taxpayer to defend the arm's-length nature of its transfer prices.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

Argentine legislation includes specific rules for penalties to be imposed as a result of events on non-compliance with the rules governing international transactions.

The penalty system is the following:

- 1. Failure to file a tax return by the corresponding deadline:
 - Informative complementary return of import and export transactions between independents: ARS 1,500 (approx. USD 90) for individuals and ARS 9,000 (approx. USD 530) for corporations.
 - Informative complementary return of transactions with foreign subjects except for the above-: ARS 10,000 (approx. USD 590) for individuals and ARS 20,000 (approx. USD 1.10) for corporations.
- 2. Failure to submit informative returns of international transactions or returns with information about the taxpayer itself or about third parties as requested by the tax authority:
 - Penalties: ARS 500 (approx. USD 30) to ARS 45,000 (approx. USD 2.60). These fines are in addition to those above and the amounts depend on taxpayer's status and seriousness of the breach.
- 3. Higher-income taxpayers:
 - When the taxpayer has an annual income of ARS 10,000,000 (approx. USD 590,000) or more, the penalty imposed upon failure to comply with the third request is 2 to 10 times the maximum amount established (ARS 45,000 or approximately USD 2.60), which shall be added to the rest.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

Failure to pay the tax:

- General: 50% to 100% of the tax that was not paid, withheld or collected.
- International transactions: 1 to 4 times the tax that was not paid or withheld.

If the tax authorities consider that a taxpayer has manipulated its results intentionally, the fine can climb to 10 times the tax amount evaded, in addition to the penalties established by the Criminal Tax Act 24,769. The tax authorities have the discretion to analyse the transfer pricing arrangement(s) by consideration of any relevant facts and application of any methodology they deem suitable.

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

Concerning the local application of country-by-country (CbC) reporting, rulings for CbC reporting have been enacted through GR 4130. This ruling includes two chapters:

a.- ruling CbC reporting from local (Argentinean) MNE's headquarters.

b.- disclosure file from local affiliates belonging to an MNE whose headquarters is abroad and is obliged to file CbC Report in its jurisdiction.

2.10 Interest

The general rules apply. Interest on tax payments in arrears is charged at a rate of 3% per month starting from the tax due date. No interest is due on penalties.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

Comparable information is required to determine arm's-length prices and should be included in the taxpayer's transfer pricing documentation. Argentine companies are required to make their annual accounts publicly available by filing a copy with the local authority. However, the accounts would not necessarily provide much information on potentially comparable transactions or operations because they do not contain much detailed or segmented financial information. Therefore, reliance is often placed on foreign comparables.

The tax authorities have the power to use third parties' confidential information.

The legislation of Argentina contains provisions regarding the methods to be used in order to determine whether transactions between related parties satisfy the arm's-length principle.

Income Tax Act (art. 15) stipulates that the method(s) to be used are those that are most appropriate based on the type of transaction made.

The most appropriate method to determine whether transfer prices are consistent with normal market practices between independent parties shall be the one that best reflects the economic reality of transactions. The best method shall be the one that:

- Is most compatible with the business and commercial structure.
- Has the best information as regards quality and quantity for an appropriate justification and application.
- Provides for the most appropriate degree of comparability between related and unrelated transactions and the enterprises involved in such comparison.
- Requires the lowest level of adjustments to eliminate the differences between comparable facts and situations.

The conclusion of the above is that the transfer pricing methodology contained in Article 15 of the Income Tax Act establishes no order of precedence for the use of the methods, with the exception of the case of commodities transactions under certain circumstances.

The taxpayer shall have to indicate the reasons why a given method has been chosen and prove that the mechanism chosen is the most appropriate for the transaction made.

2.12 Languages

The Transfer Pricing Report to be submitted to the Tax Authorities must be in Spanish. If the Transfer Pricing Report contains information in a foreign language, there is a need to attach a translation into Spanish by a national public translator, whose signature must be certified by the institution of Argentina in which the translator is enrolled.

Α

2.13 Confidentiality

With data collected in tax returns relating to transfer pricing, the AFIP can analyse the conduct of the MNEs by economic sector, analyse what is reported in relation to transfer pricing, and analyse the conduct of MNEs in relation to specific transactions. Such information is confidential, and is used by the AFIP for research purposes in order to plan a strategy for tax audit, but also to evaluate the effectiveness of the transfer pricing regulations.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

General Ruling 1122 provides a detail of information to keep and disclosure.

Taxpayers have transfer pricing-related obligations: to prepare, maintain and file transfer pricing documentation; and to file an information return (special tax return) on transactions with non-resident-related parties. In addition, taxpayers are required to maintain some documentation on import or export of goods between unrelated parties.

3.1 Master File

There are no special requirements for a Master File since the Local File must include the information regarding MNEs when applicable.

3.2 Local File

AFIP has issued rulings requiring the documentation of the arm's-length nature of transactions entered into with related parties outside of Argentina. In this regard, the transfer pricing regulations require that taxpayers prepare and file a special tax return detailing their transactions with related parties. These returns must be filed along with the taxpayer's corporate income tax return.

The following information must be included:

1. Local entity and Corp Group

- Activities and functions performed by the taxpayer and group.
- Risks borne and assets used by the taxpayer in carrying out such activities and functions.
- Detail of elements, documentation, circumstances, and events taken into account for the analysis or transfer price study.
- Conclusions reached.

2. Controlled transactions

- Detail and quantification of transactions performed and covered by the rulings.
- Identification of the foreign parties with which the transactions being declared are carried out.
- Method used to justify transfer prices, indicating the reasons and grounds for considering them to be the best method for the transaction involved.
- Identification of each of the comparables selected for the justification of the transfer prices.
- Identification of the sources of information used to obtain such comparables.
- Detail of the comparables selected that were discarded, with an indication of the reasons considered.
- Detail, quantification, and methodology used for any necessary adjustments to the selected comparables.
- Determination of the median and the interquartile range.

3. Financial information

- Transcription of the income statement of the comparable parties corresponding to the fiscal years necessary for the comparability analysis, with an indication as to the source of the information.
- Description of the business activity and features of the business of comparable companies.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

Rulings for CbC reporting have been issued through GR 4130. This ruling requests CbC reporting from local (Argentinean) headquarters, and an information regime for local affiliates belonging to an MNE whose headquarters is abroad and is obliged to file a CbC Report in its jurisdiction.

AUSTRALIA

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Sydney	lain Spittal	+61 2 8346 6000
		ispittal@pkf.com.au

1. Introduction

The purpose of Australia's transfer pricing framework is to ensure the appropriate amount of Australian tax is paid. This is achieved by requiring businesses to price International Related Party Dealings (IRPDs) according to what independent parties acting independently would reasonably be expected to have done in the same situation.

Pricing for IRPDs should reflect a fair return for the functions carried out in Australia, the assets used in Australia (whether sold, lent or licensed), and the risks assumed in carrying out these activities.

There are several internationally accepted methodologies that can be used to comply with the arm's-length principle. Australia's transfer pricing rules do not mandate any particular methodology or preference for the order in which you apply methodologies to arrive at an arm's-length outcome. The Australian legislation simply seeks to adopt the method that is the most appropriate or best suited to the circumstances of each particular case.

The appropriate arm's-length consideration should reflect the reality of operating in a commercial or financial environment. That is, whatever method a taxpayer uses should give a commercially realistic outcome. It is generally expected that a reasonable business person would seek to:

- · maximise the price received for supplying property or services
- · reduce cost associated with acquiring property or services
- be appropriately rewarded for any activities carried out.

Australian application of the law in this area is aligned with the approach taken by the OECD.

1.1 Legal context

Current transfer pricing laws are contained in Division 815 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

Subdivisions 815-B, 815-C and 815-D took effect for income years commencing on or after 29 June 2013 and were intended to strengthen Australia's transfer pricing rules and ensure alignment with OECD transfer pricing guidelines.

The rules provide the ATO with broad powers to replace actual operating conditions with arm's-length conditions. Where an Australian entity gets a transfer pricing benefit from actual conditions which differ from the arm's-length conditions in connection with their financial or commercial relations, the arm's-length conditions are taken to operate for income tax purposes and the taxpayer would be required to make an upwards adjustment to their taxable income.

Key elements of the system include:

- The provisions are self-executing and do not rely on the ATO making a determination
- · OECD guidance has been specifically incorporated into Australia's domestic transfer pricing rules
- · The Public Officer is expected to ensure compliance with the transfer pricing rules
- A 7-year time limit for making transfer pricing adjustments
- The ATO has been given specific reconstruction provisions to disregard actual transactions and substitute hypothetical arm's-length transactions in circumstances such as where:
 - the form of the actual commercial or financial relations is inconsistent with the substance of those relations;
 - independent entities dealing wholly independently with one another in comparable circumstances would have entered into alternate commercial or financial relations (i.e. being different in substance from the actual commercial or financial transactions); or
 - independent entities dealing wholly independently with one another in comparable circumstances would not have entered into commercial or financial relations at all (refer to TR 2014/6).

Transfer pricing rules and guidance are contained in various publications and ATO guidance documents. We have listed a number of the key provisions below:

- Taxation Ruling (TR) 92/11: Loan arrangements and credit balances
- TR 94/14: Basic concepts underlying the operation of Australia's transfer pricing rules
- TR 97/20: Arm's-length pricing methodologies
- TR 98/11: Documentation and practical issues
- TR 98/16: Penalty tax guidelines
- TR 1999/1: Pricing for intra-group services
- TR 2000/16: Relief from double taxation and the mutual agreement procedure
- TR 2001/11: Attributing profits to permanent establishments
- TR 2003/1: Applying the arm's-length debt test
- TR 2004/1: Cost contribution arrangements
- TR 2007/1: Effect of determinations under Division 13, including consequential adjustments
- TR 2010/7: Interaction of thin capitalisation transfer pricing
- TR 2011/1: Business restructurings by multinational enterprises
- TR 2014/6: Application of section 815–130
- TR 2014/8: Transfer pricing documentation and Subdivision 284-E
- Practice Statement Law Administration (PS LA) 2014/2: Administration of transfer pricing penalties for income years commencing on or after 29 June 2013
- PS LA 2014/3: Simplifying transfer pricing record-keeping
- PS LA 2015/4: Advance pricing arrangements.

Australian transfer pricing rules are also complimented by other specific rules designed to counter multinational tax avoidance as follows:

Multinational Anti-Avoidance Rule

The Australian Multinational Anti-Avoidance Rule applies in the following circumstances:

- A foreign entity makes supplies to an Australian customer
- Activities are undertaken in Australia by an Australian entity (or permanent establishment) which are directly in connection with the supply by an entity which is an associate of, or commercially dependent on, the foreign entity
- Some or all of the income derived by the foreign entity is not attributable to an Australian PE of the foreign entity; and
- There is a principal purpose of obtaining an Australian tax benefit or a reduction in tax liabilities arising under foreign law.

Penalties of up to 120% of the tax avoided can be payable. The application of the MAAL requires an ATO assessment.

Diverted Profits Tax

The Diverted Profits Tax (DPT) was introduced in March 2017 and imposes a penalty tax of 40% to profits diverted offshore through related party arrangements. The DPT will apply to income years commencing on or after 1 July 2017, whether or not the relevant transactions were entered into before that date.

The DPT:

- Imposes a 40% penalty rate of tax on profits transferred offshore through related party transactions with insufficient economic substance where the tax paid on the profit is reduced by more than 20%
- Applies where it is reasonable to conclude based on information available to the ATO that the arrangement is designed to secure a tax reduction
- Requires upfront payment of any DPT liability which can only be adjusted following a successful review
 of the initial assessment
- Puts the onus on taxpayers to provide relevant and timely information on offshore related party transactions to the ATO to prove why the DPT should not apply.

Australia

The Australian government has introduced hybrid mismatch rules with effect from 1 January 2019 (with no grandfathering of existing arrangements) which will have a broad impact.

A "hybrid mismatch" arises where there is exploitation of differences in the tax treatment of an entity or a financial instrument under the laws of two or more countries and a tax benefit arises as a result.

Some examples of hybrid arrangements include financing instruments that may be treated as equity in one jurisdiction and debt in another jurisdiction (e.g. redeemable preference shares) or entities that may be treated as taxable in one jurisdiction but "flow through" in another (e.g. limited partnerships).

These arrangements provide tax benefits to multinational groups because they result in payments that may be tax deductible in one jurisdiction but not assessable or assessable to lower tax in another jurisdiction or alternatively be deductible in both jurisdictions.

To neutralise these tax benefits the rules will deny tax deductions for the Australian entity or require an amount to be included in assessable income.

The ATO have released draft Practical Compliance Guideline PCG 2018/D4 which sets out the ATO's views as to whether steps taken by taxpayers to comply with the hybrid mismatch rules will be seen to be low risk (e.g. simply removing hybrid arrangements) or high risk (e.g. replacing existing hybrid arrangements with new arrangements that comply with the proposed new laws but preserve the tax benefit received under the former hybrid arrangements).

1.2 Practical context

In order to assist taxpayers to manage their Australian transfer pricing obligations, the ATO has issued a number of practical compliance guidelines (PCGs). These are intended to provide a framework to convey to taxpayers the ATO's assessment of relative levels of tax compliance risk across a spectrum of behaviours and arrangements. These PCGs allow for taxpayers to assess their risk by taking into account the ATO's specific views on the arrangements in question:

- PCG 2017/1 this contains out the ATO's compliance approach in relation to offshore related party
 procurement, marketing, sales and distribution hubs. The PCG identifies and defines hub arrangements
 and classifies these into one of six different transfer pricing risk categories or 'zones'. To the extent that
 the particular hub falls outside the green zone then these are more likely to be reviewed by the ATO.
- PCG 2017/2 this updates previously released guidance on the Simplified Transfer Pricing Record Keeping (STPRK) options that are available to taxpayers in certain circumstances. For qualifying taxpayers, the STPRK options reduce the compliance burden in relation to documentation and risk of their international related party dealings. To the extent that taxpayers can apply the STPRK options, the ATO will not dedicate compliance resources to qualifying taxpayers/international dealings.
- PCG 2017/4 this contains the ATO's proposed compliance approach with respect to how the ATO
 assess risk in relation to cross-border related party financing arrangements. This PCG continues the use
 of a colour spectrum (previously used in PCG 2017/1) to assess and clarify tax risk in respect of funding
 arrangements whilst also allocating scores to various attributes of the funding arrangements. The ATO
 intend to allocate compliance activities depending on the colour of classification.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

The transfer pricing rules apply to all Australian taxpayers.

Significant Global Entities (SGEs) are defined to be members of a group where the total annual group revenue exceeds A\$1bn. There are significant additional obligations on SGEs including a requirement to lodge the following documents with the ATO under Country-by-country reporting (CbC reporting) requirements:

- · General Purpose Financial Statements;
- Master File
- Local File
- Country-by-country report.

SGEs also have a higher potential penalty exposure and a significant exposure to late lodgement penalties for all tax filings (including, but not limited to, the above documents).

Please note that the size of the Australian entity is irrelevant to its classification as an SGE. Thus, any subsidiary of a global group with revenue in excess of A\$1bn is classified as an SGE in Australia (and must comply with all relevant documentation filing requirements).

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

Aggregation of transactions may be required in appropriate circumstances.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

Transfer pricing documentation must be contemporaneous in order for the taxpayer to qualify for any penalty protection. Documentation will only be considered contemporaneous if it is prepared prior to lodgement of the tax return.

For SGEs the general purpose financial statements must be lodged at the same time as the tax return (usually 6 months and 15 days after the end of the tax year). The remainder of the CbC Reports must be lodged within 12 months of the end of the tax year.

2.4 Materiality

There is no specified materiality level for the transfer pricing rules to apply in Australia.

There are a variety of options for taxpayers with relatively simple affairs to comply with certain 'safe harbours' and minimize the need to prepare detailed transfer pricing documentation. These options are referred to as the Simplified Transfer Pricing Record Keeping Options. For example, loans in certain circumstances (including the interest rate being set in accordance with a specified benchmark) may qualify for this treatment.

2.5 Retention of documents

As the ATO has 7 years to make transfer pricing adjustments, a taxpayer should retain documentation for at least this long.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

The preparation of transfer pricing documentation in Australia is not compulsory, however, as noted elsewhere, only contemporaneous transfer pricing documentation will qualify a taxpayer for penalty protection.

This documentation is required to be prepared annually. However, it is possible to roll-forward analysis undertaken in prior years if no significant changes to the facts or circumstances have occurred. Such a roll-forward would usually be done by way of a short report explaining why no changes have occurred and the previous transfer pricing analysis can continue to be relied upon.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

The tax return lodged by Australian taxpayers contains a number of questions relating to international related party dealings (IRPDs). In particular, taxpayers with annual IRPDs in excess of \$2m are required to complete an International Dealings Schedule (IDS). The IDS contains various requirements including disclosure of the quantum and type of IRPDs as well as the relevant countries involved and the applicable transfer pricing methodology used.

Much of the information on an IDS is similar to what is included in a Local File. As a result, SGEs can choose to file Part A of their Local File at the same time as their tax return should they wish to avoid this duplication of effort

2.8 Burden of proof

In Australia, the burden of proof on tax matters rests with the taxpayer under a self-assessment regime. The ATO's expectation is that the Public Officer (person responsible for tax filings in Australia and who signs the tax return) will ensure that transfer pricing requirements are given due consideration.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

Australia has a comprehensive penalty regime for taxpayers based on an assessment of their conduct:

- · 25% for lack of reasonable care or not having a reasonably arguable position
- 50% for recklessness or a scheme where the sole or dominant purpose was reducing tax
- 75% for intentional disregard of a tax law.

Australia

Please note that these penalties are doubled for SGEs.

The relevant percentages are applicable to the tax shortfall amount.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

The penalty regime for TP follows the above percentages. Please note that unless the taxpayer has contemporaneous TP documentation (i.e. prepared before the income tax is lodged) the taxpayer will not be considered as having a reasonably arguable position – i.e. will not be able to argue for penalty protection.

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

Failure to lodge the CbC reporting documentation (any of country-by-country report, Master File, Local File or general purpose financial statements) can attract a penalty for late lodgement ranging from \$105,000 to \$525,000 per document.

2.10 Interest

Interest will be charged in relation to any tax shortfall. The rate depends on the specific facts and circumstances of the case but is usually at a punitive rate (i.e. above cost of funding) and it is compounded. As a result, interest can rise quickly.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

The ATO generally prefers local comparables, however, foreign comparables can be used where local comparables are not available.

2.12 Languages

All documentation must be available in English.

2.13 Confidentiality

The ATO actively exchanges information with other tax authorities where permitted to do so by:

- Exchange of information articles included in Australia's Double Tax Agreements
- Tax Information Exchange Agreements.

Australia is a party to the Multilateral Convention on Mutual Administrative Assistance in Tax matters and an active participant in the Joint International Tax Shelter Information Centre.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

Importantly, the Master File and Local File are not considered transfer pricing documentation in Australia capable of providing any sort of penalty protection. Thus, under Australian rules, the Master File and Local File are additional to the normal requirement to prepare complying transfer pricing documentation.

Complying transfer pricing documentation (i.e. that which is eligible to provide penalty protection) needs to be prepared in accordance with the Australian transfer pricing rules, including the OECD Guidelines, and the ATO's taxation rulings and practice statements interpreting the Australian transfer pricing rules.

The ATO has issued guidance on the documentation process, contained within Taxation Ruling TR 2014/8, which sets out the ATO's "5 step" process for taxpayers to follow when preparing transfer pricing documentation in order to comply with the transfer pricing documentation standards. The five steps are:

- Step 1: Identify the actual conditions in connection with the commercial or financial relations;
- Step 2: Select the most appropriate and reliable method to be used to identify the arm's-length conditions;
- Step 3: Identify the comparable circumstances relevant to identifying the arm's-length conditions.

These are the conditions that might be expected to operate between independent entities dealing wholly independently with one another in comparable circumstances.

To identify comparable circumstances Section 815-125(3) requires a consideration of the following factors being:

- i. Functions performed, assets used and risks borne by the entities;
- ii. Characteristics of any property or services transferred;
- iii. Terms of any relevant contractual arrangements between the entities;

- iv. Economic circumstances, for example, a consideration of the different markets, market sizes, position of competitors etc.; and
- v. Business strategies of the entities; for example, are they going through a market penetration/ expansion phase.

The "basic rule" for identifying arm's-length conditions is set out in Section 815-130(1) of the Act. The basic rule requires that the identification of arm's-length conditions must be based on the actual commercial or financial relations that operated and should have regard to both the form and the substance of the relations.

Whilst the ATO states that in its view the "basic rule" will apply in most cases, this rule is subject to three exceptions (when the actual conditions can be replaced by alternative arm's-length conditions). The exceptions are:

- The actual relations can be disregarded if the form of those dealings is inconsistent with their substance – Section 815-130(2);
- Independent parties would have entered into the transaction differently, in substance, in comparable circumstances – Section 815-130(3); or
- Independent parties would not have entered into the transaction in comparable circumstances – Section 815-130(4).
- Step 4: Application of the transfer pricing rules so as best to achieve consistency with the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines.
- Step 5: Monitor, review and update transfer prices, as necessary.

These five steps are usually included within a detailed transfer pricing report which is retained by the taxpayer -i.e. this report is not required to be lodged with the ATO as part of the normal tax filing requirements.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

As noted above, SGEs (i.e. members of a group where the total annual group revenue exceeds A\$1bn) are required to file CbC Reports in Australia.

General principles - Master File

The Australian requirements on the content of a Master File are in accordance with the OECD requirements.

General principles - Local File

The ATO have specified information required in the Local File which goes significant beyond OECD guidelines. An Australian Local File comprises three parts:

- 1. Short-form Local File
- 2. Part A of the Local File
- 3. Part B of the Local File

More information on these is provided below.

Short form Local File

The short form Local File requires high level disclosures, as set out below, about five aspects of the local Australian entities and their operations:

- · organisational reporting structure including overseas reporting lines for local functions
- business and strategy
- business restructures including significant changes in ownership structure, related party funding arrangements, assets or operations
- · transfer of intangibles including associated related party licensing or service arrangements
- key competitors.

The short form Local File is intended to be a narrative style report with sufficient level of information and detail to ensure the ATO are aware of:

 formal and effective overseas reporting lines for your functions and staff, including any dual or multiple reporting lines

Australia

- significant changes in your ownership or related party funding structure, including any resulting cross border tax hybrid arrangements
 - significant disposals or acquisitions, or commencement or cessation of operations .
 - transactions or dealings connected with relevant changes or transfers.

For some taxpayers below relevant materiality thresholds, only a short-form Local File is required.

Other taxpavers will be required to complete Part A and Part B of the Local File in the electronic format (XML) as prescribed by the ATO. Note, only a small number of software providers offer a complying reporting solution. The specific requirements are as noted below:

Controlled Transactions - Part A

The following information for all controlled transactions for the income year (note, in some circumstances where the transactions are included in a relevant agreement series (RAS), all the agreements covered by the particular RAS are aggregated for the purpose of completing Part A):

- Australian counterparty TFN or ABN
- name of the non-resident counterparty
- country of tax residence of the non-resident counterparty .
- transaction category
- amounts of consideration payable/receivable (of a capital nature for Australian income tax purposes) .
- amounts of expenditure/revenue (not of a capital nature for Australian income tax purposes) .
- for IRP debt factoring and securitisation arrangements, the book value of transferred debts .
- where foreign currency gains or losses are incurred for the transaction, disclosure of the FX gains . and losses
- the transfer pricing method or capital asset pricing methodology relied on for the transaction .
- the transfer pricing documentation code/STPRK for the purposes of Part B and whether the transaction is covered by a category on the exclusions list.

Documentation - Part B

For each transaction not covered by the exclusions list, essentially material controlled transactions, the following information is required:

- the transfer pricing method relied on for the transaction
- an indication of whether there is a written agreement and, if so, whether the agreement has been previously provided to the ATO (if previously provided, the title of the agreement must be provided again to enable ATO identification)
- a copy of the agreement (unless previously provided) .
- any foreign Advance Pricing Arrangement (APAs) or rulings provided by another jurisdiction in relation to an agreement (unless previously provided to us).

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

Each taxpaver which meets the SGE criteria is responsible for lodging their own CbC Reports subject to the following comments:

- General Purpose Financial Statements these must be lodged by each taxpayer;
- Master File this can be lodged by one group entity in Australia which must notify the ATO of all other . entities which it is lodging on behalf of. Each other entity must also notify the ATO of who has lodged the Master File on their behalf.
- Local File this must be lodged by each taxpayer .
- Country-by-Country report this can be lodged by either an Australian group entity or an overseas entity (provided it is lodged in a country which has agreed to exchange information with Australia). The local Australian taxpayer must notify the ATO of who has lodged the Country-by-Country report on its behalf and their country of residence.

Given the significant penalties involved with late lodgement of any CbC Reports, it is imperative that all relevant requirements (e.g. notification) are complied with.

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Graz	Clemens Corti	+43 316 82 60 82
		clemens.corti@pkf.at
Salzburg	Stephan Rößlhuber	+43 662 84 22 90
		stephan.roesslhuber@pkf.at
Vienna	Thomas Außerlechner	+43 1 51 28 780
		thomas.ausserlechner@pkf.at

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

Before 1 January 2016 Art 9 OECD-model convention, section 6 no. 6 EStG 1988 and the according legal requirements laid down in the BAO required a proper documentation for transnational transactions. This legal frame is still in force for all companies, independent of their size.

In 2016 the "Verrechnungspreisdokumentationsgesetz" (short "VPDG") and the accompanying decree "Verrechnungs preis dokumentationsgesetz-Durchführungsverordnung), (short "VPDG-DV") were implemented. The obligation to file the CbC Report and to establish a Master and a Local File was defined. This is applicable for fiscal years starting 1 January 2016 or later.

1.2 Practical context

The formal documentation has to be reorganised and new timelines and reporting requirements have to be regarded.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

Austria requires Austrian-parented multinational enterprises (MNEs) or a local subsidiary with a global consolidated group turnover of at least EUR 750 million in the previous year to file a CbCR.

According to paragraph 5 of the VPDG, an Austrian entity is allowed to file the CbC Report as a surrogate if:

- · the ultimate parent company does not have to file a CbC Report in its country of residence;
- the country of residence of the ultimate parent company did not ratify a binding agreement for data exchange of the CbC Report; or
- there is a systemic failure of the country of residence of the ultimate parent company.

An entity will fall under the Master File documentation requirement if it has turnover exceeding EUR 50 million in each of the 2 preceding years. However, a Master File must also be presented even if the Austrian entity will not exceed the revenue threshold but there is another group entity that must prepare a Master File.

There is an exemption for companies of which the threshold of EUR 50 million turnover is not met in the 2 preceding years. In that case, the Austrian TP requirements according to the Austrian TP Guidelines apply.

Local subsidiaries that are part of a non-resident group only need to file the Master File prepared in another country upon request.

The local entity is required to prepare a Master File if the country of the parent company or reporting entity of the group has not adopted a Master File requirement in its local rules or regulations if the local entity's turnover exceeds EUR 50 million in each of the 2 preceding years.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

Following section 7 para. 1 no. 2 VPDG in combination with section 9 VPDG, the Local File has to inform about intragroup business transactions which are material and influencing in the transfer prices and for the control of the correct pricing level.

Austria

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

CbCR:

By the last day of the tax year the ultimate parent company is obliged to inform the tax authorities that it falls within the scope of these duties. Entities which are part of such a group have to file a declaration by the last day of their tax year, in which the ultimate parent company publishing the CbCR and its home country are identified. In most business cases, that information has to be filed for the first time by 31 December 2016.

The CbCR has to be submitted electronically to the relevant tax authority. The deadline is 12 months from tax year-end. In most cases, CbCR will have to be filed for the first time by 31 December 2017.

The CbCR will be sent to the other relevant tax authorities after 15 months from tax year-end. The first sharing may be done up to 18 months after the end of the tax year.

2.4 Materiality

In principle all transactions with associated enterprises should be supported by TP-documentation. There are no formal thresholds below, where no TP-documentation is required. However, in consideration of the basic principle that the administrative burden should be justified by the complexity and (tax) importance of the transaction, the more complex and material the transactions are, the more extensive the TP-documentation should be.

2.5 Retention of documents

Basically, the documentations have to be retained for seven years. The retention period does not expire as far and as long as the documents are of importance for taxes for which the assessment period has not run out yet.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

The Master File, Local File and CbC Report must be updated every year, because they relate to a particular fiscal year.

For continuous business transactions (e.g. long-term loans), the company has to collect and record in-formation even after the conclusion of the business transaction (e.g. the conclusion of the loan agreement). A significant change in the facts and circumstances could also lead to an update of the documentation.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

There is no separate disclosure to the tax returns. For filing the local and the Master File, see 2.3

2.8 Burden of proof

If the taxpayers keep appropriate TP-documentations in their records and do not have an explicitly unreasonable and unsupported point of view with respect to the used transfer prices, the tax authorities must prove that the used transfer prices are not correct. If there is no TP-documentation available or there are evident shortcomings in the documentation, the burden of proof can turn to the taxpayer.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

Non-compliance with CbCR regulations may lead to a fine up to EUR 50,000 (section 49b Finanzstrafgesetz).

An administrative offence can be:

- late filing; or
- not filing requested information or errors in the information.

Gross negligence can be fined up to EUR 25,000. Minor negligence for submitting the wrong data does not constitute an offence.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

Apart from the rules mentioned above in section "2.10.1 Penalties regarding CbCR", there are no specific rules on penalties in case of a TP adjustment. As a consequence, the normal rules on the consequences of income adjustments apply, including fines for thoughtless tax evasion.

2.10 Use of most reliable information

There are no specific requirements in Austria regarding the use of comparables and as to the question of whether only domestic or foreign comparables will be accepted by the fiscal authorities.

2.11 Languages

The documentation has to be prepared in German or in English (section 10 VPDG).

2.12 Confidentiality

The CbCR will be submitted automatically to the relevant foreign tax authorities.

The Austrian tax authorities will treat the TP-documentation confidentially. The tax authorities can only exchange the TP-documentation with the tax authorities of another country if there is a legal basis. This legal basis can be found in the national law, a tax treaty or an EU-directive. The TP-documentation is never available to the public.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

The TP-documentation standards are published in detail in the directive on transfer pricing 2010 (Verrechnungspreisrichtlinien 2010. Documentation standards regarding the Master and the Local File can be found in the VPDG-DV.

3.1 Master File

The following information has to be included in the Master File (section 6 VPDG, section 1 VPDG-DV):

1. Organisational structure

Chart illustrating the MNE's legal and ownership structure and geographical location of operating entities.

2. Description of MNE's business(es)

General written description of the MNE's business including:

- a) Important drivers of business profit.
- b) A description of the supply chain for the group's five largest products and/or service offerings by turnover plus any other products and/or services amounting to more than five percent of group turnover. The required description could take the form of a chart or a diagram.
- c) A list and brief description of important service arrangements between members of the MNE group, other than research and development (R&D) services, including a description of the capabilities of the principal locations providing important services and transfer pricing policies for allocating services costs and determining prices to be paid for intra-group services.
- A description of the main geographic markets for the group's products and services that are referred to under b.
- e) A brief written functional analysis describing the principal contributions to value creation by individual entities within the group, i.e. key functions performed, important risks assumed, and important assets used.
- A description of important business restructuring transactions, acquisitions and divestitures occurring during the fiscal year.

3. MNE's intangibles (as defined in Chapter VI of the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines)

- A general description of the MNE's overall strategy for the development, ownership and exploitation of intangibles, including location of principal R&D facilities and location of R&D management.
- b) A list of intangibles or groups of intangibles of the MNE group that are important for transfer pricing purposes and which entities legally own them.
- c) A list of important agreements among identified associated enterprises related to intangibles, including cost contribution arrangements, principal research service agreements and license agreements.
- d) A general description of the group's transfer pricing policies related to R&D and intangibles.
- e) A general description of any important transfers of interests in intangibles among associated enterprises during the fiscal year concerned, including the entities, countries, and compensation involved.

Austria

4. MNE's intercompany financial activities

- a) A general description of how the group is financed, including important financing arrangements with unrelated lenders.
- b) The identification of any members of the MNE group that provide a central financing function for the group, including the country under whose laws the entity is organised and the place of effective management of such entities.
- c) A general description of the MNE's general transfer pricing policies related to financing arrangements between associated enterprises.

5. MNE's financial and tax positions

- a) The MNE's annual consolidated financial statement for the fiscal year concerned if otherwise prepared for financial reporting, regulatory, internal management, tax or other purposes.
- b) A list and brief description of the MNE group's existing unilateral advance pricing agreements (APAs) or similar arrangements.

3.2 Local File

The following information should be included in the Local File (section 7 VPDG, section 7 ff VPDG-DV):

1. Local entity

- a) A description of the management structure of the local entity, a local organisation chart, and a description of the individuals to whom local management reports and the country(ies) in which such individuals maintain their principal offices.
- b) A detailed description of the business and business strategy pursued by the local entity including an indication whether the local entity has been involved in or affected by business restructurings or intangibles transfers in the present or immediately past year and an explanation of those aspects of such transactions affecting the local entity.
- c) Key competitors.

2. Controlled transactions

For each material category of controlled transactions in which the entity is involved, provide the following information:

- a) A description of the material controlled transactions (e.g. procurement of manufacturing services, purchase of goods, provision of services, loans, financial and performance guarantees, licences of intangibles, etc.) and the context in which such transactions take place.
- b) The amount of intra-group payments and receipts for each category of controlled transactions involving the local entity (i.e. payments and receipts for products, services, royalties, interest, etc.) broken down by tax jurisdiction of the foreign payer or recipient.
- c) An identification of associated enterprises involved in each category of controlled transactions, and the relationship amongst them.
- d) Copies of all material intercompany agreements concluded by the local entity.
- e) A detailed comparability and functional analysis of the taxpayer and relevant associated enterprises with respect to each documented category of controlled transactions, including any changes compared to prior years.
- f) An indication of the most appropriate transfer pricing method with regard to the category of transaction and the reasons for selecting that method.
- q) An indication of which associated enterprise is selected as the tested party, if applicable, and an explanation of the reasons for this selection.
- h) A summary of the important assumptions made in applying the transfer pricing methodology.
- i) If relevant, an explanation of the reasons for performing a multi-year analysis.
- A list and description of selected comparable uncontrolled transactions (internal or external). if anv. i) and information on relevant financial indicators for independent enterprises relied on in the transfer pricing analysis, including a description of the comparable search methodology and the source of such information.

- A description of any comparability adjustments performed, and an indication of whether adjustments have been made to the results of the tested party, the comparable uncontrolled transactions, or both.
- A description of the reasons for concluding that relevant transactions were priced on an arm's-length basis based on the application of the selected transfer pricing method.
- m) A summary of financial information used in applying the transfer pricing methodology.
- A copy of existing unilateral and bilateral/multilateral APAs and other tax rulings to which the local tax jurisdiction is not a party and which are related to controlled transactions described above.

3. Financial information

- a) Annual local entity financial accounts for the fiscal year concerned. If audited statements exist they should be supplied and if not, existing unaudited statements should be supplied.
- b) Information and allocation schedules showing how the financial data used in applying the transfer pricing method may be tied to the annual financial statements.
- c) Summary schedules of relevant financial data for comparables used in the analysis and the sources from which that data was obtained.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

A MNE with a consolidated group revenue of more than EUR 750 million should provide the Austrian tax inspector with a CbC Report. The report contains the following information about the MNE:

- a. For each country in which the MNE is active, information about the revenue, the earnings before tax (EBT), the paid income tax, the accrued income tax, the stated capital, the accumulated earnings, the number of employees and the tangible assets other than cash and cash equivalents.
- b. A description of every group entity of the MNE mentioning the tax jurisdiction of residence, and if deviant, the state under whose law the group entity is established and the main business or operations of that group entity.
- c. Additional information which is considered as necessary or that would facilitate the understanding of the CbCR. They have to be given in English (section 11 VPDG-DV).

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

In principle, the country report is provided by the ultimate parent company of the MNE in its state of residence. The state of residence will exchange the country report automatically with the Austrian tax authorities. An Austrian ultimate parent company needs to provide the Austrian tax inspector with the country report. The Austrian tax authorities will automatically exchange this report with the jurisdictions in which the MNE is active and with which Austria has concluded an agreement for automatic exchange of information.

The Austrian group entity is required to provide the Austrian tax authorities with the report if:

- 1) The foreign ultimate parent company is not required to provide the tax authorities a report in its state of residence.
- 2) The foreign ultimate parent company is required to provide the tax authorities a report in its state of residence, but there is no Agreement between that state and Austria which provides for automatic exchange of the report.
- The Austrian tax authorities informed the Austrian group entity there is a structural negligence of the state of residence of the ultimate parent company.

This requirement by the Austrian group entity can be prevented, if the report is provided by a surrogate ultimate parent company, under the following conditions:

- 1) The surrogate ultimate parent company is required to provide the report in its state of residence.
- 2) There is an agreement between that state and Austria which provides for automatic exchange of report.
- 3) The state of residence of the surrogate ultimate parent company is not structural negligent in the exchange of the report.
- The surrogate ultimate parent company has notified its state of residence it will act as a surrogate ultimate parent company.

Austria

5) The Austrian group entity has notified the Austrian tax authorities which foreign group company has taken over the requirement to provide the report.

In this way it is ensured that the Austrian tax authorities are provided with the report, either by an Austrian taxpayer or by the tax authorities of another state.

The MNE must provide the report within 12 months after the last day of the financial year of the MNE.

A subsidiary company needs to notify the Austrian tax authorities should the ultimate mother refuse to provide the information needed. The reporting then has to be done with the information available.

В

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Brussels	Kurt De Haen	+32 2460 0960
		kurt.dehaen@pkf-vmb.be
Brussels	Wouter Brackx	+32 2454 0752
		wouter.brackx@pkf-vmb.be

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

The Belgian Law of 1 July 2016 formally introduced transfer pricing ("TP") documentation rules into Belgian tax law. These rules are laid down in article 321/1-321/7 of the Belgian Income Tax Code ("BITC") and contain specific TP documentation requirements which may have a significant impact on "large" companies which are part of a multinational Group and which are active in Belgium.

The Belgian TP documentation rules entered into force for financial years commencing as of 1 January 2016 and include a Master File ("MF"), Local File ("LF") and a Country-by-Country report ("CbC Report") or CbC-notification ("CbC-not") form.

1.2 Practical context

The new documentation requirements which entered into force as of 1 January 2016 can lead to a significant administrative burden as they are applicable to every Belgian tax resident affiliate or Belgian permanent establishment ("PE") of a multinational Group which exceeds certain thresholds in the financial year preceding its most recently closed financial year according to its Belgian GAAP annual accounts on a non-consolidated basis.

It is therefore advised for all multinational taxpayers that are active in Belgium to promptly and critically consider their (actual and relevant) TP documentation obligations.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

The Belgian TP documentation requirements are applicable to every Belgian tax resident affiliate or Belgian PE of a multinational Group which exceeds one of the below criteria in the financial year preceding its most recently closed financial year according to its BE GAAP annual accounts on a non-consolidated basis:

- Gross operational and financial turnover (excluding one-off transactions) exceeding EUR 50 million;
- Balance-sheet total exceeding EUR 1 billion;
- · Average personnel exceeding 100 full time equivalents.

If the above condition is satisfied, the Belgian affiliate or Belgian PE will have to promptly file a MF and a LF with the Belgian tax authorities

In addition and in summary, "if" the Group has a consolidated gross turnover (i.e. gross operational, gross financial and gross extraordinary turnover) of more than EUR 750 million, a CbC reporting formality will have to be satisfied. Such a CbC Report will, in principle, have to be filed by the parent company of the Group in the country in which this parent company is a tax resident. However, in some cases, a Belgian tax resident company or Belgian PE of the Group may be obliged to file the CbC Report in Belgium within 12 months after the end date of the financial year of the parent company of the Group. Every Belgian tax resident company or Belgian PE of a "large" multinational Group will in any event have to inform the Belgian tax authorities of the identity of the company that will file the CbC Report before the end of the financial year of the parent company. This is the so-called CbC-not formality.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

Strictly speaking, the premise is that TP documentation is required for each individual transaction with associated enterprises. Obviously, in practice this could lead to an unreasonable administrative burden. Therefore, the Belgian tax authorities may agree that if a proper aggregation of transactions is possible

Belgium

В

(for example because there is a large number of similar transactions), the transactions can be jointly assessed. In this case, aggregation may be accepted if the taxpayer can demonstrate that the transfer prices used with regard to the aggregation of transactions are at arm's length.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

The LF needs to be filed within the legal deadline which also applies for the filing of the Belgian corporate income tax return, i.e. usually by the end of September. E.g. the LF with respect to the financial year per 31.12.X should generally be electronically filed with the Belgian tax authorities by the end of September X+1. The MF in turn needs to be filed before the end of the financial year of the ultimate parent company.

The CbC Report needs to be filed within 12 months of the end of the relevant financial year of the parent company of the Group. The CbC-not needs to be completed before the end of the financial year of the ultimate parent company.

2.4 Materiality

In principle, all transactions with associated enterprises should be supported by TP documentation. There are no formal thresholds below which TP documentation is not required. However, in light of the basic principle that the administrative burden should be justified by the complexity and (tax) importance of the transaction, the more complex and material the transactions are, the more extensive the TP documentation should be.

Furthermore, it should be noted that Belgian tax law provides for the following thresholds as regards TP documentation reporting requirements:

- The LF contains a specific section (part 2) applicable to cross-border transactions in the hands of a business unit of a Belgian tax resident company. Specifically, part 2 only needs to be filed if the company has at least one business unit which realised cross-border intercompany transactions exceeding EUR 1,000,000 per annum;
- In addition, the taxpayer has the option to only report transactions in part 2 of the LF exceeding a
 materiality threshold of EUR 25,000 per transaction.

2.5 Retention of documents

A Belgian taxpayer is required to keep its administrative records for at least 7 years, and for 15 years if real estate is involved. Since the TP documentation is part of a taxpayer's records, this 7 year period also applies to the TP documentation.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

In practice, the TP documentations should be updated every few years to account for normal business and market developments. A significant change in the facts and circumstances could also lead to a more detailed update of the documentation.

The MF, LF and CbC Report must be updated every year, because they relate to a particular fiscal year.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

Belgian corporate taxpayers have the option to enclose the LF as an annex with their annual Belgian corporate tax return. However, if they do not do so, the LF in any event needs to be filed within the same filing deadline as the corporate income tax return.

2.8 Burden of proof

It is the responsibility of the taxpayer that any applied intercompany TP is at arm's length, hence the need for qualitative and robust TP documentation.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

If the TP documentation requirements are infringed, a fine of EUR 1,250 can be due upon the first infringement and if the Belgian tax authorities also demonstrate deliberate intentions(incl. tax evasion) in the hands of the taxpayer, a fine of EUR 12,500 can be due. In the case of a second infringement, the fine increases to EUR 25,000. According to the previous text of law, no fine was due upon a first infringement. In the absence of deliberate intentions, a fine is only due in the case of a second infringement and amounts to EUR 1,250. The fine increases after the second infringement.

В

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

In case of a TP adjustment, standard tax increases varying between 10%-200% of the adjustment may be applied.

2.10 More focus of Belgian tax authorities for TP aspects

We would like to share with you the following recent trends on the market:

- Within the Belgian tax authorities, there is a special team that is exclusively specialised in TP matters. Specifically, as of 2018 this team has increased its headcount from 27 to 42 TP tax inspectors to be fully equipped to carry out TP tax audits;
- The co-operation between the specialised TP team of the Belgian tax authorities and its "Large Companies Department" and the "Special Tax Inspectorate" (BBI/ISI: this is a Department focusing on the bigger cases of tax evasion and tax avoidance) has been extended. To illustrate: these teams will have similar training sessions and will carry out joint tax audits;
- Going forward, the specialised TP team will adopt a new tax audit methodology. Before, approximately 100 companies per annum selected at random received a detailed TP questionnaire. Conversely and going forward, companies and PEs will be selected for TP tax audit purposes based on information derived from e.g. a LF, MF and/or CbC Report.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

With regard to the benchmarking analysis to be made, the OECD prefers to use the most reliable information available. In this regard the BEPS report states the following: "The requirement to use the most reliable information will usually...require the use of local comparables over the use of regional." (BEPS Action 13, p. 24-25). However, local comparables may not be sufficiently available. If local comparables are insufficiently available, regional comparables are allowed.

In the case of Belgium, (Western) European comparables are generally accepted.

2.12 Languages

The TP reporting can be made in English or in one of the three Belgian official languages (being Dutch, French or German). If the TP reporting is made in English, the Belgian tax inspector may ask for a translation into one of the three Belgian official languages upon a tax audit.

2.13 Confidentiality

The Belgium tax authorities will treat the TP documentation confidentially. The tax authorities can only exchange the TP documentation with the tax authorities of another country if there is a legal basis. This legal basis can be found in Belgium domestic tax law, a tax treaty or an EU Directive. The TP documentation is never available to the public.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

The Belgian TP documentation standards are published in the Belgian Law of 1 July 2016 and three Royal Decrees dated 28 October 2016. The Royal Decrees provide information and models regarding the forms to be filed. The English version of these models are included in sections 3.1 (Master File) and 3.2. (Local File) hereafter:

3.1 Master File

The following information should be included in the MF (Form 275MF):

1. Organisational structure

Chart illustrating the MNE's (multinational enterprise's) legal and ownership structure and geographical location of operating entities.

2. Description of the MNE's business(es)

General written description of the MNE's business including:

- a) Important drivers of business profit.
- b) A description of the supply chain for the Group's five largest products and/or service offerings by turnover plus any other products and/or services amounting to more than 5 percent of group turnover. The required description could take the form of a chart or a diagram.

Belgium

- c) A list and brief description of important service arrangements between members of the MNE Group, other than research and development (R&D) services, including a description of the capabilities of the principal locations providing important services and TP policies for allocating services costs and determining prices to be paid for intra-group services.
- A description of the main geographic markets for the Group's products and services that are referred to under b.
- e) A brief written functional analysis describing the principal contributions to value creation by individual entities within the Group, i.e. key functions performed, important risks assumed, and important assets used.
- A description of important business restructuring transactions, acquisitions and divestitures occurring during the fiscal year.

3. MNE's intangibles (as defined in Chapter VI of the OECD TP Guidelines for MNEs and Tax Administrations)

- A general description of the MNE's overall strategy for the development, ownership and exploitation of intangibles, including location of principal R&D facilities and location of R&D management.
- b) A list of intangibles or groups of intangibles of the MNE group that are important for TP purposes and which entities legally own them.
- c) A list of important agreements among identified associated enterprises related to intangibles, including cost contribution arrangements, principal research service agreements and license agreements.
- d) A general description of the Group's TP policies related to R&D and intangibles.
- e) A general description of any important transfers of interests in intangibles among associated enterprises during the fiscal year concerned, including the entities, countries, and compensation involved.

4. MNE's intercompany financial activities

- a) A general description of how the Group is financed, including important financing arrangements with unrelated lenders.
- b) The identification of any members of the MNE Group that provide a central financing function for the Group, including the country under whose laws the entity is organised and the place of effective management of such entities.
- c) A general description of the MNE's general TP policies related to financing arrangements between associated enterprises.

5. MNE's financial and tax positions

- a) The MNE's annual consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year concerned if otherwise prepared for financial reporting, regulatory, internal management, tax or other purposes.
- b) A list and brief description of the MNE Group's existing unilateral advance pricing agreements (APAs) and other tax rulings relating to the allocation of income among countries.

3.2 Local File

The following information should be included in the LF (Form 275 LF):

1. General company information

- a) A description of the management structure of the Belgian company, *i.e.* a description of the departments/ divisions/sections of the Belgian company and the name of the manager of each department/division/section.
- b) A description of the Belgian organisation structure, *i.e.* an overview of the direct shareholders or the head-office of the company.
- c) A description of the direct shareholdings over which the company has direct control.
- d) A description of the Belgian reporting structure within the Belgian company and from the Belgian company towards foreign countries.
- e) A description of the main activities of the Belgian company.
- f) An overview of the main competitors.
- g) Key data of the Belgian company, *i.e.* ultimate parent entity, reporting structure, foreign head-office and foreign permanent establishments, restructurings.

В

- Noverview of transactions, both related and unrelated (only if the company is not required to submit full model accounts with the Central balance sheet Office of the National Bank of Belgium).
- 2. Detailed information about each business unit which exceeded the threshold for cross-border transactions with group entities in the last completed financial year
- a) A description of the activities per business unit.
- b) An overview of transaction details, both related and unrelated per business unit.
- c) An overview of related cross-border goods transactions per business unit during the current taxable period.
- An overview of related cross-border service provision transactions per business unit during the current taxable period.
- e) An overview of related cross-border financial transactions per business unit during the current taxable period.
- f) An overview of other related cross-border transactions per business unit during the current taxable period.
- g) An overview of related loans per business unit.
- h) An overview of related cash pooling per business unit.
- i) An overview of related trade receivables and payables per business unit.
- j) A description of the TP methodology and studies per business unit and per nature of transaction.
- An overview of cost contribution agreements, advance pricing agreements, rulings and in-house (re) insurance policies.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

A MNE Group with a consolidated group revenue of more than EUR 750 million should provide the Belgian tax authorities with a CbC Report.

The following information about the MNE should be included in the CbC Report (Form 275 CbC):

- a. For each jurisdiction in which the MNE is active, information about the revenues, the earnings (losses) before tax, the amount of income tax paid, the accrued income tax, the stated capital, the accumulated earnings, the number of employees and the tangible assets other than cash and cash equivalents.
- b. A description of every Group entity of the MNE mentioning the tax jurisdiction of residence, and if different, the state under whose law the Group entity is established and the main business or operations of that Group entity.

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

In principle, the CbC Report is filed by the ultimate parent company of the MNE Group in its state of residence. The state of residence will, in turn, exchange the CbC Report automatically with the Belgian tax authorities.

In principle, a Belgian ultimate parent company needs to provide the Belgian tax authorities with the CbC Report. The Belgian tax authorities will automatically exchange this report with the jurisdictions in which the MNE Group is active and with which Belgium has concluded an Agreement for Automatic Exchange of Information.

In addition, a Belgian tax resident Group entity (not being the ultimate parent company) or Belgian PE is required to provide the Belgian tax authorities with the CbC Report if:

- 1) The foreign ultimate parent company is not required to provide the tax authorities a CbC Report in its tax residence country, or;
- The jurisdiction of the ultimate parent company has, at the latest of 12 months after the reporting period, no qualifying Exchange of Information Agreement with Belgium, or;
- The jurisdiction of the ultimate parent company is systematically failing to exchange CbC Reports and the Belgian tax authorities have informed the Belgian group entity thereof.

In the aforesaid three cases, the Belgian group entity or Belgian PE does not have to file a CbC Report if such report is provided by a "surrogate ultimate parent company" in the latter's country of tax residence.

Specifically, if a Belgian tax resident affiliate or Belgian PE of an MNE Group will not file the CbC Report in Belgium, that affiliate or PE will have to promptly inform the Belgian tax authorities which parent company (ultimate or surrogate) will file the CbC Report in the latter's qualifying tax residence country.

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Sao Paulo	Cleverson Lacerda	+55 11 3070 1000 cleverson.lacerda@pkfbrazil.com.br
Sao Paulo	Isabel Souza	+55 11 3070 1000 isabel.souza@pkfbrazil.com.br

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

The main federal law regulating transfer pricing rules in Brazil is Law No. 9,430/1996. Federal Law 12,715, which was published on 17 September 2012 also introduced significant changes to the Brazilian transfer pricing rules.

To regulate Brazilian transfer pricing, the Brazilian Internal Revenue Service enacted the Normative Rulings No. 1,312/2012, 1,658/2016 and 1,681/2016 and more recently the Federal Decree No. 9,580/2018.

Brazil's transfer pricing rules diverge from international standards, including the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development ('OECD') Guidelines. Brazil's TP rules do not adopt the internationally accepted arm's-length principle. Instead, Brazil's TP rules define a maximum price for deductible expenses on inter-company import of goods, services, rights and interest payments and minimum gross income floors for intercompany export transactions.

Brazil's TP rules do not apply to domestic inter-company transactions.

The transactions subject to TP rules must be documented on a strict transactional basis and fixed statutory profit margins apply. The Brazilian Internal Revenue Service ('RFB') must evidence its compliance with at least one of Brazil's statutory transactional methodologies for each imported or exported product or service. Further details are provided in Section 5 below.

1.2 Practical context

While incorporating transaction-based methods, Brazilian TP rules exclude profit-based methods. This makes it a challenge for entities operating in Brazil to comply with local rules and at the same time avoid double taxation issues.

Despite Brazil generally not adapting OECD standards, in August 2016, the executive branch enacted Decree No. 8,842, which enforced the OECD's Convention on Mutual Administrative Assistance in Tax Matters as from 1 October 2016.

In 2016 the RFB issued the Normative Instruction No. 1,680/2016, which regulates Common Reporting Standards in accordance with Action 13 of the BEPS Act, and the Normative Instruction No. 1,681, which imposes a mandatory country-by-country report, electronically submitted to the tax authorities through a regular administrative obligation platform ('ECF/SPED').

The available mechanisms to resolve transfer pricing disputes in Brazil are rulings and Mutual Agreement Procedures. There are no Advance Pricing Agreements in Brazilian TP legislation. In 2016, to demonstrate Brazil's commitment to the BEPS project and its intention to move closer to the OECD, RFB published the Normative Instruction no.1,669/2016 to implement MAP in Brazil.

On 29 November 2018, the RFB published the Normative Instruction No. 1,846/2018, which replaces NI 1,669/2016, and makes some changes that allow more taxpayers to access the MAP.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

The rules are applicable to imports and exports of products, services and rights, charged between a Brazilian company and one of the following:

A related party* domiciled abroad;

- A third-party resident in a favourable or low-tax jurisdiction (as defined in the Brazilian legislation);
- · A party benefiting from a privileged tax regime.

Brazil's transfer pricing rules do not apply to domestic inter-company transactions.

The main purpose of these rules is to determine the criteria for evaluating international transactions, by assessing whether the prices agreed between the relevant parties are higher or lower than legal parameters and establishing a minimum price for export transactions and a maximum price for import of goods, services, rights and interest payments. TP rules also cover inter-company loans.

The Brazilian Internal Revenue Service has issued lists that should be used as guidance for determining which countries, jurisdictions and tax regimes are included in the legal definition of a favourable tax jurisdiction and a privileged tax regime.

*Definition of Brazilian Related Parties:

- The foreign parent company of a Brazilian company;
- · A foreign subsidiary or branch of a Brazilian company;
- The foreign controller of or affiliated to a Brazilian company;
- · A foreign company controlled by or affiliated to a Brazilian company;
- A foreign company that is under control or management of the same company that controls or manages a Brazilian company;
- A foreign company with at least 10% of its capital and the capital of a Brazilian company belonging to the same shareholder;
- A foreign company that together with the Brazilian company controls a third company or the aggregate participation on its capital follows under the concept of affiliated company;
- A foreign associated company (consortium or condominium);
- A foreign exclusive agent of the Brazilian company;
- · A foreign company for which the Brazilian company is an exclusive agent;
- · An exclusive agent, distributor or dealer of a Brazilian company;
- · A foreign company for which the Brazilian company is an exclusive agent, distributor or dealer;
- A non-resident individual, relative, spouse or companion of the manager, the director, or the shareholder controller of the Brazilian company.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

The rules require that a Brazilian company corroborate its inter-company import and export prices on an annual basis by comparing the actual transfer price with a parameter price determined under any one of the Brazilian equivalents of the OECD's comparable uncontrolled price method (CUP method), resale price method (RPM) or cost plus method (CP method).

Taxpayers are required to elect and apply the same method, for each individual product or type of transaction consistently throughout the respective fiscal year. However, taxpayers are not required to apply the same method for different products and services.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

The related-party transactions are required to be disclosed on the annual tax return which must be submitted by July following the calendar years in which the transactions were performed. Transfer pricing may be reviewed as part of a comprehensive tax audit or through a specific TP audit.

For Brazilian tax purposes, TP checks take place on an annual basis, except in case of incorporation or closure of a company and/or suspected fraud.

2.4 Materiality

In the case of export sales, the regulations provide a safe harbor whereby a taxpayer will be deemed to have an appropriate transfer price. This applies when the average export sales' price is at least 90% of the average domestic sales' price of the same property, services or intangible rights in the Brazilian market during the same period under similar payment terms.

Brazil

There is a secondary compliance rule (herein referred to as the 'relief of proof rule') whereby a taxpayer may be relieved of the obligation to substantiate the export sales' price to foreign-related persons using some statutory methods.

If a taxpayer can satisfy the relief of proof rule, the taxpayer may prove that the export sales' prices charged to related foreign persons are adequate for Brazilian tax purposes using only the export documents related to those transactions.

The relief of proof rules do not apply to export transactions carried out with companies located in low-tax jurisdictions or beneficiaries of a privileged tax regime.

For inter-company import and export transactions, even if the actual transfer price is above the determined transfer price (for import transactions) or below the determined transfer price (for export transactions), no adjustment will be required as long as the actual import transfer price does not exceed the determined transfer price by more than 5% or as long as the actual export transfer price is not below the calculated transfer price by more than 5%.

Brazilian legislation provides a simplification to the documentation requirement for export transactions, if the income derived from those transactions represents less of 5% of the total net income of the entity. This simplification does not apply to commodities transactions.

2.5 Retention of documents

The statute of limitations for the taxes and contributions levied on income are 5 years from the taxable event. Therefore, Brazilian taxpayers are required to keep documents for at least 5 years. Since the TP documentation is part of the records of a taxpayer, this five-year period also applies to the TP documentation.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

TP documentation must be updated annually in July, in relation to the transactions performed in the previous calendar year. Once documentation has been filed with the Brazilian Internal Revenue Service, no further updates are required.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

Since 1999, information concerning TP must be included as part of the annual Corporate Income Tax Return. As of 2015 the corporate tax return is filed by taxpayers through a system called ECF. ECF encompasses the information required for purposes of transfer pricing, Country-by-Country Reporting and a simplified Local File.

Brazilian TP legislation does not require taxpayers to prepare Master file and Local File consistent with Chapter V of the TPG.

Companies must provide detailed disclosure regarding their inter-company import and export transactions, the method applied to test the inter-company price for several import and export transactions, and the amount of any adjustments to income resulting from the application of the method to a specific transaction during each fiscal year.

2.8 Burden of proof

There are no statutory TP documentation requirements in place. Taxpayers are obliged to prove that they have complied with the TP regulations from the date the annual income tax return is filed.

However, the fact that the Brazilian rules allow taxpayers to choose from several methods for each type of transaction provides properly prepared taxpayers with an advantage over the tax authorities. Proper and timely preparation enables taxpayers to collect the necessary information and choose the most appropriate method in advance.

According to the legislation in force, tax authorities can disregard information when considered unsuitable or inconsistent. Assuming the methodology is applied and documented correctly, taxpayers can satisfy the burden of proof and push the burden back to the tax authorities. This also applies when a taxpayer can satisfy the relief of proof rule for inter-company export transactions.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

There is no specific penalty for not complying with TP documentation requirements. In case of untimely filing, taxpayers are subject to the penalty of R\$1,500.00 (approximately US\$450) for each month or fraction of

R

delay. In case of omitted, incomplete or inaccurate information, taxpayers are subject to the penalty of 3% on the value of the commercial or financial transactions omitted.

In case of a tax assessment, taxpayers must present a new calculation and its supporting documentation within 30 days of the first one being disqualified. The tax authority is not required to use the most favourable method available. Consequently, tax authorities will most likely use the method that is most easily applied under the circumstances and assess income tax and social contribution at the maximum combined rate of 34%. The objective of an assessment would not necessarily result in the true arm's length but would be based on an objective price determined by the regulations.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

If the Brazilian tax authorities were to conclude that there is a deficiency and make an income adjustment, penalties may be imposed at the rate of 75% of the assessed tax deficiency. The rate may be reduced by 50% of the penalty imposed if the taxpayer agrees to pay the assessed tax deficiency within 30 days without contesting the assessment. If during a tax audit the taxpayer does not present the supporting documentation related to the transfer pricing adjustments, the general penalty rate applicable of 75% rises to 112.5%.

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

In case of failure to comply with the CbC reporting, or existence of inaccuracies or omissions, the company must provide clarification within the time limits stipulated by the tax authority and shall be subject to the following fines:

- I. By extemporaneous presentation: from BRL 500.00 (five hundred reals) to BRL 1,500.00 (one thousand five hundred reals) per calendar month or fraction.
- II. Failure to comply with the CbC reporting or to provide clarifications within the periods stipulated by the tax authority: BRL 500.00 (five hundred reals) per calendar month; and
- III. Omission of information, provision of inaccurate or incomplete information: 3% (three percent), not less than 100.00 (one hundred reals), of the omitted, inaccurate or incomplete amount.

2.10 Interest

In the case of a TP adjustment, interest would be imposed on the amount of the tax deficiency from the date the tax would have been due if it had been properly recognised. In this instance, the interest rate used is the federal rate established by the Brazilian Central Bank, known as SELIC.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

For Brazilian TP purposes, choosing the more favourable method is the taxpayer's prerogative, and not a compulsory obligation imposed by the tax authorities.

The regulations require a Brazilian taxpayer to provide the TP calculation used to test inter-company transactions conducted with foreign-related parties, along with supporting documentation. If the taxpayer fails to provide complete information regarding the methodologies and the supporting documentation, the regulations grant the tax inspector the authority to make a TP adjustment based on available financial information by applying one of the applicable methods.

Companies must prepare the necessary information and have appropriate reporting systems and controls in order to provide reliable accounting information regarding all transactions conducted with foreign-related parties in advance to properly defend against an audit.

Brazilian taxpayers must therefore present supporting documents complying with the method established to determine the current price and the calculation reports related to the determination of the price to be used as parameter. This way, whenever required by the Brazilian tax authorities, supporting documentation cannot be useless or insufficient to demonstrate the correction of the calculations, and much less so fail to present useful data in order to permit verification of the calculations of the parameter price under the rules of the chosen TP method. Otherwise, non-compliance with this recommendation may result in arbitration of theparameter price.

With respect to proof of the prices, it is important to mention that there is a mechanism in Brazil similar to the Advanced Pricing Agreements (APAs) but much more complex from an operational point of view and with a less favourable position. By making use of it, the profit margin and arbitration may be adjusted by the Ministry of Finance and will be launched in general, sectoral or by specific request, ex officio, in response to the request of a trade association representative of the economic sector or by request of the interested party. However, practice has shown that these are not easily issued by the tax authorities.

2.12 Languages

Most of the TP information is submitted in Portuguese, the official local language. The Country-by-Country Report can be submitted in Portuguese, Spanish or English.

2.13 Confidentiality

В

The information requested by the tax authorities to evaluate the TP calculations may require the company to provide confidential data regarding the production cost per product, the prices charged in the domestic market, and the prices charged to foreign-related and independent parties. Brazilian tax authorities will treat

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

There are no statutory TP documentation requirements in place.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

the TP documentation as confidential

Multinational entities in Brazil with revenue equal to or greater than BRL 2,260,000,000.00 (approximately EUR 750 million, or equivalent on the local currency of the jurisdiction of the ultimate parent entity) must prepare the Country-by-Country reporting.

The CbC Report should contain various information and indicators related to the location of the MNE activities, the global allocation of income and taxes paid and due. All jurisdictions in which multinational groups operate, as well as all constituent entities (including permanent establishments) located in those jurisdictions. The economic activities they perform should also be identified.

5. Brazil's TP methods

Brazilian companies may adopt any TP method and the tax authorities may only change the method chosen if the company does not provide documentation justifying the calculation presented. Exceptions are the mandatory method for transactions involving certain types of commodities, as well as the TP on interest paid in financial transactions, subject to a specific methodology.

5.1 Import of goods, services or rights

Deductible import prices relating to the acquisition of property, services and rights from foreign-related parties should be determined under one of the following Brazilian methods:

- Comparable independent price method (PIC) The Brazilian equivalent to the comparable uncontrolled price (CUP).
- Resale price less profit method (PRL) The Brazilian equivalent to the resale price method (RPM). As of 1 January 2013 a 20% to 40% gross profit margin is required for diverse industries/sectors.
- Production cost plus profit method (CPL) The Brazilian equivalent of the cost plus (CP). Production
 costs for application of the CPL are limited to costs of goods, services, or rights sold. Operating expenses,
 such as research and development (R&D), selling and administrative expenses, may not be included in
 the production costs of goods sold to Brazil.
- Quotation price on imports method (PCI) This new Brazilian method, introduced by Law 12715/12, must be applied to test imports of commodities that are quoted on a commodities exchange (from 2013 onwards).

5.2 Export of goods, services or rights

- Export sales price method (PVEx) The Brazilian equivalent of the CUP method.
- Resale price methods The Brazilian versions of the RPM for export transactions:
 - A profit margin of 15%, calculated by reference to the wholesale price in the country of destination (wholesale price in country of destination less profit method, or **PVA**).
 - A profit margin of 30%, calculated by reference to the retail price in the country of destination (retail price in country of destination less profit method, or **PVV**)
- Purchase or production cost-plus taxes and profit method (CAP) The Brazilian equivalent of the CP method.
- Quotation price on exports method (PECEX) This new Brazilian method, introduced by Law 12715/12, must be applied to test exports of commodities that are quoted on a commodities exchange (from 2013 onwards).

5.3 Intercompany loans - TP rules in Brazil

As of January 2013 interest expenses payable to related parties outside Brazil are subject to transfer pricing deduction limits, above the thin capitalisation rules. If the recipient is located in a tax haven or privileged tax regime jurisdiction, thin capitalisation and transfer pricing rules apply even if the lender is not a related party.

For transfer pricing purposes, interest paid or credited to a related party located abroad will be deductible up to an amount that does not exceed the rate determined based on the following rules, plus a 3.5% spread:

- In the case of a loan denominated in US dollars and subject to a fixed interest rate: the rate corresponding
 to the Brazilian sovereign bonds issued in US dollars in foreign markets;
- In the case of a loan denominated in Brazilian Real and subject to a fixed interest rate: the rate corresponding to the Brazilian sovereign bonds issued in Reals in foreign markets;

In all other cases, LIBOR for the period of six months.

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Sofia	Venzi Vassilev	+359 887 854 668
		venzi.vassilev@pkf.bg

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

The main legislation in respect to transfer pricing consists of Corporate Income Tax Act (CITA), Tax and Social Security Procedures Code (TSSPC), Ordinance No. 9 of 14.08.2006 on the Application of Transfer Pricing Methods and the EU's Code of Conduct for Transfer Pricing Documentation for Associated Entities.

Although there is no specific reference in the Bulgarian transfer pricing legislation, they generally follow the OECD Guidelines. However, there are certain differences - the 2010 and 2017 editions of the OECD Guidelines have not been incorporated in either; the local transfer pricing legislation or the Ordinance. For example, domestic regulations still provide for the hierarchy of methods that was abolished in the OECD Guidelines. Furthermore, Bulgarian transfer pricing rules do not explicitly deal with business restructuring.

1.2 Practical context

Although the Bulgarian legislation requires the entities to prove the Arm's-Length Principle (ALP) in related party transactions, there is no Act with legislative power that obliges the multinational entities to publish Local and Master Files, unless specifically required by the tax authorities. The OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines are generally followed in such cases. However, Country-by-Country reporting is mandatory.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

The subjects of TP legislation, according to the National Revenue Agency (the main tax authorities in Bulgaria), are:

- Multinational Entities, whose ultimate parent entity is a Bulgarian resident, and when total consolidated revenues exceed BGN 100 million for the tax year preceding the reporting tax year; and
- Multinational Entities, whose ultimate parent entity is not a Bulgarian resident, and when total consolidated revenues exceed EUR 750 million for the tax year preceding the reporting tax year.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

There is no specific rule on the analysis of each related party transaction. The Bulgarian TP Guidelines require entities to present the transactions by products and/or type of services in the corresponding documentation. However, in practice TP analysis is usually performed by the corresponding transaction type and quite often these transactions are jointly assessed by the tax inspectors.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

Usually TP documentation is required by the tax authorities during a tax audit, for which the deadline is 14 days after receiving the notification for commencing the tax audit.

A Country-by-Country report must be submitted within 12 months of the end of the MNE's tax year by:

- · The parent enterprise which is a local resident for tax purposes;
- The parent enterprise when it is not a local resident for tax purposes, or by the tax authorities from the country, in which the parent enterprise is a local resident;
- The entity that is part of the MNE and a local resident for tax purposes, but not the ultimate parent, when the parent enterprise will not submit the report for various reasons.

2.4 Materiality thresholds

Based on the National Revenue Agency Ordinance, microenterprises (enterprises employing less than 10 people on average, with an annual turnover of less than BGN 3.9 million [i.e., approximately EUR 1.994 million) and/or assets of less than BGN 3.9 million] do not need to prepare transfer pricing documentation files.

In addition, the preparation of simplified transfer pricing documentation files is possible if the value of the transaction concluded with a related party does not exceed the below thresholds annually:

- 1. BGN 200,000 (approximately EUR 102,000) applicable to supplies of goods;
- 2. BGN 200,000 applicable to supplies of services;
- 3. BGN 400,000 (approximately EUR 205,000) applicable to transactions related to intangibles;
- 4. BGN 400,000 applicable to interest income/expense accrued on related party financing arrangement.

In the simplified transfer pricing documentation file, information on comparative transactions is not specifically required and may only be included if this data is readily available.

However, the TP Guidelines of the National Revenue Agency also stipulate that the above will not apply when:

- The operating profit of the entity engaged in related party transactions is lower with 20% or more than the
 average operating profit for the industry it operates in for each of the 3 years preceding the year when
 the transactions occurred and the entity is unable to prove that the deviation does not originate from its
 related party transactions;
- The respective related party is registered in a non-EU country where the corporate tax rate lower by 60% or more than the Bulgarian corporate tax rate. This exception does not apply if the enterprise provides evidence that the tax due by the foreign-related party is not subject to a preferential regime and the foreign entity has traded the same goods or services on its local market;
- The country where the related party is registered refuses or is not able to exchange information regarding the transactions performed.

2.5 Retention of documents

All entities must retain all accounting and tax records (including TP documentation) for at least 10 years.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

The general rule is that all non-mandatory TP documentation can be updated after the end of the tax year in which relevant events occur.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

All entities disclose information about transactions with related parties annually in the Tax Return for Corporation Tax purposes.

2.8 Burden of proof

According to the Tax and Social Security Procedures Code, it is the taxpayer that should demonstrate the Arm's-Length Principle in their related party transactions. For this reason, a set of documentation is prepared in accordance with the EU's Code of Conduct for Transfer Pricing Documentation for Associated Entities which may include Local and Master Files.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

If the taxpayer does not present documentation when requested by the tax authorities, a fine in the range of BGN 250 to BGN 500 can be imposed. Also, there may be an adjustment of the entity's taxable profit if the tax inspectors deem the price applied in controlled transactions not at arm's length.

Furthermore, an entity involved in a "hidden profit distribution" as defined by CITA would be subject to an administrative sanction amounting to 20% of the expense and classified as a hidden profit distribution (unless voluntarily disclosed to the tax authorities). Both the expense classified as a hidden profit distribution and the sanction would be non-deductible for corporate income tax purposes. In addition, the expense will be considered a deemed dividend and thus subject to a 5% withholding tax.
Bulgaria

Business expenses may be classified as a hidden profit distribution if an entity has:

- Accrued, paid or distributed to the benefit of the entity's shareholders or their related parties amounts that are not business-related or are in excess of market price levels.
- Accrued interest costs on debt financing if at least three of the following criteria are met:
 - The loan principal exceeds the equity of the borrower as of 31 December of the preceding year;
 - The repayment of the principal or the interest on the loan is not limited by a fixed time period;
 - The loan repayment or interest payment depends on whether the borrower ended on a profit position;
 - The repayment of the loan depends on satisfaction of other creditors' claims or on payment of dividends.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

Refer to the section above.

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

- If a reporting entity that has an obligation to file CbC Report in Bulgaria doesn't complete it within the stipulated deadline, it will be subject to a fine of BGN 100,000 to BGN 200,000;
- If a reporting entity files a CbC Report but omits or declares false or incomplete data in it, this reporting entity
 will be subject to a fine from BGN 50,000 to BGN 150,000. The same fine will be applied if the incomplete
 or wrong data are due to a refusal of the ultimate parent entity to present the required data;
- If a constituent entity that has an obligation to file a CbC Report does not notify the Bulgarian tax authorities
 if the ultimate parent entity has refused to provide the requested information, that constituent entity should
 be subject to a fine of BGN 10,000;
- If a constituent entity fails to notify the revenue authorities whether it, or some other group entity, will file the CbC Report it should be subject to a fine of BGN 50,000 to BGN 150,000. In case of a repeated violation of the rules higher fines may be imposed.

2.10 Use of most reliable information

The Bulgarian TP Guidelines state that comparable data could be obtained both from internal and external transactions and the source database should be publicly available. In addition, according to the Guidelines, exemplary sources of comparable transactions data could be the National Statistical Institute, local industry associations and others.

It is the NRA transfer pricing inspectors' recent practice to challenge benchmarking analysis for the lack of Bulgarian data and analysis of the local market players. In such cases, the revenue authority performs its own benchmark analysis and tests the profitability of the local entities based on local business databases. In this respect, it is highly recommended that the benchmark analysis contained in the TP documentation of the taxpayer reviews Bulgarian comparables and considers them with priority.

2.11 Languages

All documents must be in Bulgarian. If there are any original documents in a different language, a translation should be made by a certified translator.

2.12 Confidentiality

Confidentiality must be maintained under all circumstances by the tax authorities during a tax inspection. The information acquired should not be disclosed to third parties unless there is a legal requirement to do so.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines are generally followed in Bulgaria. Bulgarian transfer pricing legislation does not prescribe mandatory preparation of documentation. However, the TSSPC contains a general requirement that obliges the taxable entities to demonstrate the arm's-length nature of the transaction determined in their related party dealings. This is usually done by means of completing and presenting a Local File and a Master file as described in the Code of Conduct on transfer pricing documentation in the EU. In this respect, transfer pricing documentation does not have to be prepared annually under local country regulations. However, the National Revenue Agency Ordinance recommends that TP documentation should be updated annually but does not provide any references to the minimum requirements to achieve this. As a good practice, it is recommended that the economic and financial analysis is updated based on the most recent financial data available. In addition, it is necessary to confirm that the main characteristics of the related party arrangements remain unchanged.

В

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

All MNEs with consolidated group revenues more than EUR 750 million whose ultimate parent entity is not local resident for tax purposes, or respectively with consolidated group revenues more than BGN 100 million whose ultimate parent entity is a local resident for tax purposes, should fill in a CbC Report containing:

- For each country in which the MNE operates, information about revenues, the earnings before tax (EBT), the paid income tax, the accrued income tax, stated capital, the accumulated earnings, the number of employees and the tangible assets other than cash and cash equivalents;
- A list of all entities within the MNE altogether with the tax jurisdiction of residence of each entity and the main business or operations of that entity.

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

A declaration must be filled in by all subsidiary companies that are local residents until the end of the reporting tax year (31 December). The purpose of this declaration is to inform the National Revenue Agency which is the ultimate parent company and which company will submit the CbC Report.

A subsidiary company should fill in the CbC Report when:

- · The ultimate parent company is not obliged to submit a CbC Report;
- An international agreement between Bulgaria and the country in which the parent company is resident has entered into force, but there is no clause in it for submitting a CbC Report;
- The country in which the parent company is resident systematically does not collaborate by exchanging CbC reporting.

С

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Santiago	Antonio Melys	+56 22650 4332
		amelys@pkfchile.cl

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

The transfer pricing rules in force, last amended in 2012 are stated within Article 41E of the Income Tax Law (ITL). Circular 29 of 14 June 2013 issued by the Servicio de Impuestos Internos (IRS) provides guidance on their application and operation.

Article 41 E of ITL states, that the IRS may challenge the established prices, values or yields, or establish them if necessary, where cross-border transactions or transactions arising from entrepreneurial reorganisations or restructuring, between businesses domiciled, resident or established in Chile, and related parties abroad have not been carried out at normal market prices, values or returns.

The regulations shall be applied with respect to entrepreneurial reorganisations or businesses indicated when, in the opinion of the IRS, an overseas transfer has occurred entailing goods or activities susceptible to generate taxable income in the country, and it is believed that if the goods had been transferred, the rights had been ceded, the contracts had been concluded or the activities had been developed between independent parties, there would have been a different price, value or profitability agreed. To analyse these effects, the ITL proposes several methods, described later in this chapter.

Normal market prices, values or returns are those which would have been agreed on by independent parties in comparable transactions and circumstances, taking into account, for example, the characteristics of the relevant markets, the roles assumed by the parties, the specific characteristics of the goods or services contracted and any other reasonably relevant circumstance. When such operations have not been carried out at their normal market prices, values or profitability, the IRS may impute them in accordance with the provisions of the mentioned article.

The IRS must summon taxpayers, in accordance with Article 63 of the Tax Code, to deliver all records regarding market price, value or profitability in the context of overseas transactions with related parties. The transfer pricing methods are comparable uncontrolled price (CUP), resale price minus, cost plus, profit split, the transactional net margin method (TNMM) and the residual method.

1.2 Practical context

Chile is an OECD member country and although the Income Tax Law does not mention the OECD Guidelines they should be regarded as relevant when dealing with Chilean Transfer Pricing matters. Article 21 of the Tax Code contains a general rule stating that the taxpayer must prove with documents, accounting books or other means established in the law, the truth of his declarations or the nature of the backgrounds and amount of the operations used for the tax calculation. The IRS may also ask the taxpayer for additional documentation in a tax audit (Article 35 of the Tax Code). The ITL states that taxpayers must file an annual affidavit (Affidavit N° 1907) containing information on the operations subject to transfer pricing rules. However, the IRS has not issued instructions on the specific or standard documentation to support the transfer pricing affidavit. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the IRS has stated the obligation to submit an additional annual affidavit (Affidavit N° 1937) Country by Country Report (CbC), in the line of the OECD Action 13 Documentation on Transfer Pricing and CbC Report, which enhance the transparency for the tax administration considering the compliance cost for enterprises.

The information provided through the affidavits may also be used by the IRS for the examination of the income tax, taxes on the sales and services and the donations and inheritance.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

Taxpayers that enter into cross border transactions with a related enterprise are required to keep available for the IRS, documentation on which of the methods stated in the ITL have been applied.

If the IRS challenges the respective prices, values or profitability, they must notify the taxpayer, to allow them to provide any information that will prove that its operations with related parties have been made at prices, values or normal market returns, according to methods stated in the IT which are as outlined in the OECD Guidelines. The taxpayer should use the most appropriate method considering the characteristics and circumstances of the particular case. For example, the advantages and disadvantages of each method must be taken into account; the applicability of the methods in relation to the type of operations and the circumstances; the availability of relevant information; the existence of comparable operations and ranges and comparability adjustments.

Taxpayers may provide the IRS with a transfer pricing study on the determination of prices, values or returns **C** of their transactions with related parties.

A transfer pricing study should contain an overview of the company, an analysis of the relevant industry (or industries), a functional analysis, the basis and justification for the selected pricing method, a description of comparable companies, provide supporting documentation, and be completed in the Spanish language.

The IRS may request information from foreign authorities regarding transactions that are subject to transfer pricing.

2.2 Deadlines (timing)

The Tax Code states several circumstances in which the IRS may ask for documentation or information. However it is important to note that when the IRS sends a notification to the taxpayer to provide all background regarding transfer pricing, this must be provided within a month, extendable by another month. Failure to answer or delay could mean that the documentation cannot be considered in an eventual claim to a Tax Court.

2.3 Materiality

Annual affidavit

In accordance with Article 41 E ITL, an annual affidavit must be filed by the last working day of June. This must be completed by the following taxpayers:

- Taxpayers who, as at 31 December of the reporting year, belong to Medium or Large Business segments and that in that year have carried out operations with related parties that are not domiciled or resident in Chile, in accordance with the rules established in Article 41 E of the ITL;
- Taxpayers not included in the segments indicated above, who have reported transactions in the corresponding period with related parties not domiciled or resident in Chile greater than CLP 500,000,000 (approx. USD 750,000), or its equivalent according to the exchange parity between the national currency and the foreign currency when the transactions were carried out, as at 31 December of the reporting year;
- Taxpayers not classified in the previous segments that have operations with people domiciled or resident in a territory or jurisdiction with a preferential tax regime described in the Article 41 H of the ITL.

Information required

The transfer pricing affidavit includes the following information:

- Identification of the taxpayer;
- Related party information (e.g. name, country, etc.) and the features of each transaction (nature, type, currency, etc.);
- · The methodology used for calculating prices, profitability and returns;
- · Information concerning intra-group services, financial transactions, royalties and commissions, etc.;
- · Transfer pricing adjustments, if any, either in accounting records or in the taxable income determined;
- The existence of a business restructuring affecting the taxpayer's operation in Chile.

If the amount of operations of the same type (sales, purchases, interests, etc.) per each related company is less than CLP 200,000,000 (around USD 300,000) it will not be mandatory to report all the details indicated in the affidavit.

2.4 Penalties

2.4.1 Affidavit N° 1907

When the transfer pricing affidavit is late, not filed, incomplete or incorrect, the penalty arises from 10 to 50 Annual Tax Units (approximately USD 8,700 to USD 43.500), with a maximum of 15% of the equity for

tax purposes or 5% of the effective capital, whichever is higher. A maliciously false affidavit is punished with higher penalties and jail (Article 41 E N $^{\circ}$ 6 of the ITL).

2.4.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

In case of a tax adjustments made by the taxing authority, the IRS will send a payment order. The payment order will be for the tax outstanding (a single tax at a rate of 40%), inflation-linked adjustments, interest and 5% penalty over the amount adjusted. The fine cannot be applied if the documentation requested by the IRS during the tax audit has been duly and timely delivered.

3. Country-by-country reporting standards

3.1 Affidavit N° 1937

Chilean MNE groups with a consolidated revenue of more than \in 750 million must submit annually to the IRS the affidavit N° 1937 CbC Report containing financial and tax information. The obligation is on the parent company that consolidates the financial statements. However, a different entity of the group may be appointed to file the CbC Report and notice of this must be given to the IRS within 30 days of the affidavit due date.

As with Affidavit N° 1907, the Affidavit N° 1937 has to be filed by the last working day of June (or September if an extension is requested).

3.2 Information required

The information to be provided includes:

- the revenue and other income from business transactions with third parties, with related parties and the total amount;
- profit or loss for the year before income taxes;
- income tax paid in the fiscal year and income tax determined for the fiscal year (excluding deferred taxes);
- equity;
- · retained profit;
- number of employees and tangible assets, other than cash and cash equivalents.

The affidavit also requests information about each company of the group and the business activities conducted by these entities.

3.3 Penalties

Affidavit N° 1937 will be considered part of the Affidavit N° 1907 on transfer pricing. Consequently the same penalties will be applied as those described in paragraph 2.4.1 above.

С

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Beijing	Rachel Zhang	+86 10 6591 7200
		rachel.zhang@pkfchina.com
Shanghai	Allan Jiang	+86 21 6076 0876
		allan.jiang@pkfchina.com

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

In 2009, the State Tax Authorities of China ("SAT") issued a Transfer Pricing (TP) Circular, Guo Shui Fa [2009] No. 2 ('Circular 2') that became effective from 1 January 2008. It is considered a pivotal step in the development of China's transfer pricing regime as it adopted a systematic approach and set out detailed rules on the administration of transfer pricing. One of the milestones of Circular 2 is to provide detailed instruction on the preparation of TP documentation. Following Circular 2, the SAT issued Public Notice [2016] No. 42 ('PN42') on 29 June 2016. PN42 made substantial changes to the Circular 2 rules and refined the reporting of related party transactions and the administration of transfer pricing documentation. It also introduced new transfer pricing forms for related-party transactions (RPT Forms) and transfer pricing documentation (which now includes the completion of a Master File, Local File and special issue file).

On 17 March 2017, the SAT issued new regulations to improve administration of the Special Tax Investigation and Adjustment and Mutual Agreement Procedures (Public Notice [2017] No. 6 ('PN6')). These regulations largely complete the revision of the transfer pricing specific clauses of Circular 2, and add to the transfer pricing framework set out in the previously issued PN42. PN6 has clarified certain key transfer pricing issues, as well as the methodology and procedures for special tax audits and adjustments. In making the changes, the SAT has generally incorporated positions taken in the Discussion Draft regarding intangible assets, related party services and the monitoring of profit levels, as well as the guidance around mutual agreement procedures. PN6 puts more emphasis on a risk-oriented tax administration system which aims to improve cooperation between enterprises and tax authorities, and overall compliance with the regulations. The regulation incorporates changes arising from the OECD's Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS) Actions 8 to 10 and Action 14.

1.2 Practical context

The new TP regulations require taxpayers to provide analyses which are specifically related to the Chinese market such as labour cost saving and market premium, etc. The new TP regulations constitute a milestone for localisation and implementation of BEPS Action 13 in China, as well as providing a new landscape of TP administration in China.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

According to China TP regulations, the thresholds for the preparation of TP documentation are listed below. If the company meets either of the following criteria, it shall prepare a Master File:

- · Has cross-border related party transactions, and belongs to a group which has prepared the Master File, or;
- The total annual related party transactions exceed RMB 1 billion.

The thresholds for preparing a Local File depend on the types of related party transactions, and are listed below:

- RMB 200 million for tangible assets transfer (in the case of tolling manufacturing, the total amount in the annual customs record including raw material should be counted);
- RMB 100 million for financial assets transfer;
- RMB 100 million for intangible assets transfer; and
- RMB 40 million for other related party transactions in total.

China

С

The special issue file is required for the taxpayers who are engaged in a cost sharing agreement, or fall within the thin capitalisation threshold.

The new transfer pricing compliance regulations also require the submission of a country-by-country report if a Chinese resident company is the ultimate holding company of the group and the consolidated revenue is over RMB 5.5 billion or it is nominated as the reporting entity by the group.

The Chinese companies that only have domestic related party transactions do not need to prepare Master File, Local File or special issue file.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

There is no clear rule on the separation analysis of each related party transaction, however the TP regulations do require taxpayers to present the financials by product and by business type in the documentation. In practice, TP analysis is usually performed by the respective transaction type and sometimes transactions are jointly assessed.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

The Local File and Special Issue File should be completed by 30 June following the year end in which the related party transactions took place. The Master File should be completed within 12 months of the year end of the group's ultimate holding company.

Timeframe

For the TP documentation, taxpayers should submit the transfer pricing report within 30 days upon the tax authorities' request.

For the CbC Report, when the company meets the criteria in 2.1, the report should be filed together with the annual related party transactions forms by the end of May, the following year.

2.4 Materiality

Generally, the Chinese TP regulations set the threshold for the taxpayers to prepare the TP documentation and the exact materiality on the transaction amount is not stated. In practice, however, the Chinese tax authorities often focus their investigations on taxpayers with material related party transactions.

PN6 has given due consideration to enterprises with the following risk characteristics in the implementation of the special tax investigation:

- The enterprise has a large amount of related party transactions or has carried out various types of related party transactions;
- b) The enterprise has long term losses, makes a small profit or the profits of the enterprise fluctuate greatly;
- c) The profit levels of the enterprise are lower than the industry level;
- The level of profit of the enterprise do not match the functional risks assumed, or the earnings shared are not proportional to the costs allocated;
- e) The enterprise has carried out related party transactions with affiliates in countries or regions with a low tax rate;
- f) The enterprise fails to report the related party transactions or prepare contemporaneous documentation as required;
- g) The proportion of debt investment and equity investment made by affiliates of the enterprise exceed the prescribed standards;
- h) The enterprise is under the control of a resident enterprise or a resident enterprise that is established in a country (region) where the actual tax rate is less than 12.5%, and either does not distribute profit or distributes less profit than is reasonable, considering the business needs; or
- i) The enterprise carries out other tax planning or arrangements that do not have a reasonable business purpose.

Besides, an enterprise engaged in processing imported materials or other single production operations, or distribution, contract research and development business shall maintain a reasonable level of profit.

If these enterprises incur losses, they need to prepare local documents of contemporaneous documentation for the year of losses, regardless of whether they are required to according to PN42.

If these enterprises assume the risks and losses to be borne by the affiliates due to errors in decision-making, insufficient start-up, poor product sales, research and development failure and so on, the tax authorities may implement special tax adjustment.

С

2.5 Retention of documents

According to PN42, the documentation has to be retained for ten years. When the Chinese tax authorities carry out a TP audit, it could request to trace back the audit period for ten years.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

The TP documentation is required to be prepared on an annual basis when the preparation threshold is met.

The CbC reporting has to be submitted together with the annual related party transaction declaration forms and annual corporate income tax filing for each fiscal year, when the submission criteria is met.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

China adopts stringent requirements on the related party transactions disclosure and taxpayers have to disclose related party transactions on a Related Party Transaction Form by the end of May the following year.

Regarding the CbC reporting, when the taxpayer meets the reporting requirement, it needs to submit the CbC reporting together with the annual related party transaction form.

2.8 Burden of proof

Where the taxpayer under investigation does not provide the information in connection with a special tax investigation, or if they provide false or incomplete information, the tax authorities will order them to correct the information within a prescribed time limit. If they then fail to make corrections within the prescribed time limit, the tax authorities shall handle the situation in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Law on the Administration of Tax Levying and determine the taxable income in accordance with the law.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 Administrative penalties

If a taxpayer fails to file the related party transaction reporting forms or TP documentation on time, the tax authority may require the taxpayer to make a correction and may impose a penalty of up to RMB 2,000. For serious situations such as continuous non-compliance, the tax authorities may impose a penalty between RMB 2,000 to RMB 10,000.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

Where a taxpayer does not provide contemporaneous documentation and relevant materials in accordance with the relevant provisions, an additional 5% will be added to the interest mentioned in 2.10.

Where an enterprise pays taxes or overdue taxes before or after receiving the Notice on Special Tax Investigation and Adjustment, the interest payable shall be calculated from 1 June of the year following the taxable year to the date when taxes or overdue taxes are paid. Where an enterprise fails to pay overdue taxes beyond the period as required in the Notice on Special Tax Investigation and Adjustment, it is required to pay overdue fines (0.05% per day) from the next day to the date of expiration in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Law on the Administration of Tax Levying and its implementing rules, and during such period no more interest will be levied.

2.10 Interest

Where taxpayers conform to the related-party filing, provide contemporaneous documentation and other relevant materials in accordance with relevant regulations, tax authorities, while making special tax investigations and collect unpaid tax, may apply the RMB benchmarking interest rate published by the People's Bank of China from the date on which the tax should have been paid to when additional tax is levied. For example, when the tax underpayment is attributed to year 2015, the tax authorities will levy the late payment interest at the rate of 4.75% per year since the due date.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

There are no specific requirements in China regarding the use of comparables and whether domestic or foreign comparables will be accepted by the tax authorities. In practice, Chinese tax authorities do prefer Chinese comparables.

China

2.12 Languages

The documentation needs to be prepared in Chinese.

For the CbC Report, it also provides for the forms in English and it could be filled in both in Chinese and English.

2.13 Confidentiality

After the submission of the relevant information to the tax authorities, documentation including the CbC Report is generally subject to confidential treatment by Chinese tax authorities.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

The PN42 lists the detailed requirements for the Master File and Local File as well as special issue files, which are elaborated on in paragraph 3.1 and 3.2.

3.1 Master File

The following information should be included in the Master File:

1. Organisational structure

Global organisational structure, the global shareholding structure and the geographic locations.

2. Business of the group

- a) Description of the group's business, including the key value drivers creating profits.
- b) Description of the supply chain and major market geographic locations in relation to the group's top five products or labour services by turnover, and any other product or labour service accounting for more than 5% of the group turnover.
- c) Brief description of important intra-group related-party labour services, other than the research and development services.
- d) Analysis of the main contribution of all member entities within the group in terms of value creation.
- e) Business restructuring, the industrial structure adjustment, and the transfer of functions, risks or assets of all enterprises within the group during the fiscal year of the group.
- f) Changes in the legal forms, debt restructuring, equity acquisition, asset acquisition, mergers and divisions which occurred in the group.

3. Intangible Assets

- a) Description of the group's overall strategy for developing and applying the intangible assets and determining the ownership of intangible assets.
- b) Intangible assets or intangible asset portfolios in the group which have a significant impact on the group's transfer pricing policy, and the corresponding legal owners of such intangible assets.
- c) A list of important agreements related to the intangible assets between the member entities in the group and their related parties, including costs allocation agreements, major research and development service agreements and license agreements, etc.
- d) Group's transfer pricing policies on research and development activities and intangible assets.
- e) Description of the group's transfer of the ownership of and right to use material intangible assets between related parties.

4. Financing activities

- a) Financing arrangements between related parties and major financing arrangements between non-related parties within the group.
- b) Situations of member entities performing concentrated financing functions within the group.
- c) Overall transfer pricing policies on the financing arrangements between related parties in the group.

5. Financial and tax position

- a) Group's annual consolidated financial statement for the latest fiscal year.
- b) Unilateral advance pricing arrangements and bilateral advance pricing arrangements entered into by member entities in the group and the list of other tax rulings relating to the income distribution among countries.
- c) Names and locations of enterprises that file the country-by-country report.

3.2 Local File

1. Overview of enterprises

- a) Organisational structure, including the setup, scope of responsibilities and number of employees of the enterprise's functional departments.
- b) Management structure, including the parties to whom the enterprise's management of different levels report and the locations of principal offices of such parties.
- c) Industry description, including an overview of the industry in which the enterprise engages and its industrial policies, trade restrictions, other major economic or legal issues that may impact the enterprise and industry, and its key competitors.
- Operation strategies, including the business process, operational mode and value drivers of different departments and work streams in the enterprise.
- e) Financial data, including the income, costs, expenses and profits of different types of business and products of the enterprises.
- f) Any restructuring or transfer of intangible assets which involves the enterprises or has an impact on the enterprises, and the impact analysis on the enterprises.

2. Related-party relationships

- a) Information on related parties, including any related party which directly or indirectly holds the equity of the enterprise, and which the enterprise enters into transactions with, including the names, legal representatives, composition of senior management personnel, registration places, actual business address of related parties, and the names, nationalities and residences of related individuals.
- b) Types of taxes, tax rates and any corresponding preferential tax treatments that are available to the above related parties.
- c) Changes in the enterprise's related relationships during the fiscal year.

3. Related-party transactions

- (1) Overview of related-party transactions
- a. A description of related-party transactions, including relevant contracts or agreements, duplicates of relevant related-party transactions, statements on their performance, characteristics of traded objects, types of related-party transactions, participants, time, transaction amount, settlement currencies, trading conditions, trade modes and differences or similarities between related-party transactions and non-related-party transactions.
- b. Processes of related-party transactions, including the flows of the information, logistics and funds of related-party transactions, as well as their differences and similarities to the non-related-party transactions.
- c. A description of functions and risks, including the functions performed, risks assumed and assets employed by enterprises and their related parties in various types of related-party transactions.
- d. Factors affecting the pricing of transactions, including intangible assets involved in related-party transactions and their impacts, and geographical specific factors such as costs cutting and market premium. Geographical specific factors shall be analysed from aspects such as labour costs, environmental costs, market size, extent of market competition, consumer purchasing powers, substitutability of goods or labour services and government control, etc.
- e. Data of related-party transactions, including the transaction amount involved in related parties and various types of related-party transactions. Income, costs, expenses and profits of related-party transactions and non-related-party transactions shall be disclosed separately; if direct imputation cannot be conducted, they shall be allocated according to a reasonable proportion and the grounds for such allocation proportion shall be explained.
- (2) Analysis of value chain
- a. Business flows, logistics and fund flow within the group, including design, development, manufacturing, marketing, sales, delivery, settlement, consumption, aftersales services, cyclic utilisation and other process of products, labour services and other trade objects, as well as all participants.
- b. Annual financial statements of the latest fiscal year of each participant in the above processes.
- c. Calculation and attribution of the contribution of geographical specific elements to the value creation of the enterprise.
- d. Allocation principles and results of group profits amongst the global value chain.

China

- (3) Outbound investment
- a. General information on outbound investment, including the investment location, investment value, main business and strategic plan of outbound investment projects.
- b. Overview of outbound investment projects, including the shareholding structure and organisational structure of outbound investment projects, employment mode of senior management personnel and the attribution of the decision-making power of outbound investment projects.
- c. Data of outbound investment projects, including operational information of outbound investment projects.
- (4) Transfer of related-party equity
- a. Overview of equity transfer, including background, participants, time, pricing, payment method and other factors affecting the equity transfer.
- b. Information on the equity transferred, including the geographical location of the equity transferred, date, method and costs for the equity acquired by the transferor, interests derived from the transfer, and other information.
- c. Other information relevant to the equity transfer including due diligence report or asset valuation report.
- (5) Related-party labour services
- a. Overview of related-party labour services, including the service providers and recipients, contents, characteristics, service method, pricing principles, and payment methods of labour services, and interests gained by each party after the performance of labour services.
- b. Imputation method, projects, amount, allocation criteria, calculation process and results of labour service costs.
- c. Where an enterprise and the group to which it is affiliated have the same or similar kind of labour service transactions with the non-related parties, differences and similarities of the pricing principles and transaction results between related-party labour services and non-related-party labour services shall also be elaborated.
- (6) Advance pricing arrangements entered into and other tax rulings made by tax authorities of countries other than China that are directly relevant to the enterprise's related-party transactions.

4. Comparability analysis

- a) Factors taken into account for the comparability analysis, including the characteristics of the assets or labour services in transactions, functions, risks and assets of all parties involved in transactions, contractual terms, economic environment and operational strategies, etc.
- b) Relevant information such as the functions performed, risks assumed and assets employed by the comparable enterprises.
- c) Searching method, information source, selection criteria and rationale of comparable targets.
- d) Comparable uncontrolled transaction information selected internally and externally and the financial information of comparable enterprises.
- e) Difference adjustments made to the comparable data and the reasons therefore.

5. Selection and employment of transfer pricing methods

- a) Selection of parties under test and rationale of the selection.
- b) Selection of transfer pricing methods and the reasons; whichever transfer pricing method is selected, the contribution made by the enterprise to the overall profits or surplus profits of the group shall be explained.
- c) Assumptions and judgements made for determining the prices or profits of comparable non-related-party transactions.
- Determining the prices or profits of non-related-party transactions by using appropriate transfer pricing methods and results of comparability analysis.
- e) Other materials to justify the transfer pricing method selected.
- Analysis on whether the pricing of related-party transactions complies with the arm's-length principle and the conclusions thereof.

6. Special issue file

The special issue file shall include detail on the cost allocation agreements and on thin capitalisation. Where the taxpayer enters into or performs cost allocation agreements, a special issue file on cost allocation agreements shall be prepared. Where the related-party debt-to-equity ratio of a taxpayer exceeds the standard ratio and thus it is necessary to explain its compliance with the arm's-length principle, a special issue file on thin capitalisation shall be prepared.

(1) Cost allocation agreements

A special issue file on cost allocation agreements shall include the following contents:

- Duplicates of cost allocation agreements.
- Other agreements entered into between all participants for the purpose of implementing the cost allocation agreements.
- Details on the use of agreement results by non-participants, the amount and form of the payment made by them, and the method for allocating the payment between the participants.
- Details on participants joining or exiting the cost allocation agreement during the current year, including C
 the names, countries, related-party relationships of the participants joining or exiting, and the amount and
 form of payment for joining the agreement or compensation for exiting the agreement.
- Details on the amendments to or terminations of the cost allocation agreements, including the reasons for amendments or terminations, and the disposal or allocation of formed agreement results.
- The total costs arising from the cost allocation agreements during the current year and their composition.
- Details on the cost allocation by participants during the current year, including the amount, form and target of cost payment, and the amount, form and target for making or receiving compensation payments.
- A comparison of the expected income and the actual income arising from the agreement during the current fiscal year and the corresponding adjustments as per the comparison.
- The calculation of expected income, including the selection of measurement parameter indicators, calculation methods and reasons for changes.
- (2) Thin-capitalisation

A special issue file on thin capitalisation shall include the following contents:

- An analysis of the enterprise's solvency and borrowing ability.
- An analysis of borrowing ability of the group and its financing structure.
- A description of changes in registered capital and other equity investments made by the enterprise.
- The nature and purposes of the related-party debt investments and the market conditions upon acquisition of the investments.
- · The types of currency, amount, interest rate, terms and financing conditions of related-party debt investments.
- Whether the non-related party is able and willing to accept the above financing conditions, financing amount and interest rate.
- Details on security provided by the enterprise in order to obtain the debt investment and the conditions for providing such security.
- · Status of the guarantors and conditions for providing the guarantee.
- Interest rate of loans of the similar type and same period and financing conditions for such loans.
- Conversion conditions for convertible corporate bonds.
- · Other documents which can prove its compliance with the arm's-length principle.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

China TP regulations require the following to be reported in CbC reporting:

Part 1: Overview of allocation of income, taxes and business activities by tax jurisdiction.

- Revenue and other operating income from business transactions with (a) third parties, (b) related parties and (c) the total of (a) and (b).
- Income taxes paid in the fiscal year.
- Income taxes paid or accrued in and for the fiscal year.
- Profit/loss for the year before income taxes.
- · Stated capital.
- · Accumulated earnings.
- Number of employees.
- · Tangible assets other than cash and cash equivalent.
- Part 2: Country-by-country information of all included entity's major business activities.

Part 3: Additional information necessary for understanding of the data in Part 1 and Part 2.

CZECH REPUBLIC

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Prague	Jarka Hankova	+420 267 997 700
		hankova@apogeo.cz
Prague	Pavel Postl	+420 267 997 732
		postl@apogeo.cz
Prague	Tomas Pacovský	+420 267 997 731
		pacovsky@apogeo.cz

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

The main tax legislation is the Czech Income Tax Act (ITA). The transfer pricing rules are contained within Section 23(7) ITA, Directives D-332, D-333, and D-334, and General Financial Directorate Decree D–10. The Czech Republic is an OECD member country and the OECD Guidelines and the Code of Conduct are generally accepted (Directive D-334). The Czech Republic follows the transfer pricing methods outlined in Chapter II of the OECD Guidelines.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

All the taxpayers doing business in the Czech Republic should compile a TP-documentation if transactions with related parties have been realised. A related party is said to exist under the tax legislation where one party owns greater than 25% of the other (based on voting power, share capital, or common control). There is no limit where a business relationship exists predominantly for tax evasion purposes.

2.2 Retention of documents

Czech taxpayers are required to keep their administrative records for at least ten years, except for particular documents. Since the TP-documentation is part of the records of a taxpayer, this ten year period also applies to the TP-documentation.

2.3 Frequency of documentation updates

In practice the TP-documentation should be updated every few years to account for normal business and market developments. A significant change in the facts and circumstances could also lead to an update of the documentation.

The statute of limitations for the assessment of transfer pricing adjustments is generally three years from the tax return filing date. This extends to ten years in cases of repeated tax audits (and further extensions may apply to companies with tax incentives and/or tax losses).

2.4 Tax return disclosures

Taxpayers are not obliged to attach TP-documentation as tax return disclosures but the tax authority will probably require the TP-documentation in case of tax inspection. A taxpayer is required to file an annual transfer pricing disclosure (Form 5404/Ea). Form 5404/Ea summarizes a taxpayer's transactions with each related party (separate forms for each overseas related party having transactions with the taxpayer in the year are required to be filed electronically). Failure to submit Form 5404/Ea to the tax authority is likely to result in a transfer pricing focused tax audit.

2.5 Burden of proof

The burden of proof is laid on the taxpayer, who shall provide sufficient evidence that the prices agreed between related parties comply with the arm's-length principle. If there is no TP-documentation available, the tax authority shall adjust the taxpayer's tax base by the difference between the agreed and "market" price.

С

2.6 Penalties

The filing of transfer pricing documentation is not mandatory but it is recommended. Transfer pricing documentation "should be sufficient" for substantiating the method of calculating the arm's-length price (Code of Conduct). When transfer pricing documentation is requested by the tax authority, it must be provided within 30 days.

2.7 Languages

The law does not require that the documentation is compiled in a specific language, but the information in the documentation should be accessible to the tax authorities. In respect to that, the Czech tax authorities are authorised to request the TP-documentation in Czech or for a Czech translation.

2.8 Confidentiality

The Czech tax authorities will treat the TP-documentation confidentially. The tax authorities can only exchange the TP-documentation with the tax authorities of another country if there is a legal basis. This legal basis can be found in the national law, a tax treaty or an EU-directive. The TP-documentation is never available to the public.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

When a transfer pricing study is prepared, its content should follow Chapter V of the OECD Guidelines, with an emphasis on demonstrating that related party services invoiced were actually received (a 'benefits and proof test).

The Czech tax authority does not insist on the use of local comparables in a benchmarking study or comparative analysis (although local comparables can support regional analyses). It uses the Amadeus database, and develops and maintains its own internal comparables. The tax authority focusses on the interquartile range in a transactional net margin method (TNMM) analysis and it typically accepts comparables providing averaging results covering multiple years (three or five years).

Where a transfer pricing assessment (adjustment) made by the tax authority is disputed, a taxpayer can lodge an appeal with the Appeal Financial Directorate. If unsuccessful, a taxpayer can then lodge an appeal with a regional court.

The Czech Republic's double tax treaty network is extensive, and the competent authority is effective in obtaining double tax relief.

Unilateral, bilateral, and multilateral Advance Pricing Agreements (APAs) can be negotiated with the tax authorities. There is a filing fee of CZK 10,000 (approximately USD 400).

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Copenhagen	Kasper Vindelev	+45 43 96 06 56
		k.vindelev@pkf.dk

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

Strongly increased international trade and simultaneous development of cross-border groups, in combination with very diverse taxation levels in the individual countries, have entailed much more focus on the transfer pricing problem, meaning the prices of intra-group transactions (controlled transactions) and the taxation thereof. With the BEPS project (Base Erosion and Profit Shifting) from 2015 finally approved on 23 May 2016, the OECD has made material changes/clarifications of the OECD's Transfer Pricing Guidelines with the aim that the taxation of controlled transactions is not moved from heavily taxed countries to lightly taxed countries.

First of all, the Danish transfer pricing rules are based on section 2 of the Danish Tax Assessment Act, which was implemented by Act no. 432 of 26 June 1998 and with effect from 28 June 1998. Before that, sections 4-6 of the Danish State Tax Act were the authority for transfer pricing correction. These rules still apply alongside section 2 of the Danish Tax Assessment Act, which lays down the so-called arm's-length principle. This principle must be interpreted in compliance with the OECD's Model Convention, article 9(1) and the OECD's Guidelines which also form a general basis for interpretation of the Danish transfer pricing rules. The detailed documentation rules appear from section 3B of the Danish Tax Control Act. This provision was implemented by Act no. 91 of 25 February 1998 to increase the prospect of the Danish tax office of ensuring that prices and terms of controlled transactions were determined in compliance with the arm's-length principle. The rule was supplemented by the Statutory Order no. 42 of 24 January 2006.

Skattestyrelsen has, however, implemented new documentation rules as a consequence of OECD's BEPS Action 13. According to these rules, transfer pricing documentation must consist of standardised information relevant for the entire group (Master File) and country-by-country documentation for each taxpayer in the group (Local File). The new rules appear from the Statutory Order no. 401 of 28 April 2016, which generally has effect for accounting periods starting on 1 January 2016. However, it also appears that for accounting periods starting in the period from 1 January 2016 up to and including 31 December 2016, the transfer pricing documentation can instead be prepared according to the old Statutory Order no. 42 of 24 January 2006. From 1 January 2017, the documentation can only be prepared according to the new rules. Additionally, Skattestyrelsen's legal guidance, section C.D.11 contains a description of the transfer pricing area. Finally, Skattestyrelsen has prepared transfer pricing valuation guidelines E-no. 238 of 15 January 2013.

From 1 January 2019 the rules in section 3B are moved to the new Danish Tax Control Act no. 1535 of 19 December 2017 section 37-42. Effective from 1 January 2019, the Statutory Order no. 401 of 28 April 2016 will be replaced by the Statutory Order no. 1297 of 31 October 2018. The new rules use new terms for tax return and deadline, but essentially the new rules are consistent with the current rules.

In the wake of the BEPS report, for large groups new rules have been implemented in section 3B(10)-(16) of the Danish Tax Control Act about so-called country-by-country reporting (CbC). These rules apply from 1 January 2016, and their purpose is to increase transparency for cross-border controlled transactions taking place in large groups. In relation to this, Statutory Order no. 1133 of 27 August 2016 was issued on country-by-country reporting and the more detailed requirements as to the contents of the reporting.

From 1 January 2019 the above mentioned rules are moved to the new Danish Tax Control Act no. 1535 of 19 December 2017 section 47-52. Furthermore, Skattestyrelsen has implemented a new country-by-country reporting (CbC) announcement no. 1304 of 14 November 2018 which essentially is consistent with the current CbC. The new rules apply from 1 January 2019.

1.2 Practical context

Both the new and the previous rules for documentation of transfer pricing transactions apply to both cross-border activities and to transactions between entities in Denmark. The new rules implement a two-tier system with standardised information relevant for the entire group documentation and country-specific documentation, which entails a larger administrative burden on the enterprises. The Danish tax authorities

D

have also had considerably larger focus on this area for the past years, and the penalty rules have been changed, so that large fines can be imposed for non-fulfilment of the documentation rules. It is therefore necessary that the enterprises have a critical focus on their transfer pricing documentation to a much larger degree, and prepare convincing material which in fact shows all circumstances of importance to the controlled transactions. It is important too that the enterprises gain control of digital solutions that store and automate the documentation and related records.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

Section 2 of the Danish Tax Assessment Act and the documentation requirements under section 37-42 of the new Danish Tax Control Act and the documentation statutory orders cover taxpayers:

- over which natural or legal persons exercise control
- · that exercise control over legal persons
- that are affiliated with a legal person
- · that have a permanent establishment located abroad
- · that are a foreign natural or legal person with a permanent establishment in Denmark or
- that are a foreign natural or legal person with a hydrocarbon-related business covered by section 21(1) or (4) of the Danish Hydrocarbon Tax Act.

However, the documentation requirements need not be complied with if you are a taxpayer which, alone or together with affiliated enterprises, has:

- less than 250 employees and
- · either has an annual total balance sheet of less than DKK 125 million
- or annual revenue of less than DKK 250 million.

This exemption does not apply to taxpayers who have controlled transactions with the following:

- Individuals or corporate bodies located in a foreign state, which does not have a double taxation treaty
 with Denmark and which also is not a member of the EU/EEA.
- A permanent establishment located in a foreign state, which does not have a double taxation treaty with Denmark and which also is not a member of the EU/EEA.
- A permanent establishment located in Denmark, provided that the taxpayer is resident in a foreign state, which does not have a double taxation treaty with Denmark and which also is not a member of the EU/EEA.

As a consequence, the mentioned taxpayers must prepare the TP documentation in spite of being small within the above-mentioned meaning.

Taxpayers obliged to compile TP documentation must, according to the Statutory Order no. 1297 of 31 October 2018 and OECD's BEPS Report Action 13, prepare the following:

- Standardised documentation (Master File), which contains information for the entire group, such as a description
 of the entire group, business activities, intangible assets, financial activities, accounting and tax positions.
- Country-specific documentation (Local File), which contains a detailed description of the enterprise, detailed information, descriptions and analyses concerning the controlled transactions in which the enterprise is involved and material about the economic, financial and accounting affairs of the enterprise.

The duty to disclose applies whether or not the taxpayer has been affiliated with a natural or legal person for only part of the year.

The rules in section 47-52 of the new Danish Tax Control Act on the country-by-country (CbC) reporting generally apply to any multinational group's ultimate parent company, which for tax purposes is domiciled in Denmark and whose accounting period starts on 1 January 2016 or later, and which has consolidated revenue of at least DKK 5.6 billion (EUR 750 million) in the financial year before the financial year for which reporting must be made. Under certain conditions, a Danish domiciled consolidated company, which is not the ultimate parent company, must file the country-by-country report on behalf of the foreign ultimate parent company; see section 49 of the new Danish Tax Control Act. However, this rule only takes effect from and including accounting periods starting on 1 January 2017 or later.

Denmark

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

Generally, documentation rules set the stage for each individual controlled transaction being assessed individually. However, there may be instances where more transactions can be described in aggregate if they are similar in relation to an overall assessment of the five comparability factors, which are:

- Properties of products (goods, services, assets, intangible assets, etc.);
- A functional analysis (functions, assets and risks);
- · Contractual terms;
- · Financial circumstances; and
- Business strategy.

It is the taxpayer's responsibility to assess which transactions can be described and priced as aggregate.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

The transfer pricing documentation must be prepared on an ongoing basis and be available in a completed form at the date of the tax return according to section 39 of the new Danish Tax Control Act. Thus, documentation for each accounting period must be prepared. For enterprises that use the calendar year as the financial year, the documentation must thus be available no later than on 1 July after the end of the financial year – form no. 05.021 must be filled in at the same time, at the latest, and submitted to Skattestyrelsen, so that they will be informed of the transfer pricing transactions – the form is submitted as a schedule to the tax return filed digitally through Skattestyrelsen's TastSelvSelskabsskat (online corporation tax). The form must be used only if the aggregate controlled transactions exceed DKK 5 million in the accounting period. An English version is found as form no. 05.022.

The documentation must be sent to Skattestyrelsen within 60 days of Skattestyrelsen's request.

The country-by-country report must be submitted digitally to Skattestyrelsen no later than 12 months after the last day of the accounting period for which reporting must be made. The rules have effect from 1 January 2016. Before the end of the accounting period for which reporting must be made, Skattestyrelsen must be notified digitally of who is under an obligation to file country-by-country reporting, and Skattestyrelsen must be notified in writing at the time when this obligation no longer exists. These notifications may take place in connection with the filing of the tax return.

Under section 43-45 of the new Danish Tax Control Act, Skattestyrelsen may demand that the taxpayer obtains an auditor's opinion on the transfer pricing documentation, whereby the auditor must declare whether the auditor, in the work performed, has become aware of circumstances that give cause for concluding that the documentation submitted to Skattestyrelsen does not give a true and fair view of the controlled transactions. The detailed rules to that effect are stipulated in Statutory Order no. 1298 of 31 October 2018.

2.4 Materiality

In general, all controlled transactions must be described in transfer pricing documentation, unless the enterprise is below the minimum requirements in section 39 of the new Danish Tax Control Act, and there are none of the special situations in section 39 of the new Danish Tax Control Act. If the enterprise is covered by the documentation rules, however, documentation for immaterial controlled transactions can be omitted, namely transactions which are either one-off or of a modest economic value. However, an enterprise must state the type of these transactions which were assessed as being immaterial.

2.5 Retention of documents

Like other accounting records, the transfer pricing documentation must be kept on file for five years after expiry of the accounting year, under section 10 of the Danish Bookkeeping Act. As an extended tax assessment time limit applies to Skattestyrelsen in these matters until 1 May six years after the expiry of the accounting year in question - see section 26(5) of the Danish Tax Administration Act - and as Skattestyrelsen still has the possibility of effecting extraordinary reopening according to the rules of section 27 of the Danish Tax Administration Act, it is recommended that the documentation is kept on file for ten years. It should be noted that groups operating in several countries must be able to submit the materials to the tax authorities of the countries in which they operate, observing local – possibly different – rules on filing and time-barring.

D

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

The transfer pricing documentation must be prepared on an ongoing basis and be in a complete form at the tax return date so that it can be filed with Skattestyrelsen on request. Thus, documentation for each accounting period must be prepared.

Country-by-country reporting must be prepared and filed to Skattestyrelsen for each accounting period.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

The transfer pricing documentation should only be delivered at Skattestyrelsen's request and be in a completed form at the time of the tax return. Before the same time, form no. 05.021 should be filled in for Skattestyrelsen together with the tax return, so that Skattestyrelsen is informed about the transfer pricing transactions – the form is sent as a schedule to the tax return, which is stated digitally through Skattestyrelsen's TastSelvSelskabsskat. The form must be used only if the aggregate controlled transactions exceed DKK 5 million in the accounting year. An English version is found as form no. 05.022.

The country-by-country report must be submitted digitally in a fixed XLM file format to Skattestyrelsen no later than 12 months after the last day of the accounting period for which reporting must be made.

Who is obliged to submit the country-by-country report must be stated digitally to Skattestyrelsen before expiry of the accounting period for which reporting must be made, and Skattestyrelsen must be given notice digitally at the time when this obligation no longer exists. This may take place in connection with the tax return.

The audit opinion which can be prepared in a template - see schedule 1 to Statutory Order no. 1298 of 31 October 2018 - must be submitted to Skattestyrelsen no later than 90 days after the date on the order. The order cannot be given within 7 days after the receipt of the TP-documentation.

2.8 Burden of proof

Generally, the burden of proof lies with Skattestyrelsen that the controlled transactions are not in compliance with the arm's-length principle. Skattestyrelsen must thus carry the burden of proof that the transfer pricing documentation is not sufficient, and that Skattestyrelsen's assessment is then more true and fair. If the documentation is very defective or has not been prepared at all, then Skattestyrelsen has the right to estimate, and then the onus of proof turns around so that it is the taxpayer who in such case must prove that Skattestyrelsen's estimate is not true and fair.

Generally, Skattestyrelsen has the option to give notice of an ordinary tax assessment no later than on 1 May in the sixth year after expiry of the accounting year, which means that if you follow the calendar year, Skattestyrelsen can give notice of the changes of the controlled transactions for the accounting year 2011 no later than on 1 May 2017. Skattestyrelsen must then make a decision to that effect no later than on 1 August in the same year as the notice is given (a letter of intent). In special circumstances, Skattestyrelsen can give notice of an extraordinary assessment change going further back, but that requires that a number of specific conditions are complied with, see section 27 of the Danish Tax Administration Act. You should be aware that the rules on extended time limits also apply if it is the taxpayer who wants to change the tax assessment.

2.9 Penalties

In addition to the ordinary rules on tax addition and day fines for non-submission of tax return, including non-submission of form 05.021, for the intentional or grossly negligent non-performance of the rules in section 43, 48, 49 and 51 of the new Danish Tax Control Act on transfer pricing documentation, including also the country-by-country reporting and missing audit opinion, there is a fine, which generally is DKK 250,000 for each individual taxpayer and for each accounting period, whether or not an income increase is made. However, the fine may be halved to DKK 125,000 if you subsequently prepare the lacking material in the required quality. The said fine can be increased by up to 10% of any amount by which Skattestyrelsen may correct the taxable income as a result of non-observance of the arm's-length principle. These amounts are not deductible.

2.10 Interest

If Skattestyrelsen makes a correction of the taxable income, a residual tax addition is calculated for each accounting period at 4.8% in 2011, 4.3% in 2012 3.9% in 2013 4.6% in 2014, 3.6% in 2015, 3.4% in 2016, 3.1% in 2017 and 2.8% in 2018. These amounts are not deductible.

Further, interest is calculated depending on the period which the subsequent collection concerns. From 1 January 2016, interest of 0.5% for the accounting periods 2011-12 will be calculated, 0.4% until

Denmark

31 July 2013 and then 0.7% from 1 August 2013 0.8% for the accounting periods 2014-2015, in all cases for each month that elapses after the calculated income tax is due for payment. For the accounting period 2016, it is possible to avoid payment of interest or a percentage addition if it has been paid before 1 January 2017. If the residual tax is paid in the period from 1 January to 1 July 2017, day-to-day interest of 2.0% must be paid. If the residual tax is not paid until after 1 July 2017, no day-to-day interest must be paid, but by contrast a percentage addition of 4%. These amounts are deductible.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

Denmark has no particular rules on materials to be used in connection with the preparation of the comparability analysis; however, guidance can be found in the BEPS report, Action 13, pages 24-25, from which it appears that the most reliable information must be used, which will often be from either other national enterprises or other European enterprises that operate under comparable conditions.

2.12 Languages

The transfer pricing documentation, including the country-by-country report can be prepared in Danish, English, Swedish or Norwegian. If the documentation is in another language, Skattestyrelsen may demand that it is translated. For the purpose of delivery to the authorities of other countries or internal use in a number of countries, it may be an advantage to prepare the material in English.

2.13 Confidentiality

The documents which the taxpayer submits to Skattestyrelsen, in connection with the tax return of Skattestyrelsen's requests for the purpose of processing a tax case, are covered by a strict duty of confidentiality under section 17 of the Danish Tax Administration Act. Others do not have access to the material submitted by the taxpayer to Skattestyrelsen, including also transfer pricing material, nor may Skattestyrelsen under the said rule state if a case is pending or has been pending at all with an actual taxpayer.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

In general, the transfer pricing documentation must be of such a nature that it can form the basis of an assessment of whether prices and terms have been determined on arm's-length terms. The more complex and comprehensive the controlled transactions are, the larger requirements can be made as to the contents of the documentation.

3.1 Transfer pricing documentation according to Statutory Order no. 42 of 24 January 2006

According to the previous Statutory Order no. 42 of 24 January 2006., which can still be used for accounting periods that begin on 31 December 2016, the transfer pricing documentation for the controlled transactions must contain the following:

A) The group and the business activities

- 1. The group's legal structure.
- 2. The group entities' geographic location.
- 3. The group's organisational structure.
- 4. Primary business activities of the taxpayer and the related entities with which the taxpayer has had TP transactions.
- 5. An overview of the revenue of the past three years and results of operating activities of the taxpayer and the related entities with which the taxpayer has had TP transactions.
- 6. A brief historical description of the group and the enterprise. Development in the number of employees.
- 7. Description of restructuring, purchases and sale.
- 8. Explanation of losses.
- 9. Changes in material functions and risks.
- 10. A brief description of industrial circumstances for the group.
- 11. A description of material competition parameters.

B) The controlled transactions

1. Aggregation of transactions: transactions that are so closely linked or continuous that they cannot be evaluated adequately on a separate basis.

D

- 2. How much was transferred in the controlled transactions and between which parties.
- 3. Properties of the products (the items transferred).
- 4. A functional analysis based on functions, risks and assets.
- 5. Contractual terms.
- 6. Financial circumstances.
- 7. Business strategies.
- 8. A description of cost allocation agreements.
- 9. Other circumstances that may be of importance to the arm's-length assessment, for example public law regulation or campaigns on new markets.

C) Comparability analysis

- 1. A description of the pricing of the controlled transactions.
- 2. An account of why the pricing is in compliance with the arm's-length principle.
- 3. An account of used comparable independent transactions.
- 4. An account of selection of method.
- 5. An account of the taxpayer's own transactions with independent parties.
- 6. An account of choice of transactions between independent parties and other related parties' transactions with independent parties.
- 7. Which potential comparable transactions have been deselected and why.
- 8. Database examination (not mandatory, but if it has been prepared or if Skattestyrelsen requests so, it must be attached).

D) An account of the implementation of the pricing principles

1. The specification of the extent to which the taxpayer or related parties have made subsequent adjustment of prices and terms of the controlled transactions in both Denmark and abroad. It must be described if these adjustments are in compliance with the arm's-length principle.

E) List of any written agreements concerning the controlled transactions

- 1. A copy of the written agreements concerning the controlled transactions.
- 2. Copies of any written agreements which the taxpayer or related parties have entered into with authorities in other countries concerning controlled transactions both retrospective and forward-looking agreements. (Does not apply to agreements to which Danish tax authorities are a party.)

Skattestyrelsen may impose on the taxpayer to present further information and material and request the preparation of a database examination with a deadline of between 60 and 90 days.

3.2 Transfer pricing documentation according to Statutory Order No. 1297 of 31 October 2018

In sections 4 and 5, the newest documentation Statutory Order no. 1297 of 31 October 2018 makes a number of requirements regarding the transfer pricing documentation, in that there is a split in the standardised documentation and the country-specific documentation. All paragraphs and sub-sections mentioned in sections 4 and 5 of the documentation Statutory Order must be included in the standardised information relevant for the entire group documentation. If the group does not have the stated types of activities, agreements, transactions, etc. specified in the paragraphs, it must be stated positively that the group does not have such activities, agreements, transactions, etc. in the documentation under the said paragraph.

The standardised documentation must generally contain the following:

1. A group chart showing the group's legal and organisational structure, including a specification of the countries from which the group operates

- a. All companies in the group must be shown individually.
- b. Equity interests whereby the different parties are related must be shown.
- c. Each group unit's geographic location (tax jurisdiction) must be shown.
- d. The organisational and business activities of each unit must be stated.

Denmark

- 2. A general description of the group's business activities, including a description of material drivers of business profit in the group
- a. A description of the group's supply chain for the five top products and/or services measured in terms of sales and for the products and/or services that constitute more than 5% of the group's consolidated revenue. The description can be illustrated by a diagram.
- b. A list with a short description of the most material service agreements between the related parties of the group, except for research and development service agreements, and a description of the material services which the main service centres in the group handle or can handle, and the used transfer pricing policies for the allocation of service costs and determination of settling prices for the intra-group services.
- c. A description of the largest geographical markets measured in terms of sales of products and services (see a).
- d. A brief functional analysis that describes the primary contributions to the group's total value creation, with information as to which of the individual related parties of the group contribute to this in relation to material functions, risks and assets.
- e. A description of considerable restructurings, acquisitions and divestments occurred during the accounting year.

3. Information about the group's intangible assets

- a. A general description of the group's overall strategy for development, ownership and use of intangible assets, including geographic location of the group's primary research and development facilities and a statement of from where these activities are managed.
- b. A list of the intangible assets or groups of intangible assets in the group of importance to transactions between related parties and with a statement of which entities of the group are the legal owners of these intangible assets.
- c. A list of material agreements between the related parties concerning intangible assets, including primary CCA agreements (Cost Contribution Arrangements), research and development service agreements and license and royalty agreements.
- d. A general description of the group's overall transfer pricing politics in relation to research and development activities as well as intangible assets.
- e. A general description of all material transfers of rights in intangible assets between the related parties during the accounting year with a related statement of which entities and countries are involved in the transfers, and the payments incidental thereto.

4. Information about the group's funding

- a. A general description of how the group is funded, including a description of the most central financial arrangements with independent lenders.
- b. Identification of all the related parties with a central financing function in relation to the group, including a statement of the countries under whose laws these entities are organised and the place from where the entities are managed.
- c. A general description of the group's transfer pricing policies in relation to the financial arrangements between the related parties.

5. Information about the group's accounting/financial and tax position

- a. The group's consolidated financial statements for the year, if made for the purpose of financial reporting, internal control, tax statement or prepared in another context.
- b. A list and brief description of the group's existing unilateral APAs (Advanced Pricing Agreements), tax agreements and tax decisions with a forward-looking effect.

The country-specific documentation must include:

1. A detailed description of the organisation

- a. A description of the taxpayer's management structure, a local organisational chart and a description of the persons to whom the local management reports, and a specification of the countries in which these persons have their usual office addresses.
- b. A detailed description of the enterprise and the business strategy pursued by the taxpayer, and a

52

statement of whether the taxpayer has been involved in or effected by restructuring or transfers of intangible assets in the current accounting year and the accounting year immediately preceding the current accounting year, and an explanation of why such transactions have otherwise influenced the taxpayer.

- c. A specification of the taxpayer's most substantial competitors.
- 2. Detailed information, descriptions and analyses concerning the controlled transactions in which the taxpayer is involved
- a. A description of the controlled transactions (for example acquisitions, production, sale, delivery or receipt of services, loans, guarantees, purchase and sale of intangible assets, payment of royalties, etc.) and a description of the context in which the controlled transactions took place.
- b. An account in terms of value of the total internal payments for each category of controlled transactions in which the taxpayer is included (for example payments for products, services, royalties, interest, etc.) specified over the tax jurisdictions to and from which the payments took place.
- c. Identification of each of the related parties involved in each category of controlled transactions with the taxpayer, and a brief description of the relation to each of these parties.
- d. Copies of all material controlled agreements with which the taxpayer is included.
- e. A detailed comparability analysis and functional analysis of the taxpayer and the relevant related parties in relation to each category of controlled transactions, including a description of all changes in relation to previous years.
- f. A statement of the most suitable transfer pricing method in relation to each category of transactions and grounds for the selection of method.
- g. When it is relevant in relation to the transfer pricing method, it must be stated which of the transaction parties has been selected as the tested party, and the choice must be reasoned.
- A description of the conditions and assumptions that have been applied in the use of the transfer pricing method.
- i. If a multi-year analysis has been made, this approach must be reasoned.
- j. A list with a related description of the selected comparable transactions (internal and external) and information about the financial indicators (PLIs) for the independent enterprises used in the transfer pricing analysis, including a description of the selection process and the source of the information used.
- k. An account of any comparability adjustments and of whether adjustments have been made for the results with the tested party, the comparable transactions or both.
- I. An account of why it can be concluded that the relevant transactions have been priced in compliance with the arm's-length principle by employing the selected transfer pricing method.
- m. An overview with a specification of the financial data/accounting data employed in the use of the transfer pricing method.
- n. A copy of existing unilateral, bilateral and multi-lateral APAs and other tax agreements and tax decisions with a forward-looking effect which the taxpayer is not a party to, but which are relevant in relation to the controlled transactions.

3. Material concerning the economic, financial and accounting data

- a. If there are audited financial statements for the taxpayer for the accounting year, they must be enclosed, and if not, any existing unaudited financial statements are enclosed instead.
- b. Data and allocation forms showing how the accounting data used in the transfer pricing method can be reconciled with the financial statements of the taxpayer.
- c. Overviews and forms that show the relevant economic, financial and/or accounting data for the comparable independent transactions, or which have been used in the transfer pricing analysis, and a statement of the source of this data.

Skattestyrelsen may impose on the taxpayer to present further information and material and request the preparation of a database examination with a deadline of at least 60 days and no more than 90 days.

Denmark

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Country-by-country reporting according to Statutory Order no. 1304 of 14 November 2018

The country-by-country report, which must be submitted digitally in a fixed XLM file format to Skattestyrelsen no later than 12 months after the last day of the accounting period for which reporting must be made, must contain the following:

- Identity information of the ultimate parent company or the company with the obligation to file the country-by-country report.
- Table 1 which shows an overview of the allocation of income, taxes and business activities for each tax jurisdiction (the geographic location).
- Table 2 which shows a list of identification information for all consolidated companies in the group.
- Table 3 which shows other information in support of the information provided in tables 1 and 2.

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Guayaquil	Edgar Naranjo	+593 4 236 7833
		enaranjo@pkfecuador.com
Guayaquil	Manuel García	+593 4 236 7833
		pkf@pkfecuador.com

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

Transfer pricing ruling has been effective in Ecuador since Presidential Decree No. 2430 issued on 31 December 2004, although various important changes, mainly disclosure requirements, have been implemented since then. Today, five unnumbered articles added after article 15 and the unnumbered article added after article 22 of the Ecuadorian Tax Law, refer to the arm's-length principle, criteria of comparability, methodology to establish transfer pricing, exemptions from the transfer pricing regime, and related parties' transactions. Articles 4 and 84 – 91 of the Ecuadorian Tax Ruling complement the legal context for transfer pricing. In Ecuador there have been no official statements on the implementation of the BEPS initiative, including a Master File, a Local File and country-by-country reporting.

1.2 Practical context

TP requirements apply to both local and foreign-related parties, which lead to an important burden not only on local branches or subsidiaries of a multinational group, but also on domestic companies.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

An Ecuadorian taxpayer that performs transactions with related parties is subject to the transfer pricing regime and is required to submit the Transfer Pricing Annex, Transfer Pricing Report and/or TP-documentation with respect to those transactions. The definitions of related parties can be found in the unnumbered article added after article 4 of Ecuadorian Tax Law and article 4 of Ecuadorian Tax Ruling. The local tax authority may also determine other related parties by assumption.

Taxpayers are required to file the Transfer Pricing Annex if the accumulated transactions with related parties (domestic and foreign) exceed USD 3 million.

Taxpayers are required to submit the Transfer Pricing Integral Report (TP Report) if the accumulated transactions with related parties (domestic and foreign) exceed USD 15 million.

Exemptions from the transfer pricing regime apply to taxpayers that comply with all these conditions:

- Having a payable corporate income tax greater than 3% of their taxable revenues.
- Not performing transactions with tax havens.
- Not having government contracts related to the exploration and exploitation of non-renewable resources.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

The income tax return must include the total amount of transactions performed with domestic and foreign parties during the tax year, disaggregated as follows: assets, liabilities, income, and expenses.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

Transfer pricing adjustments and related parties' transactions must be included in the corporate income tax form (Form 101), which is due in April each year.

The Related Parties' Annex and/or the Comprehensive Transfer Pricing Report should be submitted to the local tax authority up to June each year, according to the ninth digit of the tax identification number of the taxpayer.

Ecuador

2.4 Materiality

In principle, all transactions with related parties should be supported by appropriate transfer pricing documentation. There are no formal thresholds below which no TP-documentation is required. However, considering the basic principle that the administrative burden should be justified by the complexity and tax effect of the transaction, the more complex and material the transactions are, the more extensive the TP-documentation should be.

2.5 Retention of documents

An Ecuadorian taxpayer is required to keep its administrative records for at least seven years: tax liability prescribes in three years if the income tax return was filed accurately and on time, and in six years if the return was incomplete or filed late. Since the TP-documentation is part of the records of a taxpayer, this seven-year period also applies to the TP-documentation.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

The documentation is required for each year in which occur the business transactions with domestic and foreign-related parties that exceed the applicable transaction thresholds.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

Taxpayers must include in the income tax return (Form 101) the amount of the adjustment determined in the transfer pricing study to determine the taxable income and income tax. If adjustments are determined after filing the income tax return, the taxpayer may file an amended return to pay income tax plus corresponding interest.

Also, as commented in 2.2 the taxpayer must include the total amount of transactions performed with domestic and foreign related parties during the tax year.

2.8 Burden of proof

In practice, the burden of proof lies with the taxpayer for filing the transfer pricing annex and the transfer pricing report.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

If a taxpayer does not submit the annex and/or the report or does submit incomplete, altered, false or incorrect documentation, is subject to a penalty of up to USD 15,000.

The local tax authority issues a document that establishes penalties according to the seriousness of the fault or misdemeanor. Based on this document, late filing of the Transfer Pricing Report and/or the Annex could imply a penalty of up to USD 333.

Assessments of any kind, including transfer pricing adjustments, must charge interest (around 13% per year) for the time between the moment when the taxes were payable (typically, April of the year after the transactions were held) and the time when the tax is finally paid. In addition, a 20% surcharge on the assessment will be applied.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

Apart from the rules mentioned above in chapter "2.9.1 General", there are no specific rules on penalties in case of a TP-adjustment.

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

There are no CbC-reporting requirements in Ecuadorian Tax Law and Ruling.

2.10 Interest

56

Interest is not charged on penalties.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

Only the current tax year should be considered for identifying comparable companies.

Although Ecuadorian companies are required to disclose their audited annual financial statements by filing a copy with the local commercial regulator ("Superintendencia de Compañías"), this information is generally insufficient and limited to be used as a resource of comparable transactions. Consequently, foreign comparables are accepted by the local tax authority for transfer pricing purposes. Tax legislation also allows the local tax authority to use secret comparables.

E

2.12 Languages

The Ecuadorian tax law requires the documentation to be filled in only in Spanish.

2.13 Confidentiality

The Ecuadorian tax authorities will treat the TP-documentation confidentially. The tax authorities can only exchange the TP-documentation with the tax authorities of another country if there is a legal basis. This legal basis can be found in the national law or a tax treaty. The TP-documentation is never available to the public.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

Current requirements for filing the Comprehensive Transfer Pricing Report are the following:

- The report should be filed in a non-recordable compact disc, in PDF, and must comply with the following structure: executive summary, scope and objective, content and conclusions.
- Description of each intercompany transaction.
- · Characteristics of the transactions.
- The background and functions performed by the group the taxpayer belongs to.
- The background, functions performed, risks borne and assets used by the taxpayer in its business.
- · Contractual terms.
- · Market analysis.
- · Economic analysis.
- · Listing of selected comparables that were rejected, stating the reasons for such consideration.
- · Listing quantification and methodology used to practice adjustments necessary on selected comparable.
- · Median and the interquartile range.
- Profit and loss statement of the comparable entities corresponding to the commercial years considered for the economic analysis, indicating the source of information.
- Conclusions.
- Additional information.

The same electronic file must include the annexes and working papers of the TP Report in Microsoft Excel.

3.1 Master File

Unclear if this is mandatory.

3.2 Local File

Unclear if this is mandatory.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

Ecuador has not signed the Multilateral Competent Authority Agreement on the Exchange of Country-by-Country Reports.

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

Ecuador has not signed the Multilateral Competent Authority Agreement on the Exchange of Country-by-Country Reports.

GERMANY

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Berlin	Katja Kühne	+49 30 306 90730
		katja.kuehne@pkf-fasselt.de
Braunschweig	Soeren Damerau	+49 531 24 03 210
		soeren.damerau@pkf-fasselt.de
Duisburg	Thorsten Haake	+49 203 30 001342
		thorsten.haake@pkf-fasselt.de
Hamburg	Dietrich Jacobs	+49 40 355 521 31
		dietrich.jacobs@pkf-fasselt.de
Heidelberg	Franz-Josef Appel	+49 6221 60960
		office@pkf-hd.de
Herford	Marc Danne	+49 5221 99 130
		marc.danne@pkf-herford.de
Köln	Wolfgang van Kerkom	+49 221 1643 162
		wolfgang.van.kerkom@pkf-fasselt.de
München	Alexander Lummel	+49 89 290 320
		alexander.lummel@m.pkf.de
Nürnberg	Bertram Fischer	+49 911 47 43 132
		wp.fischer@pkf-nuernberg.de
Osnabrück	Klaus Stein	+49 541 944 220
		klaus.stein@os.pkf.de
Stuttgart	Daniel Scheffbuch	+49 711 69767 238
		d.scheffbuch@pkf-wulf.de
Würzburg	Matthias Heinrich	+ 49 931 355 78 17
		matthias.heinrich@pkf-issing.de

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

German TP documentation rules (regarding CbC reporting, cf. below) are laid down in sec. 90 (3) AO (German fiscal code) and also in the related ordinance regarding the documentation of profit allocations (Gewinnabgrenzungsaufzeichnungsverordnung – GaufzV). In the current versions applicable from 2017 onwards, these rules reflect the requirements of OECD-BEPS action point 13, e.g. Master Files and Local Files. Therefore, we only comment on these currently applicable rules.

Regarding details of a pre-BEPS-version of the ordinance, the Federal Ministry of Finance has published a central administrative order on administrative principles-procedures (Verwaltungsgrundsaetze-Verfahren). This order is related to outdated legal regulations from the time before the OECD-BEPS project started, as those rules did not require the distinction between Master and Local Files. Thus, this order generally cannot be regarded as being based on the mentioned OECD principles, although in many respects the former German regulations within tax law and the respective ordinance were already in line with the current OECD rules. As a consequence, the former order can still be used as a basis for interpretation of the current rules contained in sec. 90 (3) AO and the mentioned current ordinance.

G

Furthermore, CbC reporting legislation was introduced in sec. 138a AO coming into effect:

- for fiscal years starting on or after 1 January 2016 regarding the primary mechanism (i.e. for MNE with German ultimate parent entities)
- one year later regarding the secondary mechanism (i.e. for other German entities).

1.2 Practical context

For fiscal years 2017 onwards, the distinction between Master Files and Local Files is mandatory under German law.

Regarding CbC reporting, the Bundeszentralamt fuer Steuem (BZSt - Federal Central Tax Authority) published some FAQs on its homepage (www.bzst.de) on several technical aspects. Regarding most practical aspects Germany simply refers to the respective OECD-Publications such as the user guide to the XML Schema or the Guidance on the implementation of CbC reporting. For CbC reporting from July 2019 onwards, electronic filing via a specific electronic mass data interface for which companies have to register will be mandatory. As this interface is not in place yet (November 2018), currently the only permitted way of filing CbC Reports with the BZSt is the use of "DE-Mail" (German E-Government communications service that makes it possible to exchange legal electronic documents between citizens, agencies and business over the internet), although from December 2018 onwards, the mentioned interface shall be in place and thus can be used as an alternative already.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

From 2017 onwards, German law requires that the taxpayer has to prepare a Local File for business transactions involving foreign countries ("mit Auslandsbezug"), if related parties or permanent establishments are used for (in case of permanent establishment: eventually deemed) cross-border business transactions. For income other than that from agriculture, trade/business and self-employment as well as for small enterprises, these documentation requirements are deemed to be fulfilled by the provision of adequate information and already existing documents if the respective deadlines are kept.

In this respect, a small enterprise is defined in sec. 6 (2) GAufzV, where it says:

- neither the sum of charges for the purchase/sale of goods from business transactions with related parties exceeds EUR 6m
- nor the sum of charges for other services/supplies from business transactions with related parties exceeds EUR 600k during the current fiscal year.

If these amounts are exceeded in one fiscal year, the exemption will not be applicable during the following fiscal year. Reciprocally, the exemption is applicable in the following fiscal year, if the respective amounts fall below the mentioned thresholds.

A Master File is mandatory for 2017 onward if a Local File has to be prepared and the non-consolidated turnover of the entity was at least EUR 100m in the preceding fiscal year.

CbC reporting legislation applies to entities as part of multinational groups with a (consolidated) annual turnover of at least EUR 750m in the preceding year. A German entity has to submit such CbC reporting if it is (a) the ultimate parent, (b) a German entity appointed by a foreign ultimate parent to produce such reporting (surrogate parent entity) or (c) a German entity whose foreign parent has not submitted a CbC Report.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

A separate documentation of each single business transaction is necessary. However, an aggregation is possible:

- if (a) the transactions are similar in terms of functions and risks functions and risks, (b) the transactions
 have been divided into groups according with predetermined and transparent rules and (c) if these
 transactions are identical or equivalent or if the aggregation is common between third parties as well, or
- · if the transactions are linked in respect of their cause, or
- if the transactions are partial services/supplies of an overall transaction and if for the appropriateness of its price, the overall transaction is more relevant than the partial service/supply.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

For ordinary business transactions, no deadline for the preparation of the documentation by the taxpayer exists. However, if the documentation is prepared based on data or documents collected or established long after the

Germany

respective reporting period, the fiscal authorities might challenge the documentation because it appears to have been prepared as subsequent justification, for example, of long-term losses incurred by one of the entities.

Regarding extraordinary business transactions (i.e. conclusions and changes of long term agreements which have a material effect on the income derived by the taxpayer; transfers of assets in the course of a business restructuring procedure, etc.), documentation has to be prepared on a timely basis, which is considered to be within six months after the end of the fiscal year in which the business transaction has taken place.

The submission of the Local Files and Master Files to the fiscal authorities shall only be required by the fiscal authorities for the conduction of a field audit. The submission shall be required by the authorities giving a period of 60 days (in case of extraordinary transactions being involved: 30 days). These periods may be extended under special circumstances.

A German ultimate parent entity is required to submit the CbC Report electronically to the BZSt within one year after the respective fiscal year for which the CbC reporting is performed. For the secondary mechanism basically the same applies, i.e. a German entity not being the ultimate parent of a multinational group has to submit the CbC Report for one fiscal year within one year of the end of the relevant year. However in case a domestic entity could assume that the CbC Report would be submitted in due time by the foreign ultimate entity, and if it is subsequently found that this was not done but not the fault of the domestic company, the domestic entity must fulfil its obligations within one month after being notified.

2.4 Materiality

The German documentation requirements regarding the Local File are not limited explicitly to business transactions with material impact on the taxpayer's income. As a consequence, there are neither relative nor absolute limits regarding the documentation requirement (cf. above chapter "2.1. Which taxpayers (incl. PEs) + thresholds", however). In practice, however, the fiscal authorities often limit their scope of investigation on business transactions with such material impact. Regarding the Master File, the ordinance states that for the Master File, information is to be prepared based on reasonable commercial assessment, which according to the prevailing view also implies a (non-specified) materiality threshold.

2.5 Retention of documents

The documentations have to be retained for ten years. The retention period does not expire as far and as long as the documents are of importance for taxes for which the assessment period has not run out yet.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

There is no explicit requirement on the frequency of updates. However, the documentation regarding Master Files and Local Files is required for each year in which the above-mentioned business transactions with foreign countries occur. Moreover, for continuous business transactions (e.g. long-term loans), the taxpayer has to collect and record information even after the conclusion of the business transaction (e.g. the conclusion of the loan agreement) in order to enable the tax authorities to investigate whether, and if so, from which point in time third parties would have adjusted the business transaction (e.g. changed the interest rate). This is especially relevant in the case of tax losses which third parties would not have tolerated, or in the case of price adjustments at the expense of the taxpayer.

The CbC reporting has to be performed for each fiscal year in which the respective preconditions (cf. "2.1. Which taxpayers") are met.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

For fiscal years starting on or after 1 January 2017, German legislation requires a domestic enterprise / a domestic PE to disclose whether it is a German ultimate parent, a surrogate parent entity or a domestic entity included in the CbC Report of a foreign parent (and if so, which parent will submit a CbC Report to which fiscal authority).

2.8 Burden of proof

Generally, the regular rules apply regarding the burden of proof. This includes the principle that if a taxpayer fails to meet his obligation to cooperate, the investigation obligations of the fiscal authorities diminish accordingly. Moreover.

- · if a taxpayer fails to provide the documentation, or
- · in case the documentation is essentially unusable, or
- if the documentation of extraordinary business transactions has not been prepared on a timely basis (cf. above chapter "2.3Deadlines (timing)"),

there is a rebuttable presumption that the taxpayer's German income for the investigation of which the documentation should serve is higher than the declared income. If in such cases the fiscal authorities have to make estimates which can only be specified within certain limits (especially based on price ranges), the German fiscal authorities may estimate the amount most unfavourable to the taxpayer.

Even if the taxpayer submitted usable documentation to the fiscal authorities, the same applies if there is evidence that the taxpayer's income were higher if he had complied with the arm's-length principle and if the doubts cannot be removed because a foreign-related person does not fulfil their obligation to cooperate or provide information.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 Administrative penalties

Unless the non-compliance with the requirement to submit usable documentation on time is excusable or if it is caused only by slight negligence on the part of the taxpayer, the following rules apply:

- If the taxpayer does not submit a Local File for a controlled transaction or in case the submitted documentation is essentially unusable, an amount of 5 to 10 percent of the additional income (but at least EUR 5k) will be further added to the income.
- If the taxpayer submits the mentioned documentation for a controlled transaction later than permitted, a
 penalty of up to EUR 1m, but at least EUR 100 per day of delay will be assessed.

For non-compliance with the requirements regarding the Master File, no specific rules apply. As a backup, the general administrative measures (such as "Verzoegerungsgeld" - fine for delay) may be applied.

Failure to file CbC Reports, filing of incomplete reports or late filing will be treated as an administrative offence and the taxpayer will be fined up to EUR 10k. In cases where non-filing, incomplete or late filing is considered to be caused by the taxpayer not taking due care in meeting his fiscal obligations ("leichtfertige Steuerverkuerzung"), the limit is EUR 50k.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

Apart from the rules mentioned above in chapter "2.9.1 Administrative penalties", there are no specific rules on penalties in case of a TP adjustment. As a consequence, the normal rules on the consequences of income adjustments apply including, for example, fines for frivolous tax evasion.

2.10 Interest

There are no specific rules on interest charged on subsequent tax payments in TP cases. As a consequence, the general rules apply, which normally means that interest is charged at a rate of 0.5 percent per month (generally starting 15 months after the end of the relevant calendar year). One should note that in the present economic environment characterised by low interest rates, it is currently checked by the Bundesverfassungsgericht (BVerfG – Supreme Court) whether this interest rate for subsequent tax payments of 6% p.a. is still in line with the German constitution.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

According to the German ordinance, within the documentation, the taxpayer has to use comparables as far as such data is available to him, to related parties, or such data can be procured from freely accessible sources with reasonable effort at the moment at which the business transaction is agreed upon. However, there are no specific requirements in Germany as to the question of whether only domestic or foreign comparables will be accepted by the tax authorities.

2.12 Languages

Generally, the Master File and the Local Files have to be prepared in German. The taxpayer may apply for an exception at any time before the documentation is due for submission but no later than immediately after he has been requested by the tax authorities to submit it. As regards extraordinary business transactions, the application has to be made at a date which still enables the timely preparation of the respective documentation (cf. above chapter "2.3 Deadlines (timing)").

While it is prescribed that entries to table 3 of the CbC Report have to be made in English, the rest of the entries can be made in German, although the German authorities prefer English for these parts as well.

Germany

2.13 Confidentiality

After the submission to the fiscal authorities, the documentation as well as the CbC Report is protected by the normal German rules and thus generally is subject to confidential treatment by the German fiscal authorities. Exemptions relate especially to the international exchange of information, e.g. under the relevant Double Taxation Agreements, the MCAA or the EU directives on administrative cooperation.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

A. Local File content

General information on the structure of the entity and on the business / the business strategy

- Description of the management structure of the local entity, a local organisation chart, and a description
 of the individuals to whom local management reports including the countries in which such individuals
 maintain their principal offices
- · Description of the business and business strategy pursued by the local entity

This description should be detailed and must include an indication whether the local entity has been involved in or affected by business restructurings or transfers of intangibles in the present or preceding year. Further it must contain an explanation of those aspects of such transactions which affect the local entity.

Analysis of functions, risks, and intangibles

 Information on (a) the relevant competitive and market conditions (b) the business strategy, (c) the functions performed and risks taken by the taxpayer and his related parties in the course of the business transaction as well as their changes, (d) the contractual conditions of the business transactions and (e) the use of the relevant intangibles

As a new aspect compared to the version of the ordinance currently applicable, the mentioned discussion draft expressly requires a weighting of functions and risks and the used assets to be quantifiable and verifiable. Furthermore, the relevant decision-makers must be indicated in the analysis of functions and risks.

 Description of the value chain and the value contribution of the taxpayer in comparison to the related parties also involved in the business transaction

Analysis of transfer prices

- · Description of the selected method of transfer pricing and justification of the suitability of the selected method
- Attachment of documents relating to the calculation of the transfer prices
- Analysis of the prices and financial data of independent enterprises used for comparison (comparables) and documentation of any adjustments made

As a new element, the discussion draft for the update of the ordinance expressly states that in case of database studies, the search process must be traceable for the tax authority and the authorities must be granted access to the same version and data as used in the taxpayer's database study.

B. Master File content

Basic Information on ownership, organisational and legal structure

- Graphical description of the organisational group structure (legal and ownership structure) as well as the geographical distribution of the entities of that group
- · Summary of significant mergers, acquisitions, sales and restructurings

Overview of the business

- · Description of the main geographical markets for the products / services of the group
- · Overview of important factors having an impact on the overall profit of the group
- Description of supply chains

Such description should be provided for the five products and / or services of the group which generate the highest sales revenues as well as for all other products and / or services, which account for more than 5% of the group's revenues.

 List and summarising description of material service agreements between entities of the group (except for agreements with R & D entities) The data provided should include (a) the capacity of the main facilities which provide material services, (b) a description of the TP policy adopted for the allocation of costs for those services and for the determination of the considerations to be paid for these services.

Comprehensive functional analysis

 This analysis should describe the main contributions that the individual entities make to the value creation, i.e. key functions, important risks and material assets

Intangibles, Research and Development

- Description of the group's overall strategy for intangibles
 Information is required about the development, ownership, protection and use of intangibles. It should further
 include the locations of the most important R & D facilities and of the facilities managing R & D activities.
- · List of intangibles relevant for TP purposes and of the entities which are the owners of those intangibles
- · List of important agreements involving to intangibles

This information should include cost-sharing arrangements, material research service agreements and licensing agreements.

· Specification of intra-group financial transactions

This should comprise information on relevant financial concepts such as financial intermediation, interest rate benchmarking, cash pooling and loan guarantees.

- General description of the TP policy regarding R & D and intangible assets
- · General description of all important transfers of rights to intangible assets

This information should include the entities involved in such transfers, their countries and the considerations paid.

Financial operations

- General description of how the group is financed
 This should include the description of significant financing relationships with third parties.
- Indication of the entities performing central financial, cash or asset management functions
 This should include an indication of the law under which the entity is organised and its effective place
 of management.
- · General description of the TP strategy for financing relationships

Attachment of consolidated financial statements (if such statements have been put up)

List and brief description of APAs regarding TPs and international income / cost allocation

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

German law requires the following:

Part 1: Country-by-Country indication of:

- Revenue and other operating income from business transactions with (a) third parties, (b) related parties and (c) the total of (a) and (b)
- Income taxes paid in the fiscal year
- · Income taxes paid or accrued in and for the fiscal year
- Profit/loss for the year before income taxes
- Equity
- Retained profit
- Number of employees
- Material assets

Part 2: Country-by-Country information of all included entity's major business activities.

Part 3: Additional information necessary for understanding of the data in Part 1 and Part 2.

Greece

GREECE

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Athens	Andreas Pournos	+30 210 7480 600
		pouand@pkf.gr

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

The legal framework prescribing the rules for Transfer Pricing documentation is contained in two bodies of law (codified laws), namely, Law 4172/2013 which constitutes the Greek Income Tax Law (ITC) and the Tax Procedures Code (4174/2013 or TPC). With the L 4172/2013 the OECD guidelines for Transfer Pricing are introduced as the application tool and interpretation framework. Any changes to OECD guidelines have immediate effect. The relevant authority to emanate, adopt or issue rules and guidelines is the General Secretariat of Public Revenue (GSPR). Several Transfer Pricing guidelines have been issued by the GSPR such as Decision 1097/2014 (as amended by Decision 1144/2014) which provides the mandatory content of the Transfer Pricing Documentation File (TPDF) for related party (intercompany) transactions and Decision 1284/2013 which provides guidance on Advance Pricing Agreements (APAs). The main TP Interpretation, the Decision 1097/2014 provides guidance on the file structure, requiring a Master File (basic file containing information on a group of entities, common for parent and components, only when foreign companies are present in the group) and a Local File (Greek file containing information on the Greek tested parties, and domestic groups) and provides guidance for the content as well.

Subsequent decisions provide guidance on the acceptable comparables database, database's edition, years to include and period of coverage, use of quartiles, etc.

An additional requirement is the preparation of a summarisation table of all the tested transactions, a Summary Information Table (SIT) and for all information to be uploaded to an appropriate IT platform, containing the key points of the transactions and information in the tested parties.

1.2 Practical context

The existing legal framework although appears to be sufficiently detailed, lacks clarity in a number of practical issues and this is magnified by an evident lack of experience especially when it comes to complex projects involving a variety of jurisdictions. In addition, the Greek TP guidelines include domestic groups, as well, without any exception for the documentation requirements while the APA procedure is reserved only for cross-border transactions with a notable administrative cost.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

Taxpayers, who enter into a transaction with an associated entity, are required to document this transaction. The obligation exists even when the associated party is not a legal but a physical person and irrespectively for both domestic and foreign entities and for small, medium and big enterprises as well. The definition of the association is given in article 2 of L4172/2013. Where association exists when there is a direct or indirect participation capable to control the management. Both the aforementioned article and subsequent ministerial circulars provided quantitative and qualitative criteria for the determination of the association status, e.g. the possession of the 33% of the voting rights or the existence of dominative influence between the entities.

However, there are specific thresholds that trigger the obligation for TP documentation. More specifically, the obligation exists when the cumulative value of the transaction exceeds the EUR 100,000, and where the taxpayers' turnover is less than EUR 5 million, and the cumulative value of EUR 200,000 when the taxpayers' turnover is over EUR 5 million.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

Each transaction can be examined on an arm's-length basis, however, when transactions of common type occur, it is possible to provide documentation for this common transaction type, taking into account the characteristics of the transactions as well. In practice the transactions to be tested can be grouped

G

into categories, by nature of transaction. Moreover, the threshold used to establish the obligation for TP documentation is examined with regard to the transaction category. An indicative typology of the transaction can be found in the guidelines for the preparation of the summarisation table to be uploaded at the end of every fiscal year.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

For the Master and the Local File, the deadline for the preparation is the deadline for the annual tax returns. However, the competent authority grants one month to present the TPDF starting from the day of the formal request for audit. Notwithstanding, the additional requirement of the Summary Information Table should be uploaded within the strict deadline for the tax return.

2.4 Materiality

Once the obligation to provide TP documentation is triggered (see above par. 2.1) the taxpayer is obliged to document every transaction regardless of the amount.

2.5 Retention of documents

The statute of limitations for the assessment of transfer pricing adjustments is five years from the tax year end in which the annual corporate income tax return was filed (containing the adjustment). Please note, under certain circumstance it is 20 years.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

The TPDF should contain a special chapter where the taxpayer describes all facts and circumstances justifying changes in the market conditions with regard to the previous fiscal year. The TPDF remains valid for the next fiscal year including the updates deemed as necessary. However, if the taxpayer proves that the operating conditions remained substantially unaltered, they would be authorised to keep the same comparables for a maximum period of three (3) years.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

There are no direct disclosures in the tax returns, but as mentioned in par. 1.1 the Greek tax authorities go beyond a simple tick mark in the tax return and require the taxpayer to declare, through the SIT, quite detailed information on the all the key points. The SIT is to be uploaded, together with the tax return, containing information on the company names, country, nomenclature used (e.g. NACE 2nd revision), VAT number, existence of tax model convention, type of transaction, amount and TP method used, risk, functions and assets.

2.8 Burden of proof

The taxpayer is obliged to provide the necessary documentation within the prescribed deadlines and the documentation should be complete and accurate in terms of content and usable information allowing the tax authority to perform recalculations. Where data is missing, the TDPF is unusable and these inefficiencies cannot be cured with additional information during the tax audit, the TDPF will be considered inadmissible leading to penalties. The SIT should be complete and accurate as well, and the information contained should agree with the TPDF otherwise it will be considered inadmissible, leading to penalties.

2.9 Penalties

According to art. 56 of TPC 4174/2013 as amended, there are three main categories of penalties:

- 1. Late submission of the Summary Information Table (SIT): 0.1% of the value of the tested transactions with a minimum of EUR 500 and a maximum of EUR 2,000;
- Timely submission of the Summary Information Table (SIT) but with incorrect information: If the error or incorrectness exceeds the 10% of the value of the tested transaction, then a 0.1% of the value of error is calculated, with a minimum of EUR 500 and a maximum of EUR 2,000;
- Non-submission of the Summary Information Table (SIT): 0.1% of the value of the tested transactions that should have been declared with a minimum of EUR 2,500 and a maximum of EUR 10,000;
- 4. Amended SIT: penalties are applicable only with strict regard to values declared and the amendment of the value exceed the EUR 200,000 compared to what was previously reported. In this case a penalty is calculated amounting to 0.1% of the tested (amended) transaction with a minimum of EUR 500 and a maximum of EUR 2,000;

5. Non-submission of the TPDF: the penalty is one-off payment calculated in relation of the time passed from the deadline, ranging as following

from 31 - 60 days of delay: EUR 5,000 penalty;

from 61 - 90 days: EUR 10,000;

over 90 days or no submission at all: EUR 20,000.

Although the penalty for a TPDF with incorrect or inaccurate information is abolished, an incorrect TPDF may be considered equivalent to a non-submission.

Furthermore, when the tax authority reaches the conclusion that there is tax evasion, additional penalties and fines will be calculated as in all tax evasion cases. Also, other implications might emerge such as breaches of the anti-laundering money legislation.

2.10 Interest

The calculation of late payment interest with regard to additional taxes that emerged after the TP tax audit follows the general rule of late payment interest, which is currently set at 8,51% year rate (0,71% monthly). Interest is not capitalised.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

The tax authority, in line with the OECD guidelines requires the use of most reliable information, without posing specific criteria. When external comparables are required, no specific transfer pricing comparables database is preferred by the tax authority. The tax authority normally focuses on the interquartile range in a transactional net margin method (TNMM) analysis.

The use of benchmarking studies must follow certain rules with regard to the period covered and the data handling. More specifically:

- When the CUP method is the selected method, the data to be used should refer to uncontrolled transactions that took place within the same period. In this case the comparables search should be executed in database version covering a period starting from two months before the year end up to the deadline for the submission of the tax returns (usually by the end of June)
- When the CUP method is not the selected method, the taxpayer should retrieve the data from the weighted average of the three years preceding the tested year
- The values of the sample must be sorted in ascending order before the construction of the quartiles
- The database version used will be binding for the tax authority in case of assessment.

2.12 Languages

Greek or English are the languages to be used for the Master File. Any other official language can also be used but must be accompanied with a Greek translation. The Local File, instead will be prepared in Greek language.

2.13 Confidentiality

The general rule of confidentiality on the citizens' tax affairs is applied. The right to confidentiality is restricted when information is requested by other public officers, justice, foreign tax authorities (EU 2011/16).

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

3.1 Master File

To be prepared only when there is a foreign company in a Group of companies (MNE) (not required for domestic groups):

- A general description of the taxpayers activities and strategy, including changes made in relation to the previous tax year,
- A general description of its organisational, legal and operational structure (including the Group's chart, the list of its components, permanent establishments, a description of the association relationship and the changes as compared with the previous tax year, on the ownership of intangible assets, of the financial transactions and the taxable income of the group),
- A general description of the associated entities and/or their permanent establishments involved in the transactions to be documented,
- A general description of the transactions to be documented involving the associated entities, i.e. a general description of:

G

- the nature of the transactions (sale of goods, provision of services, financial transactions, intangible assets, etc.),
- ii. the flow of invoices; and
- iii. the amount of transactions
- A general description of the functions performed, the risks being dealt with and the changes that may exist
 to the operations and risks in relation to the previous tax year,
- The ownership of intangible assets (patents, trademarks, trade names, know-how, etc.) and the payment
 or collection of rights,
- A description of its pricing policy that explains the arm's-length principle for the intra-group transactions,
- A list of cost allocation agreements, pre-approval decisions of intra-group pricing methodology and court decisions concerning group members, with regard to price setting of intra-group transactions,
- A description of the transactions carried out during the fiscal year, with entities and with which the taxpayer became associated or the association was terminated in the same tax year, before or after the association, in order to be able to verify if these transactions meet the criteria of comparability and can be used as comparative data.

3.2 Local File

- A detailed description of the taxpayer and his strategy, including changes made in comparison with the
 previous tax year,
- A detailed description of the transactions to be documented, including:
 - i. the nature of the transactions (sale of goods, provision of services, financial transactions, intangible assets, etc.)
 - ii. the flow of invoices
 - iii. the amount of the transactions
 - iv. a description of extraordinary transactions or events, including those arising from the transfer of operations as defined by the provisions of Article 51 of Law 4172/2013
 - v. in particular in the case of the sale / purchase or transfer of intangible assets to or from a related party, additional information (relating to such transactions) for compliance with the arm's-length principle, i.e. the price at which an independent entity would be willing to sell or transferring the value to which an independent entity would be prepared to acquire that intangible asset under comparable circumstances, taking into account the expected benefits and usefulness for his business
- Comparative analysis, i.e.:
 - i. characteristics of the assets and services and related information on internal and / or external comparative data, if available. Special factors should be taken into account in order to justify the comparability of intangible assets and the arm's-length principle such as: expected benefits, geographical constraints, transfer of exclusive rights or not, participation of the acquirer in future development
 - ii. functional analysis (performing functions, assets used, business risks),
 - iii. contractual terms,
 - iv. economic conditions; and
 - v. specific business strategies
- An explanation of the choice and method of applying the intra-group transaction pricing method(s)
- A description of the implementation of the taxpayer's policy when setting the intra-group transaction prices,
- The commitment of the taxpayer to provide any additional information relating to its intra-group transactions at the request of the Tax Administration within a reasonable time, particularly in the case of a tax audit,
- Explanations on the method of adjustments made when the taxpayer has adjusted its taxable profits in order to comply with the arm's-length principle,
- A description and a detailed justification for any adjustments made to achieve comparability,
- Additional information on transactions with related parties established or having their tax domicile in non-cooperative countries, which in the case of a group will also include the balance sheet and the income statement of the associate entity/entities,
Greece

- A flow chart of transactions, including extraordinary transactions
- Copies of the contracts governing the transactions to be tested.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

Greece has signed the multilateral authority agreement on the automatic exchange of Country-by-Country reports, with the Decision POL 1111/2018 the exchange of CbC reporting has been extended to include a list of countries with which Greece will exchange CbC Reports on a mandatory basis and a list of countries with which exchange of CbC reporting will take place on voluntary basis.

н

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Hong Kong	Candice Ng	+852 2969 4016
		candiceng@pkf-hk.com
Hong Kong	Jeffrey Lau	+852 2969 4084
		jeffreylau@pkf-hk.com
Hong Kong	Henry Fung	+852 2969 4054
		henryfung@pkf-hk.com

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

In the past, the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Ordinance ("IRO") did not contain any specific transfer pricing ("TP") rules or legislation addressing non-arm's-length transactions between associated enterprises. As such, the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department ("IRD") had been relying on a number of general provisions such as Section 61 or 61A under in the IRO, non-legally binding IRD's Departmental Interpretation and Practice Notes ("DIPN"), and with guidance from case law to deal with TP issues.

The IRD issued its DIPN No. 46 entitled "TP Guidelines – Methodologies and Related Issues" in December 2009 setting out its views and practices on the methodologies of TP in Hong Kong and related issues. DIPN 46 provides a framework of guiding principles which the IRD will follow when determining whether or not a TP adjustment is applicable. It outlines some key issues including the application of the arm's-length principle, elimination of double taxation, the rules on attribution of profits of the permanent establishment of a non-Hong Kong enterprise, the acceptance of TP methodologies, the TP documentation that taxpayers are expected to retain to support their TP arrangements, and how intra-group service fees income/expenses should be arranged in order to comply with the arm's-length principle. Similar to other DIPNs issued by the IRD, DIPN 46 does not have the force of law and is not legally binding, i.e. it does not affect a person's right of objection and appeal to the Commissioner, the Board of Review or the Courts. Nonetheless, DIPN 46 still provides useful guidelines to taxpayers regarding what TP documentation that taxpayers are expected to maintain and produce upon an enquiry, tax audit or investigation raised/conducted by the IRD.

In July 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed the Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No.6) Ordinance ("the New Ordinance"), which primarily implements the minimum standards of the Base Erosion and Profit Shifting ("BEPS") package promulgated by the OECD and codifies the arm's-length principle into the IRO. In short, the New Ordinance empowers the IRD to make TP adjustments on income or expense items arising from non-arm's-length transactions between associated persons that give rise to a potential Hong Kong tax advantage.

Pursuant to the New Ordinance, the IRD is empowered to adjust the profits or losses of an enterprise where the actual provision made or imposed between associated persons (associated in terms of management, control and capital) departs from the arm's-length provision and has created a Hong Kong tax advantage.

As far as TP documentation is concerned, the New Ordinance also introduced comprehensive TP documentation requirements in Hong Kong based on the OECD's three-tiered standardised approach (i.e. Master File, Local File and CbC Report) which are explained further below.

1.2 Practical context

As there might be some uncertainties on interpretation and practical application of the New Ordinance, it is envisaged that further guidance will be issued by the IRD through DIPN in the future. It is suggested that taxpayers in Hong Kong should keep paying attention to the development to cope with the new challenges.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

Hong Kong adopts a territorial taxation basis. The IRD has long adopted the OECD model and all enterprises that carry on a trade or business in Hong Kong (including a Hong Kong incorporated company, branch or permanent establishment) are required to meet the arm's-length standard in transactions between associated enterprises.

Hong Kong

Under the New Ordinance, the TP rules shall apply to all Hong Kong enterprises including a permanent establishment ("PE") maintained by non-Hong Kong resident persons, covering both cross-border and certain domestic transactions which involve tangible assets, financial arrangements, intangible assets and services. No thin capitalisation rules are introduced at this stage.

2.1.1 Master File and Local File

As regards TP documentation, for each accounting period beginning on or after 1 April 2018, all enterprises carrying on a trade or business in Hong Kong which engage in transactions with associated enterprises will be required to prepare the Master File and Local File for each accounting period within 9 months from the end of the accounting period. This rule can be disregarded if the company falls within one of the exemptions based on the business size or the related party transaction volume:

A) Exemption based on size of business

An enterprise which satisfies any two of the three conditions below will not be required to prepare the Master File and the Local File.

- (i) Total annual revenue of not more than HK\$400 million;
- (ii) Total assets of not more than HK\$300 million; and
- (iii) Average number of employees not more than 100.

B) Exemption based on related party transactions

If the amount of a category of related party transactions for the relevant accounting period is below certain prescribed threshold, an enterprise will not be required to prepare a Local File for the particular category of transactions. If the enterprise is fully exempted from preparing a Local File by reason of its related party transactions of all categories are below the prescribed thresholds, it will also not be required to prepare the Master File. Specified domestic transactions are excluded from the thresholds and not required to be documented.

- (i) Transfer of properties (other than financial assets and intangibles): HK\$220 million;
- (ii) Transaction of financial assets: HK\$110 million;
- (iii) Transfer of intangibles: HK\$110 million; and
- (iv) Any other transaction (e.g. service income and royalty income): HK\$44 million.

2.1.2 CbC-reporting

For each accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2018, the Hong Kong ultimate parent entity of a multinational enterprise group with annual consolidated revenue of EUR 750 million (HK\$6.8 billion) or above ("Reportable Group") should file the CbC Report. The contents of the CbC Report should follow the recommendations of the OECD. Nevertheless, a Hong Kong constituent entity will be relieved from filing a CbC Report if the IRD can receive the report from another jurisdiction.

Moreover, as part of the CbC-reporting requirement, every Hong Kong entity of a Reportable Group is required to make a notification containing relevant information for the IRD to determine the obligation for filing a CbC-Return (such notification must be filed with the IRD within 3 months after the end of the Hong Kong entity's accounting year-end date) unless another Hong Kong entity within the same Reporting Group has already filed the notification.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

Based on current practice, transactions between associated enterprises with a similar nature should be allowed to be aggregated for determining whether an arm's-length principle is conformed.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

For each accounting period beginning on or after 1 April 2018, the Master Files and Local Files will be required to be prepared for each accounting period within 9 months from the end of the accounting period.

The CbC Reports will be required to be filed within 12 months after the end of the relevant accounting period commencing on or after 1 January 2018, which means that the first CbC Reports will be filed in 2019.

н

2.4 Retention of documents

A Hong Kong taxpayer is required to keep its business records for a minimum of 7 years. As TP documentation is part of the records of a taxpayer, this 7-year period requirement also applies to TP documentation as stipulated in the New Ordinance.

2.5 Frequency of documentation updates

The Master Files, Local Files and CbC Reports should be prepared for each fiscal year.

2.6 Tax return disclosures

An enterprise, including a company, branch or sole proprietary which carries on a trade or business in Hong Kong would generally need to file an annual profits tax return with the IRD. Currently, an enterprise would need to disclose in the tax return (i) whether it has conducted business with a closely connected non-resident person (whose definition is similar to non-resident associated enterprise), (ii) which jurisdiction the closely connected non-resident person is located in, and (iii) amount of fees paid or accrued to closely connected non-resident persons.

2.7 Burden of proof

The burden of proof lies with the taxpayer in Hong Kong. Taxpayers are required to keep sufficient documentation and may be requested to justify their transfer prices and profits or losses upon an enquiry, tax audit or investigation raised by the IRD.

2.8 Penalties

2.8.1 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

If a taxpayer has adopted non-arm's-length pricing for its related party transactions and is unable to demonstrate that it has exercised reasonable effort to determine the arm's-length price for such transactions, the IRD is empowered to impose a penalty not exceeding 100% of the amount of tax undercharged. This penalty for TP matters is less than that imposed for incorrect returns and other matters under Section 82A of the IRO (i.e. 300% of the amount of tax undercharged).

2.8.2 Master file and Local File

Taxpayers who fail to prepare Master File and Local File documentation without a reasonable excuse are liable to a penalty of a level 5 fine (HK\$50,000) to a level 6 fine (HK\$100,000).

2.8.3 CbC-reporting

Taxpayers who fail to comply with the CbC-reporting requirements are potentially liable to penalties from a level 5 fine (HK\$50,000) to a level 6 fine (HK\$100,000). In the case of an offence committed with an intention to defraud, taxpayers are also liable to a level 3 fine (HK\$10,000) imprisonment for six months on summary conviction; a level 5 fine (HK\$50,000) and imprisonment for three years on conviction on indictment. In the case of a continuing offence after conviction for failure to comply, a further fine of HK\$500 will be imposed for each day of offence.

2.9 Interest

The current legislation does not specifically mention that additional interest will be imposed in the case of a TP adjustment.

2.10 Use of most reliable information

DIPN 46 provides detailed coverage on the selection of TP methods, which are similar to those contained in the OECD TP Guidelines. Acceptable TP methodologies include the traditional transaction methods (i.e. the comparable uncontrolled price method, the resale price method and the cost plus method) and the transactional profit methods (i.e. the profit-split method and the transactional net margin method).

As regards comparable data in a benchmarking exercise, no official guidance is provided by the IRD on the sources of data. Nonetheless, comparable data is generally available in various databases including the Bureau van Dijk (BvD) Electronic Publishing SA's OSIRIS database which is currently subscribed by the IRD.

Hong Kong

2.11 Languages

Under the new TP documentation requirements, Master Files, Local Files and CbC Reports should be prepared in either Chinese or English.

2.12 Confidentiality

The IRD will treat the TP documentation confidentially. The IRD can only exchange the TP documentation with tax authorities of another jurisdiction where there is a legal basis. There has to be a bilateral agreement (i.e. CDTA or Tax Information Exchange Agreement ("TIEA") or a multilateral agreement (i.e. the Multilateral Convention on Mutual Administrative Assistance in Tax Matters) between the jurisdictions concerned to provide the legal basis for exchange of tax information. Also, the competent authorities have to enter into a Competent Authority Agreement to allow automatic exchange of tax information. Similar to other jurisdictions, the TP documentation will never be readily available to the public.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

The contents of Master File and Local File are similar to the standard templates published by the OECD and the required contents are set out below.

3.1 Master File

The following information should be included in the Master File.

1. Organisational structure

Chart illustrating the MNE's legal and ownership structure and geographical location of operating entities.

2. Description of MNE's business(es)

- a) Important drivers of business profit.
- b) A description of the supply chain for the group's five largest products and/or service offerings by turnover plus any other products and/or services amounting to more than 5 percent of group turnover. The required description could take the form of a chart or a diagram.
- c) A list and brief description of important service arrangements between members of the MNE group, other than research and development (R&D) services, including a description of the capabilities of the principal locations providing important services and TP policies for allocating services costs and determining prices to be paid for intra-group services.
- d) A description of the main geographic markets for the group's products and services.
- e) A brief written functional analysis describing the principal contributions to value creation by individual entities within the group, i.e. key functions performed, important risks assumed, and important assets used.
- A description of important business restructuring transactions, acquisitions and divestitures occurring during the fiscal year.

3. MNE's intangibles (as defined in Chapter VI of the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines)

- A general description of the MNE's overall strategy for the development, ownership and exploitation of intangibles, including location of principal R&D facilities and location of R&D management.
- b) A list of intangibles or groups of intangibles of the MNE group that are important for TP purposes and which entities legally own them.
- c) A list of important agreements among identified associated enterprises related to intangibles, including cost contribution arrangements, principal research service agreements and license agreements.
- d) A general description of the group's TP policies relating to R&D and intangibles.
- e) A general description of any important transfers of interests in intangibles among associated enterprises during the fiscal year concerned, including the entities, countries, and compensation involved.

4. MNE's intercompany financial activities

- a) A general description of how the group is financed, including important financing arrangements with unrelated lenders.
- b) The identification of any members of the MNE group that provide a central financing function for the group, including the country under whose laws the entity is organised and the place of effective management of such entities.

c) A general description of the MNE's general TP policies related to financing arrangements between associated enterprises.

5. MNE's financial and tax positions

- a) The MNE's annual consolidated financial statement for the fiscal year concerned if otherwise prepared for financial reporting, regulatory, internal management, tax or other purposes.
- b) A list and brief description of the MNE group's existing unilateral advance pricing agreements (APAs) and other tax rulings relating to the allocation of income among countries.

3.2 Local File

The following information should be included in the Local File.

1. Local entity

- a) A description of the management structure of the local entity, a local organisation chart, and a description of the individuals to whom local management reports and the country(ies) in which such individuals maintain their principal offices.
- b) A detailed description of the business and business strategy pursued by the local entity, including an indication whether the local entity has been involved in or affected by business restructurings or intangibles transfers in the present or immediately past year, including an explanation of those aspects of such transactions affecting the local entity.
- c) Key competitors.

2. Controlled transactions

For each material category of controlled transactions in which the entity is involved, the following information is required to be provided:

- a) A description of the material controlled transactions (e.g. procurement of manufacturing services, purchase of goods, provision of services, loans, financial and performance guarantees, licenses of intangibles, etc.) and the context in which such transactions take place.
- b) The amount of intra-group payments and receipts for each category of controlled transactions involving the local entity (i.e. payments and receipts for products, services, royalties, interest, etc.) broken down by tax jurisdiction of the foreign payer or recipient.
- c) An identification of associated enterprises involved in each category of controlled transactions, and the relationship amongst them.
- d) Copies of all material intercompany agreements concluded by the local entity.
- e) A detailed comparability and functional analysis of the taxpayer and relevant associated enterprises with respect to each documented category of controlled transactions, including any changes compared to prior years.
- f) An indication of the most appropriate TP method with regard to the category of transaction and the reasons for selecting that method.
- g) An indication of which associated enterprise is selected as the tested party, if applicable, and an explanation of the reasons for this selection.
- h) A summary of the important assumptions made in applying the TP methodology.
- i) If relevant, an explanation of the reasons for performing a multi-year analysis.
- j) A list and description of selected comparable uncontrolled transactions (internal or external), if any, and information on relevant financial indicators for independent enterprises relied on in the TP analysis, including a description of the comparable search methodology and the source of such information.
- A description of any comparability adjustments performed, and an indication of whether adjustments have been made to the results of the tested party, the comparable uncontrolled transactions, or both.
- A description of the reasons for concluding that relevant transactions were priced on an arm's-length basis based on the application of the selected TP method.
- m) A summary of financial information used in applying the TP methodology.
- n) A copy of existing unilateral and bilateral/multilateral APAs and other tax rulings to which the local tax jurisdiction is not a party and which are related to controlled transactions described above.

Hong Kong

3. Financial information

- a) Annual local entity financial accounts for the fiscal year concerned. If audited statements exist they should be supplied and if not, existing unaudited statements should be supplied.
- b) Information and allocation schedules showing how the financial data used in applying the TP method may be tied to the annual financial statements.
- c) Summary schedules of relevant financial data for comparables used in the analysis and the sources from which that data was obtained.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

A MNE in Hong Kong with annual consolidated revenue of EUR 750 million or above should file the CbC Report. The contents of the CbC Report largely follow the recommendations of the OECD as below:

- a. For each jurisdiction in which the MNE is active, information should be provided in relation to the revenue, profit before income tax, income tax paid, income tax accrued, stated capital, accumulated earnings, number of employees and the tangible assets other than cash and cash equivalents.
- b. A description of every group entity of the MNE mentioning the tax jurisdiction of residence, and if deviant, the state under whose law the group entity is established and the main business or operations of that group entity.
- c. Categorisation of main business activities of every group entity of the MNE in the relevant tax jurisdictions.

4.2 Report filing and notification requirement for subsidiary companies

Under the new TP rules, the ultimate parent entity of the MNE group is responsible for filing the CbC Report in its jurisdiction of tax residence in normal circumstances. A Hong Kong ultimate parent company would need to file its CbC Report with the IRD within 12 months after the end of the relevant accounting period. The IRD will automatically exchange this report with the jurisdictions in which the MNE is active and with which Hong Kong has concluded relevant agreements for automatic exchange of tax information. In line with recommendations of the OECD, there is a secondary filing mechanism and surrogate filing mechanism for special circumstances.

The IRD will be empowered to mandate a constituent of the group in Hong Kong to file the CbC Report if:

- 1) The foreign ultimate parent company is not required to provide the tax authorities a report in its jurisdiction of residence; or
- 2) The foreign ultimate parent company is required to provide the tax authorities a report in its jurisdiction of residence, but there is no agreement between that jurisdiction and Hong Kong which provides for automatic exchange of the report.

Despite the above, the Hong Kong constituent will be relieved from filing a CbC Report if the IRD can receive the report from another jurisdiction or another Hong Kong constituent that is authorised to file the report on behalf of the MNE.

As regards the subsidiary companies of a Reportable Group, please note that every Hong Kong entity of the Reportable Group is required to make a notification containing relevant information for the IRD to determine the obligation for filing a CbC-Return unless another Hong Kong entity within the same Reporting Group has already filed the notification. Such notification must be filed with the IRD within 3 months after the end of the Hong Kong entity's accounting year-end date.

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Budapest	Zsolt Selenyi	+36 1 391 4220
		selenyi.zsolt@pkf.hu
Budapest	Krisztián Vadkerti	+36 1 391 4220
		vadkerti.krisztian@pkf.hu

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

Article 18 of the Act LXXXI of 1996 on Corporate Tax and Dividend Tax Act (CTA) was introduced in 2001 as the domestic codification of Article 9 of the OECD-model convention. A decree No 32/2017 of the Minister of National Economy (MoNE-decree) contains a general documentation requirement for all transactions between associated companies (both domestic and foreign companies) with respect to the applied Transfer Prices. According to the provisions of the MoNE-decree, the documentation requirements can be fulfilled by preparing a main TP documentation and a local one. (Main documentation relates to the whole group and a Local File to the Hungarian entity only.)

New standardised documentation requirements for multinational enterprises (MNEs) are included in the Act XL of 2017 which have been built in Act XXXVII of 2013 on International Mutual Executive Cooperation Concerning Specific Rules on Tax and Other Public Burdens. These requirements are the implementation by the Hungarian government of Action 13 of the OECD/G20-project Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS). These new documentation requirements include liability for submitting a Country-by-Country Report (CbC Report), for the financial years starting from 1 January 2016 or later.

1.2 Practical context

The new CbC-reporting requirements can lead to a significant administrative burden for MNEs. Although only MNEs are affected directly by the new reporting requirements, the BEPS-project will likely have effect for all taxpayers, since the focus of tax authorities will shift more and more to TP issues. Practice dictates that many taxpayers do not meet the minimum TP requirements.

As the Hungarian Tax Authority (HTA) has a very formalistic approach, and penalties for failure are high, it is recommended for all taxpayers to take a critical look at their TP documentation and deadlines for reporting.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

Based on article 18 para. (5) of the CTA, a Hungarian taxpayer that enters into transactions with an associated enterprise is required to have TP documentation with respect to those transactions. The definition of an associated enterprise in article 4.23 means:

- a) the taxpayer and the person in which the taxpayer has a majority control whether directly or indirectly according to the provisions of the Civil Code,
- b) the taxpayer and the person that has majority control in the taxpayer whether directly or indirectly according to the provisions of the Civil Code,
- c) the taxpayer and another person if a third party has majority control in both the taxpayer and such other person - whether directly or indirectly - according to the provisions of the Civil Code, where any close relative holding a majority control in the taxpayer and the other person shall be recognised as third parties;
- a non-resident entrepreneur and its domestic place of business and the business establishments of the non-resident entrepreneur, furthermore, the domestic place of business of a non-resident entrepreneur and the person who maintains the relationship defined under points (a) - (c) with the non-resident entrepreneur;
- e) the taxpayer and its foreign branch, and the taxpayer's foreign branch and the person who maintains the relationship defined under points (a) (c) with the taxpayer; or

Hungary

- f) the taxpayer and other person if between them dominating influence is exercised relating to business and financial policy having regard to the equivalence of management.
- g) In case of CFCs, point (f) should be neglected, but (direct or indirect) 25% of shares, voting rights or profit contribution creates relationship.

As a result, in Hungary - except for CFCs - only majority control (more than 50% of shares or votes) or full consistency of the management create an affiliated company.

Only micro and small entities are exempt of TP rules. The definition of micro and small sized enterprises follows the wording of article 2 of Annex to the 2003/361/EC Commission Recommendation.

A threshold of HUF 50 million per transaction is also exempt from the preparation of TP documentation according to the article 1 para. (2e) of the MoNE-decree. Nevertheless, if

- the subject of the contracts is the same and conditions are similar, or differences are insignificant, or
- transactions significantly correlate with each other,

the documentation requirement can be fulfilled with a 'consolidated documentation' and the threshold of HUF 50 million should be calculated altogether.

Transactions of low value-added services not exceeding HUF 150 million have a simplified documentation liability according to article 5 para. (1) of the MoNE-decree, if these services are negligible comparing to the net revenue (less than 5 % of the total sales) or the full expenditures (not exceeding 10 % of it) of the taxpayer preparing TP documentation. Applicable profitability has to be within the 3-7% market range based on costs.

Documentation includes preparation of both main and local documentation.

MNE-groups with a consolidated group revenue of more than EUR 750 million are liable to submit a CbC Report (CbCR). The first CbCR must be submitted from FY starting 01.01.2016 or later. The deadline for submitting this is 12 months after the last day of FY 2016. The global ultimate owner (GUO) is liable for the submission if it is seated in Hungary and another entity is not appointed otherwise. Hungarian group members should declare their membership and GUO, appointed by the group as responsible for CbCR entity and the last day of the FY to the HTA by the end of the consecutive years.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

TP documentation is required for each individual transaction with associated enterprises, but if it would lead to an unreasonable administrative burden and without jeopardising comparability, a preparation of a consolidated TP documentation is accepted.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

The constituent entity of an MNE group shall notify the Hungarian tax administration (HTA) no later than the last day of the reporting fiscal year of such an MNE group. The declaration shall be filed with the HTA via an electronic form based on section 43/R of Act XXXVII of 2013. The online reporting system is available and fully functioning. The general rule is that the CbC Report is to be filed within 12 months from the last day of the financial year of the group.

The Master File has to be prepared within 12 months at the latest after the last day of the given tax year of the ultimate parent entity. On the other hand, the Local File has to be prepared before submission of the CIT return regarding a given tax year (if the fiscal year is the calendar year, the deadline for the submission is 31 May). It is important, however, to consider that it is not the deadline but the effective submission of the CIT return which, in practice, determines the deadline for finalising the TP documentation itself. Should a performance take place based on a related-party contract, then it may be subject to TP documentation requirements, depending on any exemption rule that may apply. The documentation does not have to be submitted with the tax return but must be readily available at the request of the HTA. (The requirement is not set in the statute.) Theoretically, the TP documentation must be presented within 3 working days following a request.

2.4 Materiality

Although all transactions with associated enterprises should be supported by TP documentation above the mentioned threshold, as a general principle (article 2 para. (1) of the MoNE-decree) preparation of TP documents should not result in extreme and needless costs for the taxpayer. In practice, it means that HTA can dispense with database researches, if arm's-length prices are supported by other ways, or the taxpayer applies logical simplifications. (Nevertheless, financial data of comparable companies have to be updated annually, when MoNE-decree is applied.)

For example, using an expensive database for financial transactions can be ignored if public statistical figures of the Hungarian National Bank or announcements of commercial banks are used and some adjustments are made, and the value of the controlled transaction is not significant in the course of business.

2.5 Retention of documents

As a main rule, a Hungarian taxpaver is required to keep its administrative records for at least five years after the year end of submitting the tax returns. (For FY 2016 CIT return should be submitted by 31 May 2017, so records should be kept until 31 Dec 2022.) Since the TP documentation is part of the records of a taxpayer, this almost six-year period also applies to the TP documentation. As reservations have been made to the international conventions, in case of cross border transactions there are no special terms of limitations at present.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

In practice, the documentation should be updated every tax year because they relate to a different fiscal year. A significant change in the facts and circumstances could also lead to an update of the documentation.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

Some boxes in the annual CIT return relate to the TP documents which cannot be completed properly if TP documents are not ready (but the taxpayer is not required to disclose its TP documentation as part of the tax return filing). For example, joint (Master and Local) File and the CIT-base adjustment for TP purposes should be indicated in the CIT return separately.

2.8 Burden of proof

If the taxpayer keeps appropriate TP documentation and does not have an explicitly unreasonable and unsupported point of view with respect to the used transfer prices, the tax authorities must prove that the used transfer prices are not correct. If there is no TP documentation available or there are evident shortcomings in the documentation, the tax inspector could reverse the burden of proof to the taxpayer.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

If the prepared documentation does not contain all the obligatory items listed in the checklist, or a document is missing, a default penalty is levied by the HTA of up to HUF 2 million for each of the mistakes per annum. In case of repeated malpractice, the maximum penalty is HUF 4 million per document and per FY. If a failure to prepare the same TP document repeatedly happens, the maximum penalty could be as high as four times the general penalty. The exact amount may depend on the type and importance of the mistake (an incomplete market overview or a missing tax number is "valued" less strictly than a false TP method).

Reliable taxpayers pay only half of the general penalties.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

If the HTA makes a TP adjustment, and as a result the tax base is increased, a tax penalty is applied. The amount of the penalty is up to 50% of the tax shortage. Late payment interest is also payable in addition to the tax shortage.

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

According to section 43/S of Act XXXVII of 2013, in case of any default in filing the CbCR, i.e. non-timely, incomplete or incorrect filing, a default penalty of a maximum of HUF 20 million (approximately EUR 64,500) may be imposed by the HTA.

If a company does not substantiate prices applied in its related-party transactions with appropriate TP documentation, the HTA (in case of a tax audit) may assess a default penalty up to HUF 2 million (approximately EUR 6.500) per controlled transaction not covered by documentation or covered by incomplete documentation. In case of a repeated infringement, the default penalty can be up to HUF 4 million (approximately EUR 13,000) per related-party contract. In case of a repeated infringement regarding the same documentation, the default penalty can be up to four times the amount levied in the first case. Rules on repeated infringement are not applicable if the time elapsed between two defaults is more than 2 years. The HTA may levy the maximum default penalty even if the TP documentation was available but was not prepared according to the relevant provisions of Hungarian legislation.

2.10 Interest

Late payment interest is five percent plus the central bank base rate (which means 5.0+0.9 % at present). Interest is calculated on a daily basis.

н

Hungary

2.11 Use of most reliable information

The OECD prefers to use the most reliable information available for benchmarking analysis. Due to local comparables being hardly available or poor quality data, then regional comparables are allowed. V4-region or EU28 is generally accepted.

2.12 Languages

According to the MoNE-decree (article 4 para. (13)) TP documentation can be prepared in a language other than Hungarian. Nevertheless, upon request of the HTA a professional translation should be made by the taxpayer if the used language is not German, French or English. In practice HTA demands professional translations in almost all cases.

2.13 Confidentiality

The HTA treats the TP documentation confidentially. The tax authorities can only exchange the TP documentation with the tax authorities of another country if there is a legal basis. This legal basis can be found in the national law, a tax treaty or a EU-directive. The TP documentation is never available to the public.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

TP documentation standards are published in the MoNE-decree, applicable methods are determined in the CTA. CTA also refers to the OECD TP directive and Action Plan 5 BEPS as implemented provisions. According to other guideline issued by HTA, updated version of OECD TP directive is applicable (OECD TP Guidelines for MNEs and Tax Administrations 2017).

3.1 Master File

Master (main) File contains:

- general description of the business strategy of the whole group, including year by year changes;
- general financial and taxation position of the group based on management and other financial reports;
- structure of the group (including organigram), list of the members, legal and operational description of them, including entities operating within the EU and third party countries;
- general review and type of controlled transactions (i.e. supply of goods or services, development of IPs, financial transactions, including its values);
- main presentation of risks undertaken, assets invested, functions provided and year to year changes;
- legal information about IPs, received or sold royalties, contribution of entities to the IPs, movements of IPs within the group;
- general TP policy applied within the group, profit centres;
- cost contribution agreements concluded among the group members, APA resolutions and judges (if any);
- main components of value creation;
- introduction of the supply chain of the most important five products and services for the group. Every flow of goods and services should be also described, when their shares exceed 5% of the total revenue;
- main geographical markets;
- introduction of financial activity within the group, including important loan agreements, concluded with independent parties;
- date of preparation of the document.

3.2 Local File

The minimum requirement of the Local File is:

- to introduce management, organigram of the local entity, flow of decision-making process;
- to include a detailed description of the local activity, including local strategy, and M&A possibilities;
- to list local competitors;
- to indicate and identify associated companies involved in the controlled transactions;
- to describe business strategy followed by the taxpayer preparing TP document;
- to present subject of controlled transactions (terms, conditions, values, modifications) concluded agreement as an attachment is highly appreciated;

- to analyse characteristics of the transaction (risks, functions, assets as contributions of the taxpayer to the value chain);
- the benchmark study;
- to show local binding or non-binding rulings, APA resolutions or other official docs which relate to the local transaction (if any);
- to release TP policy, including applied method; and
- the date when TP document is finalised.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

An MNE with a consolidated group revenue of more than EUR 750 million should provide a CbCR. The report contains the following information about the MNE:

- a. name of the group for each jurisdiction in which the MNE is active;
- b. relevant FY;
- c. for each jurisdiction: main business activity (characters are listed), the state under whose law the group entity is established, and tax jurisdiction of residence, if deviant.

Further fiscal information is required by countries about applied currency, revenue (originating from independent and related parties, total sum), the earnings before tax (EBT), the paid income tax, the accrued income tax for the present year, the registered capital, the accumulated earnings, the number of employees and the tangible assets other than cash and cash equivalents.

CbCR should be submitted electronically in a blank which will be introduced by the HTA.

H

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

In principle, the country report is provided by the ultimate parent company of the MNE in its state of residence. The state of residence will exchange the country report automatically with the tax authorities. A Hungarian ultimate parent company needs to provide the country report to the HTA. The HTA will automatically exchange this report with the jurisdictions in which the MNE is active and with which Hungary has concluded an Agreement for automatic exchange of information. (This list is maintained and updated by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade.)

The Hungarian entity is required to provide CbCR, if:

- the foreign ultimate parent company is not obliged to provide the tax authorities a report in its state of residence; or
- the foreign ultimate parent company is required to provide the tax authorities a report in its state of residence, but there is no Agreement between that state and Hungary which provides for automatic exchange of the report; or
- 3) due to a malfunction of the data exchange system HTA calls the Hungarian entity for submitting CbCR; and
- 4) there is no any other group member who completes CbCR within the EU.

This requirement by the Hungarian GUO can be prevented if the report is provided by an appointed other entity within the group, under the following conditions:

- 1) state of residence of the appointed company has adopted CbCR-system;
- 2) there is an Agreement between that state and Hungary to provide automatic exchange of report;
- 3) the state of residence of the appointed company is not structural negligent in the exchange of the report;
- the appointed company has notified its state of residence until the end of the relevant FY, that it will act as an appointed for CbC reporting entity; and
- 5) the HTA has got a notification which group company has taken over the requirement to provide the report.

The MNE must provide the report within 12 months after the last day of the financial year of the MNE.

A subsidiary company needs to notify the HTA which entity of the MNE will submit the country report on behalf of the MNE. This notification requirement applies to each entity and has to be renewed annually. The notification is made through an online webform. The deadline for submission of the notification is the last day of the applicable financial year of the MNE. For the (first) year 2016, the deadline for the notification is twelve months after the FY 2016 ends (namely 31 Dec 2017). Non-compliance with the notification requirement can result in severe penalties. Reference is made to paragraph 2.9.3 above.

INDIA

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
National / Chennai	S Hariharan	+91 984 128 3123
		hari@pkfindia.in
National / Chennai	Sudha Ashok	+91 805 602 8505
		sudha.a@pkfindia.in
Bengaluru	M Seethalakshmi	+91 997 268 8008
		seethalakshmi@pkfindia.in
New Delhi	S Manigandan	+91 999 994 6374
		manigandan@pkfindia.in
Hyderabad	Prasanna Kumar	+91 917 666 2077
		prasanna@pkfindia.in
Mumbai	R Suriyanarayanan	+91 982 101 1692
		rsn@pkfindia.in

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

Transfer Pricing regulations in India are governed through Chapter - X of Indian Income Tax Act, 1961 and related rules which govern the International transactions with Associated Enterprises at Arm's-Length Price (ALP) for tax purposes. It also lays down the computational provisions, documentation requirements, assessment procedures, dispute resolution mechanism, etc.

Though India is a non-member economy working with OECD, it has been an active participant in the implementation of the BEPS initiative. It has made certain amendments since 2016 in its Transfer Pricing regime to be in line with the OECD guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and Tax Administration, which includes:

- Introduction of Country-by-Country Reporting (CbCR) requirement for entities, being part of an International Group, and
- Prescribing the requirement to maintain Master File as part of TP documentation in respect of details of
 global business operations and transfer pricing policies of the group entities of an International Group.

1.2 Practical context

The earlier laws required every person to maintain documents and information relating to the cross-border transactions entered into by it and certain master information relating to the enterprises of the Multinational group of which the person is a member, with which it has entered into transactions. Now, with the OECD guidelines specifying the list of information to be included in the Local File and Master File as a part of TP documentation (subject to meeting threshold), the tax authorities have been empowered to frame rules to implement the same in the country. Rule 10DA along with Forms 3CEAA and 3CEAB have been notified for maintenance of Master File. With respect to Country-by-Country (CbC) reporting, a new section (Section 286 of the Income Tax Act, 1961) has been introduced which mandates every Indian parent entity or alternate reporting entity or Indian constituent entity (where there is no exchange of CbC information) of an international group to furnish a report in Form 3CEAD, subject to meeting threshold. Rule 10DB and Form 3CEAC, 3CEAD and 3CEAE are notified for reporting CbC.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

Every person who has entered into a cross border transaction with an associated enterprise will be required to maintain a Local File containing all the relevant information and documents pertaining to that transaction as prescribed in Rule 10D detailed in paragraph 3.2 below. Exemption is provided to a person if the aggregate

of all cross-border transactions in a year with the associated enterprises does not exceed INR 10 million (USD 1,42,045) (Refer Note), subject to the condition that the onus of proof is on the taxpayer that the transactions are valued at ALP.

For maintenance of information and document in respect of CbC reporting and Master file please refer paragraph 3.1 and 4 below.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

Documentation will be pertaining to each type of international transaction with an Associated Enterprise.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

All documents relating to the international transactions entered into in a financial year (1 April to 31 March) will have to be finalised and made available at least by the due date of filing the Income tax returns for that year (8 months from the end of financial year i.e., 30 November).

The documents would have to be furnished to the tax officer within 30 days from the date of receipt of notice to furnish the same.

Due date for filing Master File and CbCR are tabulated in paragraph 3.1 and 4 below.

2.4 Materiality

The documentation requirement, as specified earlier, will not be applicable to those persons, the value of whose aggregate cross-border transactions does not exceed INR 10 million (USD 1,42,045). However, there is no other materiality recognition with respect to TP documentation.

2.5 Retention of documents

The documents and all information specified in the Local File and Master File shall be maintained and preserved for a period of 9 years from the end of the relevant financial year.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

Generally, documentation relating to cross-border transactions will be prepared for a financial year. If a transaction takes place for more than a year then unless there is any significant change in the factor which could influence the price of transaction, no fresh documentation will be required.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

There are no specific disclosures pertaining to transfer pricing in the tax returns except for the details of the accountant who furnishes a report under Form 3CEB and the date of issue of such report.

Form 3CEB is the format of audit report furnished to be prepared by an accountant who reports the list of cross-border transactions entered into by the taxpayer and the basis for determining the ALP. The form contains the following details:

- a. Basic details of the taxpayer and the relevant fiscal year in respect of which the report is furnished.
- b. List of Associated Enterprises (AE), their relationship with the taxpayer and a description of their business.
- c. AE-wise details of cross-border transactions under the following categories:
 - i. Transactions in respect of tangible property materials consumed, traded goods, purchase or sale of any other tangible property.
 - ii. Transactions in respect of intangible property.
 - iii. Transactions in respect of services.
 - iv. Transactions in respect of borrowing/lending of money.
 - v. Transactions in respect of guarantee.
 - vi. Transactions in respect of shares and securities.
 - vii. Transactions in respect of allocation/apportionment of common costs.
 - viii. Transactions arising out of business reorganisation.
 - ix. Any other transaction having a bearing on profits, income, losses or assets of the taxpayer.
 - x. Deemed international transaction. (Transaction with AE through an unrelated person.)

The details contain the amount of transaction, ALP computed by the taxpayer and the method used in such computation.

India

2.8 Burden of proof

The primary responsibility of proving the transfer price of a transaction will be on the taxpayer during the assessment proceedings. After considering all relevant materials the Transfer Pricing Officer shall determine the ALP in relation to the international transaction and send a copy of his order to the Assessing Officer and to the Company based on which TP adjustment may be done by the Assessing Officer.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

Non-maintenance or failure to maintain documentation in the manner prescribed, or maintaining incorrect information relating to the international transaction or failure to submit the information in response to the notice calling for information, will attract a penalty of 2% of the value of all international transactions.

Non-furnishing of information in respect of the international group to the prescribed authority will attract a penalty of INR 500,000 (USD 7,102).

Failure to furnish TP report in Form 3CEB will attract penalty of INR 100,000 (USD 1,421).

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

Penalty to the extent of 200% on the tax impact shall be levied on account of under-reporting of income/misrepresentation/suppression of facts.

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

Failure to furnish the report within the due date prescribed in the format will attract a penalty of INR 5,000 (USD 71) per day of default up to 30 days and INR 15,000 (USD 213) per day beyond 30 days up to the date of furnishing.

The prescribed authority may call for submitting the relevant details to verify the accuracy of information in the report furnished by issuing a notice. Failure to respond to the notice within 30 days may attract a penalty of INR 5,000 (USD 71) per day of default.

Continuing default even after an order to pay the above penalty is received, will attract a severe penalty of INR 50,000 (USD 710) per day of default from the date of order.

Providing inaccurate information in the report wilfully, or failure to inform the authority after discovering the inaccuracy within 15 days will attract a penalty of INR 500,000 (USD 7,102).

2.10 Interest

Where there are primary TP adjustments to transfer price, the excess money (difference between ALP determined in TP adjustment and transaction value) is required to be repatriated into India within 90 days from making such adjustment. Upon failure to do so, such excess money shall be deemed to be an advance made to AE and interest shall be computed thereon.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

The use of relevant comparables has always been a subject matter of litigation and is subjective in nature. There are no solid regulations prescribing the mode, source and type of information to be used as comparables.

2.12 Languages

There is no prescription as to the language to be used in the documentation by legislature. As a matter of practice, English being the common business language in India, all the documents and information are prepared and maintained in English.

2.13 Confidentiality

Though not explicitly provided in the law, there is an inherent responsibility for the authorities to use the rights given to obtain information in a rational manner. The tax authorities must ensure the confidentiality of information acquired in exercise of their powers and shall not make them available for public.

Central Board of Direct Taxes (CBDT), the apex tax body in India, has released guidelines for all tax officers in India on 'appropriate use' of CbCR information.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

3.1 Master File

Key information about the International Group's global operations including organisation structure, description of business of group, intangibles, international financial activities are required to be reported in Master File.

Threshold, brief description and due dates of relevant forms are tabulated below:

S.No.	Form	Who is required to maintain documents and threshold for the same	Brief description	Due date
1	3CEAA	 Part A - Every constituent entity, irrespective of threshold Part B - Every constituent entity that satisfies the following two conditions: Consolidated revenue of international group exceeds INR 500 crore and Value of international transaction of constituent entity: During the reporting accounting year as per books exceeds INR 50 crores or Aggregate value of international transactions of the constituent entity in respect of intangibles, during the reporting accounting year, as per books of accounts, exceeds INR 10 crores 	Master File	On or before 30 November (8 months from end of FY)
2	3CEAB	Same as applicability of Form 3CEAA	Notification in case of more than one resident entity in India	On or before 31 October (7 months from end of FY)

3.2 Local File

The information and documents to be maintained by every person having entered into international transaction are listed below:

1. Local entity

- a. Details of ownership structure of the taxpayer.
- b. Broad description of the business and the industry in which the taxpayer operates.

2. Controlled transactions

- a. Basic details of the associated enterprises with which the taxpayer has entered into cross-border transactions.
- b. Nature and terms of each transaction, details of goods transferred, or services rendered, quantum and value of each transaction.
- c. Description of the functions performed, risks assumed by the parties to the transaction and the assets employed.
- d. Details of the uncontrolled transactions considered for comparing with the controlled transaction, nature, terms and conditions relevant to the uncontrolled transactions.
- e. A record of the analysis on comparability of uncontrolled transactions with the controlled transactions.
- f. Methods adopted to determine the ALP with respect to each transaction, an explanation on the reasons for selecting the method as the most appropriate method.

India

- g. Actual working of ALP determined, comparable data used and any adjustments made on account of differences between controlled and comparable transactions.
- h. Adjustments made to taxable income on account of difference between the transaction price and ALP of the controlled transaction.

3. Financial information

- a. Economic and market analyses, forecasts, budgets and any other estimated prepared by the taxpayer.
- b. Relevant financial information of the taxpayer and of the associated enterprises for the determination of the ALP.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

CbC reporting is applicable where the turnover of International Group exceeds INR 5,500 crores during the immediately preceding accounting year. Due dates and brief description for relevant forms are tabulated below:

S.No.	Form	Brief description	Due date
1	3CEAC	Notification form for Indian entities whose parent is a non-resident (details in paragraph 4.2 below)	31 January (10 months from the end of FY)
2	3CEAD	CbCR - Parent or alternate reporting entity resident in India (details in paragraph 4.2 below)	31 March (12 months from the end of FY)
2	3CEAD	CbCR - Parent is not obliged to file CbCR, or CbCR is being filed by a group company resident of a country with which India does not have exchange of information	Time limit not yet prescribed
3	3CEAE	Notification in case of more than one resident entity in India (details in paragraph 4.2 below)	Time limit not yet prescribed

CbC Report shall contain the following:

- a. The aggregate country-wise information on revenue, profit before taxes, tax payable and paid, stated capital, accumulated earnings, no. of employees and tangible assets excluding cash and cash equivalents.
- b. Details of constituent entities of the international group, their country of residence and incorporation.
- c. Details of main business activities of the constituent entities.

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

Every Indian company, which is not the parent company for the group shall notify either whether it is the alternate reporting entity for the group or the details of the parent entity or the alternate reporting entity and their country of residence.

If the parent reporting entity is a resident in the country with which India does not have an agreement for the exchange of CbCR, or if there is a systemic failure to provide the information despite having an agreement and on communication of the same by the Indian tax authorities to the member entity in India, the Indian member entity shall be responsible for filing the report as it would have reported if it had been the Parent entity for the group.

The above shall not apply if the alternate reporting entity has furnished the report on behalf of the group, subject to the conditions that:

- a. The alternate reporting entity is a resident of the country with which India has an agreement for exchange of report and any systemic failure in such country has not been communicated to the entity resident in India.
- b. The report has been furnished in accordance with the laws prevalent in that country for the time being.
- c. The tax authorities of the respective country and India have been informed about the position.

If there is more than one constituent entity not being a parent, resident in India of the same group, the reporting responsibility will be of that entity which has been designated by the international group to report on behalf of all the Indian resident entities and such information in writing has been communicated to the Indian tax authority.

Note:

Amount in INR is converted in USD terms based on an assumed exchange rate of 1 USD = INR 70.40. The USD figures may change due to change in exchange rates.

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Bologna	Federica Godoli	+39 051 232 450
		fgodoli@studiogodoli.it
Genova	Stefano Quaglia	+39 010 818 3250
		stefano.quaglia@tclsquare.com
Milan	Guido Pignanelli	+39 02 4398 1751
		gpignanelli@mgpstudio.it

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

Tax authority and law

The key provision ruling Italian Transfer pricing legislation is laid down in Article 110 of Presidential Decree n. 917/1986 (Italian Income Tax Code). The article states that for fiscal purposes transactions with foreign-related parties have to be executed based on the arm's-length principle. Tax authorities are entitled to adjust the taxable income of an Italian entity which entered transactions which do not comply with the arm's-length principle. This article has been recently amended by the Law Decree of 24 April 2017, No. 50 replacing the Italian previous concept of "normal value" with a specific reference to the arm's-length principle. The normal value concept was similar to the OECD arm's-length principle, although not the same and potentially open to various interpretation.

With reference to TP documentation, Legislative Decree n. 78 of 31 May 2010 introduced an optional transfer pricing documentation regime in the Italian tax law. Article 26 outlines that if the taxpayer provides tax authorities with proper transfer pricing documentation during a tax assessment, no tax penalties will be applied on possible tax adjustments, should the tax authority determine the intercompany transactions are not in compliance with the arm's-length standard.

Regulations, ruling and guidelines

- Circular No. 32/1980 that transfer pricing transactions should occur between an Italian entity and a foreign entity;
- Circular No. 53/1999, Southern Italy firms, which benefit from tax benefits provided for in the Consolidated Code on the Laws for Interventions in Southern Italy, are subject to transfer pricing audits;
- Law-decree No. 78 dated 31 May 2010 converted into law No. 122 of 30 July 2010 harmonising the Italian landscape with the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines;
- Decision of the Commissioner of the Italian Revenue Agency No. 2010/137654 dated 29 September 2010 providing the transfer pricing documentation requirements;
- Circular No 58/E dated 15 December 2010 which provides clarification on the expected documentation;
- Circular No. 21/E dated 5 June 2012 settlement of international tax disputes.
- Decree dated 14 May 2018, providing additional guidelines to implement Art. 110, paragraph 7, of the TUIR (on transfer prices) was published in the Italian Official Gazette No. 118 on 23 May 2018.
- Italy has enforced the Arbitration Convention 90/436/EEC on the elimination of double taxation in connection with transfer pricing. This procedure is much more efficient than the MAP procedure based on Art. 25 of the OECD Model Convention, however only European Companies can avail of this regulation.

Moreover, Italian Law introduced a CbCR obligation for MNE Groups to submit an annual report starting from the Fiscal Year (FY) commencing on 1 January 2016.

Italian subsidiaries of an MNE Group with a consolidated annual turnover in the FY preceding the reporting period of at least EUR 750 million are required to file a CbC Report, if the foreign parent entity is resident for tax purposes in a country that:

(i) has not implemented the CbCR; or

- (ii) does not have a Qualifying Competent Authority Agreement in place with Italy for the automatic exchange of information contained in the CbC Report; or
- (iii) has incurred a systemic failure to exchange the information contained in the CbC Report received by the parent company resident in its jurisdiction.

Moreover, by the due date of the tax return (by the end of the ninth month subsequent to the end of the fiscal year: for companies with a calendar fiscal year, the deadline is the end of September of the following year) related to the first reporting period, Italian resident entities of MNE Groups are required to notify the Italian tax administration of:

- a. Their own status as UPE (ultimate parent entity), SPE (surrogate parent entity) or EU designated entity, or
- b. The identity and tax residency of the UPE, SPE or EU designated entity.

1.2 Practical context

In Italy, the Tax Authorities are strongly focused on scrutinising intercompany transactions looking for TP adjustments. The focus of the Tax Authorities is normally centred on transactions with counterparts located in countries with a tax rate lower than the Italian one; or on TP transactions which cannot be qualified as a consequence of tax planning considering that such transactions lead to transfer of taxable income into countries with a tax rate aligned with or even higher than the Italian one.

On 1 December 2017 the Italian tax police released the updated version of its operational manual for tackling tax evasion and fraud (i.e. Circular n. 1/2018). This new document includes a section dedicated to transfer pricing, where the initial focus is on the pillars of the transfer pricing analysis: functional and risk analysis, method selection and economic analysis including the benchmarking exercises for the selection of comparable companies (also through the use of databases). Likewise, also in the spotlight is the assessment of legal requirements imposed to benefit from the domestic penalty protection regime for those taxpayers who prepare an appropriate set of TP documents (i.e. country file and - when needed - also a Master File).

Special considerations are presented regarding intangibles and the provision of centralised services. On the so-called 'hard to value intangibles' (HTVI), the sales of this type of asset deserve an in-depth investigation due to the fact that the valuation of the purchase price could be affected by a high degree of uncertainty. While the centralised services still raise relevant issues in terms of costs deductibility for the recipient entities, which are requested to provide supporting documentation demonstrating that the services have been effectively rendered, that they are inherent to the business activity, that they do not duplicate similar services furnished by independent providers and, that the transfer pricing complies with the arm's-length principle.

Circular 1/2018 states that attention has to be paid to business restructurings that could be used for aggressive tax planning schemes. The assessments will have to be based on the economic principles that regulate the relationships between independent companies or, if this is not possible, it will be necessary to assess which rights or obligations would have been foreseen in similar situations, if the parties had interacted in open market conditions.

For these reasons, even though transfer pricing documentation in Italy is not mandatory but at present is only an option, there are always more companies compliant to this optional regime.

Moreover, as transfer pricing is a very technical matter, in our experience Tax Courts are not very experienced and this can cause an uncertainty on the outcome of the litigations. For this reason, in case of assessment, companies are encouraged to try to reach an agreement with the Tax Authorities.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

At present, in Italy there is no mandatory request for transfer pricing documentation. Instead an optional transfer pricing documentation regime, relevant for penalty protection, was introduced.

On the other hand, CbC reporting is mandatory when the taxpayer meets the requirements described in the specific paragraph below.

Article 110, paragraph 7, states that components of the income statement of an enterprise derived from operations with non-resident corporations that have direct or indirect control, that are subsidiaries or are fellow affiliates, should be valued on the basis of the arm's-length principle.

The concept of control is defined in accordance to Article 2359 of the Italian Civil Code:

- Having the majority of the votes during a shareholders meeting.
- Being able to benefit from a sufficient amount of votes to exercise a dominant influence during the shareholders meeting.
- A company is under the influence of another company by virtue of a contractual obligation.

Italy

Moreover, the following definitions are applicable in the Italian transfer pricing regulations:

- a) "Holding Company belonging to a Multinational Group" shall mean a company resident, for fiscal purposes, within the territory of the State, which:
- Is not controlled by another commercial company or enterprise, that is an entity having a juridical nature, which carries out commercial activities, wherever resident;
- Controls, even by means of a sub-holding, one or more companies not resident for fiscal purposes within the territory of the State;
- "Sub-holding Company' belonging to a Multinational Group" shall mean a company resident, for fiscal purposes, within the territory of the State, which:
- Is controlled by another commercial company or enterprise or by another entity having a juridical nature, which carries out commercial activities, wherever resident;
- In turn, controls one or more non-resident companies, for fiscal purposes, within the territory of the State;
- c) "Controlled Company belonging to a Multinational Group" shall mean a company or enterprise resident for fiscal purposes, within the territory of the State, which;
- Is controlled by another commercial company or enterprise or by another entity having a juridical nature, which carries out commercial activities, wherever resident;
- Does not control other companies or enterprises not resident for fiscal purpose, within the territory of the State.

The above definitions are necessary in order to understand what type of transfer pricing documentation shall be prepared by the company (either Master file or Local File documentation).

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

All transfer pricing documentation shall be disclosed to the Tax Authorities. Intercompany transaction volumes shall also be disclosed. Provided that the taxpayer discloses each transaction, a proper aggregation of transactions is possible, for example because there is a large number of similar transactions.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

Documentation for penalty protection has to be prepared by the tax return filing date relevant to the fiscal year being covered, that is by the end of the ninth month following the end of the fiscal year (for companies with a calendar fiscal year, the deadline is the end of September of the following year). Taxpayers shall communicate to the Italian Revenue Agency the availability of proper documentation by checking a specific box in the annual income tax return.

The submission of the proper documentation upon request of the tax authorities has to be executed within ten days. In case, during an audit or any other assessment activity, supplementary information is needed, it has to be provided either within seven days of a request (or in a longer time period depending on the complexity of the transactions under analysis), to the extent that the period is consistent with the time of the audit.

2.4 Materiality

In principle all transactions with associated enterprises should be supported by TP-documentation. Being optional, there are no formal thresholds above which TP-documentation is required.

Once the taxpayer has decided to be compliant and prepare the transfer pricing documentation, all transactions shall be indicated in the report. Only irrelevant transaction can be omitted, even though the legislator gave no practical definition of irrelevant transaction.

2.5 Retention of documents

Documentation shall be kept at least within the assessment period. An Italian taxpayer is liable to tax assessment within:

- 31 December of the fifth year following the year of tax return submission;
- 31 December of the seventh year following the year in which the tax return should have been submitted (omitted tax return).

It is important to keep in mind that, in case of assessment relevant for criminal penalties, the assessment period is doubled.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

For compliance proposes, transfer pricing documentation has to be prepared each year. Small and medium companies, defined as those with a turnover of less than EUR 50 million, may update the benchmark analysis every three years, provided there has been no significant change in the business and that the economic analysis is based on publicly available databases. All the other sections of the report have to be updated each year even for small and medium enterprises.

Italy

Π

2.7 Tax return disclosures

Transfer pricing documentation for penalty protection purposes shall be prepared by the tax return filing date, relevant to the fiscal year being covered.

Italy does not require the documentation to be filed with the tax return; however, taxpayers must check a box in the tax return to inform the tax authorities whether the taxpayer has opted to prepare transfer pricing documentation for penalty protection purposes.

Moreover, in the tax return the taxpayer shall indicate the overall amount of transactions and the type of control in which the company lays.

2.8 Burden of proof

As a general rule, Italian Tax Authorities shall prove and support the correctness of their tax claim; this general principle shall also be valid for transfer pricing purposes. Despite this, lately there are some Court sentences that reverse the burden of proof to the taxpayer and this has caused some uncertainty on who shall bear the burden of proof.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

Being not mandatory, Italian tax law does not foresee penalties for the mere fact that TP documentation is not available.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

When a taxpayer is compliant with the law and prepares the transfer pricing documentation, based on the condition that the documentation is considered valid and complete, no penalties shall be applied on an eventual TP-adjustment.

On the other hand, when a TP-adjustment is made and the taxpayer has not prepared the transfer pricing documentation, penalty protection does not apply and penalties can be imposed from 90% up to 180% of the tax deriving from the TP-adjustment.

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

The omitted, false or incorrect filing of the reporting implies an administrative penalty from EUR 10,000 to EUR 50,000.

2.10 Interest

In case of a TP-adjustment, interest is due on the higher ascertained tax. No interest is due on penalties.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

With regard to the benchmarking analysis to be made, the OECD prefers to use the most reliable information available. In this regard the BEPS-report states the following "The requirement to use the most reliable information will usually require the use of local comparables over the use of regional." (BEPS Action 13, p. 24-25). However, local comparables may not be sufficiently available.

In Italy, as a principle, the presence of local comparables in a benchmarking set is preferred, although it is recognised that the choice between local comparables and broader sets depends on the comparability of economic circumstances, including characteristics of the market of reference for the transaction under analysis.

2.12 Languages

Both the Master File and the National File have to be written in Italian. The Master File of a sub-holding can be presented in English when presenting the Master File of a non-resident company. Attachments can also be presented in English.

Attachments in any language other than Italian or English have to be translated into Italian.

Italy

2.13 Confidentiality

The Italian tax authorities will treat the TP-documentation confidentially. The tax authorities can only exchange the TP-documentation with the tax authorities of another country if there is a legal basis. This legal basis can be found in the national law, a tax treaty or an EU-directive. The TP-documentation is never available to the public.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

In order to obtain penalty protection, the documentation must be prepared in accordance with the provisions and the structure of Article 26 of Law Decree n. 78 of May 2010 Documentation rules are contained in the decision of the Commissioner of Italian Revenue Agency dated 29 September 2010 that outlines a rigid formal structure and detailed information on the content of the transfer pricing documentation. The structure of the documentation also makes reference to the guidance provided by the European Union (EU) Code of Conduct on Transfer Pricing Documentation. Consequently, the documentation must follow the EU definition of "Master File/country specific documentation" concept, depending on the qualification of the company (i.e. holding, sub-holding or subsidiary).

3.1 Master File

The following information should be included in the Master File:

- 1. A general description of the multinational group (history, recent developments, business sectors in which it operates and overview of relevant markets of reference).
- 2. Multinational Group Structure:
- a) Organisational Structure [including an organisation chart, a list of group members, their legal nature, including reference to their shareholding percentages].
- b) Operational Structure [this paragraph contains a general description of the role that each of the associated enterprises carries out with respect to the multinational group's activities].
- 3. Business strategies pursued by the Multinational Group [with specific reference to its development and consolidations strategies] including potential changes to the overall business strategies if compared to the previous tax year.
- 4. Transaction flows [in this paragraph an overview of the general transaction flows as described in the following chapter 5 must be provided for, including the invoicing flows and the amounts thereof, and describing the underlying legal and economic reasons on the basis of which the activity has been structured as shown in the transaction flows. The transaction flows will have to be described in a flow-chart encompassing those pertaining transactions not falling into the ordinary management activity].
- 5. Intra-group transactions:
- a) Sale of tangible or intangible assets, provision of services, financial service transactions [each of the following paragraphs shall provide, for each set of transactions, (i) a description of the underlying nature of the intra-group transactions, with the option of excluding those involving transfer of goods or services between associated enterprises resident for tax purposes in countries other than the European Union; (ii) a list of the entities part of the multinational group, between those indicated in the previous chapter 2, among which the transactions involving the above described goods and services were carried out. Similar categories of goods and services may be aggregated in accordance with the guidance provided for by the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines.
- b) Intra-group services [each of the following paragraphs shall provide in detail the features of intra-group services carried out by one or more associated enterprises to the benefit of one or other associated enterprises and the entities part of the multinational group, those listed at chapter 2, between which the said services are carried out].
- c) Cost contribution arrangements [in this chapter a list regarding the actual cost contribution arrangements shall be provided, with an indication for; each arrangement, the scope, duration, members of the arrangement, areas of activity and projects covered].
- 6. Functions performed, assets used and risks assumed [in this chapter the taxpayer will have to provide a general description of the functions performed, assets used and risks assumed by each of the enterprises involved in the transactions and of potential changes occurring in the functions, assets and risks if compared to the prior taxable year, with specific reference to changes triggered by business restructuring transactions].

- 7. Intangible assets [in this chapter a list of the intangible assets owned by each associated enterprise will have to be provided for, with a separate identification of any royalty payment, separated per recipient or payer respectively, and paid as a result of the exploitation of them].
- 8. Transfer Pricing policy of the Multinational Group [in this chapter a description of the multinational group's transfer pricing policy will have to be provided for, and of the underlying rationale that should support its consistency with the arm's-length principle. In order to substantiate this information, it will be necessary to briefly refer to the contractual arrangements underlying the above-mentioned transfer pricing policy].
- 9. Relationships with the tax administrations of the Member States of the European Union regarding the Advance Pricing Arrangements (APAs) and transfer pricing rulings [in this paragraph a brief description of the APAs and rulings signed by or released from the tax administrations of the countries in which the multinational group operates will have to be submitted, by describing the scope, content and duration of each agreement. The paragraph should be structured per country].

3.2 Local File

The following information should be included in the Local File:

- 1. General description of the enterprise (history, recent evolution and general overview of the relevant markets of reference).
- 2. Business Sectors.
- 3. Enterprise's organisation chart [the paragraph contains a general overview of the role that each of the enterprise's business units carries out within the general activity].
- General business strategies pursued by the enterprise and potential changes compared to the previous tax year's [the paragraph also contains information regarding specific strategies on specific sectors or markets].
- 5. Controlled transactions (sale of tangible or intangible goods, provision of services, financial services transactions) [the current chapter can be divided in a number of paragraphs (from 5.1. to 5.n and corresponding subparagraphs) corresponding to the different type of transactions carried out between members of the multinational group. Consistent categories of transactions may be aggregated in a manner consistent to the guidance endorsed by the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines. In each of these paragraphs the nature of transactions involving goods and/or services mentioned will have to be described in detail, including the intra-group services. In the introductory part of the chapter a list of the transactions described in the following paragraphs together with a detailed chart of the transactions' flows have to be submitted, including the amounts, describing the underlying economic and legal reasons on the basis of which the activity has been structured as described in the flowchart].
 - a) Type 1 transactions
 - Description of the transactions [this section shall also indicate a list of the group members counterpart in the transactions. It will have to be expressly mentioned the circumstance whereby the same or similar transactions have been taking place between independent parties].
 - b) Comparability analysis
 - i. Characteristics of property or services;
 - Analysis of the functions performed, risks assumed, and assets used [in this section an indication of potential changes in the functions performed, assets used and risks assumed compared to the previous tax year will have to be provided for, with specific reference to changes if occurred in the context of a business restructuring];
 - iii. Contractual terms [this section requires to report the key elements of written contracts regarding the transactions, specifying if they have general validity among the group];
 - iv. Economic circumstances [this section shall contain references to the general features of the relevant markets, irrespective if they are relevant for supply, transit or distribution];
 - v. Business strategies.
 - c) Selection of the transfer pricing method: description of the selected transfer pricing method and of the underlying reasons determining its consistency with the arm's-length principle [this section shall also report the outcome of the comparability analysis that has determined the selection of the transfer pricing method deemed to be the most appropriate to the circumstances of the case. Should a transactional profit method be selected when a traditional transactional method could be applied in an equally reliable manner, it should be explained why the latter had been excluded. The same

Italy

explanation applies in case of a selection of a method other than the CUP method, in the event the latter could potentially be chosen by the taxpayer]. Criteria for the application of the selected transfer pricing method [within this section an accurate description of the procedure followed by the taxpayer for the selection of comparable transactions will have to be provided for and, if needed, a clear description of the underlying reasons for identifying a specific arm's-length range].

- 6. Intra-group transactions (Cost Contribution Arrangements or "CCAs" to which the enterprise is part of).
 - a) Participants, scope and terms;
 - b) Activities' framework and projects covered;
 - Method used for the determination of the expected benefits for each participant, including expected results, partial outcomes and divergences;
 - Form and amount of each participant's contribution to the arrangement, including methods and criteria to determine them accordingly;
 - Formalities, procedures and consequences arising from the entry and withdrawal from the CCA by associated enterprises participating to it, including the termination thereof;
 - f) Contractual arrangements concerning balancing payments or amendments to the CCA stemming from a change of circumstances;
 - g) Changes occurred during the validity period of the CCA.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

The report must be prepared by parent companies of multinational groups with a consolidated turnover of over EUR 750 million (in the tax period before the one referred to in the report), and that are the entities ultimately required to prepare group consolidated financial statements and are not controlled by anything other than individuals.

The report must be submitted to the tax authorities in the country of residence, and eventually will be shared with the tax authorities of other countries through exchange of information tools.

CbCR contains two different sections:

Part 1: a first section containing information on the allocation of an MNE's income and resources by tax jurisdiction and, in particular:

- Revenues, profits (or losses) before income taxes.
- Total current taxes expenditures in each country, both in terms of tax accrued and tax paid.
- Total equity of all entities resident for tax purposes in each tax jurisdiction.
- Total accumulated earning of all entities resident for tax purposes in each tax jurisdiction.
- Number of employees working in the various countries in which the group operates.
- Net book value of tangible assets, other than cash and cash equivalent.

Part 2: a second section containing information on the individual group entities, both permanent establishments and subsidiaries operating in the different countries including:

- Tax jurisdiction of residence.
- Tax jurisdiction of residence of the entity at the time of incorporation.
- Type of activity performed by each group entity. Permanent establishments shall be listed by tax jurisdiction, specifying the legal entity to which they belong.

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

In principle, the obligation to file the Country-by-Country Reporting is of the ultimate parent entity (i.e. the entity preparing the consolidated SFS).

However, the Italian subsidiary might be requested to file the CbCR with the tax authorities (so-called "local filing"), should one of the following circumstances be met:

- a) the ultimate parent entity is not obliged to file the CbCR in its jurisdiction;
- b) it is not in place a specific agreement for the automatic exchange of CbCR data between the countries, despite the existence of an international treaty;

c) the Italian tax authorities have announced the suspension or the breach in the exchange of information for the CbCR purpose in the ultimate parent entity jurisdiction.

The CbCR must be filed within twelve months subsequent to the financial year-end. The Italian tax agency on 28 November 2017 issued guidance (no. 275956) that sets forth guidelines for implementing country-by-country (CbC) reporting in Italy.

The implementing guidelines provide rules concerning:

- which entities must file a CbC Report companies and entities of a multinational enterprise (MNE) group with consolidated turnover of €750 million or more per year starting from 1 January 2015;
- the information to be included in the CbC Report;
- the language for the CbC Report (both Italian and English) and amounts are to be expressed in the currency used by the reporting entity in its financial statements;
- electronic filing requirements for the CbC Report;
- the deadline for filing the CbC Report.

Japan

JAPAN

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Tokyo	Jun Kurozumi	+81 3 6228 5505
		kurozumi@shiodome.co.jp

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

The transfer pricing rules are contained within Articles 66-4/66-4-2 and 68-88/66-88-2 Special Taxation Measures Law (STML), STML Enforcement Orders 39-12, 39-12-2/39-112, and 39-112-2, STML Enforcement Regulation Articles 22.10, 22-10-2 / 22-74 and 22-75, and STML Circulars 66-4-(1)-1 to 66-4-3-(8)-2, 68-88(1)-1 to 68-88(10)-1. In addition, several Commissioner Directives have been issued providing further guidance.

1.2 Practical context

Based on the recommendations of OECD's Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS) Project (Action 13: Guidance on Transfer Pricing Documentation and Country-by-Country Reporting), the Act on Special Measures Concerning Taxation was partially revised as part of the tax reform in FY2016.

All Japanese corporations and foreign corporations with permanent establishments in Japan (hereinafter referred to as "PE") that are Constituent Entities of a Multinational Enterprise group (MNEs) with a total consolidated revenue of 100 billion yen or more in the preceding fiscal year must submit a Notification for Ultimate Parent Entity (NUPE) form, a Country-by-Country Report (CbC Report), and a Master File to the National Tax Authority (NTA).

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

Ultimate Parent Entity, a Country-by-Country Report, and a Master File:

All Japanese corporations and foreign corporations with PEs in Japan with a total consolidated revenue of 100 billion yen (approx. EUR 750 Million) or more in the previous fiscal year must submit a notification for three documents to the NTA through the online national tax return filing and tax payment system ("e-Tax").

Local File:

Corporations engaged in the below-listed transactions with one or more foreign-related party must prepare and archive documents considered as necessary to calculate arm's-length prices for the controlled transactions:

- The total amount of overseas related transactions (for previous fiscal year) is 5 billion yen or more.
- · Total amount of intangible asset transactions (for previous fiscal year) is 300 million yen or more.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

It is necessary to calculate an arm's-length prices between independent companies for each overseas related transaction.

However, it is possible to calculate an arm's-length price as a single transaction, provided that it is deemed reasonable to calculate an arm's-length price as a single transaction for several overseas related transactions.

For example:

- Setting a price considering a plurality of overseas related transactions belonging to the same product group or a plurality of overseas related transactions belonging to the same business segment.
- Purchasing as a single transaction an asset and a license such as manufacturing know-how using the asset.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

Notification for Ultimate Parent Entity:

The submission deadline is the last day of the fiscal year of the ultimate parent entity.

CbC Report and Master File:

The submission deadline is within one year from next day of the ultimate parent entity's fiscal year end.

Local File:

Regular submission deadlines are not determined. However, if the Local File is requested then it must be submitted in line with the following:

- Where transactions match the conditions of 2.1 above, the deadline for submitting the Local File is designated by the tax examiner and will be within 45 days of the request. The deadline for documents considered as important to calculate an arm's-length price will be within 60 days.
- Where transactions don't match the conditions of 2.1 above, the deadline for documents equivalent to the Local File is designated by the tax examiner and will be within 60 days of the request. The deadline for documents considered as important to calculate an arm's-length price will also be within 60 days.

2.4 Materiality

In principle, the NTA does not set a materiality. All transactions that meet the criteria above should be supported with transfer pricing documentation.

2.5 Retention of documents

The Local File should be stored for seven years from the day following the deadline of the final return at the local office which engaged in the overseas related. It is not clearly defined how many years other documents (CbC Report, Master File, etc.) should be stored.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

As described in 2.3 above, documents with a deadline are required to be updated by the deadline. There is no explicit deadline for updating the Local File. However, in practice, it is desirable to select comparative transactions and update information every year. However, if the status of the business in overseas related transactions and comparable transactions does not change, it is acceptable to review the selection of comparative transactions every three years.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

It is necessary to disclose schedule 17(4) (Detailed Statement Concerning Foreign Affiliated Corporations and J Applied Transfer Pricing Methods) on the tax return.

2.8 Burden of proof

In Japan, the burden of proof falls with the NTA in determining whether there is a charge to tax arising from transfer pricing. This is decided by considering the purpose and structure prescribed for each requirement, fairness among parties, difficulty of proof, etc.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

CbC Report and Master File:

A fine of up to 300,000 yen may be levied if corporations fail to submit a CbC Report or Master File to the District Director by the deadline without good reason.

Notification for Ultimate Parent Entity and Local File:

There are no explicit penalty provisions.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

Penalties are not clarified, especially in transfer pricing. It is possible for the NTA to impose additional tax on under-reporting.

2.10 Interest

Interest is not charged on penalties, but interest is payable when a refund is due to the taxpayer. The same rate used for delinquent tax is applied.

Japan

2.11 Use of most reliable information

There are no specific rules about the use of most reliable information. The comparable uncontrolled pricing method, the cost basis method, the resale price method and the cost-plus method are prioritised.

2.12 Languages

Documents	Languages
CbC Report	English
Master File	Japanese or English*
Other	Not specified*

*However, in cases other than written in Japanese, NTA can require corporations to submit translated text in Japanese

2.13 Confidentiality

Confidentiality of information submitted by taxpayers is protected in accordance with national laws and treaties relating to information disclosure.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

3.1 Master File

The following information should be included in the Master File:

1. Organisational structure

Names of Constituent Entities of the Specified MNEs, the location of their head office or principal offices, and a chart illustrating the relationships between the Constituent Entities.

2. Description of MNE's business

General description of business of Constituent Entities of the Specified MNE Group, including the following (Article 22.105 Paragraph 2):

- a) Sales, income, and other important sources of profit of Constituent Entities of the Specified MNEs.
- b) Outline of the supply chain for the Specified MNE's five major goods, products or services (which refer to the succession of logistic processes that lead up to consumers; this also applies to c)) as well as of geographical markets in which such goods, products or services are provided.
- c) Outline of the supply chain for the Specified MNE's goods, products or services that represent 5% of total sales, revenues, or profits in its category or more as well as of geographical markets in which such goods, products and services are provided (excluding the items listed in b)).
- List of important agreements on the provision of services between Constituent Entities of the Specified MNE Group.
- e) MNEs (excluding those related to research and development; this also applies to d)) and the outline of the agreements (including the outline of policy to set the amount of compensation for the provision of services, that of policy to share the amount of expenses for the provision of services, and that of the functions of major bases where services are provided).
- f) Outline of the major functions fulfilled by Constituent Entities of the Specified MNEs when creating added value, serious risks assumed by them (possible increases or decreases in profit or loss due to factors such as fluctuations in exchange markets and market interest rates and changes in economic situations), and major roles played by Constituent Entities when creating important assets to be used and other types of value added.
- g) Outline of important business mergers, splits, transfers, and other acts involving Constituent Entities of the Specified MNEs.

.1

3. MNE's intangibles (as defined in Chapter VI of the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines)

- a) Outline of the Specified MNE's comprehensive strategy for research and development, ownership, and use of its intangible fixed assets and other intangible assets (hereinafter referred to as "Intangibles" in sections up to e) below) and the location of major facilities used for research and development of Intangibles and that of sites where such research and development are managed.
- b) List of important Intangibles used for transactions between Constituent Entities of the Specified MNEs and of Constituent Entities that possess the Intangibles.
- c) List of important agreements between Constituent Entities of the Specified MNEs on the sharing of expenses related to research and development of Intangibles, a list of important agreements on the provision of services for major research and development projects for the Intangibles, a list of important agreements on consent to use of the Intangibles, and a list of other important agreements on Intangibles between Constituent Entities.
- Outline of policy to set the amount of compensation for transactions related to R&D and Intangibles between Constituent Entities of the Specified MNEs.
- e) Names of Constituent Entities of the Specified MNEs which are involved in the transfer of important Intangibles (including equity for the Intangibles; this also applies to the rest of this item) between them, the location of their head office or principal offices, and the content of the Intangibles transferred, the amount of compensation, and other details of the transfer between the Constituent Entities.

4. MNE's intercompany financial activities

- a) Outline of methods for Constituent Entities of the Specified MNEs to procure funds (including the outline of important agreements on fund procurement from entities other than the Constituent Entities).
- b) Names of Constituent Entities of the Specified MNEs which fulfil pivotal financial functions in the group and the location of their head office or principal offices (including the name of the country or territory where laws and ordinances that govern the establishment of the Constituent Entities are enacted and that of the country or territory where sites are located in which their business is managed and controlled).
- C) Outline of policy to set the amount of compensation for financing between Constituent Entities of the Specified MNEs.

5. MNE's financial and tax positions

- Profits/losses and financial condition included in the consolidated financial statements of the Specified MNEs (documents stating the profits/losses and financial condition of the Specified MNEs if consolidated financial statements are not available).
- b) Outline of arrangement for the method to calculate the amount of compensation for transactions between Constituent Entities of the Specified MNE Group that reside in different countries and other items related to the allocation of income between such Constituent Entities if such arrangement is made only by the competent authorities in the country where one of the Constituent Entities resides.

3.2 Local File

The following information should be included in the Local File:

1. Local entity

Documents describing the content of business, business policy, and organisational structure of corporations as stipulated in Article 66-4 Paragraph 1 of the Act and foreign-related parties related thereto.

2. Controlled transactions

- a) Documents describing details of assets and the content of services related to the Controlled Transactions.
- b) Documents describing items related to the functions fulfilled by corporations as stipulated in Article 66-4 Paragraph 1 of the Act and foreign-related parties related thereto (which refer to foreign-related parties as stipulated in the same paragraph; this also applies to the rest of this paragraph) in the Controlled Transactions and risks (which refer to possible increases or decreases in the profits or loss of the Controlled Transactions due to fluctuations in exchange markets and market interest rates, changes in economic situations, and other factors; this also applies to the rest of this paragraph) assumed by the corporations and the foreign-related parties in the Controlled Transactions (If, due to the restructuring of the corporations' or foreign-related parties' business (which refers to mergers, splits,

Japan

transfer of businesses or important business assets, and changes in business structure for other reasons; this also applies to the rest of (b)), a change takes place to the functions fulfilled by the corporations or the foreign-related parties in the Controlled Transactions or the risks assumed by the corporations or the foreign-related parties in the Controlled Transactions, the documents must include a description of the content of the business restructuring and that of changes in the functions and the risks).

- c) Documents describing the content of intangible fixed assets and other intangible assets used by corporations as stipulated in Article 66-4 Paragraph 1 of the Act or foreign-related parties related thereto in the Controlled Transactions.
- d) Agreements related to, or documents describing the content of agreements on, the Controlled Transactions.
- e) Documents describing details of the amount of compensation received or paid by corporations as stipulated in Article 66-4 Paragraph 1 of the Act from or to foreign-related parties related thereto in the Controlled transactions, the method to set the amount of compensation received or paid, and the content of negotiations about such setting, as well as documents describing the method to calculate arm's-length prices (which refer to those stipulated in the same paragraph; this also applies to the rest of this article) for the amount of compensation received or paid and the content of arrangement of items related to the Controlled transactions (including other transactions closely related thereto) if such arrangement is made by the competent authorities in countries or territories other than Japan (excluding cases in which such arrangement is made by the regional commissioner of the regional taxation bureau or the district director who has jurisdiction over the place where the corporations pay income tax).
- f) Documents describing details of profits/losses for corporations as stipulated in Article 66-4 Paragraph 1 of the Act and foreign-related parties related thereto in the Controlled Transactions and the process in which the amount of profits/losses is calculated.
- g) Documents describing whether there are other transactions closely related to the Controlled Transactions as well as the content of the transactions and the circumstances under which the transactions are closely related to the Controlled Transactions.

3. Financial information

Documents describing analyses of markets (including analyses of the effects of the characteristics of the markets on the amount of compensation and profits/losses in the Controlled Transactions) related to the sale or purchase of assets, the provision of services, and other transactions in the Controlled Transactions and other items related to the markets.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

Items to be reported on a tax jurisdiction-by-tax jurisdiction basis where the Constituent Entities of a Specified MNE's conduct business are:

- 1. Amounts of revenue, profit (loss) before income tax, income tax paid, income tax accrued, stated capital, accumulated earnings, and tangible assets other than cash and cash equivalents, as well as the number of employees.
- 2. Names, tax jurisdiction of organisation or incorporation if different from tax jurisdiction of residence, and major business activity(ies) of the Constituent Entities.
- 3. Items that are deemed as useful for those listed above.

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

Required documents differ depending which of the two cases below applies:

Case 1: If the Ultimate Parent Entity (or Surrogate Parent Entity) is located in Japan

- a. Japanese Ultimate Parent Entity
- b. Japanese subsidiary Corporation
- c. P.E.

Case 2: If the Ultimate Parent Entity (or Surrogate Parent Entity) is located in a foreign country

- d. Japanese subsidiary Corporation
- e. P.E.

Japan

			r				
Notification		a.	b.	с.		d.	e.
Notification for Ultimate	In principle	0	0	0	In principle	0	0
Parent Entity	Exception	O (One rep corporat	bresentativ ion)	/e	Exception	O (One represe corpora	entative ation)
CbC Report	In principle	0	Х	X	Direct filing		
					In principle	X	Х
					Local filing		
					In principle	0	0
					Exception	O (One represe corpora	entative ation)
Master File	In principle	0	0	0	In principle	0	0
	Exception	O (One rep corporat	presentativ ion)	/e	Exception	O (One represe corpora	entative ation)

Kenya

KENYA

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Nairobi	Michael Mburugu	+254 204 270 000
		mmburugu@ke.pkfea.com

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

Section 18 (3) of the Kenyan Income Tax Act ("ITA") and the Transfer Pricing ("TP") Rules, 2006 require resident entities transacting with non-resident related parties to transact at arm's-length prices. The TP Rules also detail circumstances under which an entity is considered to be related to resident entities for TP purposes and provides guidance on development of TP Policies.

Currently, Action 13 of the OECD/G20-project Base Erosion and Profit Shifting ("BEPS") has not been adopted under the TP rules. However, there are plans to overhaul the current ITA with a Draft Income Tax Bill currently awaiting to go through legislative process. The adoption of BEPS Action Points is one of the key changes expected to be included in the Draft Income Tax Bill. The bill proposes for filing of country by country reports by parent companies or constituent entities of Multinational Enterprises ("MNEs") that are resident for tax in Kenya.

1.2 Practical context

Whereas Action 13 has not been adopted in the TP rules, the additional TP documentation recommended under the Action Point and the Draft Income Tax Bill will definitely result in significant administrative burden for Multinational Enterprises ("MNEs") once adopted.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

The TP rules are applicable to all taxpayers with cross-border transactions with related non-resident entities.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

TP rules in Kenya do not specify precise grounds for aggregation or itemisation of transactions for TP purposes. However, determination of arm's-length price is done for individual transactions and documented as such in the TP policy.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

The TP Rules do not provide any timelines or requirement to submit the TP policy to the Kenya Revenue Authority ("KRA") but the TP policy should be provided to KRA on request.

There are instances where KRA gives taxpayers a reasonable period (3 to 4 weeks) to avail TP documentation if not available.

There are no timelines for submission of the master and Local File as well as Country-By-Country ("CbC") reports since Action 13 is yet to be adopted in Kenya.

2.4 Materiality

The Kenyan TP rules require all transactions with non-resident related parties should be documented in a TP Policy regardless of the transaction volumes involved. There are no provisions stipulating formal thresholds under which TP documentation is not required. However, in light of the basic principle that the administrative burden should be justified by the complexity and (tax) importance of the transaction, the more complex and material the transactions are, the more extensive the TP documentation should be.

2.5 Retention of documents

The Tax Procedures Act, 2015 ("TPA") requires a taxpayer to retain their records for a period of five years with an exception to instances where there are ongoing tax audits or investigations. TP related documentation forms part of records to be retained and it is therefore important to retain them for a period of five years.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

Kenvan TP Rules do not stipulate the frequency of TP policy updates. However, it is recommended to have the TP policy reviewed and updated every few years in order to account for normal business and market developments. A significant change in the transactions and business circumstances could also lead to an update of the TP Policy.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

Taxpayers are required to disclose related parties in their annual Income Tax Self-Assessment Return.

2.8 Burden of proof

There is no guidance on burden of proof under the Kenyan TP Rules. However, provisions under the TPA and Tax Appeals Tribunal Act ("TATA") places burden of proof on taxpayers in demonstrating KRA's decision is incorrect, excessive, or should not have been made or should have been made differently.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

The current TP Rules do not provide any penalties for failing to have a TP policy in place or for not availing it to KRA on time. However, the TPA provides for a penalty of 10% of the tax payable or about USD 1.000 (KES 100.000) whichever is higher for failing to retain, or maintain documents as required under tax laws.

The Draft Income Tax Bill proposes a penalty of 2% of the value of controlled transaction per failure to have in place transfer pricing documentation.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

There are currently no specific TP-adjustment taxes and the Income Tax penalties of 20% of the principal tax due will be applicable where TP adjustments are made by KRA.

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

There are no penalties for failure to file the CbC Reports as there are currently no legal requirements for filing of CbC Reports with the KRA.

2.10 Interest

The general Income Tax interest penalties of 1% per month of the principal tax due shall be applicable for TP audits. The interest is however capped at a maximum of the principal tax due.

2 11 Use of most reliable information

The TP Rules recommends application of the most appropriate TP methods taking into account the nature of transaction, or class of transaction, or class of related persons or functions performed by such persons in relation to the transaction.

With regards to the benchmarking analysis to be made, the OECD prefers to use the most reliable information available. In this regard the BEPS-report states the following "The requirement to use the most reliable information will usually...require the use of local comparables over the use of regional." (BEPS Action 13, p. 24-25). However, local comparables may not be sufficiently available. If local comparables are insufficiently available, regional comparables are allowed.

Due to absence of local and regional comparables, comparables from other regions are generally accepted. However, there are instances where KRA uses local comparables which are unavailable to taxpavers which creates tax disputes.

2.12 Languages

The TPA requires documents be maintained in either of the official languages (that is English or Kiswahili) which includes TP documentation. The TPA empowers the Commissioner to reject documents in any language which is not an official language. It is therefore recommended to have TP documentation maintained in English or Kiswahili.

Κ

Kenya

2.13 Confidentiality

The Commissioner is required to maintain utmost confidentiality of documents or information obtained from taxpayers. However, Kenyan tax law allows the Commissioner to share taxpayers' information or documents with various government authorities as well as foreign governments or international organisation having an agreement to exchange information with Kenya.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

The Kenyan TP Rules are contained in the ITA and currently require only the formulation and maintenance of a Local TP file. The local TP file is expected to have information on the global organisation structure; description of business operations of the the group entities; financial analysis; description of the controlled transactions; industry analysis; detailed functional, asset and risk analysis; and economic analysis containing the benchmarking studies.

The BEPS Action Points have not been adopted. We however anticipate adoption of BEPS Action Points in the Draft Income Tax Bill which is currently awaiting legislative process.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

The Kenyan TP rules as contained in the ITA do not have the CbC reporting standards. However, we expect the Draft Income Tax Bill once assented into law will bring forth the requirements for CbC reporting.

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Seoul	Charlie (Chang-Ho) Kim	+82 2 316 4368
		charlie.kim@pkf.com
Seoul	Joseph (Hojun) Kang	+82 2 316 4325
		hojun.kang@pkf.com

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

Statutory rules bearing on the transfer pricing documentation requirements in Korea are prescribed in Article 11 of the Law for the Coordination of International Tax Affairs ("LCITA"), which was initially introduced on 1 January 1996, and in Article 21-2 of Presidential Enforcement Decree ("PED") of LCITA. LCITA has been synced up with OECD Transfer Pricing Guideline for Multinational Enterprises and Tax Administrations ("OECD Guideline") ever since its inception and major updates and/or amendments to OECD guideline have been codified into LCITA constantly.

The LCITA was amended so as to implement the new transfer pricing documentation requirements in line with Action 13 of the OECD BEPS project (the "BEPS Action 13 Report"). On 6 April 2016, the Korean Ministry of Strategy and Finance (the "MOSF") announced the final regulation on the local and Master Files, which were introduced by the BEPS Action 13 Report, going into effect as of 1 January 2016. The local and Master Files along with Country-by-Country report are collectively referred to as the Combined Report of International Transaction Information (the "CRITI"). On 14 April 2016, the MOSF also issued an administrative notice setting forth the detail information as to how and by whom the local and Master Files may be prepared and filed. As for the Country-by-Country Report ("CbC Report"), MOSF released a proposal of details in relation to CbC Report in December 2016 and finally it introduced the final regulations thereabout on 21 March 2017.

By having these documentation requirements set forth in the BEPS Action 13 Report enacted into the Korea statutory law, South Korea has synced up with other OECD countries in the international tax arena.

1.2 Practical context

From a practical point of view, the number of MNEs satisfying the new threshold set by the Korean government in connection with the BEPS Action 13 Report is relatively small compared to the number of companies engaging in cross-border intercompany transactions on a regular basis. Therefore, those MNEs subject to the new documentation regulations will bear more burdens but the rest of companies will remain the same in terms of their compliance effort. This being said, the advent of BEPS and new documentation regulations drew lots of attention from most taxpayers in Korea and alerted taxpayers to international tax and transfer pricing issues more than ever before.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

The amended LCITA and its PED requires the corporate taxpayers in Korea i.e., domestic corporations and Korea branches of foreign corporations to file both the local and Master Files if all of the following thresholds are satisfied:

- · Annual aggregate volume of intercompany transaction(s) exceeds KRW 50 billion; and
- Annual revenue exceeds KRW 100 billion.

In case there is more than one Korean taxpayer meeting the foregoing conditions within the same group, the regulation expressly states that any of these taxpayers is permitted to file the Master File as a representative of their group.

For CbC Report, when the Korean taxpayer is an ultimate parent company of its group / MNE and satisfies the following threshold, then it is required to submit CbC Report to Korean tax authorities:

 Sales revenue exceeding KRW 1 trillion (approx. EUR 780 million) per consolidated financial statements for the preceding year.
Korea (South Korea)

For those corporate taxpayers that do not satisfy the thresholds above, they still may have to declare the transfer pricing method applied to their annual tax return package if one of following requirements is met:

- Total transaction amount of goods with all foreign-related parties during a given fiscal year exceeds KRW 5 billion or the total service transaction amount with all foreign-related parties during a given fiscal year exceeds KRW 1 billion; or
- Total transaction amount of goods with each foreign-related party during a given fiscal year exceeds KRW 1 billion or the total service transaction amount with each foreign-related party during a given fiscal year exceeds KRW 200 million.

Where taxpayers meet one of the foregoing requirements, they are therefore subject to reporting their transfer pricing method via their corporate tax return filings. This may have to be supported by the transfer pricing documentation.

Taxpayers are required to submit the transfer pricing documentation within sixty days from the date on which Korean tax authorities request such information.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

Transactional Net Margin Method ("TNMM") is the most frequently applied transfer pricing method. TNMM should be applied on a transaction-by-transaction basis but, in practice, when it is unreasonable to measure the price or net margin on a stand-alone basis due to the close interconnection or link between transactions, taxpayers are allowed to consolidate different type of transactions to derive arm's-length price pursuant to Article 6 (8) of PED of LCITA.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

LCITA requires that both the master and Local Files be submitted on an annual basis, due within 12 months of the fiscal year-end starting from the tax year 2017 (that is, the first local and Master Files should be filed by 31 December 2018 for the tax year ended 31 December 2017). However, the filing date for local and Master Files may be extended up to 1 year upon prior approval by the tax office having jurisdiction over the taxpayer. The request for the extension must be made at least 15 days prior to the original due date.

As for the CbC Report, if the Korean taxpayer is the ultimate parent company of its group, the CbC Report is due within 12 months of the fiscal year-end, i.e. the first CbC Report should be filed by 31 December 2017 for the tax year ended 31 December 2016.

In addition, taxpayers must submit their contemporaneous transfer pricing documentation, within 30 days from the date on which Korean tax authorities request such information. This is prepared in order to obtain a 10% penalty exemption on any additional assessment by the tax authorities in the event of a tax audit.

2.4 Materiality

Please refer to 2.1.

2.5 Retention of documents

Pursuant to the Article 116 of Corporate Income Tax Law of Korea, all supporting documents to substantiate transactions, e.g. transfer pricing documentation, occurred during a given fiscal period should be maintained for 5 years from the due date of tax return filing.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

The Master File, Local File and CbC Report must be updated every year, because they relate to a particular fiscal year.

For taxpayers that do not meet the thresholds for CRITI, they may want to prepare transfer pricing documentation due to the 10% penalty waiver. In this case, the contemporaneous transfer pricing documentation should be updated with new benchmarking every 2 to 3 years, but the financial update has to be performed every year.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

Korean corporate taxpayers should attach the annex form 8 (GAP) under the LCITA, which includes the amount of cross-border related party transaction by transaction type, to their annual tax return if they have transacted with overseas related parties during a given fiscal year. Also, taxpayers should attach the annex form 1 to 1-3 under the LCITA, which is for the declaration of transfer pricing method applied, to their annual tax return if the amount of related party transaction with foreign-related parties exceeds the threshold we provided in section 2.1.

2.8 Burden of proof

If the taxpayer keeps appropriate TP-documentation records and does not have an explicitly unreasonable and unsupported point of view with respect to the transfer prices used, the tax authorities must prove that the transfer prices used are not correct. If there is no TP-documentation available or there are evident shortcomings in the documentation, the tax inspector could reverse the burden of proof to the taxpayer.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

The taxpayer shall be subject to a penalty up to KRW 100 million should there be either a failure to file the CRITI partially or entirely or a falsification of the information therein.

For those taxpayers who do not meet the threshold for CRITI, a penalty of up to KRW 100 million may be imposed for failure to provide transfer pricing documentation within 60 days (one 60-day extension allowed) upon request of the Korean tax authorities.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

The penalty for underreported tax is 10% (40% in cases of fraud) of the additional assessment by Korean tax authorities. From 1 January 2015 onwards, a penalty rate of 60% may be applied to the additional assessment in cases of fraudulent acts involving cross-border transactions.

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

The taxpayer shall be subject to a penalty up to KRW 30 million should there be either a failure to file the CRITI partially or entirely or a falsification of the information therein.

2.10 Interest

No interest is charged on penalties. However, there is a penalty similar to interest in concept called additional tax for unfaithful payment, which is 0.03% per day.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

The OECD Guideline suggests using the most reliable information available and, in line with this, per page 24 and 25 of the BEPS Action 13 Report, it also put the use of local comparables in priority to the use of regional comparables. In Korean practice, only Korean local comparables are accepted by the Korean tax authorities and Korean taxpayers are expected to use database called "Kisline".

2.12 Languages

The Local File must be submitted in Korean. The Master File may be submitted in English, but a Korean translation must be submitted within one month.

2.13 Confidentiality

The Korean tax authorities are mandated to treat the TP documentation of the taxpayer confidentially. The tax authorities can only exchange the TP documentation with the tax authorities of other countries when the agreement for the exchange of tax information exists.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

3.1 Master File

The following information should be included in the Master File:

1. Group's Organisational structure

It should include overview of the group, group's legal ownership structure, and group's control structure.

2. Description of MNE's business(es)

General written description of the MNE's business including:

- a) Important drivers of business profit.
- b) Description of top five goods or services in the supply chain that are above 5% of total sales.
- c) List of important service agreements between the entities within the MNE.

Korea (South Korea)

- d) Description of geographical markets for the goods and services abovementioned in b).
- e) Functional analysis to explain the proportion of value-adding contribution by each entity within the MNE.
- f) Important business restructuring transactions, acquisition, or divestiture occurred during the fiscal year, if any.

3. MNE's intangibles (as defined in Chapter VI of the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines)

- A general description of the MNE's overall strategy for the development, ownership and exploitation of intangibles, including location of principal R&D facilities and location of R&D management.
- b) A list of intangibles or groups of intangibles of the MNE group that are important for transfer pricing purposes and which entities legally own them.
- c) A list of important agreements among identified associated enterprises related to intangibles, including cost contribution arrangements, principal research service agreements and license agreements.
- d) A general description of the group's transfer pricing policies related to R&D and intangibles.
- e) A general description of any important transfers of interests in intangibles among associated enterprises during the fiscal year concerned, including the entities, countries, and compensation involved.

4. MNE's intercompany financial activities

- a) A general description of how the group is financed, including important financing arrangements with unrelated lenders.
- b) The identification of any members of the MNE group that provide a central financing function for the group, including the country under whose laws the entity is organised and the place of effective management of such entities.
- c) A general description of the MNE's general transfer pricing policies related to financing arrangements between associated enterprises.

5. MNE's financial and tax positions

- a) The MNE's annual consolidated financial statement for the fiscal year concerned if otherwise prepared for financial reporting, regulatory, internal management, tax or other purposes.
- b) A list and brief description of the MNE group's existing unilateral advance pricing agreements (APAs) and other tax rulings in regard to the profit allocation among countries.

3.2 Local File

The following information should be included in the Local File:

1. Summary of Submitting Local entity

- a) Introduction to the submitting entity.
- b) Business structure and organisational chart.
- c) List of persons who receive management-related reporting.
- d) Business operation and strategy of the submitting entity.
- e) Main competitors.

2. Description of the Related Party Transactions

- a) Current details of foreign related parties.
- b) Legal ownership structure of foreign related parties.
- c) Ownership structure.
- d) A description of material related transactions and the context in which such transactions take place.
- e) The amount of related party payments and receipts in related party transactions.
- f) Details of each type of related transaction and relationship among foreign-related parties.
- g) Detail comparability analysis and functional analysis of taxpayer and foreign-related party with regard to the related party transactions.
- h) Most appropriate transfer pricing method for each transaction type and reasons for selecting such method.
- i) Tested party selected and reasons for the selection.

- j) A summary of the important assumptions made in applying the transfer pricing methodology.
- k) If relevant, an explanation of the reasons for performing a multi-year analysis.
- I) A list and description of selected comparable uncontrolled transactions (internal or external), if any.
- m) A description of any comparability adjustments performed, and an indication of whether adjustments have been made to the results of the tested party, the comparable uncontrolled transactions, or both.
- n) A summary of financial information used in applying the transfer pricing methodology.
- o) The result of analysis.

3. Financial information and Agreements

- Annual local entity financial accounts for the fiscal year concerned. If audited statements exist they should be supplied and if not, existing unaudited statements should be supplied.
- b) Copy of existing unilateral and bilateral/multilateral APA Applications and other tax rulings, if any, which the taxpayer applied to other than the local tax authorities with regard to the related party transactions described above.
- c) Copies of all Material Related Party Agreements executed by the Submitting Entity.
- Information and allocation schedules showing how the financial data used in applying the transfer pricing method may be tied to the annual financial statements.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

For CbC Report, when the Korean taxpayer is the ultimate parent company of its group/MNE then it is required to submit CbC Report to Korean tax authorities if it satisfies the following threshold:

 Sales revenue exceeding KRW 1 trillion (approx. EUR 780 million) per consolidated financial statements for the preceding year.

Unlike local and Master Files, the information contained in CbC Report is very concise and simple. In accordance with the BEPS guidance on CbC Report, it should include the basic information about the entity submitting the report such as the name of entity, business registration number, address, the name of the MNE it belongs to, etc. The key information to be included in CbC Report is the Earnings Before Tax ("EBT") figure and tax paid thereon, the number of employees, etc. in each jurisdiction in which the MNE has business presence. Moreover, main activities or functions, e.g. R&D, procurement, manufacturing, sales, management support, etc., each constituent entity in each jurisdiction engages in or performs should be included.

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

The reporting entity notification form is required to be submitted within six months of the fiscal year end (e.g. for fiscal years ending 31 December, the deadline would be 30 June of the following year) by the ultimate parent company located in Korea and a domestic entity or branch whose parent company resides in a foreign country. If the parent company of the Korean corporate taxpayer resides in a country that does not require a CbC Report, or does not facilitate the exchange of the CbC Report, the Korean entity is required to submit the CbC Report to the Korean tax authorities on behalf of its foreign parent company.

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Guadalajara	Jimy Cruz	+52 33 31222081
		jimy.cruz@pkf.com.mx

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

In Mexico, the legislation on transfer pricing is found within the Mexican Income Tax Law ("MITL"), in the Regulations of the Income Tax Law ("RITL") and in the Federal Tax Code ("FTC").

The new requirements for the presentation of the Annual Returns of Related Parties, which are based on Action 13 of the OECD/G20 Base Erosion and Profit Shifting Project (BEPS), are formalised in the Miscellaneous Fiscal Resolution for 2017, which includes the presentation of the Master File, Local Report and the Country-by-Country Report of the multinational enterprise group.

1.2 Practical context

The practical application of the OECD regulations on transfer pricing is supported by the last paragraph of Article 179 of the MITL.

"For the interpretation of the provisions of this Chapter, the Transfer Pricing Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and Tax Administrations apply, approved by the Council of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development in 1995, or those that replace them, insofar as they are consistent with the provisions of the Mexican Law and the treaties carried out by Mexico."

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

Pursuant to Article 76, sections IX, X and XII, all taxpayers who carry out operations with related parties, whether of foreign or domestic residency, are obliged to obtain and maintain supporting documents, with the exception of taxpayers whose income in the immediately preceding year did not exceed 13,000,000 MXN (approximately 673,000 USD), or taxpayers whose income derived from the provision of professional services did not exceed 3,000,000 MXN (approximately 155,000 USD) in that year, except those referred to by the penultimate paragraph of Article 179 of the LISR (related parties located under preferential tax regimes or tax havens). LISR is the equivalent to the English abbreviation MITL.

For compliance purposes, under the provisions of Article 76-A, sections I and III of the Mexican Income Tax Law, when a group of taxpayers enter into transactions with related parties which meet any of the cases indicated in Article 32- H, sections I, II, III and IV of the FTC and are part of the same multinational enterprise group, they may jointly submit one single Annual Information Declaration. Any obligated taxpayer belonging to the multinational enterprise group may submit the declaration, and should select in said declaration, the option of joint declaration and state the name or business name and the code in the RITL of the taxpayers who submit the declaration jointly.

For the purposes of article 76-A, first paragraph, section III, second paragraph of the MITL, the Country-by-Country report should be submitted by taxpayers when:

- a. They are multinational parent companies, understood to be those that fulfil the following requirements:
 - 1. They are residents of Mexico;
 - 2. They have subsidiaries defined in terms of the financial information regulations, or permanent establishments, that reside or are located abroad, according to their situation;
 - 3. They are not subsidiaries of another company resident abroad;
 - 4. They are obliged to create, present and reveal consolidated financial statements according to the financial information regulations;
 - 5. They report on their consolidated financial statements the results of entities residing in other countries or jurisdictions;

Μ

- 6. They have obtained during the immediately preceding year consolidated income for accounting purposes equivalent to or above 12 billion MXN (approximately 648 million USD). This amount may be modified by Congress for each year of the Federal Income Law.
- b. They are entities resident in Mexican territory or residents abroad with a permanent establishment in the country, that have been designated by the controlling entity of the multinational business group resident abroad as responsible for providing the Country-by-Country report. The designated entity should submit by 31 December of the year following their designation, a notice to the tax authorities according to the terms that may be established for such purposes the Tax Administration Service (SAT) via its general rules.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

Obtaining and maintaining documentation supporting transactions with related parties must be done for each transaction, in accordance with the Transfer Pricing Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and Tax Administrations of the OECD.

However, when there are a large number of similar transactions these can be evaluated together, provided that the taxpayer can demonstrate that the transfer prices used in connection with the aggregation of transactions, were agreed upon under fully competitive conditions.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

In Mexico, the taxpayer has three occasions to submit information on transfer pricing to the tax authority; the first is 31 March as the deadline for submitting Annex 9 of Related Parties for the Multiple Information Declaration (DIM); the second is 30 June, as the deadline for submitting Annex 16, 17 and the Accountant Questionnaire for Transfer Pricing of the Fiscal Report Submission System (SIPRED), or through the Presentation System of the Fiscal Situation Information Declaration (DISIF) or through the System of Presentation of the Alternative Information to the Judgement (SIPIAD), depending on the fiscal status of the taxpayer; finally, the third occasion is 31 December, as the deadline to deliver the Master File, the Country-by-Country Report and the Local Report, through the Portal of the Tax Administration System (SAT) through a tool that is already defined. As of fiscal year 2018, the SAT established the option to submit the Local Report.

2.4 Materiality

In Mexican transfer pricing legislation, there is no concept of materiality. All entities must obtain and maintain supporting documentation regarding transfer pricing.

2.5 Retention of documents

The Tax Authority has a Statutory Limit of 5 years to request every Tax Document. However it is quite complicated to calculate exactly when the 5 years expire as it depends on whether the company submitted amended returns (in which a case the 5 years period starts again). If any of the actions taken by the taxpayer are considered to be "tax fraud", the 5 years period does not expire. Therefore, in practice, the taxpayer is obligated to retain the supporting documentation until requested by the tax authority.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

The taxpayer is required to obtain supporting documentation on transactions with related parties for each fiscal year in which they have carried out such transactions.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

As a rule, corporate taxpayers must file the income tax return within 3 months following the end of the tax year. Thus, the deadline is 31 March.

The tax code authorises Registered Public Accountants (CPRs) to issue audited reports for tax purposes, which include a series of charts and notes showing comparative and detailed tax information. The reports are electronically sent to the Ministry of Finance within a six month period at the latest after the end of the tax year (so in principle by 30 June). This procedure is voluntary and applicable only to certain taxpayers.

2.8 Burden of proof

In accordance with the procedures established by the authority, when reviews of documentation of related party transactions are made, the burden of proof lies with the taxpayer and they must have solid and well documented evidence of information regarding transactions with related parties.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

If the taxpayer fails to submit the information declaration with related parties, which is submitted together with the declaration of the fiscal year, or if it is submitted with errors or omissions, the taxpayer will be penalised with a fine ranging from \$77,230 MXN to \$154,460 MXN, in accordance with Article 81, section XVII and Article 82, section XVII, of the FTC.

If the taxpayer does not comply with the obligation to submit the annual declarations corresponding to the Master File, Country-by-Country Report or Local Report, or if they do so in an incomplete manner, or with errors, inconsistencies or in any way other than indicated, it may result in a fine ranging from \$154,800 MXN to \$220,400 MXN; the foregoing is based on Articles 81, section XL and 82, section XXXVII of the FTC.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

If the tax authority determines an adjustment to the transfer price is required it has the power to collect the following:

- Tax omitted;
- · Increased amounts due to inflation; and
- Surcharges, which is equivalent to applying a certain interest rate for a tax credit.

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

Under Mexican law there is no specific penalty related to the Country-by-Country Report, except as established in section 2.9.1 General, in relation to the delivery of the annual informative declarations.

2.10 Interest

For the purposes of the MITL, interest arising from the amount of taxpayer debts exceeding three times its stockholders' equity and derived from debts contracted with related parties residing abroad, under the terms of Article 179 of this law, shall not be deductible.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

Article 180 of the MITL establishes a priority order to apply the methods in order to obtain the highest degree of reliability in the documentation of operations between related parties; this priority order is as follows:

"Taxpayers shall first apply the method provided in Section I of this Article (Comparable uncontrolled price method), and may only use the methods set forth in Sections II, III, IV, V and VI of the Article, when the method provided in Section I is not appropriate for determining that the transactions carried out are at market prices in accordance with the Transfer Pricing Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and Tax Administrations referred to in the last paragraph of Article 179 of this law."

"For the purposes of the application of the methods provided in Sections II, III and VI (Resale Price, Cost Plus and Transactional Net Margin Method) of this article, the methodology shall be deemed to be met, if it is demonstrated that the cost and the sale price are at market prices. For these purposes, market prices are understood as prices and fees that may have been used with or among independent parties in comparable transactions or when the taxpayer has been granted a favourable decision under the terms of article 34-A of the Tax Code of the Federation. It shall be demonstrated that the method used is the most appropriate or the most reliable method according to the available information, with preference given to the methods provided in Sections II and III of this article."

There are no specific requirements on the use of comparables. There is no legal requirement to use local country comparables. Companies established in Article 179 of the Mexican Income Tax Law will be considered comparable companies:

"For the purposes of this Law, it is understood that operations or companies are comparable, when there are no differences between them that significantly affect the price or fee or profit margin referred to in the methods established in Article 180 of this law, and when such differences do exist, they are eliminated through reasonable adjustments. In order to determine such differences, the pertinent required elements, according to the method used, shall be taken into account, considering the following elements, among others..."

2.12 Languages

Verification of documentation with related parties must be in the Spanish language and Mexican pesos (MXN), except in the following situations:

Taxpayers obligated to file the Master File Report, whose content is in line with the Final Report of Action 13 of the BEPS initiative, may submit the information prepared by a foreign entity that is part of the same multinational enterprise group, as long as it is submitted by the obligated taxpayer in Spanish or English using the tool provided by the SAT for these purposes.

The information corresponding to the Country-by-Country Report may be presented in a currency other than the national currency. If the information was obtained in foreign currency and converted to national currency, the exchange rate, date of conversion and source must be indicated.

2.13 Confidentiality

Pursuant to Article 69 of the FTC, the official personnel with access to the various documentation related to the application of the tax provisions are obligated to maintain absolute discretion regarding the declarations and data provided by the taxpayers or related third parties, as well as information obtained during the verification process.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

In accordance with Article 76-A of the MITL, these declarations must contain the following information, either by line of business or in general:

3.1 Annual Declaration of Related Parties of the Multinational Enterprise Group

Legal organisational structure of each of the business units regardless of their category of parent, holding, subsidiary, associate, affiliate, central office or permanent establishment and the structure of the capital stock ownership ratio, taking into account the percentages of share ownership of each of the entities within the multinational enterprise group, identifying each of the legal operating entities that are part of that group, and their geographical and fiscal locations.

3.2 General description of multinational enterprise group activity

- Description of the multinational enterprise group's business model, consisting of the core business strategy and operation components that create and provide value to both clients and the company, including strategic decisions about products and services, business partners and distribution channels, as well as structure of costs and revenue streams that demonstrate the viability of the business.
- Description of the multinational enterprise group's value generators, consisting of the conditions or attributes of the business that effectively generate significant value, which are manifested through intangibles created or utilised through comparability factors that define a competitive business advantage.
- Description of the supply chain, i.e. the sequence of processes involved in the production and distribution of the multinational enterprise group's five principal types of products or services, as well as other types of products or services that represent more than 5% of the multinational enterprise group's total income.
- 4. List and description of the relevant aspects of the principal intra-group service agreements (other than research and development services), including the description of the capabilities of the main centers providing relevant services such as transfer pricing policies used to allocate the costs for services and determine the prices to be paid for the provision of intra-group services.
- 5. Description of the principal geographic markets where the multinational business enterprise markets its main products or services, referred to in number three of this subsection.
- 6. Description of the main functions carried out, assumed risks and assets utilised by the various legal entities that make up the multinational enterprise group.
- 7. Description of operations related to business restructuring, as well as the business acquisitions and disposals carried out by the multinational enterprise group in the declared fiscal year. For these purposes, a business restructuring refers to a cross-border reorganisation of financial and commercial relationships among related parties, including the termination or significant renegotiation of existing agreements.

Intangibles of the multinational enterprise group consisting of the following:

1. Description of the global strategy for the development, ownership and utilisation of intangibles, i.e. elements that are not a physical or financial asset and which may be the object of ownership or control

Mexico

for use in commercial activities, and whose use or transmission would be remunerated if it occurred during a transaction between independent companies in comparable circumstances, including the location of both the principal research and development centres and the management and administration of research and development of the multinational enterprise group.

- 2. List of intangibles or sets of the multinational enterprise group's intangibles that are relevant to transfer pricing purposes, including the name or business name of the legal owners.
- 3. List of principal intra-group agreements involving intangibles, including cost-sharing and research service arrangements and licenses for the use of intangibles.
- 4. General description of transfer pricing policies on research and development and intangible assets of the multinational enterprise group.
- Description of the principal transfers of rights to intangibles made between related parties during in the declared fiscal year, including the name or business name of the entities involved, fiscal residence, and amount(s) of the fee(s) for said transfers.

Information related to the multinational enterprise group's financial activities, consisting of the following:

- 1. Description of how the multinational enterprise group obtains financing, including major financing agreements with independent parties.
- 2. For the purpose of identifying the main financing agreements with independent parties, the top five amounts of the most significant financing agreements will be considered.
- 3. Denomination or corporate name of the legal entities of the multinational enterprise group who perform centralised financing functions for the group, including the fiscal residence and management centre of said legal entities.
- 4. Description of multinational enterprise group policies on transfer pricing for finance transactions with related parties.

Financial and fiscal position of the multinational enterprise group, consisting of the following:

- 1. Consolidated financial statements for the declared fiscal year.
- 2. List and description of advance arrangements for unilateral transfer pricing and other agreements or resolutions related to the allocation of income between countries, which include the legal entities that form part of the multinational enterprise group.

3.3 Information from the Annual Informative Local Declaration of Related Parties

Information on structure and activities of the obligated taxpayer, consisting of the following:

- 1. Description of their administrative and organisational structure, as well as the list of individuals upon whom the local administration hierarchically depends and the country(ies) in which said individuals have their main office.
- 2. Detailed description of the business activities and strategies of the obligated taxpayer, including, if applicable, if they have participated in or been affected by business restructuring, whether of a cross-border or local nature, transfer of ownership, or rights to intangibles during the declared fiscal year or the prior fiscal year. For the purposes of this paragraph, an explanation of how these restructurings or transfers of property affected the taxpayer must be provided.
- 3. Description of the value chain of the group to which the obligated taxpayer belongs, identifying the location and participation of the obligated taxpayer in said value chain, describing at each stage of said chain the specific activities, and whether they are routine or value-added activities, and the description of the policy of allocation or determination of profits along the value chain.
- 4. List of the obligated taxpayer's main competitors.

Information on related party transactions consisting of the following:

- 1. Detailed description of the operations carried out by the obligated taxpayer with related parties residing in the national territory and abroad, including the nature, characteristics and amount by type of operation.
- Description of the transfer pricing policies associated with each type of transaction that the obligated taxpayer carries out with related parties. For the purposes of this rule, transfer pricing policies shall include the related information on methodology for the determination of prices in transactions between related parties whether for financial and/or tax purposes, whose formulation includes business strategies and economic circumstances, among others.

- 3. Description of the strategy for the development, improvement, maintenance, protection and utilisation of the intangibles of the group to which the obligated taxpayer belongs.
- 4. Copy in Spanish or English of the contracts entered into by the taxpayer with its related parties, applicable to transactions with related parties during the declared fiscal year.
- 5. Justification of the selection of the party analysed and reasons for rejection of the counterparty as a party analysed in the analysis(es) of the transaction(s) carried out by the obligated taxpayer with related parties residing in national territory and abroad, as well as the name or business name of the party analysed.
- 6. Analysis of the performed functions, assumed risks and assets utilised by the obligated taxpayer and by its related parties for each type of operation analysed, as well as the corresponding analysis of comparability for each type of transaction analysed, which should also include analysis of the functions of development, improvement, maintenance, protection and utilisation of intangibles carried out by the obligated taxpayer and its related party that may be a counterparty in each transaction analysed.
- 7. Justification of the selection of the transfer pricing method applied in the analysis(es) of the transaction(s) carried out by the obligated taxpayer with related parties residing in national territory and abroad, as well as explanation of the detail of the relevant assumptions considered in the application of said methodology.
- Detail and justification of the use of financial information of comparable companies that covers more than one fiscal year in the analysis(es) of the transaction(s) carried out by the obligated taxpayer with related parties residing in national territory and abroad.
- 9. Detail of the search and selection process of comparable companies or transactions, including the source of information, list of operations or companies considered as potential comparables, with the criteria of acceptance and rejection; selection of profitability indicator(s) considered in the analysis of the transaction(s) carried out by the obligated taxpayer with related parties residing in national territory and abroad; description and detail of the application of comparability adjustments; results and conclusion(s) of the analysis(es). The information regarding the business description of the companies considered in English.
- 10. Financial information (segmented) of both the obligated taxpayer and/or analysed party, as well as the comparable company(ies) considered for such analysis(es).

For these purposes, the step-by-step detail of the calculation of the indicator(s) of the level of profitability will be provided for both the analysed party and each of the companies used as comparables in the analyses, including the mathematical processes utilised for each one, the formula(s), and the decimals used, clarifying if they were truncated or rounded.

11. List of unilateral, bilateral or multilateral advance pricing agreements, as well as other resolutions, in which the Mexican tax authority is not a party and which relate to any transactions carried out with related parties during the declared fiscal year, and provide copies of those created.

Financial information consisting of the following:

- 1. Individual and consolidated financial statements, as the case may be, corresponding to the declared fiscal year of the obligated taxpayer and/or analysed party selected; and if necessary, clarify whether they have been decreed.
- Financial and tax information of foreign related parties that are counterparties to each transaction analysed, consisting of current assets, fixed assets, sales, costs, operating expenses, net income, taxable base and tax payment, specifying the currency in which such information is provided.
- 3. Financial information of the obligated taxpayer and/or selected analysed party used to apply the transfer pricing methods in the declared fiscal year.

If segmented financial information is used, all segments that include the typologies of transactions with the obligated taxpayer and/or analysed party with related parties, whose summation matches the information in numeral 1, must be included.

Likewise, the obligated taxpayer must identify in each segment, which transactions with related parties are included in each one of them, and explain and exemplify how the segmentation of the financial information was carried out.

4. Relevant financial information of the comparable companies utilised, as well as the sources of said information and the date of the database utilised to search for it.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

For the purposes of Article 76-A, Section III of the ISR Law, the Country-by-Country Information Declaration of the multinational enterprise group must contain the following information regarding the declared fiscal year of the multinational controlling entity, in aggregate form and for each country or fiscal jurisdiction:

- a. Total revenue of the multinational enterprise group, disaggregating the revenue obtained with related parties and third parties. These correspond to net income, which includes income from the sale of inventory and properties, shares, services, royalties, interest, premiums and other items, but without including income from dividends.
- b. Profits or losses before the ISR for the declared tax year.
- c. ISR actually paid. This item corresponds to the ISR or corporate tax that the entity has caused and paid effectively in its tax jurisdiction of residence and in any other tax jurisdiction, including that related to withholdings by related parties and third parties. For these purposes, the ISR actually paid does not include the ISR that would have been covered by accreditations or reductions made under the terms of the tax provisions, except when the payment was made through compensation. For this purpose, compensation is understood as defined in Article 23 of the Tax Code of the Federation. When corporate taxes other than ISR are declared, the nature of the tax in question must be clarified in the additional information addendum.
- d. Amount of ISR accrued. This item corresponds to the ISR or corporate tax caused for tax purposes of the declared fiscal year. When corporate taxes other than ISR are declared, the nature of the tax in question must be clarified in the additional information addendum.
- e. Amount for accounting purposes of the accumulated profits or losses of prior fiscal years on the date of conclusion of the declared fiscal year. This amount does not include the amount for permanent establishments.
- f. Amount of capital stock or equity registered and paid at the end of the declared fiscal year. This corresponds to the amount of capital stock or equity reported by the end date of the fiscal year in the tax jurisdiction in question, therefore if there were changes such as increases, decreases, updates and net of any reserve, the last amount recorded at the end the declared fiscal year must be reported. This amount does not include the amount for permanent establishments.
- g. Number of employees in the declared fiscal year. This must include full-time employees. Independent contractors, i.e. self-employed persons, who participate in ordinary operational activities should be reported as employees. For this purpose, the number of employees can be declared at the end of the declared fiscal year, or, the value obtained from an annual average, which will be calculated by dividing the sum of the number of employees on the last day of each month of the fiscal year, by the number of months in the fiscal year. If other calculations are used to determine the annual average, the calculation utilised will be declared as part of the additional information.
- h. Material assets. These assets correspond to the sum of the net accounting values of inventory and fixed assets, without including cash, instruments equivalent to cash, intangibles, financial assets and net receivables. For these purposes, the net accounts receivable corresponds to the result of subtracting the estimate of uncollectible accounts from the accounts receivable.
- i. List of titles or corporate names of legal entities residing in each tax jurisdiction where the multinational enterprise group is present, including the identification of permanent establishments and indicating the principal business activities performed by each one, as requested in the corresponding form.
- j. All relevant additional information and its explanation, if necessary, of the source and integration of the data included in the Country-by-Country Information Declaration.

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Delft	Ruud van der Linde	+31 15 261 31 21
		ruud.van.der.linde@pkf.nl

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

Article 8b of the Corporation Tax Act 1969 (CTA 1969) was introduced in 2002 and is the domestic codification of Article 9 of the OECD-model convention. Article 8b CTA 1969 contains a general documentation requirement for all transactions between associated companies (both domestic and foreign companies) with respect to the applied Transfer Prices.

As of 1 January 2016 new standardised documentation requirements are included in the CTA 1969 (Articles 29b to 29h) for multinational enterprises (MNEs). These requirements are the implementation by the Dutch government of Action 13 of the OECD/G20-project Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS). These new documentation requirements include a master and Local File and a Country-by-Country Report (CbC Report).

1.2 Practical context

The new documentation requirements as of 1 January 2016 can lead to a significant administrative burden for MNEs. Although (mainly) MNEs are affected by the new TP-documentation requirements, the BEPS-project will likely have an effect for all taxpayers, since the focus of tax authorities will shift considerably towards Transfer Pricing. Practice learns that many taxpayers do not meet the minimum TP-requirements. It is therefore recommended for all taxpayers to take a rigorous look at theirs TP-documentation.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

Based on article 8b of the CTA 1969, a Dutch taxpayer that enters into transactions with an associated enterprise is required to have TP-documentation with respect to those transactions. The definition of an associated enterprise according to the article 8b of the CTA 1969 follows the wording of article 9 of the OECD-model convention.

The new documentation requirements as of 1 January 2016 with respect to the master and Local File apply to any MNE with a (corporation) tax presence in the Netherlands and which is part of a group of companies with an annual group turnover that exceed the minimum threshold of EUR 50 million. A MNE which is part of a group with a consolidated group revenue of more than EUR 750 million, requires a group parent to provide the Dutch tax inspector with a CbC Report.

The new documentation requirements will be applicable to financial years starting on or after 1 January 2016.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

The premise is that TP-documentation is required for each individual transaction with associated enterprises, but in practice this could lead to an unreasonable administrative burden. If a proper aggregation of transactions is possible, for example because there is a large number of similar transactions, the transactions can be jointly assessed. In that case it is expected from the taxpayer that he can substantiate that the used transfer prices with regard to the aggregation of transactions are at arm's length.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

The premise is that the TP-documentation based on article 8b of the CTA 1969 is available from the time the transaction is entered into by the taxpayer, whereby the documentation should be based upon information reasonably available at the time of the transaction. Thus, a taxpayer ordinarily should give consideration to whether its transfer pricing is appropriate for tax purposes, before the pricing is established and should confirm the arm's-length nature of its financial results at the time of filing its tax return.

If the TP-documentation is not available upon request of the tax authorities, a reasonable period (a minimum of 4 weeks - 3 months depending on the complexity of the case) is given to the taxpayer to deliver the requested documentation.

Netherlands

The master and Local File must be included in the records before the Dutch corporate income tax return is due (standard 6 months after the end of the fiscal year, but a longer period is possible). This means that the master and Local File for the fiscal year 2018 must be ready by 30 June 2019 at the earliest.

The MNE must provide the tax inspector the CbC Report within 12 months after the last day of the financial year of the MNE. For financial years ending 31 December 2018, the CbC Report should be provided before 31 December 2019.

2.4 Materiality

In principle all transactions with associated enterprises should be supported by TP-documentation. There are no formal thresholds below which no TP-documentation is required. However, in light of the basic principle that the administrative burden should be justified by the complexity and (tax) importance of the transaction, the more complex and material the transactions are, the more extensive the TP-documentation should be.

2.5 Retention of documents

A Dutch taxpayer is required to keep its administrative records for at least seven years. Since the TP-documentation is mandatory record required by a taxpayer, this seven-year period also applies to the TP-documentation. In certain cross border cases the tax authorities may impose an additional assessment within twelve years after the date on which the tax debt arose. It is therefore recommended to keep TP-documentation for twelve years.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

In practice the documentation requirements based on article 8b of the CTA 1969 should be updated every few years to account for normal business and market developments. A significant change in the facts and circumstances could also lead to an update of the documentation.

The Master File, Local File and CbC Report must be updated every year, because they relate to a particular fiscal year.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

There are two options based on which Dutch (corporate) taxpayers should disclose information about their Transfer Pricing. The first option is that Dutch (corporate) taxpayers should tick a box in their annual tax return if they have paid associated parties for the use of tangible or intangible assets. In addition, taxpayers should briefly specify these transactions in a separate appendix to the tax return. The second option requires selecting another field in the annual Dutch (corporate) tax return which should be selected if a taxpayer meets the relevant requirements. These requirements are that master and Local File documentation should be drafted. In the Dutch Local File, it should be clarified that the Dutch (corporate) taxpayer was involved in a reorganisation or transfer of intangible fixed assets (including goodwill) during the financial year for which the tax return is filled or the preceding year.

Regardless of the selection of either of the options above, a Dutch taxpayer is not required to disclose its TP-documentation as part of the tax return filing.

2.8 Burden of proof

If the taxpayer keeps appropriate TP-documentation on file and does not have an explicitly unreasonable and unsupported point of view with respect to the used transfer prices, the Dutch tax authorities must prove that the used transfer prices are not correct. If there is no TP-documentation available or there are evident shortcomings in the TP-documentation, the tax inspector could reverse the burden of proof to the taxpayer. Dutch Case law illustrates that it is difficult for a taxpayer to overcome the burden of proof.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

Dutch tax law does not provide penalties for the mere fact that TP documentation is not available and/or is not available in a timely manner. However, for Master Files and Local Files the law defines that the availability of those documents is the responsibility of the company. If the taxpayer is required to have a Master File and Local File, the tax authorities can under certain conditions impose penalties for not meeting this obligation up to an amount of EUR 8,200.

Ν

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

In case of a TP-adjustment the penalty can be up to 100% of the TP adjustment if the TP-adjustment is as a result of intentional non-compliance by the taxpayer with regards to the TP-documentation.

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

If a taxpayer does not comply to deliver the CbC Report, this is regarded as a criminal offence and is punishable with penalties up to EUR 8,300 (or imprisonment). If the taxpayer's non-compliance is intentional the penalties can be up to EUR 830,000 or imprisonment. The legislator has indicated that criminal prosecution is only reserved for the most serious cases.

2.10 Interest

In case of a TP-adjustment interest is due if the additional assessment is imposed after the 1 July following on from the year in question. The interest rate is 8.00% (2018). No interest is due on penalties.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

With regards to the benchmarking analysis, the OECD prefers to utilize the most reliable information available. In this regard the BEPS-report states the following *"The requirement to use the most reliable information will usually...require the use of local comparables over the use of regional."* (BEPS Action 13, p. 24-25). However, local comparables may not be sufficiently available, as a result regional comparables are allowed.

In case of the Netherlands, (Western) European comparables are generally accepted.

2.12 Languages

The law does not require the documentation based on article 8b CTA 1969 to be in a specific language, but the information in the documentation should be made readily available to the Dutch tax authorities. If the documentation is not written in Dutch/English, the tax inspector can ask for a translation. It is therefore recommended that the documentation is written in Dutch or English.

The Master and Local File and the CbC Report should be in Dutch or English.

2.13 Confidentiality

The Dutch tax authorities will treat the TP-documentation confidentially. The tax authorities can only exchange the TP-documentation with the tax authorities of another country if there is a legal basis. This legal basis can be found in the national law, a tax treaty or an EU-directive. The TP-documentation is never available to the public.

Please note however that the content of cross-border Advanced Pricing Agreements (i.e. TP rulings) can be exchanged proactively by the Dutch tax authorities without informing Dutch taxpayers.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

The Dutch TP-documentation standards are published in detail in the Regulation on additional transfer pricing documentation requirements. This regulation includes models for both the group's Master File as for each group member's Local File. These models are included in paragraph 3.1 and 3.2.

If a group turnover does not exceed EUR 50 million, the TP-documentation should include the following information:

- A description of the five comparability-factors of related party transactions;
- · An explanation of the selected transfer pricing methodology;
- A description of the related party transactions condition and determined pricing.

Since the Dutch authorities chose deliberately not to make an extensive list of requirements for this category of Dutch taxpayers, the Dutch taxpayer can contact the Dutch tax authorities to get a ruling on whether the drafted documentation meets the minimum TP-documentation requirements.

3.1 Master File

The following information should be included in the Master File:

1. Organisational structure

Chart illustrating the MNE's legal and ownership structure and geographical location of operating entities.

Netherlands

2. Description of MNE's business(es)

General written description of the MNE's business including:

- a) Important drivers of business profit.
- b) A description of the supply chain for the group's five largest products and/or service offerings by turnover plus any other products and/or services amounting to more than 5 percent of group turnover. The required description could take the form of a chart or a diagram.
- c) A list and brief description of important service arrangements between members of the MNE group, other than research and development (R&D) services, including a description of the capabilities of the principal locations providing important services and transfer pricing policies for allocating services costs and determining prices to be paid for intra-group services.
- d) A description of the main geographic markets for the group's products and services that are referred to under b.
- e) A brief written functional analysis describing the principal contributions to value creation by individual entities within the group, i.e. key functions performed, important risks assumed, and important assets used.
- A description of important business restructuring transactions, acquisitions and divestitures occurring during the fiscal year.

3. MNE's intangibles (as defined in Chapter VI of the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines)

- A general description of the MNE's overall strategy for the development, ownership and exploitation of intangibles, including location of principal R&D facilities and location of R&D management.
- b) A list of intangibles or groups of intangibles of the MNE group that are important for transfer pricing purposes and which entities legally own them.
- c) A list of important agreements among identified associated enterprises related to intangibles, including cost contribution arrangements, principal research service agreements and license agreements.
- d) A general description of the group's transfer pricing policies related to R&D and intangibles.
- e) A general description of any important transfers of interests in intangibles among associated enterprises during the fiscal year concerned, including the entities, countries, and compensation involved.

4. MNE's intercompany financial activities

- a) A general description of how the group is financed, including important financing arrangements with unrelated lenders.
- b) The identification of any members of the MNE group that provide a central financing function for the group, including the country under whose laws the entity is organised and the place of effective management of such entities.
- c) A general description of the MNE's general transfer pricing policies related to financing arrangements between associated enterprises.

5. MNE's financial and tax positions

- a) The MNE's annual consolidated financial statement for the fiscal year concerned if otherwise prepared for financial reporting, regulatory, internal management, tax or other purposes.
- b) A list and brief description of the MNE group's existing unilateral advance pricing agreements (APAs).

3.2 Local File

The following information should be included in the Local File:

1. Local entity

- a) A description of the management structure of the local entity, a local organisation chart, and a description of the individuals to whom local management reports and the country(ies) in which such individuals maintain their principal offices.
- b) A detailed description of the business and business strategy pursued by the local entity including an indication whether the local entity has been involved in or affected by business restructurings or intangibles transfers in the present or immediately past year and an explanation of those aspects of such transactions affecting the local entity.
- c) Key competitors.

Ν

2. Controlled transactions

For each material category of controlled transactions in which the entity is involved, provide the following information:

- a) A description of the material-controlled transactions (e.g. procurement of manufacturing services, purchase of goods, provision of services, loans, financial and performance guarantees, licenses of intangibles, etc.) and the context in which such transactions take place.
- b) The amount of intra-group payments and receipts for each category of controlled transactions involving the local entity (i.e. payments and receipts for products, services, royalties, interest, etc.) broken down by tax jurisdiction of the foreign payer or recipient.
- c) An identification of associated enterprises involved in each category of controlled transactions, and the relationship amongst them.
- d) Copies of all material intercompany agreements concluded by the local entity.
- e) A detailed comparability and functional analysis of the taxpayer and relevant associated enterprises with respect to each documented category of controlled transactions, including any changes compared to prior years.
- f) An indication of the most appropriate transfer pricing method with regards to the category of transaction and the reasons for selecting that method.
- g) An indication of which associated enterprise is selected as the tested party, if applicable, and an explanation of the reasons for this selection.
- h) A summary of the important assumptions made in applying the transfer pricing methodology.
- i) If relevant, an explanation of the reasons for performing a multi-year analysis.
- j) A list and description of selected comparable uncontrolled transactions (internal or external), if any, and information on relevant financial indicators for independent enterprises relied on in the transfer pricing analysis, including a description of the comparable search methodology and the source of such information.
- A description of any comparability adjustments performed, and an indication of whether adjustments have been made to the results of the tested party, the comparable uncontrolled transactions, or both.
- A description of the reasons for concluding that relevant transactions were priced on an arm's-length basis based on the application of the selected transfer pricing method.
- m) A summary of financial information used in applying the transfer pricing methodology.
- A copy of existing unilateral and bilateral/multilateral APAs and other tax rulings to which the local tax jurisdiction is not a party, and which are related to controlled transactions described above.

3. Financial information

- a) Annual local entity financial accounts for the fiscal year concerned. If audited statements exist they should be supplied and if not, existing unaudited statements should be supplied.
- b) Information and allocation schedules showing how the financial data used in applying the transfer pricing method may be tied to the annual financial statements.
- c) Summary schedules of relevant financial data for comparables used in the analysis and the sources from which that data was obtained.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

A MNE with a consolidated group revenue of more than EUR 750 million should provide the Dutch tax inspector with a CbC Report. The report contains the following information about the MNE:

- a. For each state in which the MNE is active, information about the revenue, the earnings before tax (EBT), the paid income tax, the accrued income tax, the stated capital, the accumulated earnings, the number of employees and the tangible assets other than cash and cash equivalents.
- b. A description of every group entity of the MNE mentioning the tax jurisdiction of residence, and if deviant, the state under whose law the group entity is established and the main business or operations of that group entity.

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

In principle, the country report is provided by the ultimate parent company of the MNE in its state of residence. The state of residence will exchange the country report automatically with the Dutch tax authorities. A Dutch ultimate parent company needs to provide the Dutch tax inspector with the country report. The Dutch tax

Netherlands

authorities will automatically exchange this report with the jurisdictions in which the MNE is active and with which the Netherlands has concluded an Agreement for automatic exchange of information.

The Dutch group entity is required to provide the Dutch tax inspector with the report if:

- 1) The foreign ultimate parent company is not required to provide the tax authorities a report in its state of residence.
- 2) The foreign ultimate parent company is required to provide the tax authorities a report in its state of residence, but there is no Agreement between that state and the Netherlands which provides for automatic exchange of the report.
- The Dutch tax inspector has informed the Dutch group entity there is a structural negligence of the state of residence of the ultimate parent company.

This requirement by the Dutch group entity can be prevented if the report is provided by a surrogate ultimate parent company, under the following conditions:

- 1) The surrogate ultimate parent company is required to provide the report in its state of residence.
- 2) There is an Agreement between that state and the Netherlands which provides for automatic exchange of report.
- 3) The state of residence of the surrogate ultimate parent company is not structural negligent in the exchange of the report.
- The surrogate ultimate parent company has notified its state of residence it will act as a surrogate ultimate parent company.
- The Dutch group entity has notified the Dutch tax inspector which foreign group company has taken over the requirement to provide the report.

In this way it is ensured that the Dutch tax inspector is provided with the report, either by a Dutch taxpayer or by the tax authorities of another state.

4.3 Deadlines

The country report needs to be prepared and filed no later than 12 months after the last day of the annual accounting period of the (surrogate) foreign ultimate parent company. Please note this filing deadline also applies if the annual accounting periods of the Dutch company and (surrogate) foreign ultimate parent company do not match.

A Dutch subsidiary company needs to notify the Dutch tax authorities which entity of the MNE will submit the country report on behalf of the MNE. This notification requirement applies to each entity (whilst all Dutch subsidiary companies of the same MNE can be included in one notification). The notification can be made through an online web form. The deadline for submission of the notification is the last day of the applicable financial year of the MNE. Non-compliance with the notification requirement can result in severe penalties. Reference is made to paragraph 2.10.3 above.

Ν

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Islamabad	Ejaz Hussain Rathore	+92 333 510 7905
		ejaz@pkf.com.pk
Karachi	Faheem Rauf	+92 21 3531 5175
		faheemrauf@pkf.com.pk
Lahore	Nouman Razaq Khan	+92 42 3750 3381
		nouman@pkf.com.pk
Multan	Muhammad Talib	+92 061 4510 242
		talib@pkf.com.pk
Peshawar	Zeeshan Ali	+92 091 5279 691
		zeeshan@pkf.com.pk
Sialkot	Zulfiqar Nasir	+92 052 4265 194
		zanasir@pkf.com.pk

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

Section 108 and 109 of the Income Tax Ordinance (ITO 2001) read with Rules 20-27 of Income Tax Rules 2002 (ITR 2002) were introduced and are the domestic codification of Article 9 of the OECD-model convention. It contains a general documentation requirement for all transactions between associated companies (both domestic and foreign companies) with respect to the applied Transfer Prices.

As of 1 July 2016 new standardised documentation requirements are included in the ITO 2001 (Section 108(3)) with complete detail in Draft rules promulgated on 5 June 2017 vide SRO 421(1)/2017. These requirements are the implementation by the Pakistan Government of Action 13 of the OECD/G20-project Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS). These new documentation requirements include a master and Local File and a Country-by-Country Report (CbC Report).

1.2 Practical context

The new documentation requirements can lead to a significant administrative burden for MNEs. Although (mainly) MNEs are affected by the new TP-documentation requirements, the BEPS-project will likely have an effect for all taxpayers, since the focus of tax authorities will shift more and more to Transfer Pricing. Practice learns that many taxpayers do not meet the minimum TP-requirements. It is therefore recommended for all taxpayers to take a critical look at their TP-documentation.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

Based on above legal provisions a Pakistani taxpayer that enters into transactions with an associated enterprises required to have TP-documentation with respect to those transactions. The definition of an associated enterprise in ITO 2001 follows the wording of article 9 of the OECD-model convention.

The new documentation requirements with respect to the Local File apply to transactions above PKR 50 million and constituent entity of MNE group with minimum turnover of one hundred million Rupees shall maintain Master File. A constituent entity of MNE group with consolidated group revenue of more than EUR 750 million or an equivalent amount in Pakistan Rupees (PKR) should also have to provide the Pakistani tax authorities with a CbC Report.

Ρ

Pakistan

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

The TP-documentation is required for each individual transaction with associated enterprises above minimum threshold 50 Million Rupees, which cannot be regarded as burden on the taxpayer, hence question of aggregation does not arise.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

The premise is that the TP-documentation is available from the time the transaction is entered into by the taxpayer, whereby the documentation should be based upon information reasonably available at the time of the transaction. Thus, a taxpayer ordinarily should give consideration to whether its transfer pricing is appropriate for tax purposes before the pricing is established and should confirm the arm's-length nature of its financial results at the time of filing its tax return.

The Local File must be available with Tax authorities any time after the due date of filling of Tax Return (standard 6 months after the end of the fiscal year).

The MNE group entity must provide the tax authorities the CbC Report within 12 months after the last day of the financial year of the MNE group.

2.4 Materiality

As mentioned before, all transactions above minimum threshold of PKR 50 million with associated enterprises should be supported by TP-documentation.

2.5 Retention of documents

A Pakistani taxpayer is required to keep its administrative records for at least six years. Since the TP-documentation is part of the records of a taxpayer, this six year period also applies to the TP-documentation.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

In practice the documentation requirements based on Section 108 and 109 of the Income Tax Ordinance (ITO 2001) read with Rules 20-27 of Income Tax Rules 2002 (ITR 2002) should be updated every few years to account for normal business and market developments. A significant change in the facts and circumstances could also lead to an update of the documentation.

The Master File, Local File and CbC Report must be updated every year, because they relate to a particular fiscal year.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

Pakistani (corporate) taxpayers should attach Financial Accounts when filing Income Tax Returns. The Financial Accounts disclose information regarding transactions with associated companies/persons. Hence, the taxpayer is not required to disclose its TP-documentation as part of the tax return filing.

2.8 Burden of proof

If the taxpayer keeps appropriate TP-documentation in its record and does not have an explicitly unreasonable and unsupported point of view with respect to the used transfer prices, the tax authorities must proof the used transfer prices are not correct.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

Failure to maintain or furnish documents by the taxpayer required to be maintained shall be subject to penalty or penalties under section 182 of the ITO 2001.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

In case of a TP-adjustment the penalty is provided under section 1.2of ITO 2001.

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

If a taxpayer does not comply to deliver the CbC Report, the penalty is provided under section 1.2of ITO 2001.

2.10 Interest

Default surcharge is 12% per annum.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

With regard to the benchmarking analysis to be made, the OECD prefers to use the most reliable information available. In this regard the BEPS-report states the following *"The requirement to use the most reliable information will usually...require the use of local comparables over the use of regional."* (BEPS Action 13, p. 24-25). However, local comparables may not be sufficiently available. If local comparables are insufficiently available, regional comparables are allowed.

2.12 Languages

The law does not require the documentation based on Section 108 and 109 of the Income Tax Ordinance (ITO 2001) read with Rules 20-27 of Income Tax Rules 2002 (ITR 2002) to be in a specific language, but the information in the documentation should be accessible to the tax authorities. If the documentation is not in English, the tax authorities can ask for a translation. In practice the tax authorities do not ask for a translation if the documentation is in English. So it is recommended that the documentation is in English.

The master and Local File and the CbC Report should be in English.

2.13 Confidentiality

The Pakistan tax authorities will treat the TP-documentation confidentially to the same extent that would apply if such information were provided to it under the provisions of the Multilateral Convention on Mutual Administrative Assistance in Tax Matters.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

The Pakistan TP-documentation standards (drafts) are published in detail in the *Regulation on additional transfer pricing documentation requirements*. This regulation includes models for both the group's Master File as for each group member's Local File. These models are included in paragraph 3.1 and 3.2.

3.1 Master File

The following information should be included in the Master File:

1. Organisational structure

Chart illustrating the MNE's legal and ownership structure and geographical location of operating entities.

2. Description of MNE's business(es)

General written description of the MNE's business including:

- a) Important drivers of business profit.
- b) A description of the supply chain for the group's five largest products and/ or service offerings by turnover plus any other products and/or services amounting to more than 5 percent of group turnover. The required description could take the form of a chart or a diagram.
- c) A list and brief description of important service arrangements between members of the MNE group, other than research and development (R&D) services, including a description of the capabilities of the principal locations providing important services and transfer pricing policies for allocating services costs and determining prices to be paid for intra-group services.
- d) A description of the main geographic markets for the group's products and services that are referred to under b.
- e) A brief written functional analysis describing the principal contributions to value creation by individual entities within the group, i.e. key functions performed, important risks assumed, and important assets used.
- A description of important business restructuring transactions, acquisitions and divestitures occurring during the fiscal year.

3. MNE's intangibles (as defined in Chapter VI of the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines)

- A general description of the MNE's overall strategy for the development, ownership and exploitation of intangibles, including location of principal R&D facilities and location of R&D management.
- b) A list of intangibles or groups of intangibles of the MNE group that are important for transfer pricing purposes and which entities legally own them.

Pakistan

- c) A list of important agreements among identified associated enterprises related to intangibles, including cost contribution arrangements, principal research service agreements and license agreements.
- d) A general description of the group's transfer pricing policies related to R&D and intangibles.
- e) A general description of any important transfers of interests in intangibles among associated enterprises during the fiscal year concerned, including the entities, countries, and compensation involved.

4. MNE's intercompany financial activities

- a) A general description of how the group is financed, including important financing arrangements with unrelated lenders.
- b) The identification of any members of the MNE group that provide a central financing function for the group, including the country under whose laws the entity is organised and the place of effective management of such entities.
- c) A general description of the MNE's general transfer pricing policies related to financing arrangements between associated enterprises.

5. MNE's financial and tax positions

a) The MNE's annual consolidated financial statement for the fiscal year concerned if otherwise prepared for financial reporting, regulatory, internal management, tax or other purposes.

3.2 Local File

The following information should be included in the Local File:

1. Local entity

- a) A description of the management structure of the local entity, a local organisation chart, and a description of the individuals to whom local management reports and the country(ies) in which such individuals maintain their principal offices.
- b) A detailed description of the business and business strategy pursued by the local entity including an indication whether the local entity has been involved in or affected by business restructurings or intangibles transfers in the present or immediately past year and an explanation of those aspects of such transactions affecting the local entity.
- c) Key competitors.

2. Controlled transactions

For each material category of controlled transactions in which the entity is involved, provide the following information:

- a) A description of the material controlled transactions (e.g. procurement of manufacturing services, purchase of goods, provision of services, loans, financial and performance guarantees, licenses of intangibles, etc.) and the context in which such transactions take place.
- b) The amount of intra-group payments and receipts for each category of controlled transactions involving the local entity (i.e. payments and receipts for products, services, royalties, interest, etc.) broken down by tax jurisdiction of the foreign payer or recipient.
- c) An identification of associated enterprises involved in each category of controlled transactions, and the relationship amongst them.
- d) Copies of all material intercompany agreements concluded by the local entity.
- e) A detailed comparability and functional analysis of the taxpayer and relevant associated enterprises with respect to each documented category of controlled transactions, including any changes compared to prior three years.
- f) An indication of the most appropriate transfer pricing method with regard to the category of transaction and the reasons for selecting that method.
- g) Detailed information on transfer pricing methods applied including comparable searches criteria, results of searches and application of transfer pricing method;
- Information regarding periodically updating and refreshing comparable searches and the period after which such comparable searches are updated and refreshed;
- List of all existing unilateral and bilateral or multilateral advance pricing agreements and copies thereof and other tax rulings to which Pakistan is not a party and which are related to controlled transactions described as aforesaid.

3. Financial information

- a) Annual local entity financial accounts for the fiscal year concerned. If audited statements exist they should be supplied and if not, existing unaudited statements should be supplied.
- b) Information and allocation schedules showing how the financial data used in applying the transfer pricing method may be tied to the annual financial statements.
- c) Summary schedules of relevant financial data for comparables used in the analysis and the sources from which that data was obtained.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

A resident MNE with consolidated group revenue of more than EUR 750 million or Pakistan Rupees equivalent should provide the Pakistan tax authorities with a CbC Report. The report contains the following information about the MNE:

- a. For each state in which the MNE is active, information about the revenue, the earnings before tax (EBT), the paid income tax, the accrued income tax, the stated capital, the accumulated earnings, the number of employees and the tangible assets other than cash and cash equivalents.
- b. A description of every group entity of the MNE mentioning the tax jurisdiction of residence, and if deviant, the state under whose law the group entity is established and the main business or operations of that group entity.

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

In principle, the country report is provided by the ultimate parent company of the MNE in its state of residence. The state of residence will exchange the country report automatically with the Pakistan tax authorities. A Pakistani ultimate parent company needs to provide the Pakistan tax authorities with the country report. The Pakistan tax authorities will automatically exchange this report with the jurisdictions in which the MNE is active and with which the Pakistan has concluded an Agreement for automatic exchange of information.

The Pakistan group entity is required to provide the Pakistan tax authorities with the report if:

- 1) The foreign ultimate parent company is not required to provide the tax authorities a report in its state of residence.
- 2) The foreign ultimate parent company is required to provide the tax authorities a report in its state of residence, but there is no Agreement between that state and the Pakistan which provides for automatic exchange of the report.
- The Pakistani tax authorities has informed the Pakistani group entity there is a structural negligence of the state of residence of the ultimate parent company.

This requirement by the Pakistan group entity can be prevented if the report is provided by a surrogate ultimate parent company, under the following conditions:

- 1) The surrogate ultimate parent company is required to provide the report in its state of residence.
- 2) There is an Agreement between that state and the Pakistan which provides for automatic exchange of report.
- The state of residence of the surrogate ultimate parent company is not structural negligent in the exchange of the report.
- The surrogate ultimate parent company has notified its state of residence it will act as a surrogate ultimate parent company.
- 5) The Pakistani group entity has notified the Pakistani tax authorities which foreign group company has taken over the requirement to provide the report.

In this way it is ensured that the Pakistani tax authorities is provided with the report, either by a Pakistani taxpayer or by the tax authorities of another state.

The MNE must provide the report within 12 months after the last day of the financial year of the MNE.

A subsidiary company needs to notify the Pakistani tax office which entity of the MNE will submit the country report on behalf of the MNE. This notification requirement applies to each entity.

Peru

PERU

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Lima	Emilio Vila Naranjo	+51 144 26 250
		emiliovila@pkfperu.com
Lima	Renato Vila Skrzypek	+51 142 16 250
		rvila@pkfperu.com
Lima	Pierre Moscoso Flores	+51 142 16 250
		pmoscoso@pkfperu.com
Lima	Julio Riva Gonzales	+51 630 8787
		jriva@pkfperu.com.pe
Lima	María García-Godos	+51 630 8787
		mgarciagodos@pkfperu.com.pe
Lima	Laura Oré Salazar	+51 630 8787
		lore@pkfperu.com.pe

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

The regulations related to transfer pricing are found in:

- Chapter V article 32°-A of the Income Tax Act (incorporated by article 22°, Legal Decree No. 945, 2003),
- Chapter XIX articles 108° to 119° of Income Tax Act Regulations (chapter incorporated by article 3°, Supreme Decree N° 190-2005-EF, 2005), and,
- Resolutions 014-2018 and 163-2018 issued by the National Superintendence of Tax Administration-SUNAT.

The main objective of the resolutions is to provide guidelines to taxpayers for determining the income tax market value for transactions between related parties (either international or domestic). The income tax market value should apply to transactions performed from, to or through low or nil tax jurisdictions (either international or domestic), and shall correspond to prices and the consideration that may have been agreed with or between independent parties in comparable transactions, in equal or similar conditions.

Where issues are not expressly regulated by the national legislation, the Transfer Pricing Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and Tax Administrations issued by the OECD in accordance with sub-section h) article 32°-A of the Income Tax Act provide further guidance.

Following the release of the OECD's Base Erosion and Profit Shifting ('BEPS') report, Legislative Decree 1312 modified the income tax law to incorporate action N° 13: Guidance on the Implementation of Transfer Pricing Documentation and Country-by-Country Reporting for fiscal year 2016.

1.2 Practical context

The new documentation requirements applicable from 1 January 2017 can impose a significant administrative burden for both national entities and 'MNEs'. Although MNEs are affected by the new TP documentation requirements, BEPS is likely to affect all taxpayers as the focus of the tax authorities shifts more and more to Transfer Pricing. Our experience shows that many taxpayers do not meet the minimum TP requirements. It is therefore recommended for all taxpayers to take a critical look at their TP documentation.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

A Peruvian taxpayer that enters into transactions with related parties is required to have TP documentation with respect to those transactions. The definition of related parties is in chapter 6, article 24 of the Peruvian Tax Regulation.

The new Local File documentation requirements, which come into effect from 1 January 2018, apply to any company that performs transactions with related parties or performed from, to or through low or nil tax jurisdictions with annual income of 2,300 UIT (Unidad Impositiva Tributaria = in English Annual Tax Unit; 1 UIT = approximately PEN 4,150.00) PEN 9.5 million soles (approximately USD 2.9 million).

Likewise, the new documentation requirements as of 1 January 2018 apply to any Peruvian or MNE which is part of an economic group, providing the Peruvian company has an annual income of 20,000 UIT: PEN 83 million soles (approximately USD 25.1 million).

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

In theory TP documentation is required for each individual transaction with associated enterprises, but in practice this could lead to an unreasonable administrative burden. If a proper aggregation of transactions is possible, for example, because there are a large number of similar transactions, the transactions can be jointly assessed. In this case it is expected that the taxpayer can substantiate the transfer pricing with regards to the aggregation of transactions being at an arm's-length price.

In addition, companies must undertake a test of benefit that separate: i) core business services and ii) low value-added services. The core business services must be analysed according to transfer pricing rules based on a comparison analysis, and for low value services the margin over the cost must not exceed 5%.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

The transfer pricing documentation for a fiscal year (January to December) must be completed by June of the following year. The exact submission date depends on the company ID number.

2.4 Materiality

The Peruvian documentation requirements have no explicit materiality levels. In practice, however, the fiscal authorities often limit their scope of investigation to business transactions with a material impact.

2.5 Retention of documents

In Peru, the required period to retain income tax documents is five years. Unfortunately, this rule does not apply for transfer pricing which does not have a specific expiration date.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

There is no explicit requirement on how often documentation should be updated.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

No disclosures are required in the tax return.

2.8 Burden of proof

If the taxpayer keeps appropriate TP documentation records and does not have an unreasonable and unsupported point of view with respect to the transfer prices used, the tax authorities must prove the transfer prices are not reasonable. If there is no TP documentation available or there are evident shortcomings in the documentation, the tax inspector could reverse the burden of proof to the taxpayer.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

The penalty for not submitting a Master File and Local File and/or not providing the supporting documentation if it is requested by the Tax Authority, is 0.6% of net income. However, each penalty will be not lower than PEN 415 soles or higher than PEN 103,750 soles (approximately USD 126 and USD 31,439 respectively).

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

A penalty will be levied of 50% of the tax omitted. However, if the fine is paid voluntarily before being detected by the tax administration, the fine would be reduced to 10% of the 50% of the tax omitted.

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

The penalty for not submitting a country by country report and/or not providing the supporting documentation if it is requested by the Tax Authority is 0.6% of net income. However, each penalty will be not lower than PEN 415 soles or higher than PEN 103,750 soles (approximately USD 126 and USD 31,439 respectively).

Peru

2.10 Interest

There are no specific rules on interest charged on subsequent TP tax payments.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

There are no specific requirements in Peru regarding the use of comparable data or whether only domestic or foreign comparables will be accepted by the fiscal authorities.

2.12 Languages

The TP documentation must be in Spanish.

2.13 Confidentiality

The Peruvian tax authorities will treat the TP documentation confidentially. The tax authorities can only exchange the TP documentation with the tax authorities of another country if there is a legal basis. This legal basis can be found in the national law or a tax treaty. The TP documentation is never available to the public.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

3.1 Master File

3.1.1 Organisational structure

An organisational chart that illustrates the legal organisational structure and ownership of the capital of the members of the group as well as their geographical location and jurisdiction of their domicile or residence and the denomination of the group.

3.1.2 Description of MNE's business(es)

- (i) The main drivers of corporate profits.
- (ii) A description of the supply chain of the five (5) main products and/or services of the group in terms of revenues, as well as any other products or services that represent more than five percent (5%) of the consolidated revenues of the group. The required description may be submitted in the form of a graphic or diagram.
- (iii) A list and brief description of significant service agreements between members of the group, other than research and development (R&D) services, including a description of the capabilities of the main centres providing significant services and the transfer pricing policies used to allocate costs of services and determine the prices to be paid for them.
- (iv) A description of the main geographic markets where the products and/or services of the group mentioned in section (ii) are commercialised.
- (v) Functional analysis setting out the main contributions to value creation by each of the members of the group, i.e., the functions performed, the substantial risks assumed and the significant assets used.
- (vi) A description of the main corporate restructuring transactions, acquisitions and withdrawals of invested capital that have taken place during the financial year to which the informative affidavit Master Report corresponds.

3.1.3 MNE's intangibles (as defined in Chapter VI of the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines)

- (i) A general description of the group's overall strategy for the development, ownership and exploitation of intangibles, including the location of the main research and development (R&D) centres, as well as the direction and management of research and development (R&D).
- (ii) A list of the group's intangibles or sets of intangibles that are significant for transfer pricing purposes and of the persons, companies or entities that are their legal owners.
- (iii) A list of significant agreements on intangibles entered into by persons, companies or related entities, including cost-sharing agreements, principal research service agreements and the agreements on licenses for the use of intangibles.
- (iv) A general description of the group's transfer pricing policies in relation to research and development (R&D) and intangibles.
- (v) A general description of the relevant transfers of intangible rights made between persons, companies or related entities during the financial year to which the informative affidavit Master Report corresponds, with indication of the corresponding remunerations, the persons, companies or entities involved and their jurisdiction of domicile or residence.

3.1.4 MNE's intercompany financial activities

- (i) A general description of how the group obtains funding, including significant funding agreements entered with independent parties.
- (ii) Identification of the members of the group who perform a centralised financing role, indicating the country
 of incorporation and the effective location of management of the group.
- (iii) A general description of the group's transfer pricing policies regarding financing agreements between related parties.

3.1.5 MNE's financial and tax positions

- (i) The group's consolidated annual financial statements corresponding to the period for which the informative affidavit Master Report is submitted, if they have been prepared for financial, regulatory, internal management, tax or other purposes.
- (ii) A list and description of the anticipated price agreements of the members of the group.

3.2. Local File

3.2.1 Local entity

- (i) A description of the organisational structure.
- (ii) A chart of the organisation.
- (iii) Identification of the people on whom the management and administration of the taxpayer hierarchically depend and identification of the countries in which these people have their main offices.
- (iv) A detailed description of the lines, activities and business strategies of the taxpayer, indicating whether the taxpayer has been a party to or affected by business restructuring processes or the assignment of intangibles in the year for which the informative affidavit Local Report is submitted and/or in the previous year, as well as an explanation of how the restructuring and/or assignment has affected the taxpayer.
- (v) Identification of the main competitors.

3.2.2 Controlled transactions

- (i) A description of the transactions carried out, such as the acquisition of manufacturing services, purchase of goods, provision of services, loans, guarantees and licenses of intangible assets, indicating the agreements or contracts governing such transactions, the obligations and rights arising therefore and the context in which they were carried out.
- (ii) Information relating to the test of profit, the value of the consideration and, if applicable, the reasons why they do not qualify as low value added, in the case of services.
- (iii) The amounts of the transactions carried out in their original and recording currency, as well as the amounts paid and collected.
- (iv) Identification of the counterparts in the transactions and, if applicable, of the third parties involved in these.
- (v) Detailed functional analysis, that is, the functions performed, the substantial risks assumed and the significant assets used; and comparability analysis with respect to the taxpayer and its counterparties, for each one of the transactions performed.
- (vi) Identification of the most appropriate transfer pricing method applied for the analysis of each transaction and the reasons for the selection of such method, specifying why this method is the most appropriate to reflect the economic reality of the transaction; as well as information on the calculations and data derived from the application of the applied method.
- (vii) Identification of the related party selected as the party examined and an explanation of the reasons for its choice.
- (viii)A summary of the substantial hypotheses adopted for the application of the transfer pricing methodology.
- (ix) Basis to perform a multi-year analysis, if applicable.
- (x) A list and description of comparable transactions (internal or external), if any, information on financial indicators for independent companies that have served as the basis for the transfer pricing analysis, as well as a description of the methodology for the search for comparables and the sources from which the information is derived.

Peru

- (xi) A description of the comparability adjustments carried out, indicating whether such adjustments were applied to the comparable transactions, to the characteristics of the parties that perform the transactions and/or to the functions they perform.
- (xii) An explanation of the reasons why it is concluded that the amount of the transactions is the amount that would have been used by independent parties under the same or similar conditions, according to the chosen transfer pricing method.
- (xiii)A summary of the financial information used in the application of the transfer pricing methodology.

(xiv)A copy of the anticipated price agreements related to the transactions under analysis.

3.2.3 Financial information

- (i) Annual financial statements of the taxpayer, corresponding to the fiscal year for which the informative affidavit Local Report is presented. If audited financial statements exist, they must be submitted; otherwise, unaudited financial statements will be submitted.
- (ii) Working papers that demonstrate how the financial data used to apply the transfer pricing method are related with the annual financial statements.
- (iii) Summarised appendices of the financial information of the comparables used in the analysis and the source from which they come.

The informative affidavit Local Report submitted by taxpayers who carry out transactions from, to or through countries or territories of low or null taxation must contain the minimum information indicated above.

Where the taxpayer is also obliged to submit the informative affidavit Master Report and it contains part of the information referred to in this paragraph, it shall be sufficient to refer to such affidavit, specifying which information is contained.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

General information relating to the amount of revenues, losses or profits (before taxes), income tax paid and earned, declared capital, undistributed earnings, number of employees and tangible assets other than cash or cash equivalents, in relation to each jurisdiction in which the multinational group operates.

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

Identification of each member of the multinational group, indicating the jurisdiction of the domicile or residence of each one of them and the jurisdiction according to whose legislation has been constituted, in case it is different from the jurisdiction of the domicile or residence, as well as the nature of the activity or main economic activities that they perform.

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Warsaw	Agnieszka Chamera	+48 22 560 76 50
		agnieszka.chamera@pkfpolska.pl

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

Transfer pricing is regulated in Poland by the following acts:

Regarding legal persons (CIT) it is the Act of 15 February 1992 on corporate income tax (consolidated text, Journal of laws of 2018, item 1036, as amended) with its newly introduced Chapter 1a (Articles 11a-11t). Documentation obligation is laid down in Division 3 (Articles 11k-11t).

Detailed provisions are presented in the regulations:

The Regulation of the Minister of Finance of 21 December 2018 on transfer pricing in the field of corporate income tax regulates:

- the manner and procedure for assessing the marketability of conducted transactions;
- determination of the taxpayer's income (loss) as a result of requalification.

The Regulation of the Minister of Finance of 21 December 2018 regarding the manner and procedure for eliminating double taxation in the case of the adjustment of profits of related entities in the field of corporate income tax determines the manner and procedure for eliminating double taxation of profits of related entities.

The Regulation of the Minister of Finance of 21 December 2018 on transfer pricing documentation in the field of corporate income tax determines a detailed scope of elements of local and group transfer pricing documentation.

The Regulation of the Minister of Finance of 17 May 2017 determining the countries and territories applying harmful tax competition in the field of corporate income tax regulates the catalogue of the list of countries and territories using harmful tax competition (a list of the so-called "tax havens").

The regulation of the Minister of Finance of 21 December 2018 regarding information on transfer prices in the scope of corporate income tax determines information and the manner of their presentation by the taxpayer to the Head of the National Revenue Administration.

Regarding natural persons (PIT), the subject of transfer pricing is regulated by the Act of 26 July 1991 on personal income tax (consolidated text, Journal of laws of 2018, item 1509, as amended) with the newly introduced Chapter 4b (Articles 23m-23zf). Documentation obligations are laid down in Division 3 (Articles 23w-23f).

Detailed provisions are presented in the regulations:

The Regulation of the Minister of Finance of 21 December 2018 on transfer pricing in the field of personal income tax regulates:

- the manner and procedure for assessing the marketability of conducted transactions;
- determination of the taxpayer's income (loss) as a result of requalification.

The Regulation of the Minister of Finance of 21 December 2018 regarding the manner and procedure for eliminating double taxation in the case of the adjustment of profits of related entities in the field of personal income tax determines the manner and procedure for eliminating double taxation of profits of related entities.

The Regulation of the Minister of Finance of 21 December 2018 on transfer pricing documentation in the field of personal income tax determines a detailed scope of elements of local and group transfer pricing documentation.

The Regulation of the Minister of Finance of 17 May 2017 determining the countries and territories applying harmful tax competition in the field of personal income tax regulates the catalogue of the list of countries and territories using harmful tax competition (a list of the so-called "tax havens").

The regulation of the Minister of Finance of 21 December 2018 regarding information on transfer prices in the scope of personal income tax determines information and the manner of their presentation provided by the taxpayer to the Head of the National Revenue Administration.

It will be supplemented after the new tax act is signed by the president.

Poland

1.2 Practical context

In practice, apart from legal acts, when documenting transfer pricing, it is also important to take into account abundant case-law and interpretations of regulations issued by tax authorities. The OECD indications are also important.

Another issue arises from the unstable legislation in this area. This part of the study presents legal regulations regarding transfer pricing, which were shaped by a significant amendment to the tax law. Although it comes into force at the beginning of 2019, its provisions on transfer pricing may be used (except for exemptions) for transactions carried out in 2018.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

The new regulations do not provide for the obligation to prepare a transfer pricing documentation by the taxpayer based on the revenues and costs achieved in the previous year. Related entities that have agreed transfer pricing between themselves are obliged to prepare local transfer pricing documentation for the fiscal year.

"Related entities" should be understood as:

- a) entities, one of which exerts a significant influence on at least one of the other entities, or
- b) entities that are significantly affected by:
 - the same other entity, or
 - a spouse, relative or a second degree relative of a natural person exercising significant influence over at least one entity, or
- c) a company without legal personality and its partners, or
- d) the taxpayer and their foreign facility.

Transfer pricing is understood to be the financial result of the conditions determined or imposed as a result of the existing links, including the price, remuneration, financial result or ratio.

The obligation to prepare local transfer pricing documentation applies to taxpayers:

- 1. who directly or indirectly make payment in favour of an entity having its place of residence, registered office or central management in a territory or country applying harmful tax competition, or
- who conclude the articles of association not being a legal person with an entity who is and has its place of residence, registered office or central management in the territory or a country applying harmful tax competition; a joint venture agreement or other agreement of a similar nature.

Related entities who are consolidated using the full or proportional method, are required to attach to the local transfer pricing documentation also group transfer pricing documentation prepared for the financial year, if they belong to a group of related entities:

- 1. for whom consolidated financial statements are prepared;
- 2. whose consolidated income exceeded PLN 200,000,000 or its equivalent in the previous financial year.

The obligation to prepare local transfer pricing documentation does not apply mainly to controlled transactions concluded only by related entities having their place of residence, registered office or central management in the territory of the Republic of Poland, if each of these related entities jointly meets the following conditions in a fiscal year:

- a) not benefiting from certain exemptions from tax;
- b) not suffering a tax loss.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

The new regulations refer to the homogeneity of transactions. The documentary thresholds described in point 2.4 are set separately for:

- every controlled transaction of a homogeneous nature, regardless of the assignment of a controlled transaction to commodity, financial, service or other transactions;
- 2) cost and profit.

The value of a controlled transaction of a homogeneous nature is determined irrespective of the number of accounting documents, payments made or received and related entities with whom the controlled transaction is concluded.

Ρ

Ρ

When assessing whether a controlled transaction is homogeneous, the following factors are taken into account:

- 1) uniformity of the controlled transaction in economic terms;
- 2) the following comparability criteria:
 - a) characteristics of goods, services or other benefits;
 - b) course of the transaction, including the functions performed by entities in the transactions being compared, taking into account the assets, human capital and risk involved, and the ability of the parties to the transaction to perform a given function or incur a risk;
 - c) the terms of the transaction specified in the contract, agreement or other proof documenting these conditions;
 - d) economic conditions occurring at the time and place where the transaction was made;
 - e) economic strategy;
- 3) transfer pricing verification methods;
- 4) other important facts and circumstances of the controlled transaction.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

As part of the proposed changes, the deadline for submission of local transfer pricing documentation by related entities obliged to prepare it, was determined at the end of the ninth month after the end of the fiscal year. During the same period, these entities are obliged to submit to tax offices a statement on the preparation of documentation in electronic form, as well as provide the Head of the National Revenue Administration with transfer pricing information for the fiscal year.

In case of group documentation, the deadline for its inclusion in the local documentation expires at the end of the twelfth month after the end of the fiscal year.

After the abovementioned deadlines, taxpayers are obliged, at the authorities' call, submit tax documentation (local or group) within 7 days of the date of being served with the call.

The tax authority may also request a taxpayer (not being a micro-entrepreneur) to prepare and submit local transfer pricing documentation that does not include comparative analysis or compliance analysis for controlled transactions indicated by the authority, if there are circumstances indicating the probability of understating their value. The request should indicate circumstances indicating the probability of understating the transaction or other events. The taxpayer is then obliged to prepare and submit tax documentation within 30 days from the date of delivery of such a request.

2.4 Materiality

Local transfer pricing documentation is prepared for transactions whose value, reduced by VAT, exceeds the following documentary thresholds in the fiscal year:

- PLN 10,000,000 in case of a commodity transaction;
- PLN 10,000,000 in case of a financial transaction;
- PLN 2,000,000 in case of a service transaction;
- PLN 2,000,000 in case of other transactions.

Transactions with so-called tax havens also have to be documented:

- Transactions leading to concluding the articles of association of company not being a legal person, or a joint venture or similar agreement in which the aggregate contributions of shareholders exceeded PLN 100,000.
- Making payment in favour of an entity having its place of residence, registered office or central
 management in a territory or country applying harmful tax competition, if the total amount of benefits due
 in this year resulting from the agreement or actually paid in the fiscal year exceeds PLN 100,000.

2.5 Retention of documents

Transfer pricing documentation should be kept until the tax liability resulting from the transaction has expired. As a rule, this period is 5 years from the end of the calendar year in which the tax payment deadline has expired. If the tax loss is settled in subsequent tax years, the limitation period is 5 years from the end of the year in which the loss was deducted the last time.

Poland

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

According to Art. 9a (2g) of the CIT Act, transfer pricing documentation regarding transactions or other events continued in the following tax year, is subject to periodic review and update, at least once a tax year, before the deadline set for filing a tax return for subsequent years.

A benchmarking study update must be carried out at least once every three years, unless a change in economic conditions is significantly affecting comparative data used in the benchmarking study. In such cases the taxpayer should update benchmarking study in year when change has occurred.

Abovementioned updates are obligatory. The legal basis is Art. 9a (2h) of the CIT Act.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

Taxpayers are not obliged to attach TP-documentation as tax return disclosures but the tax authority will probably require the TP-documentation in case of tax inspection. A taxpayer is required to file an annual transfer pricing disclosure TP-R. TP-R summarises a taxpayer's transactions with related parties.

2.8 Burden of proof

Generally, the burden of proof lies with Tax Authority. Tax Authority has to prove that the controlled transactions are not in compliance with the arm's-length principle. If the documentation is uncomplete, incorrect or has not been prepared at all, then Tax Authority has the right to estimate correct remuneration in controlled transaction. In such case burden of proof lies with taxpayer who has right to prove that Tax Authority estimation is not correct.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

In case of a person who is directly obliged to prepare tax documentation on behalf of the company or to submit on its behalf a statement on the preparation of complete tax documentation, the basis of their legal liability may be the Penal and Fiscal Code (hereafter: K.K.S.). The following provisions may be applied: article 80 of K.K.S., article 56 of K.K.S. and art. 83 of K.K.S.:

- Art. 80 concerns not preparing and not providing tax documentation or preparing incomplete
 documentation. The maximum amount of the fine is over PLN 6 million,
- Art. 56 applies to taxpayers who submit to the tax authority declaration or statement which contains false data. This offence could also punished by imprisonment. The maximum amount of the fine is over PLN 20 million,
- Art. 83 states that anyone who will restrict or impede work of person authorised to carry out verification
 activities, tax control, and in particular who contrary to the request of that person, will not present documents
 relating to the business the penalty is a fine. The maximum amount of the fine is over PLN 20 million,

Criminal responsibility - according to art. 296 of the Penal Code, an act that is causing damage to the economy is punishable. This crime is punishable by imprisonment of up to 10 years;

Civil responsibility - people with overall responsibility for company liabilities (in case of capital companies, members of Management Board) are also responsible for meeting the transfer pricing obligations by the taxpayer. Regulations regarding the liability of members of the management board of a limited liability company arise from art. 299 § 1 of the Code of Commercial Companies.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

The additional tax liability in the transfer pricing terms, is to amount to 10% of the amount of unduly proved or overstated tax loss and not shown in whole or in part of the taxable income to the extent resulting from the decision.

There is also the possibility of doubling the sanction rate (20%) if the basis for determining additional tax liability exceeds PLN 15 million (in excess of this amount) or the taxpayer fails to submit tax documentation and even tripling (30%) if the amount exceeds PLN 15 million and the taxpayer will not submit transfer pricing documentation for a given transaction (unless it is supplemented by the date indicated by the tax authority, not longer than 14 days).

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

Same provisions as point 2.9.1 may apply in case of CbC-reporting. Additionally tax regulations provide fines for failure to fulfil the aforementioned obligations (maximum amount: PLN 1 million).

2.10 Interest

Interest is normally charged on tax underpaid and is calculated from the day on which the tax was originally due at a rate of 8%.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

Benchmarking study should include comparative data about entities having their registered office or board located in Poland, if the data is available to the taxpayer. In the absence of sufficient data, the taxpayer should prepare analyse of compliance of the conditions in controlled transaction with conditions that would be established between independent entities. The legal basis is Art. 9a (2c) of the CIT Act.

2.12 Languages

In the case of tax audit, the taxpayer is obliged to present, upon the Tax authority request, a translation into Polish of documentation prepared in a foreign language. This obligation results from art. 287 § 2 of the Tax Ordinance Act.

2.13 Confidentiality

Tax administration staff members are bound by Article 293 of the Tax Ordinance Act to treat all matters concerning tax administration as confidential and so transfer pricing documentation is also covered by tax secrecy provisions.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

3.1 Master File

Group documentation should include information about a group of related entities to which the taxpayer belongs.

Group documentation includes the following elements:

- a) description of the group;
- b) description of significant intangible assets of this group;
- c) description of significant financial transactions of this group;
- d) financial and tax information of this group.

1. Organisational structure

The organisational structure is part of the group's description. The organisational structure should be presented as a description or outline of the ownership structure of the capital group, along with providing the names and place of residence or central management of the entities.

2. Description of MNE's business(es)

This point includes a description of the subject and scope of activities carried out by the capital group, including:

- a) description of the key success factors determining the competitive advantage and development opportunities of the capital group;
- b) description or structure of the value chain for the five most significant, in terms of income, groups of products or services, and such product or service groups the revenues of which constitute more than 5% of consolidated revenues of the group, with the indication of the main geographic markets for these product or service groups;
- c) description and a brief outline of significant intra-group agreements or arrangements for services other than R&D services, including, in particular, a description of the ability of the main service providers to provide significant intra-group services, and information on group transfer pricing policies concerning the allocation of intra-group services and pricing principles for these services;
- brief description of the functional analysis presenting the significant share of related entities in creating the value of the group, including key functions performed by these entities as well as their key risks and assets involved;
- e) information on significant restructuring transactions and transactions related to ownership changes, including takeovers, mergers, liquidations, carried out in the reporting fiscal year of the group.

Poland

3. MNE's intangibles (as defined in Chapter VI of the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines)

This point includes:

- a) general description of the capital group's strategy regarding the creation, development, ownership and use of significant intangible assets along with information on the location of key research and development centres and the location of centres managing research and development functions,
- b) list of intangible assets or their groups, important from the point of view of transfer pricing together with an indication of entities holding legal titles to these values,
- c) list of significant agreements or arrangements between entities in the capital group regarding intangible assets, including cost sharing agreements, research and development and licensing agreements,
- d) description of the transfer pricing policy of the capital group in the area of research and development and intangible assets,
- e) general description of significant changes in the scope of control, ownership and use of intangible assets, together with an indication of the entities involved, their registered office or central management, and the remuneration or compensation paid in this respect.

4. MNE's intercompany financial activities

This point includes:

- a) general description of the method of financing the business activities of the capital group, including information about significant financing agreements concluded with unrelated entities,
- b) indication of entities performing functions in the field of central financing within a capital group, with an indication of their registered office and place of effective management,
- c) general description of the transfer pricing policy regarding financing between related entities.

5. MNE's financial and tax positions

This point includes:

- a) annual consolidated financial statement of a capital group,
- b) list and brief description of the group's existing unilateral advance pricing agreements and other tax rulings relating to the allocation of income among countries.

3.2 Local File

The core of local documentation is the description of transactions or other events, including agreements on cash liquidity management services, cost sharing agreements that are made between the taxpayer, and an indication of the type and subject of these transactions or other events. The documentation also includes the data indicated below.

1. Local entity

Information about a related entity include a description of:

- a) description or scheme of the organisational structure of the related entity, including a list of organisational units and the number of people assigned to these units;
- b) description of the management structure of a related entity in relation to a group of related entities, including an indication of the entity, entities or decision centres to which the results are reported or which actually participate in the decision-making process by related entities;
- c) description of the core activity of the related entity, including:
 - the subject of the business activity,
 - indication of geographical markets on which the related entity operates,
 - description of the industry and the market environment in which the entity operates, with an indication of the impact of economic and regulatory conditions and an indication of key competitors,
 - description of the economic strategy,
 - information on transfers of economically significant functions, assets or risks affecting the related entity, carried out in the financial year or the year preceding the financial year.

136

2. Controlled transactions

The description of transactions, including functions, risks and assets, should include:

- a) the subject and type of transaction, including the indication of relationships with other transactions;
- b) information about related entities involved in a controlled transaction, including their name and registered office or central management, tax identification number, and an indication of the subject of their core business, along with information on the type of links referred to in art. 11 (1) (5) of the Act, in the financial year;
- c) functional analysis of the parties to the transaction, including significant changes compared to the previous financial year, including the description of:
 - functions performed by parties,
 - assets invested,
 - risks incurred, including the ability to bear risk;
- d) the method of calculation of transfer price, along with the adopted assumptions;
- e) the value of transactions in the financial year, broken down into counterparties, resulting from:
 - invoices or contracts received or issued, or other documents, if invoices are not issued, and
 - payments received or forwarded;
- f) agreements, intra-group agreements or other documents regarding transactions;
- g) agreements or tax interpretations regarding transfer pricing concluded with or issued by tax administrations of countries other than the Republic of Poland, in particular prior pricing agreements;
- h) transfer pricing analysis including:
 - analysis of data of unrelated entities, transactions concluded with unrelated parties or between unrelated parties recognised as comparable to the conditions established in controlled transactions, hereinafter referred to as "comparative analysis", or
 - analysis demonstrating compliance of the conditions under which the controlled transaction
 was concluded with conditions that would be set by unrelated entities, hereinafter referred to as
 "compliance analysis" where comparative analysis is not appropriate in the light of a given transfer
 pricing method or it is not possible to maintain due diligence.

3. Financial information

The description of financial data includes:

- a) approved financial statements for the financial year, if a related entity was obliged to prepare it on the basis of accounting regulations,
- b) description allowing the assignment of financial data concerning a controlled transaction to the items of the financial statements referred to in point a, or other information contained therein.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

Country-by-country reporting is understood as a presentation of information on entities within the group concerning their activities in individual countries.

The threshold that, if exceeded, creates the obligation to prepare the CbC Report, consists of consolidated revenues of the group, and amounts to EUR 750 million.

The detailed scope of reported information is specified in the Regulation of the Minister of Development and Finance of 13 June 2017 on the detailed scope of data to be included in the information about a group of entities and the manner of its fulfilment (Journal of Laws of 2017, item 1176). The required information includes:

- a) indication of the period covered by the information on a group of entities;
- b) name of the group of entities;
- c) identification data of entities included in the group of entities, including name, address, registered office, tax identification number;
- d) information on the main types of business activities of entities included in the group of entities, broken down by their functions;

Poland

- e) data, as reported by the State, regarding the activities carried out by entities comprising a group of entities including, among others, earned revenues, paid income tax, number of employees;
- f) information on reported data sources and other additional information helpful in the interpretation of data.

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

Submission of notifications is regulated by the Act on the Tax Information Exchange with Other Countries (Journal of Laws of 2017, item 648, as amended).

An entity belonging to a group of entities whose consolidated revenues exceeded the threshold of EUR 750 million in the previous fiscal year and which has its registered office or central management in Poland or abroad, but conducts activities on its territory by a foreign undertaking, and submits a notification, that:

- is a parent company, designated by this company or other company, which the state does not pass tax information on to the Polish tax authorities;
- 2) indicates the reporting unit and the state or territory in which information about a group of entities will be provided at the latest on the last day of the reporting financial year of a given group of entities.

Notification is made on the CbC-P Form (1) - NOTIFICATION IN THE SCOPE OF DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON THE GROUP OF ENTITIES. This notification can be submitted in writing or electronically.

If the parent company comprising a group of entities with consolidated revenues exceeding EUR 750 million has its registered office or central management on the territory of Poland, it shall submit, within 12 months starting from the end of the reporting financial year, information on the group of entities drawn up on the basis of the electronic document template. The template in question is a CbC-R form (1) INFORMATION ON THE ENTITY GROUP. This notification can only be submitted electronically, using the ePUAP platform.

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Lisbon	José Parada Ramos	+351 213 182 720
		paradaramos@pkf.pt

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

For fiscal years starting on or after 1 January 2002, Portugal has implemented detailed transfer pricing (TP) legislation that broadly follows the OECD guidelines.

Article 63 of the Corporate Income Tax (CIT) Code, complemented by the Regulatory Order 1446 C/2001, published in 2001 and producing effects as from 2002, are the domestic codification of Article 9 of the OECD model convention. Such legislation contains specific documentation requirements for all transactions between associated companies (both domestic and foreign companies) with respect to the applied Transfer Prices.

Details on APA procedure, setting out the APA submission requirements, process and fees, was implemented by Ministerial Order 620-A/2008 on 16 July 2008 and is currently foreseen in Article 138 of the CIT.

In 2016 article 121-A and 121-B were introduced in the CIT code, imposing the implementation of the Country by Country (CbC) report, in the context of Action 13 of the OECD/G20-project Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS).

1.2 Practical context

Since 2002, companies whose annual turnover and other operational income in the preceding year exceeded EUR 3 million are required to produce and keep contemporaneous documentation with detailed information, namely: (i) disclosure of transactions with related parties as well as the associated amounts; (ii) copy of contracts; (iii) group transfer pricing policies; (iv) functional and economic analysis. This documentation must be prepared by the 15th day of the 7th month after the end of a fiscal period.

Taxpayers are required to confirm in their Annual Tax Return (IES) whether the TP documentation has been duly prepared and the methods used to test transfer prices. The previously stated deadline also applies for the submission of IES.

A CbC Report must be submitted by the end of the 12th month after the end of the fiscal year it refers to, and its submission applies to fiscal years starting on or after 1 January 2016. Moreover, each member company of a multinational group must identify, by filing the adequate form, the reporting entity of the group by the end of the 5th month following the fiscal year-end.

As a general practice, the TP documentation is normally subcontracted to a professional external consultancy firm and the economic analysis normally requires the use of a proper database.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

Companies whose turnover in the previous fiscal year exceeds EUR 3 million must prepare TP Documentation with the requirements mentioned in point 3 below.

Additionally, all companies that enter into transactions with related entities, even if not obliged to prepare TP Documentation, must fill out additional information as part of their Annual Tax Return.

The CbC Report is required for resident companies in the following circumstances:

- A company holding or controlling one or more entities in overseas jurisdictions and are required to
 prepare consolidated accounts, when the consolidated turnover exceeds EUR 750 million, except if held
 by an entity that present itself such a report;
- A company held or controlled by one or more overseas entities that are not required to comply with such
 obligations in their jurisdictions, but would be required to do so should they be resident in Portugal.

Furthermore, a company resident in Portugal that is part of a group that includes an entity obliged to file a CbC Report is required to submit an electronic form with the identification of the CbC reporting entity and its country.
Portugal

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

The premise is that TP documentation is required for each individual transaction undertaken with associated companies, but in practice this could lead to an unreasonable administrative burden, or will not be possible, as the information on comparable operations does not exist or when such information is not sufficient. If a proper aggregation of transactions is possible, for example because there is a large number of similar transactions, the transactions may be jointly assessed.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

Documentation should be prepared contemporaneously and the statutory deadline to have the TP documentation ready is by the 15th day of the 7th month following the fiscal year-end. Delivery of documentation is only mandatory upon request by the Tax Authorities. Tax authorities usually give 10 days' notice for documentation submission.

A CbC Report must be submitted by the end of the 12th month after the end of the fiscal year it refers to, and its submission applies to fiscal years starting on or after 1 January 2016. CbC Report notification is due by the end of the fifth month following the fiscal year-end.

2.4 Materiality

In principle all transactions with associated enterprises should be supported by TP documentation. There are no formal thresholds below which the TP documentation is required. However, in light of the basic principle that the administrative burden should be justified by the complexity and (tax) importance of the transaction, the more complex and material the transactions are, the more extensive the TP documentation should be.

2.5 Retention of documents

The taxpayer is expected to maintain the TP documentation for a period of ten years.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

Taxpayers are expected to prepare/update annually their TP documentation, as long as their annual net sales and other operating revenue exceeds EUR 3 million.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

The main disclosure requirements at TP level are contained in annexes A and H of the Annual Tax Return where the following information must be stated:

- · Amount of transactions conducted with each of the related parties;
- Confirmation that the annual TP documentation has been prepared on a timely basis and is currently retained by the Company.

The deadline for the submission of this return is the 15th day of the seventh month after the corresponding fiscal year-end. Taxpayers must state, in good faith, in that Annual Return that they have complied with their annual TP documentation requirements.

There are no specific TP returns. As mentioned above, part of the TP information is disclosed on the Annual Tax Return and part in the TP documentation containing the information required by law.

If the taxpaver keeps appropriate TP documentation in its records and does not have an explicitly

2.8 Burden of proof

P unreasonable and unsupported point of view with respect to the used transfer prices, the tax authorities must prove that the used transfer prices does not comply with the arm's-length principle. If there is no TP documentation available or there are evident shortcomings in the documentation, the tax inspector may promote transfer pricing adjustments under the TP methods foreseen in the law, based on the elements and information to which the Tax Authorities have access without being required to identify the elements and

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

information used as comparable.

According to Article 117/6 of the General Regime of Tax Infringements (RGIT), the specific penalty in force for failure to present transfer pricing documentation within the period determined in the request made by the Portuguese Tax Authorities ranges from EUR 500 to EUR 10,000 (per year and taxpayer), plus 5% for each day of delay in fulfilling this obligation.

P

The same penalties apply for late submission of the CbC Report.

Any inaccuracies in the information presented in the TP documentation, in the TP returns or in the CbC Report are punished with a penalty of EUR 375 to EUR 22,500.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

The tax authorities have four years to raise an additional CIT adjustment due to Transfer Pricing in intra-group transactions. If a TP adjustment leads to additional tax liability, a company must pay compensatory interest to the Portuguese Tax Authorities at the yearly rate of 4% plus a fine for incorrect CIT return submission (EUR 375).

2.10 Interest

There are no specific rules on interest charged in TP adjustment cases. The general compensation rate of 4% per year is levied.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

With regard to the benchmarking analysis, the OECD prefers to use the most reliable comparable information available. Given the relatively small size of the Portuguese market, often local comparable data may not be sufficiently available. In such cases, Iberian comparable data is often used. If these prove scarce, in general, the use of European comparable data may be accepted, but the taxpayer must be in position to support the comparability of the data used.

2.12 Languages

All TP documentation must be prepared and presented in Portuguese language, but other working languages may be accepted. If requested by the Tax Authorities, all relevant support documentation written in a foreign language must be translated into Portuguese language.

2.13 Confidentiality

The TP documentation is made only for the company to which the report refers and will only have to be presented to the Tax Authorities if and when requested. All Tax Authorities employees are obliged by the General Tax Law to keep confidentiality about the information presented in the TP documentation.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

Although recent changes in the TP legal framework introduced the CbC Report obligation, the Master file/ Local File approach, under BEPS Action 13 on TP documentation for associated enterprises, has not yet been adopted by the Portuguese legislation, and it is difficult to foresee when it will be.

Nevertheless, the current Portuguese legislation requires the preparation of full local TP documentation, combining information to be included both in Master File and Local File, namely:

- A description of any special relations that exist with any entities with which commercial, financial or other transactions are carried out;
- A record of the corporate relationship by which the special relationship arose, including any documents that demonstrate a subordination or dependency relationship as mentioned above;
- A description of the activities carried out during the controlled transactions, a detailed list of amounts
 recorded by the taxpayer over the past three years and, where appropriate, the financial statements of
 the associated enterprises;
- A detailed description of the goods, rights or services involved in controlled transactions and of the terms and conditions agreed if such information is not disclosed in the respective agreements;
- A description of the activities performed, the assets used and the risks assumed, both by the taxpayer and the associated enterprises involved in the controlled transactions;
- Technical studies on essential areas of the business, namely investment, financing, research and development, marketing, restructuring and reorganisation of activities, as well as forecasts and budgets connected with the global business and business by division or product;
- Guidelines regarding the TP policy of the company, containing instructions on the methods to be applied, procedures for gathering information (particularly on internal and external comparable), analysis of the comparability of transactions, cost accounting policies and profit margins obtained;
- Contracts and other legal instruments concluded with both associated enterprises and third parties, together
 with any other document that may govern or explain the terms, conditions and prices under those transactions;

Portugal

- An explanation of the method or methods applied to determine arm's-length prices for each controlled transaction and the rationale for the selection;
- Information regarding comparable data used;
- An overview of business strategies and policies, particularly regarding commercial and operational risks that might have a bearing on the determination of transfer prices or the allocation of profits or losses for the transaction;
- Any other information, data or documents considered relevant for determining an arm's-length price, the comparability of transactions or the adjustments made.

The methods accepted by the Tax Authorities to be used in the economic analysis of comparable are:

- The comparable uncontrolled price method;
- · The resale price method;
- The cost-plus method;
- · The profit split method;
- · The transactional net margin method;
- Other methods.

Additionally, regarding intragroup services agreements, the taxpayer must maintain the following documentation:

- A copy of the agreement;
- · A description of the services covered by the agreement;
- A description of the recipient of the services;
- A description of the costs of the services and the criteria applied for their allocation.

Although there is no specific mention in the Portuguese TP legislation, it's widely usual to put the following additional information in the TP documentation:

- Macroeconomic environment;
- Sector context;
- · Worldwide and national group presentation;
- · Detailed description of the company's business, of its goods and services provided
- Description of the company's geographic organisation;
- Company and group organisational chart;
- Economic analysis of the company;
- Company's assets analysis;
- Key clients and competitors;
- · Key financial accounts of the comparable companies.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

Action 13 of the OECD Action Plan on Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS Action Plan) has been implemented through the State Budget Law for 2016. Under this law, the CbC Report is required for resident companies in the following circumstances:

- A company holding or controlling one or more entities in overseas jurisdictions and required to prepare consolidated accounts, when the consolidated turnover exceeds EUR 750 Million, except if held by an entity that present itself such report;
- A company held or controlled by one or more overseas entities that are not required to comply with such
 obligations on their jurisdictions, but that would be required to do so should they be resident in Portugal.

For these companies, the CbC Report must contain the following information:

- Gross revenue segregated by related third-party revenues;
- Earnings before CIT and other tax due on income;
- · CIT due and paid;
- · Share capital and equity value;

- · Accumulated earnings;
- Net book value of the tangible assets;
- No. of employees;
- · List of entities / branches by jurisdiction;
- · Activities carried out by each entity / branch.

The CbC Report must be filed by the end of the 12th month after the closing of the fiscal year, in respect to fiscal years starting on or after 1st January 2016.

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

Any entity resident in Portugal that is part of a group that includes an entity obliged to file a CbC Report is required to submit an electronically form to the Portuguese tax authorities with the following information:

- · Identification of the CbC reporting entity;
- Tax residence of such entity.

The deadline for preparation/submission for the CbC Report notification is the end of the fifth month following the fiscal year-end.

ROMANIA

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Bucharest	Alina Fanita	+40 21 317 3196
		alina.fanita@pkffinconta.ro
Bucharest	Florentina Susnea	+40 21 317 3190
		florentina.susnea@pkffinconta.ro
Bucharest	Nilanjan Nag	+40 21 317 3196
		nilanjan.nag@pkffinconta.ro
Timisoara	Anca Grapini	+40 25 620 1175
		anca.grapini@econometrica.pkf.ro

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

Article 11 of the Law 227/2015 regarding the Fiscal Code, as subsequently completed and amended in Government Decision 1/2016 for the approval of the norms for the application of Law 227/2015 regarding the Fiscal Code, states the obligation of the tax authorities to adjust the price of a transaction at the median value of market price (i.e. central trend on the market) when deviations from the market value are noticed.

The Romanian Fiscal Code and the related norms provide that the tax authorities should also consider the OECD Guidelines when analysing the prices applied in related-party transactions. In addition, the legislation on transfer pricing documentation requirements in Romania refers to the European Union Code of Conduct on Transfer Pricing Documentation (C176/1 of 28 July 2006).

As of 2 February 2016, new standardised documentation requirements are included in the National Agency for Fiscal Administration's (NAFA = Romanian tax authorities) Order on Transfer Pricing File (442/2016) regarding the values of transactions, the content, deadline for preparation, and conditions for the request of the transfer pricing file, and the procedures for adjustments/estimates of transfer prices.

On 13 June 2017, the Government Emergency Ordinance No. 42 (GEO 42) was published in order to implement country-by-country (CbC) reporting requirements in Romania, amending the Fiscal Procedure Code. The Ordinance is transposing the provisions of Directive (EU) 2016/881 dated 25 May 2016 into the national legislation. The new CbC-reporting provisions follow the OECD Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS) Project Action 13 initiative.

1.2 Practical context

The new documentation requirements as of 2 February 2016 can lead to a significant administrative burden for MNEs. Whilst large taxpayers will or should be aware of the transfer pricing requirements and will have persons able to deal with such matters, small to medium enterprises may not have these resources and may not be aware of the requirements. They may be called upon to comply with these rules at some time in the future in the event of a tax audit. In the case of any transaction between related parties, the tax authorities may adjust/estimate the amount of the respective income or expenses of either party as necessary to the level considered to reflect the central tendency of the market (i.e., median), either in the case that the tax authorities determine that the arm's-length principle is not observed for the respective transaction, or that the taxpayer does not provide to the tax authorities sufficient evidence to establish whether the arm's-length principle was observed.

The BEPS-project will likely have an effect for all taxpayers, since Romania became an associate member of the BEPS-project on 9 June 2017 when Law no 124/2017 came into force. Given that transfer pricing is currently one of the most targeted areas by tax authorities in Romania in tax audits, participation in the implementation of the OECD BEPS action package represents an alignment with transfer pricing international practices.

R

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

According to Article 7 point 26 of the Fiscal Code, two legal persons are related parties if:

- One legal person holds, directly or indirectly (through the shareholding of related entities) a minimum of 25 percent of the number/value of shares or voting rights of the other legal person, or it effectively controls the other legal person; or
- One person holds, directly or indirectly (through the shareholding of related entities) a minimum of 25 percent of the number/value of shares or voting rights in the two entities or the person effectively controls both legal entities.

An individual is a related party to a legal entity if he/she holds, directly or indirectly, including the shareholding of related entities, a minimum of 25 percent of the number/ value of shares or voting rights of the legal person, or he/she effectively controls the legal person. Two individuals are related parties if they are spouses or relatives up to the third degree.

The NAFA's Order on Transfer Pricing File (442/2016) adopted on 2 February divides the taxpayers/entities into three categories:

- The large taxpayers that meet the annual thresholds on transactions with affiliates (EUR 350,000 for goods, EUR 250,000 for services and EUR 200,000 for interest) and have to prepare the Transfer Pricing File (TPF) annually.
- 2. The taxpayers that do not meet the above-mentioned thresholds are classified as the medium taxpayers, if they meet the thresholds:

(EUR 100,000 for goods, EUR 50,000 for services and EUR 50,000 for interest) and have to prepare the TPF on the request of the fiscal authorities.

3. All the other taxpayers do not have to prepare a TPF, but have to comply with the arm's-length principle with respect to its related party transactions.

The new documentation requirements as of 2 February 2016 are applicable for the Transfer Pricing Files prepared for the financial years starting in 2016.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

The aggregation of transactions is not defined by domestic law. Basically, a separate analysis of each single business transaction is necessary, but in practice this could lead to an unreasonable administrative burden.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

The Transfer Pricing File for the taxpayers, described above at 2.1, point 1, has to be submitted within 10 days of the request made by the fiscal authorities. However, the request cannot be made earlier than 10 days after the due date of submitting the profit tax return (generally 25 March of next year).

For the medium taxpayers described above at 2.1, point 2, the Transfer Pricing Files should be presented upon request made by the fiscal authorities. The time limit for presenting the Transfer Pricing Files to the fiscal authorities is between 30 and 60 calendar days, with a one-off extension option, upon a request in writing of taxpayers/payers, to extend the time limit of presentation for a maximum additional 30 calendar days.

According to the new provisions, a Romanian tax-resident entity that is either:

- the ultimate parent of an MNE with a consolidated revenue of EUR 750 million and above; or
- an entity that is required to prepare consolidated financial statements of the MNE

must file a CbC Report with the Romanian tax authorities within 12 months of the last day of the reporting fiscal year of the MNE.

2.4 Materiality

In principle, all transactions with associated enterprises should be supported by proper documentation, even if they are below the thresholds set for TP-documentation. If these thresholds are not met, medium and small taxpayers do not have to prepare the Transfer Pricing documentation at all, but they have to provide supporting documents that attest the compliance with the arm's-length principle, in case of a tax inspection, according to the effective provisions of the general accounting and fiscal regulations.

Romania

2.5 Retention of documents

According to general accounting and fiscal regulations, a Romanian taxpayer must keep its accounting and fiscal documentation for at least ten years. Since the TP-documentation is part of the fiscal documentation of a taxpayer, this ten-year period also applies to the TP-documentation.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

From 2016, the annual obligation for the preparation of the transfer pricing file is applicable only to taxpayers that engage in intragroup transactions exceeding certain thresholds, as described above at 2.1, point 1. There is no legal binding regulation with regard to updating TP documentation, but the threshold on transactions should be analysed annually and, if the threshold is reached, new TP documentation should be prepared for that year.

A CbC Report must be submitted every year, as it relates to a particular fiscal year, if the conditions described at 4.1 below are adhered to.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

Romanian (corporate) taxpayers are not required to disclose their TP documentation as part of the tax return filing. The tax return does not include any information relating to transactions carried out with affiliated parties; however, this information is included in the taxpayer's notes to the financial statements. The TP documentation should be submitted separately upon request to the fiscal authorities, in the conditions mentioned above (see point 2.3).

2.8 Burden of proof

If the taxpayer keeps appropriate TP-documentation records and does not have an explicitly unreasonable and unsupported point of view with respect to the transfer prices employed, the tax authorities must prove that the used transfer prices are not in adherence to the arm's-length principle. If there is no TP-documentation available or the documentation is incomplete or inaccurate, the tax inspector could transfer the burden of proof to the taxpayer.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

Taxpayers failing to provide transfer pricing documentation to the tax authorities upon request are sanctioned with a penalty between RON 12,000 and RON 14,000 for large and medium taxpayers, respectively, and between RON 2,000 and RON 3,500 for small taxpayers.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

Transfer price adjustments/estimates to a company's profits are subject to 16% corporate income tax and late payment interest and penalties. A penalty is applied for late payment of the additional corporate income tax assessed, at a rate of 0.01% per day of delay. In addition, for tax liabilities due starting from 2016 onward, penalties for failure to report (currently 0.80% per day) would also be applicable. If this type of penalty is applicable, then it is a substitute for the late payment penalty (only one type of penalty can be applied). If the tax claims are paid within a specific time period after the tax decision assessing the tax liabilities is issued, then this penalty is reduced by 75%; however, if the tax liabilities are the result of tax evasion, then this penalty is increased by 100%.

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

According to GEO 42, there are monetary penalties where an entity fails to report the information in a complete, timely and accurate manner of up to RON 30,000 - 50,000, or that could be triggered when a Romanian entity fails to report the required information of up to RON 70,000 - 100,000.

2.10 Interest

R

In case of a TP-adjustment interest is due if the additional assessment is imposed, after the corporate income tax for the year in question is due. Interest is applied for late payment of the additional corporate income tax assessed, at a rate of 0.02% per day of delay.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

With regard to the benchmarking analysis to be made, the NAFA Order 442/2016 provides that: "The comparability analysis will take into account the territorial criteria in the following order: national, European Union, pan-European, international".

R

2.12 Languages

The transfer pricing documentation has to be prepared in Romanian. If the transfer pricing documentation is prepared in a foreign language, it should be translated and provided to the tax authorities in Romanian (including any other documents to be attached to the transfer pricing documentation, as formally requested by the Romanian transfer pricing regulations, e.g., intercompany agreements).

The template and the content for the CbC Report, including the notification template, have been published by the National Agency for Fiscal Administration Order as per the Emergency Ordinance no. 42/2017 dated 9 June 2017.

The new legislation provides that the CbC Report could be exchanged by the Romanian tax authorities with other member states in Romanian or in any other official language of the European Union.

2.13 Confidentiality

The Romanian tax authorities will treat the TP-documentation confidentially. The tax authorities can only exchange the TP documentation with the tax authorities of another country if there is a legal basis. The TP-documentation is never available to the public.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

In the Romanian legislation, a three-tiered approach to documentation has not been introduced yet but the Transfer Pricing documentation must have two parts:

- A description of the group/information on the group (meaning the activity of the group, the entities with their description and place of carrying on their activity, the functional analysis, the most important transactions, etc.); and
- A description of the company/information on the company (activity, related party transactions, functional analysis, economic comparability, conclusions).

In addition, the Transfer Pricing documentation should comply with the prescribed format as warranted by the NAFA Order 442/ 2016.

3.1 Information about the group

- The organisational, legal and operational structure of the group (list of all entities within the group, including the permanent establishments and their identification data), the geographical location of the component entities specifying the shareholdings at the level of the group, during the period for which the transfer pricing documentation file has been prepared;
- An overview of the group's activities, its business strategy, including the changes in the business strategy within the period for which the transfer pricing documentation file has been prepared;
- 3. A description of any transfer pricing policy at the level of the group, if the case;
- 4. A general description of transactions carried out between related parties;
- 5. A general description of functions performed, risks assumed and assets employed in the transactions carried out between related parties (functional analysis), including the changes in the functional profile of the entities within the group, during the period for which the transfer pricing documentation file has been prepared;
- A general description of functions performed, risks assumed and assets employed, at the level of the group, that contribute significantly and definitively to the value-adding processes undertaken, taking into consideration each entity which is part of the group;

A description of owners of intangibles and property rights pertaining within the group (patent, license, trade name, brand, logo, knowhow, etc.), if the case;

- 7. A general description of transfer pricing policy regarding financial arrangements (intra-group financing services) between related parties, if the case;
- A description of any business restructuring within the group, during the period for which the transfer pricing documentation file has been prepared;
- 9. A general description of research and development activities within the group, if the case;
- 10. A description of advance pricing arrangements entered into by the taxpayer or by other entities which are part of the group, except for those issued by the National Agency for Tax Administration.

Romania

3.2 Information about the taxpayer

- 1. The organisational, legal and operational structure of the taxpayer (a list of its related parties, including their permanent establishments and identification data), the geographical location of the related parties, specifying the direct and indirect affiliation relations of the taxpayer, during the period for which the transfer pricing documentation file has been prepared, highlighting the occurred changes;
- A general description of activities performed by the taxpayer, and the business strategy, including any changes within the business strategy during the period for which the transfer pricing documentation file has been prepared;
- 3. A general description of transactions carried out between each related party as well as the context surrounding them;
- 4. A description of the transfer pricing policy established at the level of the taxpayer;
- 5. A description of the implementation procedure when applying the transfer pricing methodology for the transactions carried out between the taxpayer and its related parties;
- 6. A description of research and development activities at the level of the taxpayer, if the case;
- A general description of the transfer pricing policy regarding the intra-group financing services of the taxpayer with related parties, along with the presentation of financing agreements concluded both with related parties and independent lenders, if the case;
- 8. A description of the agreements concluded between the taxpayer and its related parties, regarding cost contribution arrangements;
- A description of intra-group transactions relating to the provision of services, detailing the allocation keys, if the case, describing the services which have a significant and definitive contribution to the value-adding processes undertaken;
- 10. Presenting the main outlets for tangible goods delivery/services provision of the taxpayer with its related parties;
- 11. A description of transactions related to any business restructuring that involve the taxpayer during the period for which the transfer pricing documentation file has been prepared;
- A detailed description of the transactions carried out with related parties: a) flow of transactions;
 b) invoicing flow; c) amount of transactions carried out with the related party/parties; d) amount of payments/receipts associated with each transaction performed by the taxpayer with each related party;
- 13. A detailed presentation of the functional analysis and comparability analysis:
 - a) characteristics of tangible and intangible goods or services, including the financing services subject to the transaction/transactions with related parties;
 - b) specific business strategies (e.g. market penetration strategies, extraordinary events, etc.);
 - c) functions performed, risks assumed and assets employed by the taxpayer and by the related party/parties within the transaction(s) carried out;
 - contractual terms of the transaction(s), with attached copies of the contracts/agreements acting as legal framework of the transaction(s) carried out with related parties;
 - e) particular economic circumstances of the transaction(s);
 - f) comparability analysis: information regarding the external or internal comparable transactions (description of search strategy for comparable companies and of the information sources, presenting the values of the financial indicators used for the comparability analysis, a description of possible comparability adjustments that were made, presenting the comparable entities list as well as the list of rejected entities from the comparable sample as a result of the manual search, with the provision of the rejection reasons, etc.). Justification of the arm's-length principle shall be based on reasonable availability of data for the taxpayer at the moment of the identification/preparation of the transfer pricing documentation, by presenting documents which support the justification;
 - g) presentation of critical assumptions that formed the basis for establishing the transfer pricing policy;
 - h) presentation of reasons for using a multiannual or annual analysis of data, if the case;
- 14. A description of the method used for determining the transfer prices for each transaction and validation of the selection criteria; if using transfer pricing methods that involve the selection of the tested party, the rationale for its selection shall be presented;
- 15. Presentation of unilateral or bilateral/multilateral advance pricing agreements, related to the transaction(s) carried out, for which the National Agency for Tax Administration does not take part;
- 16. A description of other relevant information for the taxpayer.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

According to the new provisions, a MNE with a consolidated group revenue of more than EUR 750 million should submit a CbC Report. The report contains the following information about the MNE:

- a. For each tax jurisdiction in which the MNE is active, information about the revenue, the earnings before tax (EBT), the paid income tax, the accrued income tax, the stated capital, the accumulated earnings, the number of employees and the tangible assets other than cash and cash equivalents.
- b. A description of every group entity of the MNE mentioning the tax jurisdiction of residence, and if different, the state under whose law the group entity is established and the main business or operations of that group entity.

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

The Romanian legislation also provides for filing of the CbC Report by a surrogate parent entity, i.e. a Romanian tax-resident entity may be appointed by the MNE group to file a CbC Report in Romania on its behalf.

In addition, other Romanian resident entities (other than the parent company of the group) will be required to file a CbC Report if one of the criteria below is met:

- The ultimate parent entity of the group does not have the obligation to file a CbC Report in its own jurisdiction of tax residence;
- The jurisdiction in which the ultimate parent entity is resident for tax purposes has a current international
 agreement in which Romania is party but does not have a qualifying competent authority agreement in
 effect in which Romania is party;
- There is a persistent failure in the automatic exchange procedure with the competent authority of the ultimate parent company required to file the CbC Report.

The MNE must provide the report within 12 months after the last day of the financial year of the MNE. The legislation will apply to fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

All Romanian resident entities part of MNE groups have to notify the Romanian tax authorities if they are the ultimate parent, the surrogate parent or if another Romanian resident entity is required to file the CbC Report. Alternatively, the Romanian resident entity has to notify the Romanian tax authorities regarding the identity of the MNE member filing the CbC Report and its residency.

According to the new law, this notification is due by the last day of the MNE group's reporting fiscal year, but no later than the deadline for filing a tax return for the respective constituent entity for the preceding fiscal year.

Non-compliance in relation to CbC reporting can result in penalties. Reference to be made to paragraph 2.9.3 above.

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Moscow	Klara Vorobyeva	+7 495 988 1515
		k.vorobyeva@mef-audit.ru
St. Petersburg	Tatiana Gavrilova	+7 812 600 9103
		gavrilova@mcd.spb.ru

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

In Russia the transfer pricing and tax control of related party transactions are governed by Chapter V.1 of the Russian Tax Code as from 2012

Russia is not a member of the OECD, so the Russian Federation is not legally obliged to follow OECD documents. Nevertheless, the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines are used as recommendations. Russian transfer pricing legislation in general is similar to OECD transfer pricing principles, but some differences should be noted. Russian transfer pricing rules apply not only to international transactions, but also to internal ones.

Russia has implemented legislation to give effect to Country by Country Reporting (CbCR) as per Action 13 of the OECD BEPS Plan. The legislation came into effect in 2018.

1.2 Practical context

Transfer pricing rules apply to so-called controlled transactions between related parties. Taxpayers need to prove the arm's-length nature of their transactions. The larger taxpayers can enter into Advance Pricing Agreements (APAs) with the tax authorities regarding the determination of prices and application of pricing methods in controlled transactions. Such agreements shall be valid for no longer than three years.

If transactions between related parties are not carried on an arm's-length basis, the results of transaction are adjusted for tax purposes. Taxpayers are obliged to provide the tax authorities with transfer pricing documentation regarding controlled transactions. Such documentation is supposed to prove that the applied price complies with the arm's-length principle. It should contain data about the activities of the taxpayer and other parties to the transaction, description of the transaction (its terms), functions, risks and assets analysis, transfer pricing methods, comparison analysis, etc. These requirements have been supplemented with requirements to provide Country-by-Country reports as from 2018 (three-tier documentation).

Only the Federal Tax Service may control controlled transactions. Territorial tax authorities are not allowed to control such transactions. It also should be noted that although non-controlled transactions are not allowed to be controlled under transfer pricing ("TP") rules, in practice territorial tax authorities often control prices of non-controlled transactions using so called concept of unjustified tax benefit. This concept implies that even non-controlled prices may be controlled if tax authority establishes that taxpayers abused tax legislation in order to obtain tax benefit without real economic purpose of a transaction.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

Controlled transactions are:

- Related party transactions (as defined in the Russian Tax Code). Russian TP rules apply both to internal (between Russian parties, e.g. if counterparties use different income tax rates) and external (with foreign party) transactions. As from 2019 the total sum of controlled transactions between Russian companies must exceed RUB 1 billion per year.
- 2. The following non-related party transactions (as from 2019 are controlled if the sum of revenues between parties exceed RUB 60 million per year):
 - related party transactions concluded through independent intermediaries;
 - foreign trade transactions for the following commodities traded in global stock exchange trading (oil, ferrous and non-ferrous metals, precious metals and stones, mineral fertilizers);

 transactions with persons and companies registered in offshore zones (tax havens). The list of such states is designated by the Russian Ministry of Finance.

Taxpayers who enter into transactions with related parties (controlled transactions) are obliged to file the respective notification to the tax authority on an annual basis. The controlled transaction notification and its completion procedure are approved by the Russian Federal Tax Service. Also the tax authority may request documents evidencing the pricing procedure and the market level of prices in controlled transactions.

A three-tiered documentation (CbCR) requirement has been implemented into the Russian Tax Code in accordance with OECD recommendations.

Russian taxpayers who are members of a multinational enterprise (MNE) group and whose total revenue for the preceding fiscal year was at least RUB 50 billion are required to submit annual CbC Reports to the Russian tax authorities. The CbC reporting requirements apply retroactively from 1 January 2017. Taxpayers are allowed to voluntarily file CbC Reports in Russia for the 2016 reporting period.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

Aggregation of transactions are allowable in some cases but in practice, tax authority often challenge such aggregation. To aggregate transactions, the goods (services) must be identical (similar) and some other requirements must be met.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

According to the applicable Russian Tax Code provisions:

- 1. The controlled transaction notice should be filed on or before 20 May of the year immediately following the calendar year when the controlled transactions were concluded.
- 2. The transfer pricing documentation, proving the arm's-length principle, for a particular transaction (group of transactions) are provided on a request of tax authority. Documents may not be requested from the taxpayer before 1 June of the year immediately following the calendar year when the controlled transactions were entered into. Documents shall be provided by the taxpayer within 30 days from the request.

CbCR provisions require to file additional reports:

- 1. Taxpayers participating in a multi-national enterprise group ("MNE group") (constituent entities) must file the Notice of participation in the MNE to the tax authority within 8 months from the end of the reporting year for the parent company (see p. 4.2 of this Review).
- 2. The CbC Report is filed by the parent company of the MNE group (Ultimate Parent entity, if it is Russian tax resident) or its authorised participant (which is a tax resident of the Russian Federation, Surrogate parent entity) within 12 months from the end of the reporting year for which the consolidated statements of the group are filed. Also the tax authority in established cases may send a request to the Russian company participating in the MNE group for provision of the CbC Report, in such case CbC Report must be provided within three months (see chapter 4.2 of this Review).
- The Master file is provided by the taxpayer on the request of the tax authority within three months. The Local File is also provided on the separate request of the tax authority and must be provided within 30 days from the request.

2.4 Materiality

The general provision of the Russian Tax Code is that controlled transactions are transactions between related parties. However, there are some materiality thresholds. In particular, as from 2019, transactions between Russian companies are recognised as controlled transactions only if the total income under transactions between them during the calendar year exceeds RUB 1 billion. It should be noted that not all the transactions between Russian parties can be qualified as controlled but only those specified by Tax Code (e.g. if Russian parties use different income tax rate, different tax regimes, etc.).

Related party transactions where one party is not a Russian tax resident are controlled if the total income Runder transactions between them during the calendar year exceeds RUB 60 million.

The Russian Tax Code contains a general recommendation to the taxpayer that the degree of detail and comprehensiveness of the documents presented to the tax authorities shall be proportionate to the degree of complexity of the transaction and the manner in which the transaction price is determined.

Russia

2.5 Retention of documents

General provisions of the Russian Tax Code establish that, taxpayers are obliged to maintain for four years the accounting data and documents required for tax assessment and payment, in particular, documents evidencing the generation of revenues, incurring of costs and tax payments. If there is a loss and a company wants to carry it forward, the tax authority usually requires the company to retain documents of proof not less than four years after the period the loss was carried forward to.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

The Russian Tax Code does not contain special provisions concerning the procedure for, and frequency of, updating the transfer pricing documentation.

However, as the controlled transaction notification is filed annually and information on the transactions entered into in a certain calendar year is requested in the course of the tax audit, the recommendation is that the taxpayers should update information on intra-group transactions annually. In practice, it is recommended to review documentation each year to update for any changes in the business and market developments. A significant change in the facts and circumstances would incur a more detailed update of the documentation.

Notification on controlled transactions must be prepared annually.

The CbC Reports, Master File, Local File and relevant notifications to tax authorities should also be completed each year.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

TP documentation on controlled transactions is not part of the tax statements. The mere entering into controlled transactions is not disclosed in the income tax return. However, a special report form (the controlled transaction notification) is filed with the tax authority every year.

If prices in related party transactions do not comply with the arm's-length principle, resulting in the understatement of taxes, the taxpayer is allowed to adjust the taxable base and tax amounts in the annual tax return for the respective tax. The information that identifies the transaction, with respect to which the taxpayer adjusted the taxable base and the tax amount, is shown in explanations to the tax returns as well as in TP documentation.

2.8 Burden of proof

When the tax authority implements control procedures in connection with related party transactions, the general rule is that the burden of proof is on the tax authority. For instance, if the taxpayer in assessing revenues in related party transactions, reasonably applied one of the methods specified in the Russian Tax Code, the tax authority should apply the same method during the audit. Application of another method is only possible if the tax authority proves that the method the taxpayer applied does not enable one to determine if the conditions of the controlled transaction are comparable with those of arm's-length transactions.

However, if a taxpayer did not file the requested documents on controlled transactions or if the filed documents are clearly insufficient and unreasonable, the tax authority may apply its own more suitable method in the course of its audit. In the future, the burden of disputing the conclusions and additional tax amounts based on the tax audit shall pass to the taxpayer.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

According to Russian Tax Code non-provision of the controlled transaction notification when due, or provision of a notification containing unreliable information, entails a RUB 5,000 penalty.

If a taxpayer does not provide documentation proving that prices are in compliance with the arm's-length principle on tax authority request, the penalty is RUB 200.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

If the tax audit detects that the prices in related party transactions (controlled transactions) do not conform to those in arm's-length transactions, and this resulted in underpayment of taxes, the penalty is 40% of the underpaid tax amount but not less than RUB 30,000. The taxpayer shall be released from this liability if the documentation, proving that prices are in compliance with the arm's-length principle, is provided upon request of tax authority.

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

Penalties for non-filing of the notice of participation, CbC Report, Master File or Local File are much higher:

- 1. Non-filing of the Notice of participation in an MNE group or filing a notice with unreliable information RUB 50,000 penalty.
- Non-filing of the CbC Report, Master file or Local File at the request of the tax authority and when due - RUB 100,000 penalty per each document.

The penalties discussed above will not apply until tax year 2020 except for Local File.

2.10 Interest

If in connection with the non-market level of prices in controlled transactions the taxpayer adjusts the taxable base and the tax amount and pays the shortage on taxes on or before the profit tax payment date for the respective tax period, then no penalty interest is imposed.

There are no specific rules on interest charged on subsequent tax payments in transfer pricing cases. Interest is normally charged on tax underpaid. If the assessment of the taxable base and underpayment of taxes were detected during a tax audit, the general provisions of the Russian Tax Code imposes penalty interest for the untimely payment of taxes in the amount of 1/300 of the refinancing rate of the Russian Central Bank applicable at that time for each day of delay for 30 days of delay and 1/150 - as from 31st day of delay.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

The Russian Tax Code does not contain direct indications on the detailed content and sources of information used for analysis. Besides information on specific deals, information in the public domain, on the established level of the market prices and stock exchange quotations, as well as data of information and pricing agencies can be used. Tax authorities recommend that links to documents and other information sources should be added to TP documentation on controlled transactions.

2.12 Languages

Under the general provisions of the Russian Tax Code, the statements, information and documents are filed to the tax authorities in Russian.

The CbC Report may be filed in a foreign language, if the parent company of an MNE group is not a Russian tax resident.

2.13 Confidentiality

According to the general provisions of the Russian Tax Code, any information on a taxpayer received by the tax authorities constitute tax secrets (except for certain information expressly stated in law).

The competent authority is entitled to transfer CbC Reports to competent authorities of foreign countries as part of the automatic exchange of information allowed under multinational treaties to which Russia has signed up.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

3.1 Master File

The first reporting period is 2017.

1. Organisational structure

Information on the ownership structure of the MNE group, listing the persons who are participants and the countries where they operate (as a chart).

2. Description of MNE's group business(es)

General description of business of the group of companies, including:

- a) The main factors influencing the financial performance;
- b) A description of the supply chain and the main suppliers of manufactured products and services for the largest products / services (determined by revenue);
- List and summary of the main intra-group service contracts, including the description of functional options of the main group participants involved in provision of these services and pricing approaches as part of the provided services of the group;

Russia

- A summary functional review of business of the group participants that influence the financial performance, in particular, description of the main performed functions, the assets in use, and the economic (commercial) risks undertaken;
- e) Information on the main transactions related to the restructuring of business, and the purchase and disposal of assets in the fiscal year under review.

3. MNE group's intangibles

- A description of the group's strategy on development, possession and use of intangibles, in particular, placement of the main R&D centres and their management;
- b) A description of intangibles having a material impact on the pricing and the list of group participants holding such assets;
- c) A list of contracts related to intangibles as concluded between the group's participants;
- d) A general description of the pricing method related to development, possession and use of intangibles;
- e) A general description of transactions involving the transfer of rights to intangibles between the group participants in the reporting period, indicating such participants and the remuneration for such transfers.

4. MNE group's intercompany financial activities

- A summary of the group's financing system (including financing raised from persons other than group participants);
- b) An indication of the participants who act in the interests of the other participants of the group, including the countries (territories) that are the place of registration of such participants and their place of management;
- c) A general description of the pricing method related to financing of the group's participants.

5. MNE group's financial and tax positions

- a) Consolidated financial statements for the last reporting period (if not available, any consolidated statements for management, tax and other purposes);
- b) A list and summary of pricing agreements and tax rulings from competent authorities, applied in transactions between the group participants and related to revenue allocation between states.

3.2 Local File

The procedure for preparing these documents is to a certain extent described in Chapter V.1 of the Russian Tax Code. Documents shall be a set of documents or single document drafted in a free format and containing the following information (these are in fact common requirements to TP documentation regarding controlled transaction (or group of transactions):

1) On the taxpayer's business related to this transaction:

- a) The list of persons, who entered into the controlled transaction, a description of the controlled transaction, its conditions, including description of the pricing method;
- b) The functions of parties to the transaction, the assets in use, and the economic (commercial) risks undertaken.

2) Information on transfer pricing methods:

- a) Substantiation of the reasons for selection of the method being used;
- b) Indication about the information sources used;
- c) Calculation of the market price interval (profitability range) for the controlled transaction, with description of approach, and selection of the comparable transactions used;
- Amount of received revenues (profit) and/or total incurred costs (losses) resulting from the controlled transactions;
- e) Adjustments of the taxable base made by the taxpayer and amounts of tax (or losses) etc.

For Russian companies participating in an MNE group, for which the total revenues meet the established criterion (RUB 50 billion, see p. 4.1 of this Review), the Local File should additionally contain the following information (the first reporting period is 2018):

R

1. Local entity

- a) Information on the taxpayer's management structure, as well as on other persons to whom the management reports are to be filed and countries (territories) where such persons carry out their core lines of business;
- b) Information on the taxpayer's operations and market strategy, as well as information on conducted restructuring and transfer (receipt) of intangibles;
- c) Existing market competition level (main competitors, consumers of manufactured products, suppliers of raw and materials) and the impact of particular features of the competitive environment on pricing processes.

2. Controlled transactions

- a) Description of reasons based on which it was concluded that the price used in the controlled transaction meets the market price;
- b) Description of adjustments made to align the transaction conditions;
- c) Copies of material intra-group agreements that influence the pricing in controlled transactions;
- d) Copies of pricing agreements, tax explanations of competent authorities, applied in transactions between the group participants related to the controlled transactions under review.

3. Financial information

 Auditor's report on the financial statements (accounts) of the taxpayer for the most recent reporting period (if any).

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

The first reporting period is 2017. Taxpayers are allowed to provide CbC Reports for 2016.

4.1 Threshold and required content

The requirement to submit a CbC Report (also to prepare a Master file and expanded Local File) applies to taxpayers being participants of a global group of companies (MNE group), for which the overall revenues according to consolidated financial statements for the preceding fiscal year exceeds RUB 50 billion, if the parent company of the group is a Russian tax resident. If the parent company of the MNE is not a Russian tax resident, the limit established in laws of the foreign country where the parent company is tax resident is used.

The CbC Report shall contain information on:

- the overall income/revenues from transactions for the reporting year, in particular including a breakdown of the overall amount of income/revenues for transactions with group participants and total income/revenues from transactions with other persons;
- 2) the pre-tax profit/loss for the reporting year (before income tax);
- 3) income tax paid in the reporting period;
- 4) assessed income tax for the reporting period;
- 5) share capital as of the reporting year end date;
- 6) accumulated profit (retained earnings) as of the reporting year end date;
- 7) headcount for the reporting year;
- 8) tangible assets as of the reporting year end date;
- identity information for each MNE group participant, indicating the state, according to the laws of which such participant was established, the state of its tax residency and the core lines of business of each group participant.

The CbC Report is submitted to the tax authority in the established electronic format.

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

As for subsidiaries operating in Russia which are part of MNE groups (constituent entity), whose overall revenues exceed the established RUB 50 billion threshold, there is a requirement to file a Notice of participation in the MNE group, which contains the following information:

- 1) Name and identity data of the taxpayer being a participant in a global group of companies;
- Information on whether or not the taxpayer that files the notice is a parent company (ultimate parent entity) or an authorised participant (Surrogate parent entity) in a MNE group;

Russia

- 3) Name and identity data of the parent company and the state of its tax residency;
- 4) Name and identity data of any other participant (constituent entity) that has filed a CbC Report, being an authorised participant (Surrogate parent entity) in a global group of companies, and the reasons substantiating its right to file a CbC Report;
- 5) The date of the last day of the period for which the consolidated financial statements are prepared.

As per the general rule, the CbC Report is filed by the parent company of the MNE group or its authorised participant (Surrogate parent entity). However, a tax authority may require that a Russian taxpayer (which is a group participant) files this report in some cases as specified in the Russian Tax code (e.g. if parent entity of a MNE group is not tax resident of Russia and Russian tax authority did not receive the CbC Report from another country's tax authority).

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Prievidza	Richard Clayton Budd	+421 46518 3811
		budd@pkf.sk

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

Corporate income tax

Income tax in the Slovak Republic is governed by Act 595/2003 Coll. on Income Tax, as amended. Section 17(5) of the Act states that differences between prices agreed in related party business transactions includes differences reducing taxable income which are caused by what can be translated as "off-market transfer pricing".

Section 18 of the Income Tax Act requires compliance with the arm's-length principle in related party transactions and the use, in particular, of methods based on either a comparison of prices (comparable uncontrolled price method, resale price method and cost plus method) or methods based on a comparison of profits (profit split method and transactional net margin method).

Related parties are defined in the Income Tax Act, specifically in Sections 2(n) and 2(r), as a close person or a person with economic, personal or other ties, or are included in consolidated returns. All controlled transactions by both non-resident related parties, as defined by Section 2(r) and related parties within the Slovak Republic are tested for such compliance.

Taxpayers are required to maintain transfer pricing documentation that covers controlled transactions and describes the valuation method used in these transactions, with the content and scope of such transfer pricing documentation defined by the Minister of Finance of the Slovak Republic in Guidance MF/019153/2018-724.

Value added tax

Value added tax charged in the Slovak Republic is governed by Act 222/2004 Coll., as amended, with Section 22(8) specifically providing rules for mark-to-market. When goods or services are supplied by related parties, the taxable amount is determined by open market value.

Tax Code

An important rule regarding tax audits is contained in Section 3(6) of the Tax Code, Act 563/2009 Coll. on Tax Administration, where the tax authorities will not take artificial arrangements into consideration which do not reflect economic reality and whose only purpose is to obtain a tax advantage.

Country-by-country reporting

The Slovak Republic has implemented Council Directive (EU) 2016/881, amending Directive 2011/16/EU as regards mandatory automatic exchange of information in the field of taxation. The implemented EU Directive is a tool for combating tax evasion and aggressive tax planning.

Implementation of the Directive is provided in Slovak Act 43/2017 Coll., amending Act 442/2012 Coll. on International Assistance and Cooperation by the Tax Authority. This Act requires multinational enterprise (MNE) groups to provide country-by-country (CbC) reporting annually.

Double taxation treaties

The Slovak Republic is a signatory to a total 70 double taxation treaties, including in particular all EU and OECD countries. These double taxation treaties have been drafted on the basis of the OECD Model Tax Convention on Income and on Capital, so also Article 9 - Associated Enterprises with regard to the arm's-length principle.

1.2 Practical context

Whenever the tax authorities conduct a tax audit, they will review whether the method and calculation of transfer pricing differences is correct and based on the arm's-length principle. In any tax audit announced after the tax period has ended and the tax return has been filed, taxable entities will be required to submit transfer pricing documentation within 15 days of having received notice of the audit.

Slovakia

In practice, the Slovak tax authorities will require taxpayers to produce evidence of their transfer pricing policies, so it is advisable for transfer pricing documentation to have been prepared in advance to support the taxable entity's assertions.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

All undertakings are obliged to prepare transfer pricing documentation. This includes natural persons, legal entities and permanent establishments in the Slovak Republic (related parties as defined in Section 2(n) and 2(r) of the Income Tax Act). The public sector (national, municipal and city governments) is only required to prepare transfer pricing documentation to a limited extent. Controlled transactions are defined as transactions between related parties. Transfer pricing documentation must cover all domestic controlled transactions as well as foreign controlled transactions.

Controlled transactions are defined in Section 2(ab) of the Income Tax Act as transactions between associated enterprises, in the meaning of a legal relationship or other similar relationship between two or more related parties as defined by Section 2(n) and 2(r), at least one of whom is either a taxpayer with income defined under Section 6 or a taxable income generating legal person (income from business activities or disposal of property).

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

Transfer pricing documentation is prepared for each material transaction either separately or as an aggregation of controlled transactions. Controlled transactions are aggregated for several controlled transactions with the same related party in the following cases:

- a. When they are of the same type and concluded under comparable conditions;
- b. When they are closely interconnected and interdependent; or
- c. When they are comparable in terms of the assets used, functions and risks.

Transfer pricing documentation is prepared for an aggregation of controlled transactions whenever it provides a more reliable picture of the valuation methods used. Transfer pricing documentation should also indicate the reasons for aggregating the controlled transactions.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

Transfer pricing documentation should be pre-prepared prior to the start of the tax period so that over the course of the year controlled transactions are measured with respect to the arm's-length principle. Data for the current year can be refined (e.g. with a determination of materiality and of the structure and volume of controlled transactions) to consider subsequent events after the close of the tax year.

The tax authorities are allowed under Section 18(11) of the Income Tax Act to request transfer pricing documentation even after the deadline for filing tax returns for the tax period ended – normally three calendar months after the end of the tax period covered in the submitted transfer pricing documentation or after the extended deadline for submitting the tax return.

2.4 Materiality

Materiality is defined in words and numbers. Section 17(9) of Act 431/2002 Coll. on Accounting, as amended, considers information to be material if its absence could affect the decision-making of a person using the information.

In practice, materiality is quantified as 1% of turnover, 0.5% of net income or 0.5% of total assets, or all three indicators in conjunction. Materiality is set for each taxable entity individually in such a way as to logically justify it.

2.5 Retention of documents

Section 35 of the Accounting Act generally sets the basic retention period for financial statements and accounting documents at ten years. Section 69 of the Tax Code permits tax audits to be conducted by the authorities for ten years (5 + 5 years) after the filing of the year's tax return. Finally, Section 76 of the Value Added Tax Act also requires documents pertaining to VAT to be retained for ten years. For these reasons, transfer pricing documentation should be retained for ten years, too.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

The tax period is technically the same as the calendar year; therefore transfer pricing documentation is prepared independently for each tax period (either the calendar year or the entity's fiscal year). In the absence of new facts affecting the valuation of controlled transactions, information from the previous tax period can be used in preparing new transfer pricing documentation.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

The deadline for filing tax returns for the current year is 31 March of the following year. Any taxable entity can ask for a three-month extension of the deadline with a simple notice to the tax authorities, with no need to undergo any consent procedures. The extension can even be up to six months if there is income from foreign sources.

Tax returns include information about related party transactions, which are entered in Table 1 of the return. This table shows the volume of related party transactions by transaction type.

2.8 Burden of proof

The burden of proof is on the taxable entity to prove to the tax authorities the data it declares on its tax return. Transfer pricing documentation is in essence precautionary evidence that the valuation of controlled transactions is consistent with the arm's-length principle.

Tax audits are conducted by the tax authorities on a specific taxable entity, which has the burden of proof during such audits. It is recommended for transfer pricing documentation to be prepared separately for each specific legal entity. Clearly, the same transaction between different legal entities should be described and justified to reflect a transaction between a seller and buyer that are related parties.

2.9 Penalties

Two types of penalties are levied for incorrect information provided on a tax return: the penalty itself and interest on tax arrears. In the Slovak Republic, the penalty is 10% of subsequently assessed tax and interest is charged at a rate of 15% per annum on the amount of tax paid late. The tax authorities can forgive penalties at the taxable entity's request and for legitimate reasons, such as if there is a risk of economic collapse due to the assessed tax or if the error was caused by complicated or unclear tax regulations.

2.9.1 General

Sections 154 and 155 of the Tax Code provide for a general civil fine ranging from EUR 60 to EUR 3,000 for failure to comply with any non-pecuniary obligation under tax law. This fine can also be imposed for failure to submit transfer pricing documentation as such a duty is provided in Section 18(1) of the Income Tax Act.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

No separate penalties are provided for transfer pricing adjustments. The penalties presented in the above sections 2.9 and 2.9.1 would apply in the same way to transfer pricing adjustments.

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

The Slovak Republic has implemented the relevant European directives covering CbC-reporting into its laws concerning international assistance and cooperation in tax administration (see 1.1). The law requires MNE groups to provide CbC-reporting annually which, among other things, contains information enabling an overview of the amount of taxes paid in individual countries.

Ultimate parent entity means a constituent entity of a MNE group that owns directly or indirectly a sufficient interest in one or more other constituent entities and is required to prepare consolidated financial statements in its jurisdiction of tax residence (and is not included in any higher-level consolidation). Any ultimate parent entity that is tax resident in the Slovak Republic will file CbC reporting with the Financial Directorate within twelve months of the final day or the MNE group's reported financial year.

Surrogate parent entity means a constituent entity which has been appointed by an MNE group as a sole substitute for the ultimate parent entity to file CbC-reporting in the jurisdiction of tax residence if the ultimate parent entity is not obliged to do so.

Constituent entity means a separate legal entity in a MNE group that is either included in the consolidated financial statements or would be so included there if it were not excluded on the grounds of size, and permanent establishments or business units for which separate financial statements are prepared. A constituent entity with tax residence in the Slovak Republic is required to inform the Financial Directorate of whether it is an ultimate parent entity, surrogate parent entity or a constituent entity, at latest by the deadline for filing its tax return for the reported tax year.

Slovakia

The automatic exchange of information will operate with the Financial Directorate forwarding CbC-reporting to the jurisdiction of tax residence for the constituent entity and will receive CbC-reporting from individual member states of the European Union.

The tax authorities are not allowed to adjust the taxable income due to a breach of transfer pricing principles solely based on information in CbC-reporting provided by individual countries. Information from CbC-reporting will not be disclosed and will be used mainly for selecting companies for tax audits, so transfer pricing documentation should be available as a preventive measure to cover against a possible tax audit.

The tax authorities will levy a fine of up to EUR 10,000 for failure by a taxable entity liable for tax in the Slovak Republic to submit CbC-reporting and a fine of up to EUR 3,000 for failure by such an entity to inform the tax authorities that it is a constituent entity in an MNE group.

Ultimate parent entities and surrogate parent entities are required to submit first-time CbC-reporting to the Ministry of Finance after 28 February 2017 for the MNE group's financial year beginning during the 2016 calendar year.

Only those multinational enterprise groups that meet the threshold of consolidated revenue for the MNE group of at least EUR 750,000,000 are required to submit CbC-reporting.

2.10 Interest

There are no separate interest penalties provided to cover transfer pricing documentation. The penalties presented in the above sections 2.9 and 2.9.1 would apply in the same way with respect to interest.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

Transfer pricing documentation is prepared to reflect the arm's-length principle, using the valuation methods provided by Slovak law - methods based on either a comparison of prices (comparable uncontrolled price method, resale price method and cost plus method) or methods based on a comparison of profits (profit split method and net trading margin method) or other methods that follow the arm's-length principle (such as the transactional net margin method - proving costs are covered with a margin reasonable for the sector). Taxable entities preferably use whatever method ensures compliance with the arm's-length principle.

The arm's-length principle is established on a comparison of conditions agreed in controlled transactions between related parties with terms that would have been agreed between independent entities in comparable transactions under comparable circumstances in relevant periods.

Comparison takes the activities performed by the comparators into account, in particular production, assembly, research and development, purchasing and sales, and the like, as well as the range of business risks, the properties of the asset or service being compared, negotiated terms, the economic environment of the market and business strategy. Conditions are comparable if there is no significant difference between them or if the effect of these differences can be eliminated.

2.12 Languages

Section 18(11) of the Income Tax Act requires primary use of the national language (Slovak) in transfer pricing documentation to be submitted to the tax authorities. However, both the tax authorities and the Financial Directorate allow transfer pricing documentation to be submitted in another language at the request of the taxable entity.

2.13 Confidentiality

Tax administration staff members are bound by Section 11 of the Tax Code to treat all matters concerning tax administration as confidential and so transfer pricing documentation is also covered by tax secrecy provisions. The Penal Code defines threats to tax secrecy as a criminal act. Access to tax returns and other documents covered by tax secrecy is only made available to other entities or persons that have received written permission from the taxable entity.

Tax returns are not accessible to the public and subject to tax confidentiality, where another entity or person is only allowed to view the return with the written consent of the taxable entity. Documents which are accessible to the public are financial statements, annual reports and the auditor's report.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

Tax entities have a legal obligation to provide transfer pricing documentation. Mandatory content of transfer pricing documentation is provided in Ministry of Finance Guidelines (see 1.1); compliance with such mandatory content is recommended, particularly concentrating on the selection of an appropriate valuation method and the justification for it, while transfer pricing documentation should not include unnecessarily extensive theoretical material.

3.1 Master File

1. Organisational structure

Aggregate related parties are required to be identified and this information should additionally describe property and personal connections. This should be a transparent organisational chart and summary of ownership among the group of related parties.

There are three levels of transfer pricing documentation prescribed In the Slovak Republic based on the scope of information provided: brief, general and full. The scope of the documentation is defined in particular by the size and risk of the dependent transaction. Full documentation is kept, as an example, of the cross-border controlled transactions of a company whose financial statements are prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), of cross-border transactions whose aggregate annual value is greater than ten million euros and of controlled transactions with a taxpayer residing in a non-contracting state.

General documentation is kept of cross-border controlled transactions if the company has total revenues greater than eight million euros and for cross-border controlled transactions whose aggregate annual value is greater than one million euros.

Brief documentation is kept of the controlled transactions of an audited company and of the controlled transactions of individual entrepreneurs, unless they are required to keep full or general documentation. Brief documentation is the least administratively burdensome as the form is only three pages long.

2. Description of multinational enterprises (MNEs)

General transfer pricing documentation in the Master File must identify the individual MNE members including their legal forms, describe the MNE's organisational and ownership structure and provide a general description of the MNE's method of financing.

In the case of full transfer pricing documentation, the Master File must additionally describe the MNE group's business activities and commercial strategy, especially profitability factors, the MNE's most important markets and services, positions, risks and assets of group members, agreements on centralised services, and also describe the group's financing and include the MNE's consolidated financial statements. Any other information that contributes toward proving compliance with the arm's-length principle should also be the Master File.

3. MNE intangibles (as defined in Chapter VI of OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines)

Assets which the related party uses for the purpose of a controlled transaction are required to be included in transfer pricing documentation, and as such also intangible assets if they exist.

4. MNE intercompany financial activities

Transfer pricing documentation also must include a description of the related party's business activities in which it engages for the purpose of a controlled transaction, hence also financial activities such as providing credit, if the related party does so.

5. MNE financial and tax positions

MNE financial and tax positions are only presented if this information contributes toward clarifying the arm's-length principle in the valuation of controlled transactions

3.2 Local File

1. Local entity

General transfer pricing documentation in the Local File must identify the local entity including its legal form, describe its organisational and ownership structure, business activities and commercial strategy, and for each transaction describe the transaction and its financial value, include a copy of the contract, an analysis of functions, risks and assets, and a description of the local entity's transfer pricing system (especially the method selected and the rationale behind it).

In the case of full transfer pricing documentation, the Local File must additionally describe the local entity being subject to the direction and control of the group, transfer of intangible assets within the group and include, for every controlled transaction, the valuation technique used, comparative transactions, a description of comparability, the rationale behind the valuation and the financial information used.

Slovakia

2. Controlled transactions

Controlled transactions are all transactions (e.g. merchandise, services, interest, licenses) between two enterprisers that are associated enterprises with respect to each other. In Slovak law these are both related parties in the jurisdiction of tax residence and non-resident entities. Transfer pricing documentation must include a list of controlled transactions.

3. Financial information

A local taxable entity provides financial information in its transfer pricing documentation only if this information contributes toward clarifying the arm's-length principle in the valuation of controlled transactions. In practice, this information is often calculated from the financial statements, which is subsequently used in the comparability analysis. For instance, cost-effectiveness (profits to costs) or sales margins (sales revenue to cost of sales).

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

Only those multinational enterprise groups that meet the threshold of consolidated revenue for the MNE group of at least EUR 750,000,000 are required to submit CbC-reporting.

CbC-reporting consists of the following mandatory data: aggregated amounts of revenue, before tax income, income tax paid, current tax, registered capital, retained earnings or accumulated losses, number of employees and tangible assets other than cash and cash equivalents for every country of tax residence in which the MNE group operates, and includes the currency in which these amounts are expressed. In addition, CbC-reporting includes a list of core entities by country of establishment and the nature of their principal economic activities.

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

Subsidiaries established in the Slovak Republic are required to notify the Financial Directorate of the Slovak Republic about CbC-reporting.

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Barcelona	Aischa Laarbi	+34 93 414 59 28
		legaldpt@pkf.es
Madrid	Santiago Gonzalez	+34 91 556 11 99
		sgonzalez@pkf-attest.es
Madrid	Cecilia Flores	+34 91 556 11 99
		cflores@pkf-attest.es

1. Introduction

Spain is an OECD member country and its transfer pricing rules follow the arm's-length principle, the OECD Guidelines, and the work of the European Union Joint Transfer Pricing Forum.

Spanish tax authorities: Agencia Estatal de la Administración Tributaria (State Agency of Tax Administration, or AEAT) and Dirección General de Tributos (Directorate General of Taxation, or DGT).

Spanish Tax Law: Corporate Income Tax Law (CITL).

1.1 Legal context

Currently, Spanish transfer pricing regulations are contained in Law 27/2014 Article 18, approved on 27 November 2014, which entered in to force for tax periods starting on and after 1 January 2015. In addition, the documentation requirements are included in Articles 13 to 16 of the Corporate Income Tax Regulation (CITR), published by Royal Decree 634/2015, approved on 10 July 2015. The regulations set for new informational requirements are applicable for periods starting on and after 1 January 2016.

The new requirements are the implementation by the Spanish government of Action 13 of the OECD/G20 - project Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS). It regulates the need for a Country by Country Report (CbC Report) in addition to the Master File and Local File.

General transfer pricing documentation requirements were introduced in Spain in 2006 (Law 36/2006), applicable for tax periods starting on and after 1 January 2006. Mainly, prior documentation requirements have stated the obligation for any taxpayer, subject to the CITL, to prepare and make available to the Tax Administration, transfer pricing documentation that reflects that the intragroup transactions (with domestic and foreign companies) were performed under the arm's-length principle. At that point, the burden of proof was changed to the taxpayer, and the arm's-length nature could be tested with one of the transfer pricing methods specified in the law.

Furthermore, the Royal Decree 1793/2008 was published, and new specific transfer pricing documentation requirements have become applicable for intercompany transactions performed from 19 February 2009. It referred to the content of the Masterfile and the Local File. Later, the Royal Decree 897/2010 and the Royal Decree Law 13/2010 introduced certain amendments for exemptions to transfer pricing documentation requirements. Those rules govern the period from February 2009 to December 2015.

Finally, the last modifications on transfer pricing documentation were introduced by the Royal Decree 1074/2017, published on 29 December 2017, referring to country by country information.

1.2 Practical context

On the other hand, CbC Report is mandatory for groups with a global turnover exceeding EUR 750 million. Spain has signed the Multilateral Competent Authority Agreement (MCAA) for the automatic exchange of CbC Reports.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

Based on Article 18.3, letter d, CITL, transfer pricing documentation is required if the local taxpayer carries out related transactions (both domestic and international) with a total value higher than EUR 250,000. Article 18 defines the nature of related parties (persons and entities), where the related party connection for partners or shareholders, is defined as at least 25%.

Spain

Transactions within the same consolidated tax group are exempt, as well as others listed by Article 18.3 letter a, CITL.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

Transfer pricing documentation is theoretically subject to direct/individual analysis. However, an aggregation is possible in the case of similar transactions (in terms of functions, risk, products), if the transactions are linked (by a proved reason), etc.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

Transfer pricing documentation should be made available to the Tax Administration by the filing deadline for the Corporate Income Tax Return. (i.e. for tax periods ending 31 December, the deadline is 25 July of the next fiscal period).

Regarding the CbC Report, the deadline of its completion is before the end of the fiscal year for which the information is being prepared (Form 231).

In the case of an informative return on related-party transactions and on transactions and situations relating to countries or territories classified as tax havens (Form 232), the deadline is the month following the ten months after the end of the tax period.

2.4 Materiality

In principle, all transactions with associated enterprises should be supported by transfer pricing documentation if the company exceeds the above-mentioned threshold of EUR 250,000.

In practice, the tax authorities often focus their scope of investigation on business transactions with a material impact (i.e. management services expenses, royalties, among others).

2.5 Simplified Local documentation

In cases where the amount of revenue is less than EUR 45 million, according to Article 18.3 CITL and 16.4 CITR, simplified local documentation should include:

- a) General description of the nature, characteristics and amount of the controlled transactions.
- b) Name and surname, or business name, tax address and tax identification number of the taxpayer as well as the related person or related-party entities regarding the intercompany transaction.
- c) Identification of the transfer pricing method selected.
- d) The set of comparables and the value or range of values provided by them.

2.6 Retention of documents

In general, Spanish corporate income taxpayers are required to maintain transfer pricing documentation for at least four years. If corporate tax losses of previous years are used, this period is extended to 10 years. The retention period begins the day after the end of the due period to present declaration or self-assessments, corresponding to the fiscal year in which the right to compensate was generated (Article 26.5 CITL).

2.7 Frequency of documentation updates

The transfer pricing documentation must include all transactions undertaken during the whole fiscal year (usually, from 1 January until 31 December). If the documentation prepared for a single fiscal year is still valid for subsequent periods, new transfer documentation is not required. Updates must be made when necessary.

The CbC Report must be updated every year.

2.8 Tax return disclosures

For tax periods starting on and after 1 January 2016 this information will be presented in a separate form (Form 232). In case of Basque Country Legislation, Form 232 is in force for tax periods starting as from 1 January 2017.

2.9 Burden of proof

In Spain's case, there is a time division regarding the burden of proof:

For fiscal years before 1 December 2006, the burden of the proof was on the Tax Administration to determine and justify that the transactions undertaken were not made at market value and hence did not follow the arm's-length principle.

S

For fiscal years after 1 December 2006, the burden of the proof is now on the company, to argue that its
operations have been made at market value and therefore comply with the arm's-length principle.

2.10 Penalties

For fiscal periods between 2009 and 2014:

- If the tax authorities do not make a transfer pricing adjustment, a tax penalty of EUR 1,500 per item or EUR 15,000 per group of omitted or misleading documentation may be imposed.
- When the tax authorities adjust the pricing of a transaction, penalties may be up to 15% of the gross
 adjustment. The penalty will be a minimum of double that which would be applied if the documentation is
 lacking or incomplete and no adjustment was made.

For fiscal periods, from 2015, specific penalties are included in the law (Article 18.13 CITL), which derive from not having correct documentation or not applying the arm's-length principle (i.e., operations do not occur at market value):

- Per instance, a penalty of EUR 1,000 is imposed if a tax adjustment does not take place.
- · Penalties per group of omitted, inaccurate or false facts are of EUR 10,000.
- When the tax authorities adjust the pricing of a transaction, penalties may be up to 15% of the gross adjustment.

Tax regulations also consider the applicability of "secondary adjustments": in those transactions where both values will have tax treatment that corresponds with the nature of the realised profit.

2.11 Interest

Article 19 CITR states interest charges on transfer pricing adjustments are calculated from the end of the due date for filing of self-assessments in the period in which the related party transactions occurred, or if the regularisation gave place to devolution and the self-assessment was presented out of time from the date of the ex-temp presentation of the self-assessment.

Interest will be calculated until the date in which the interest payment is made.

2.12 Use of most reliable information

With respect to the benchmarking analysis, the OECD prefers to use the most reliable information available ("...usually...require the use of local comparable over the use of regional". BEPS Action 13, p. 24-25). The Spanish Tax authority has not expressed a preference towards the use of local comparables in a benchmarking study and Spanish or pan-European comparables are accepted. Secret comparables are not used by the tax authority. The AEAT uses the pan-European Amadeus / Catalyst transfer pricing database and external comparatives in analysing transfer price.

2.13 Languages

There is no specific rule regarding the language of the transfer pricing documentation. If provided in English, a Spanish translation could be requested during a tax audit process.

2.14 APA

Unilateral, bilateral, and multilateral Advance Pricing Agreements (APAs) can be negotiated with the tax authorities. There is no filing fee.

The new regulation has extended the valid term to a six year period (under prior regulations, this was four years). The six year period could include the previous year, when the time limit for filing the tax return has not yet expired, the current year and the next four years.

2.15 Confidentiality

The Spanish tax authorities will treat the transfer pricing documentation confidentially. The tax authorities can only exchange transfer pricing documentation with the tax authorities of another country if there is a legal basis. This legal basis can be found in the national law, a tax treaty or an EU-directive. The transfer pricing documentation is never made available to the public.

Spain

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

The Spanish transfer pricing documentation standards are incorporated in articles 13-16 CITR. The CITR specify the documentation requirements for the group and the local entity in articles 15 and 16 respectively, while the standards regarding the CbC Report are detailed in articles 13 and 14.

The regulations for new informational documentation requirements are applicable for periods starting from 1 January 2016.

3.1 Master File

The following information should be included in the Master File:

1. Information about the structure and organisation of the group:

- 1. General description of the organisational, legal and operative structure of the group, as well as any relevant changes in them.
- 2. Identification of the different entities belonging to the group.

2. Information about the group activities:

- 1. A description of the main activities of the group, as well as a description of the main geographic markets in which the group operates, its main profit sources and the supply chain of those goods and services representing at least 10 percent of the net business turnover of the fiscal year.
- 2. A general description of the functions performed, risks assumed and main assets used by the group entities, including changes in comparison to the previous fiscal year.
- 3. A description of the group's transfer pricing policy including the price fixing method(s) adopted by the group.
- 4. A list and brief description of the cost sharing agreements and of the relevant services agreements between group entities.
- 5. A description of the business restructuring transactions, acquisitions or divestitures occurring during fiscal year.

3. Information about the group's intangible assets:

- A general description of the group's overall strategy for the development, ownership and exploitation of intangibles, including location of main R&D facilities where activities are made, as well as their addresses.
- 2. A list of the group relevant intangibles for transfer pricing purposes and which entities legally own them, as well as a general description of the group transfer pricing policy related to them.
- 3. The amount of the intercompany transactions, involving intangibles, identifying the associated enterprises related to intangible and their tax residence territories.
- 4. A list of agreements between the group entities related to intangibles, including cost contribution agreements, principal research services agreements and license agreements.
- 5. A general description of any relevant transfer of interest in intangibles among associated enterprises carried out during the fiscal year concerned, including the entities, countries and compensation involved.
- 4. Information about the financial activity
 - 1. A general description of how the group is financed, including the main financing agreements subscribed with non-related persons or entities.
 - 2. The identification of any member of the Multinational Enterprise (MNE) group that provide a central financing function for the group, including the country under whose laws the entity is organised and the place of effective management of those entities.
 - 3. A general description of MNE group transfer pricing policies, related to financing agreements between associated entities.

5. Financial and fiscal situation of the group

1. The MNE's annual consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year concerned, whether prepared for compulsory reasons or voluntary purposes.

166

2. A list and brief description of MNE group existing unilateral advance pricing agreements (APAs) and any other tax ruling regarding to the allocation of income between countries.

3.2 Local File

The following information should be included in the Local File:

1. Information about the taxpayer:

- A description of the management structure of the local entity, a local organisation chart, and a description of the individuals to whom local management reports about the evolution of taxpayer's activities, indicating the countries or territories in which those have their tax residence.
- A description of taxpayer's business activities, its business strategy and, if appropriate, including an indication whether the local entity has been involved in or affected by business restructuring or intangibles transfers in the fiscal year.
- 3. Main competitors.

2. Information about controlled transactions:

- 1. A detailed description of the nature, characteristics and amount of the controlled transactions.
- 2. An identification (name, business name, tax address and tax identification number) of the taxpayer as well as the related persons or related-party entities regarding the intercompany transaction.
- 3. A detailed comparability analysis, in terms of Article 17 of this Regulation.
- A description of the transfer pricing method selected, including the reasons for selecting that method, its application process, the set of comparables, and the value or range of values provided by them.
- 5. If applicable, information regarding the expenses sharing criteria linked to services jointly rendered in benefit of various related-party persons or entities, as well as the corresponding agreements, if there are, and the cost sharing agreements in terms of Article 18 of this Regulation.
- 6. A copy of existing unilateral advance pricing agreements (APAs) and any other tax ruling regarding to the related-party operations described above.
- 7. Any other relevant information at the taxpayer's hand, that have been used to determine the valuation of its related-party operations.

3. Economic-financial information of the taxpayer:

- 1. The taxpayer's annual financial statements.
- 2. Reconciliation between the financial information used in applying the transfer pricing methodology and the annual financial statements, if necessary and relevant.
- 3. The financial information of the set of comparables and the source they come from.

3.3 Special considerations - Spanish case

- Spanish Permanent Establishment (PE) of foreign resident taxpayers are also obligated to prepare a Local File in Spain (Article 13.2.b CITR).
- The tax authority normally focusses on the interquartile range in a transactional net margin method (TNMM) analysis.
- Other generally accepted methods and valuation techniques (distinct from the transactional gross and net margin methods), that are in line with the arm's-length principle, can be applied. (Article 18.4 CITL)
- It must be said that the Master File requirements will not be compulsory to those groups with a net turnover below EUR 45 million (Article 18.3 CITL and Article 16.4 CITR). If applicable, the specific documentation will contain the following simplified content:
 - a) A detailed description of the nature, characteristics and amount of the controlled transactions.
 - b) An identification (name, business name, tax address and tax identification number) of the taxpayer as well as the related persons or related-party entities regarding the intercompany transaction.
 - c) Identification of the transfer pricing method selected,
 - d) The set of comparables, and the value or range of values provided by them.

Spain

 In addition, there is a separate regulation for taxpayers complying Article 101 CITL (small companies with a Turnover less than EUR 10 million). In this case, they should present a standardised documentation (Article 16.4 CITR).

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

The new CITR (2015) introduced a requirement for information for those company groups whose consolidated group turnover is more than EUR 750 million. According to Article 14 CITR, the CbC Report must include:

- 1. Information regarding gross group income, with separate information between the related-party entities and the third-party ones.
- 2. The Earnings Before Interest and Taxes (EBIT) or results or other with similar nature or concept.
- The Corporate Income Tax paid (or other with similar nature or concept), including withholding payments.
- 4. The accrued Corporate Income Tax (or other with similar nature or concept), including withholding payments.
- 5. The amount of equity and other undistributed results at the end of the fiscal year.
- 6. The average number of employees.
- 7. Material assets and real estate investments other than treasury and accounts receivable.
- 8. A list of resident entities, including permanent establishments, and main activities undertaken by each of them.
- 9. Other information that is considered relevant and an explanation, where appropriate, of the information included.

For a summary of the transfer pricing documentation requirements in Spain, please see the following table:

Turnover (EUR million)	Country by Country Report	Master File	Local File	Simplified Local documentation	Standardised documentation
<10					х
10 to 45				х	
45 to 750		х	х		
>750	х	х	х		

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Geneva	Roder Jean-Claude	+41 22 301 5440
		jcr@pkfgeneva.ch
Lugano	Claudio Massa Cortesi	+41 91 911 1111
		claudio.massa@pkfcertifica.ch
Zurich	Margarita Baeriswyl	+41 44 285 7500
		margarita.baeriswyl@pkf.ch
Zurich	Rilana Wolf-Bayard	+41 44 285 7500
		rilana.wolf@pkf.ch

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

On 23 November 2016, the Federal Council adopted an approach based on the multilateral agreement on the exchange of country-by-country reports and with adherence to the Federal Act, ensuring an effective implementation. The Multilateral Competent Authority Agreement on the Exchange of Country-by-Country ("CbC") Reports ("CbCR"), and the Federal Act on the International Automatic Exchange of CbCRs, of Multinational Enterprises ("MNE") were adopted by Parliament during Summer 2017. Given that a referendum was not called on these proposals, the Federal Council decided during its meeting which was held on the 17 October 2017 to bring the law and agreement into force by December 2017. Many qualifying MNEs operating in Switzerland are/ due to start producing CbC Reports as from year 2018 onwards. As a result, Switzerland and its partner states will exchange CbC Reports as from year 2020.

The legislation in force does not adopt the three-tiered approach to transfer pricing documentation consisting of a Master File, Local File and CbCR. Presently, it is permitted that only CbCR is required to be submitted.

Switzerland does not currently have any other transfer pricing requirements and does not plan to make transfer pricing documentation compulsory in the future, however they are expected to monitor the situation.

1.2 Practical context

As of 1 January 2015, an estimated 200 Swiss MNE groups are affected by the introduction of the minimum consolidated turnover threshold, this is the equivalent of EUR 750 million.

Currently, it is not anticipated that Switzerland will implement other recommendations included in the BEPS Action 13 Report, such as the preparation of the transfer pricing Master file and Local File. However, Swiss MNEs are well-advised to protect their intercompany arrangements by establishing and maintaining appropriate transfer pricing documentation.

Those CbCRs which have been voluntarily submitted by MNEs for the tax years prior to 2018, are to be exchanged by the Swiss Federal Tax Administration (SFTA) with competent tax authorities of the partner jurisdictions as from 2018.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

The legislation in force requires Swiss-parented multinational entities (MNEs) with annual consolidated group revenue of the equivalent of EUR 750 million (CHF 900 million) or more to submit the first CbCR for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

In the following circumstances, Swiss group entities (other than Swiss-parented MNEs) would also be obliged to file CbCRs:

 The jurisdiction in which the ultimate parent entity is resident for tax purposes does not have a qualifying competent authority agreement in effect to which Switzerland is a party for filing the CbCR for the reporting fiscal year.

Switzerland

- There has been a systemic failure of the jurisdiction of tax residence of the ultimate parent entity and the SFTA has notified the relevant Swiss taxpayer.
- The Swiss company was elected (by the MNE Group) as a substitute for the ultimate parent company, and acts as 'Surrogate Parent Entity' for CbC-reporting purposes.

2.2 Deadlines (timing)

The CbCR must be submitted by the Swiss taxpayer to the SFTA within 12 months of the group's financial year-end. Thus, the CbCR for 31 December 2018 year-end must be submitted on 31 December 2019 at the latest. Hence, Swiss CbC reporting is expected to be exchanged starting in the first half of 2020.

2.3 Tax return disclosures

The law in force provides two options to the Swiss-resident ultimate parent MNEs to submit on a voluntary basis CbCRs utilising the 2016/17 financial information:

- Option 1 is to file the CbCR to the SFTA, which then would exchange the CbCR with other tax jurisdictions based on the existing double tax treaties. Hence, the information in a voluntarily submitted CbCR should be protected by the confidentiality provisions as per the applicable treaty.
- Option 2 provides the MNE with the possibility to submit the CbCR directly through its local affiliate. This option 2 was specifically introduced in the proposed law in order not to breach article 271 of the Swiss Penal Code (this article makes so-called "unlawful activities on behalf of a foreign state" a crime).

2.4 Penalties

Under the law in force, failure to provide the CbCR or providing an incorrect or incomplete CbCR would trigger a penalty of up to TCHF 250. In addition, penalties of up to TCHF 50 could be imposed for non-cooperation with the SFTA during the CbC reporting examination process.

2.5 Languages

The Swiss country-specific report will have to be prepared in either German, French, Italian or English. Financial information must be stated in one single currency, either Swiss francs or the foreign functional currency adopted by the MNE.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

The minimum standard only concerns the CbCRs and their automatic annual exchange. Preparation of the master and Local Files are not covered.

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

The CbCR has to be submitted as XML-file to the SFTA and also to most other tax authorities. Generally, it is anticipated that Switzerland will follow the respective OECD guidelines in the BEPS Action 13 Report and the published user guide for tax administrations and taxpayers (OECD, March 2016, Version 1.0).

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Kyiv	Sviatoslav Biloblovskiy	+38 044 501 2531
		s.biloblovskiy@pkf.kiev.ua

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

Article 39 of Tax Code of Ukraine regulates transfer pricing issues and requires that some transactions are recognised as "controlled transactions" (CT). CT are subject to control by the tax authorities and must be performed under the arm's-length principle.

1.2 Practical context

Ukrainian companies need to review and confirm whether their transactions meet the threshold specified in Tax Code of Ukraine (both quantitative and qualitative) and prepare thorough transfer pricing (TP) documentation (only in the Ukrainian language or supported by official translation) to confirm that the arm's-length principle has been applied to such transactions.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

Taxpayers, engaged in CT, i.e. transactions influencing corporate income tax taxation.

According to the law, the following business transactions carried out by Ukrainian taxpayers are deemed to be controlled:

- Transactions with non-resident related parties;
- International transactions on the sale of goods through non-resident commission agents;
- Transactions with non-residents (both related and non-related parties) registered in a jurisdiction listed by the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, i.e.:
 - a state where the income tax rate is lower than in Ukraine by 5% (percentage points) or more, or a state offering tax relief, or where methods of calculation of taxable base make it possible to evade paying of corporate income tax or pay it at the rate of 5% (percentage points) or more than the Ukrainian tax rate;
 - a state which is not a party to international agreements with Ukraine containing provisions on information exchange;
 - a state, where respective agencies do not provide for timely and full exchange of tax and financial information at the request of tax agencies.
- Transactions with non-residents that do not pay corporate profit tax ('CPT') and/or which are not tax residents
 of the country where they have been registered as legal entities and incorporated with specific legal forms
 (there is a list of such legal forms of non-residents approved by the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine);
- Business transactions (including intrafirm settlements), between a non-resident and its permanent representative office in Ukraine.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

The taxpayer has a right to compare compliance of terms of CT to the arm's-length principle for several CT with the same parties, using the aggregation of transactions called in Ukraine "grouping principle".

The grouping principle allows the pooling of transactions together to apply resale price method, cost-plus method, transactional net margin method and profit split method if they are closely interrelated, continuations of each other, consecutive or regular.

Such transactions may include, but are not limited to:

 purchase (sale) of goods/services under long-term agreements (in particular those performed throughout the entire reporting period);

Ukraine

- transmission (receipt) of rights for the use of different intangibles associated with the one good/service;
- purchase (sale) of a series of closely related products (product group) and/or services;
- purchase (sale) of different goods/services, provided that one good/service, or a group thereof, create demand for the other good/service, or a group thereof.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

The deadline for submission the report on CTs is 1 October of the year following the reporting year.

TP documentation should be submitted at the request of the Ukrainian tax authorities within 30 days.

Tax authorities have a right to audit CT and request TP documentation to be presented for review for the period of 2-555 days following the date of submission the report on CTs.

2.4 Materiality

Transactions, stated in p. 2.1 above (except for transactions between a non-resident and its permanent representative office in Ukraine) are treated as CT, if both of the following conditions are met:

- the annual income of a taxpayer from any activities, defined in accordance with the accounting standards, exceeds UAH 150 million (net of indirect taxes) for the reporting year;
- the volume of such transactions of the taxpayer with one counterparty, as defined under the accounting standards, exceeds UAH 10 million (net of indirect taxes) for the reporting year.

Transactions between a non-resident and its permanent representative office in Ukraine are treated as CT, if the volume of such transactions, as defined under the accounting standards, exceeds UAH 10 million (net of indirect taxes) for the reporting year.

2.5 Retention of documents

According to the Tax Code of Ukraine, the documents and information concerning CT and TP must be retained for 7 years.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

Taxpayers, engaged in CT, must prepare and retain TP documentation for each reporting period.

It should be noted that TP documentation, presented at the request of a tax authority, must contain all information, as set by Tax Code of Ukraine, as at the date of receipt of the above request, i.e. the documentation must be updated before presentation to a tax authority.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

Taxpayers, engaged in CT during a reporting year, must file report on CTs by 1 October of the year following the reporting one. The report on CTs must contain information on all CT, performed during the reporting period.

Also, taxpayers must complete a special appendix to the corporate income tax return to disclose any TP adjustments.

2.8 Burden of proof

The burden of proof is formally set on the tax authorities. However, the taxpayer must provide the tax administration with all the required TP documentation so as not to give the tax administration reason to adjust the tax base.

Prices in CT are assumed not to be at arm's length, unless otherwise proved by the taxpayer. Companies must also prove that the commercial and economic conditions of a CT are comparable to those for transactions between unrelated parties. The burden of proof, thus, shifts from the tax authorities to taxpayers engaged in CT.

If the Ukrainian tax authorities undertake an audit of a CT, they are required to use the same price determination methods as the taxpayer has used to determine the price payable in relation to the transaction.

If the tax authorities can prove that the method of calculation used by the taxpayer did not allow the taxpayer to correctly determine the price payable in relationship to the CT; then the tax authorities are able to challenge the method that the taxpayer has chosen and are able to use an alternative method to calculate the arm's-length price.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

Penalties are based on Subsistence minimum for persons capable of working (SM) as of 1 January of the reporting year.

Non-compliance	Penalty
Non-submission of report on CTs	300 SM
Failure to declare a CT in report on CTs	1% of amount of CT that was not declared in the report but not more than 300 SM (for all undeclared CTs)
Failure to submit TP documentation	3% of amount of CT for which no documentation was submitted but not more than 200 SM
Failure to declare a CTs or TP documentation upon expiration of 30 calendar days following the last day of the deadline for payment of penalties for non-submission	5 SM for each calendar day of non-submission after expiration of 30 calendar days
Delayed submission of report on CTs	1 SM for each calendar day of delay but not more than 300 SM
Delayed declaration of CTs in submitted report on CTs (in case of submission a clarification report on CTs)	1 SM for each calendar day of delay but not more than 300 SM
Delayed submission of TP documentation	2 SM for each calendar day of delay but not more than 200 SM

*Subsistence minimum for persons capable of working (SM) as per 1 January 2018 is UAH 1 762 (approximately USD 63) per month.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

If the tax audit identifies that the terms of a CT differ from arm's-length principle, resulting in erroneous calculation of taxable income and/or understatement of tax, the tax authority adjusts the price of CT and tax liabilities. If the tax authority charges additional tax liabilities, a penalty of 25% of additionally charged tax liability shall be applied to the taxpayer.

If a taxpayer makes TP-adjustment, the penalty is not applicable.

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

No specific guidance is available.

2.10 Interest

No specific guidance is available.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

Taxpayer and tax authorities use the sources of information, containing data which make it possible to compare commercial and financial terms of controlled and non-controlled transactions, in particular:

- Information on comparable non-controlled transactions of the taxpayer and information on comparable non-controlled transactions of its counterpart - a party of CT with non-related parties;
- Any information sources, containing public information and provide information on comparable transactions and parties;
- Other sources of information, where a taxpayer may get information in compliance with current Ukrainian law, which present information on comparable transactions and parties, if the taxpayer presents this information to the tax authorities;
- Information, received by a controlling agency under international agreements of Ukraine.

Ukraine

The tax authorities must use the same sources of information, used by the taxpayer for preparation of TP documentation, if it cannot prove that use of other sources of information make it possible to get better level of comparability of commercial and financial terms of transactions compared.

It also noted that state authorities are not entitled to use information, which is not publicly available to compare the conditions of CT with the conditions of non-controlled transactions (including information available only to state authorities).

2.12 Languages

The TP documentation should be prepared in Ukrainian. If the TP documentation contains documents in foreign languages the taxpayer is obliged to provide the tax authorities with the translation into Ukrainian.

2.13 Confidentiality

General rules apply. No specific guidance is available.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

3.1 Master File

Ukraine has not yet adopted relevant legislation and regulations. No specific guidance is available.

3.2 Local File

The tax Code of Ukraine does not divide the TP documentation on the Master File and the Local File.

According to the Tax Code of Ukraine, the TP documentation should contain the following:

- Comprehensive information about parties of CT and taxpayer's related parties, including information on entities, which are owned 20% or more by the taxpayer (either directly or indirectly) and information on entities/owners 20% or more by the taxpayer (either directly or indirectly);
- Information about the group (parent company and subsidiary companies), including: structure, description
 of activities, group transfer pricing policies, information on entities which the taxpayer provides with local
 management reports (names of the countries in which these entities hold their head offices);
- Description of the management structure of the taxpayer, its organisational structure scheme, number of employees;
- Description of business and strategy of business, implemented by the taxpayer, in particular, economic terms of business, analysis of respective markets of goods (works, services), where the taxpayer operates, major competitors;
- Information about the taxpayer's participation in business restructuring or transfer of intangible assets during the reporting or preceding year, with an explanation of the aspects of those operations that had or still have an impact on the operations of the taxpayer;
- · Description of the CT and copies of the agreements (contracts);
- Description of goods (work, services), including physical characteristics, quality and reputation in the market, country of origin and manufacturer, trademarks, etc.;
- Information about the payments actually made in the CT (amounts and currency of payment, date, payment documents);
- · Factors that impact the price, in particular business strategies of the parties (if any);
- Functional analysis of the CT: information on the functions of CT's parties, an asset which they used and which are associated with such CT, and economic (commercial) risks taken into account by such persons in the implementation of the CT;
- Economic and comparative analysis: amount of income or expenses, profitability level; transfer pricing
 method applied, its substantiation; information about and approach to selection of comparable data
 and sources of information; substantiation of use of information for several tax periods (years) during
 calculation of profitability range and calculation of average weighted profitability index (if any); profitability
 level calculation of the arm's-length price or profitability range; description and calculation of adjustments
 of terms in a controlled and comparable transaction (if any), etc.
- Information about adjustments of tax base and tax amount made by the taxpayer (if any).

174

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

Ukraine has not yet adopted relevant legislation and regulations.

4.1 Threshold and required content

No specific guidance is available.

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

No specific guidance is available.

UNITED KINGDOM

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Birmingham	Suki Kaur	+44 797 365 7815
		sukik@pkfcooperparry.com
Edinburgh	Susie Walker	+44 131 220 2203
		susie.walker@jcca.co.uk
Exeter	Stuart Rogers	+44 1392 667000
		stuart.rogers@pkf-francisclark.co.uk
London	Chris Riley	+44 207 516 2427
		criley@pkf-littlejohn.com

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

The UK's current transfer pricing rules are contained in the Taxation (International and Other Provisions) Act 2010 (TIOPA 2010), Part 4.

The UK is a member of the OECD and prescribes to the OECD Guidelines. UK transfer pricing legislation explicitly requires that the transfer pricing rules should be interpreted so as to ensure consistency with the OECD Guidelines.

(In July 2017, the OECD released the 2017 edition of the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and Tax Administrations.) Treasury assent is required in order for the UK legislation to incorporate each new edition of the Guidelines. An order was granted in March 2018 to mean the 2017 guidelines will apply to all accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2018.

The UK government has implemented legislation to give effect to Country-by-Country Reporting (CbCR) as per Action 13 of the OECD/G20-project Base Erosion and Profit Shifting Plan (BEPS). The legislation is contained in Finance Act 2015 section 122, Statutory instrument 2016 no 237 and Statutory instrument 2017 No 497. Further details on the CbCR-rules are detailed below.

The MLI will enter into force for the UK on 1 October 2018 and will begin to have effect in the UK for UK tax treaties from:

- 1 January 2019 for taxes withheld at source;
- 1 April 2019 for Corporation Tax;
- 6 April 2019 for Income Tax and Capital Gains Tax.

The date which individual UK tax treaties are modified by the MLI depends on the date our treaty partners deposit their own instruments of ratification, acceptance or approval.

1.2 Practical context

Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs (HMRC) are the taxing authority in the UK.

HMRC publish guidance on its interpretation of the transfer pricing rules on its website. The guidance is contained in the international tax manual as well as technical notes. The UK does not have a rulings process for transfer pricing outside of an APA.

At present the UK has not implemented any specific legislation to require the Masterfile and Countryfile form of documentation as per Action 13 BEPS.

The UK requirement therefore remains unchanged and taxpayers must have documentation to confirm compliance with the arm's-length principle. HMRC has published guidance on the type of documentation that it would expect a taxpayer to keep including primary accounting records, tax adjustment records and evidence of compliance of the arm's-length principle.

It should be noted that HMRC refer taxpayers to OECD Transfer Pricing documentation guidance as an example of best practice documentation.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

The UK transfer pricing rules require that transactions made or imposed between parties by means of a transaction or series of transactions are consistent with the arm's-length principle, where otherwise there would be a UK tax advantage. The rules are widely drafted and are intended to cover almost every kind of transaction, including UK to UK transactions.

There is an exemption from the UK transfer rules for small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs). The definition of an SME is a modification of the European recommendation (2003/361/EC). An entity qualifies as either small or medium if it meets the staff headcount ceiling for that class and one (or both) of either the annual turnover limit or the balance sheet limit which are contained in the following table:

		And less than one of the following limits:	
Enterprise	Maximum number of staff	Annual turnover	Assets
Small	50	EUR 10 million	EUR 10 million
Medium	250	EUR 50 million	EUR 43 million

The limits must be calculated with reference to the whole group of associated enterprises and not the UK entity alone.

There are some exceptions, the main one being the SME exemption does not apply to transactions with parties in non-qualifying territories (countries where there is no UK double tax treaty with appropriate non-discrimination article).

The CbCR-requirements apply to UK entities that are part of a multinational enterprise (MNE) with a consolidated group revenue of at least EUR 750 million or more for an accounting period commencing on or after 1 January 2016. The CbC Report must be filed in respect of the accounting period immediately following that in which the threshold requirement is met.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

HMRC guidance refers to OECD guidelines when considering whether aggregation of transactions is possible. Aggregation may be accepted if the taxpayer can demonstrate that at arm's length a trader would do the same.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

Evidence to support an arm's-length price should be available when the relevant tax return is submitted to HMRC. The documentation does not need to be submitted with the tax return but should be available should HMRC later request it.

If the transfer pricing documentation is not available upon request of the tax authorities, a reasonable period is given to the taxpayer to deliver the requested documentation. Failing to provide the documentation may have penalty implications (see below).

If the UK entity is required to file a CbC Report, it must file the report within twelve months of the end of the relevant accounting period. There is also a notification requirement, requiring a UK entity in each MNE group to submit an annual notification to HMRC, stating which entity in the MNE group will file the CbC Report. To avoid penalties the notification to HMRC must be made by the end of the period being reported.

2.4 Materiality

In principle, all transactions with associated enterprises should be supported by transfer pricing documentation. There is no de-minimums level below which documentation would not be required.

In practice, however, HMRC often limit their scope of enquiry to transactions with material impact. For example, HMRC have expressed that they have no desire to tie up resources investigating UK-to-UK transactions where the tax risk is low.

HMRC have confirmed they will accept the simplified method of determining the ALP for low value-added services going forwards.

United Kingdom

2.5 Retention of documents

HMRC require companies to keep records for six years from the end of the last company financial year they relate to, or longer in certain circumstances such as when a tax return has been filed late or there is an ongoing tax enquiry.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

Contemporaneous transfer pricing documentation is required for each accounting period and evidence should be available to support the arm's-length price included in a tax return. In practice, a light touch review should be undertaken each year to update the documentation for any changes in the business and market developments. A significant change in the facts and circumstances would merit a more detailed update of the documentation.

The CbC Reports and relevant notifications to HMRC should be completed each year.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

There are no tax return disclosure requirements or transfer pricing specific returns. UK entities are required to self-assess their compliance with the arm's-length principle in filing tax returns. Where an entity would have lower taxable profits or greater allowable losses calculated using their accounting records than if calculated on arm's-length terms then they must identify and make transfer pricing adjustments when submitting their tax returns.

2.8 Burden of proof

In the UK, the burden of proof that inter-company transactions follow arm's-length principles is the responsibility of the taxpayer through the submission of their self-assessment return.

Where HMRC consider there has been a UK tax advantage resulting in lost revenue, the burden of proving that this was a result of the taxpayer's negligence or carelessness falls on HMRC.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

A penalty of up to GBP 3,000 can be levied if the company fails to keep and preserve accurate records. Additional penalties may be charged for false or misleading statements made in connection with an application for an advanced pricing agreement.

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

The general self-assessment rules relating to the imposition of penalties for incorrect returns apply to errors in a return that relate to transfer pricing. The level of penalty depends on whether the error is careless or deliberate. The penalties are tax geared at up to 100% of the potential lost revenue figure.

Where a company is loss-making, a penalty may be charged of up to 10% of any transfer pricing adjustment which HMRC makes in respect of the losses.

HMRC have stated that where an 'honest and reasonable' attempt to comply with the arm's-length standard has been made, they will not seek to levy penalties on the taxpayer.

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

Failure to notify HMRC or to submit a CbC Report will result in an automatic penalty of GBP 300. If a penalty is assessed and the failure to submit continues, then the entity is liable to a further penalty for each subsequent day on which the failure continues, of an amount not exceed GBP 60 a day. A tribunal can increase this penalty to GBP 1,000 per day.

If inaccurate information is provided to HMRC, and this was known at the time provided or the inaccuracy is discovered and no reasonable steps to inform HMRC are taken, then a penalty of up to GBP 3,000 may be levied.

Notice of an appeal against any penalties must be given in writing within 30 days.

2.10 Interest

There are no specific rules on interest charged on subsequent tax payments in transfer pricing cases. Interest is normally charged on tax underpaid and is calculated from the day on which the tax was originally due at a rate of 3.25%.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

The UK legislation closely follows the OECD guidance on comparability. This generally consists of both UK comparables and pan-European searches. However, there are no specific requirements and as such relevant global, regional or non-UK transfer pricing reports may be accepted.

2.12 Languages

The transfer pricing documentation must be provided in English.

HMRC have not specified a language in respect of country by country reporting, however it is anticipated that HMRC expect reporting to be in English.

2.12 Confidentiality

HMRC are bound by confidentiality considerations in respect of information obtained through transfer pricing. The tax authorities can only exchange the transfer pricing documentation with the tax authorities of another country if there is a legal basis such as through a tax treaty, an EU-directive or international exchange of information agreement. The transfer pricing documentation is never available to the public.

There is no UK requirement for CbC Reports to be made publicly available. However, the legislation contains enabling provisions which give the Treasury powers to issue regulations requiring groups to publish CbC-reporting information in the future.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

At present the UK has not implemented any specific legislation to require the Masterfile and Countryfile form of documentation as per Action 13 BEPS. It should be noted that HMRC refer taxpayers to OECD Transfer Pricing documentation guidance as an example of best practice documentation.

HMRC has published guidance on the type of documentation that it would expect a taxpayer to keep including primary accounting records, tax adjustment records and evidence of compliance of the arm's-length principle. Documentation relating to evidence of compliance with the arm's-length principle is to follow the OECD Guidelines.

HMRC transfer pricing specialists do have some guidance which is published on the HMRC website on the types of information to request from taxpayers. This list is reproduced here:

- · Identification of relevant connected party transactions, with details of products or services provided
- · A group structure globally and for the UK
- · An overview of the activities and recent history of the business
- · Details of the products and/or services provided
- Documents which the business has prepared for CTSA (corporation tax self-assessment) transfer pricing requirements, including any transfer pricing reports with details of any comparability studies and of any searches for comparables
- · Any further evidence the business has of arm's-length pricing
- The business's own transfer pricing manual or policy document(s)
- Details of the transfer pricing methodologies including clear details of how the prices are calculated and
 of the impact this has on the parties' profit levels
- A functional analysis detailing the functions performed by the parties to the transactions, the assets used and risks assumed by each
- An outline of the key transactional flows in the business, both internally and with third parties, together with a discussion of contractual terms
- · A volume breakdown of relevant intercompany transactions
- Accounts for all parties relevant to the transactions (wherever located) with a segmental split of the relevant figures where appropriate
- · Agreements and contracts governing the transactions
- Details of the main profit generating activities and assets in the group together with details of where they
 are located
- Details of the key intellectual property used in the business, the entities which have developed or acquired it and currently own and use it, and of any payments related to it
- · Details of the intra-group funding arrangements

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1 Threshold and required content

There is a requirement for UK headed MNEs with a consolidated group revenue of more than EUR 750 million to provide HMRC with an annual country-by-country report for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2016. The CbC Report must be filed in respect of the accounting period immediately following that in which the threshold requirement is met.

When the accounting period of an MNE group is less than 12 months the EUR 750 million should be reduced proportionately. Where the MNE's accounts are not prepared in euros the equivalent of the reporting currency using the average exchange rate for the accounting period should be used.

A UK entity for the purposes of these rules is an entity which is resident in the UK for tax purposes or has a UK permanent establishment. The rules also apply to partnerships with the jurisdiction of tax residence being treated as the jurisdiction in which the partnership is formed and organised.

4.2 Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

The entity which must notify HMRC and the entity which will file the report will depend on where the ultimate group parent company is resident.

Ultimate parent

A UK ultimate parent company needs to provide HMRC with a country report. HMRC will automatically exchange this report with the jurisdictions in which the MNE is active and with which the UK has concluded an agreement for automatic exchange of information.

As such, in this circumstance the UK ultimate parent entity must also notify HMRC that it is responsible for filing the report and provide the names and unique tax reference numbers for all UK subsidiaries.

Overseas parent company

Under OECD principles, the country by country report is provided by the ultimate parent company of the MNE in its state of residence. The state of residence should exchange the country report automatically with other tax authorities. Where the MNE is resident in a country that doesn't require country by country reporting or, doesn't exchange reports with HMRC in accordance with an effective multilateral competent authority agreement, the top UK entity in the MNE will also be required to file a report in respect of its sub-group.

Where the ultimate parent company is overseas there is a separate notification required. A UK entity in each MNE group is required to submit an annual notification to HMRC stating which entity in the MNE group will file the CbC Report and what jurisdiction it operates in. The notification should also include details of the names and the tax reference numbers of all the UK tax resident companies.

Voluntary filing

An entity which is not the ultimate parent of the group may file a country-by country report on behalf of the MNE if the entity is UK tax resident, is authorised by the ultimate parent entity of the group to file a country-by country report on behalf of it and the parent has notified HMRC of that authority in writing on or before the filing deadline.

Exceptions

There are two main exceptions from CbC Reporting.

The first exemption applies where:

- before the filing deadline a member of the MNE has filed a country-by country-report in respect of the period and
- that report includes the information required to be contained in the United Kingdom report.

Provided that before the filing deadline HMRC are provided with details of the entity which has filed the report and the date the report was filed then no further UK report is required.

The second exemption applies where:

- an entity has filed a report in a jurisdiction other than the UK and
- the report is the equivalent of a country by country report and
- includes the information required to be contained in the UK report and
- the appropriate authority of the jurisdiction in which the report was filed has entered into exchange arrangement with HMRC and

- HMRC has not notified the UK entity that the arrangements are not operating effectively.

Again, providing that the UK entity provides details of the entity that filed, the jurisdiction in which the report was file and the date the report was filed then no UK report should be required.

Notification format

All UK entities are required to make a notification. One entity can report on behalf of others, but in these circumstances, it remains the obligation for every entity to provide details of the entity providing the notification.

HMRC require that notification must be made under a prescribed spreadsheet format available on their website. Notification must be made to a group's customer relationship manager (where one is assigned) and by email to notification.cbcfiling@hmrc.gsi.gov.uk. If notification is not received in the specified format it will be treated as having not been filed.

Required content of report

The report must contain the following information about the MNE in respect of each tax jurisdiction in which they do business:

- The amount of revenue, profit before income tax and income tax paid and accrued
- The total employment, capital, retained earnings and tangible assets.

MNEs are also required to identify each entity within the group doing business in a particular tax jurisdiction and to provide an indication of business activities, within a selection of broad areas, which each entity engages in.

Requesting information

The legislation stipulates that before the reporting deadline the UK entity must request from the ultimate parent all the filing information would need to file a country by country report before the deadline and if receives files the information.

If the UK entity does not receive the information before the filing deadline, it must notify HMRC in writing that it has not provided this information and file a UK only report.

Anti-avoidance provisions

Anti-avoidance provisions apply where the MNE enters into any arrangements where the main purpose of one of the main purposes is to avoid any obligation under these regulations. Under these circumstances then the provisions have effect as if the arrangements had not been entered into.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

MEMBER FIRM

City	Name	Contact Information
Houston	Frank Landreneau	+1 713 860 1400
		flandreneau@pkftexas.com
New York	David Slemmer	+1 646 965 7781
		dslemmer@pkfod.com

1. Introduction

1.1 Legal context

Section 482 of the Internal Revenue Code ("IRC") of 1986 ("Section 482 Regulations") outlines the regulatory guidance for intercompany transactions among members of multinational enterprises ("MNEs"). Section 482 allows the United States ("U.S.") Treasury to prevent the evasion of taxes or to reflect the income of U.S. members of MNEs and provides that income related to intangible property transactions be commensurate with the income attributable to the intangible. The basis to ensure that the intercompany transfer price for goods, services and intangible property clearly reflect income for U.S. Federal Tax purposes in the Section 482 Regulations is the arm's-length standard.

Section 6662 of the IRC ("Section 6662 Regulations") outlines the ten transfer pricing documentation requirements and the penalty regime that may be imposed for large transfer pricing adjustments.

1.2 Practical context

The U.S. has not enacted the Master File nor the Local File as most of the elements of both are already covered in the existing Section 482 of the IRC and Section 6662 Regulations. Despite that, the U.S. Treasury has enacted Country-by-Country ("CbC") reporting and has created Form 8975 and Schedule A ("Form 8975") so that MNEs headquartered in the U.S. may file the CbC Report alongside of the federal tax return. As a result, the U.S. Treasury is negotiating information sharing agreements with all tax treaty partners to eliminate the need for secondary filings in other tax jurisdictions.

2. Formal requirements

2.1 Which taxpayers

Transfer pricing documentation must be maintained in any case of two or more organisations, trades, or businesses owned or controlled directly or indirectly by the same interest, with controlled transactions between these related entities. Controlled transactions may include tangible property, intangible property, loans, and/or services to or from foreign affiliates in exchange for payment. These transactions must be at a price that is consistent with an arm's length price.

Effective June 30, 2016 annual CbC-reporting is required for all U.S.-parented MNE groups with annual revenue for the preceding reporting period of USD 850 million or more by filing of Form 8975.

2.2 Aggregation of transactions

Treasury Regulation Section 1.482-1(f)(2)(i) of the IRC provides that multiple transactions (generally within the same product grouping) may be aggregated when they are so interrelated that it is necessary to view them as a whole. Treasury Regulation Section 1.482-1(f)(2)(ii) of the IRC provides that controlled transactions will be evaluated based on the structure of the actual transaction, and will not be treated as if the transaction had been structured differently. However, alternatives may be considered that were available to the taxpayer in determining whether the terms of the controlled transactions would be acceptable to an uncontrolled taxpayer faced with similar alternatives.

2.3 Deadlines (timing)

Contemporaneous transfer pricing documentation is recommended for taxpayers to avoid penalties under the Section 6662 Regulations. The existence of this documentation need not be either disclosed on, or provided with the taxpayer's federal tax return, but the documentation must be complete as of the date of the federal

tax return filing. Taxpayers must submit transfer pricing documentation to the IRS within 30 days of a formal Information Document Request to avoid penalties.

Intercompany transactions with foreign affiliates need to be disclosed on Forms 5471, 5472, 8858, and 8865 which are filed with the federal income tax return. The deadline for corporate federal income tax returns is the 15th day of the fourth month following the close of the tax year (April 15 for calendar-year taxpayers). Corporate taxpayers may request an automatic six-month extension of time to file will extend the deadline six months (October 15 for calendar-year taxpayers). The deadline for partnership federal income tax returns is the 15th day of the third month following the close of the tax year (March 15 for calendar-year taxpayers). Partnerships may also request an automatic six-month extension (extended deadline of September 15 for calendar-year taxpayers). As mentioned above, Form 8975 is required to be filed with a U.S.-based taxpayer's federal tax return.

2.4 Materiality

There are no formal thresholds recommended for contemporaneous documentation to be maintained by taxpayers with controlled transactions. However penalties described in Section 6662(e) of the IRC apply wherever there is an underpayment of tax attributable to a valuation misstatement, subject to certain thresholds. In any year, no penalty is imposed under these rules unless the underpayment of tax attributable to all valuation misstatements exceeds a dollar limitation of USD 5,000 in the case of an individual, S corporation, and personal holding companies (Section 6662(e)(2)).

Filing the Form 8975 is required by the ultimate parent entity of a U.S. MNE group with annual revenue for the preceding reporting period of USD 850 million or more.

2.5 Retention of documents

Retention of transfer pricing documents is three to six years from the filing date of the associated tax return. A general statute of limitations applies in the U.S. which is three years from the later of either the tax return due date or the date the return was actually filed. The statute is extended to six years for substantial understatements of income and indefinitely if there is fraud.

2.6 Frequency of documentation updates

Transfer pricing documentation should be updated annually to account for normal business and market developments. If the facts have not significantly changed, previous documentation can be relied upon. Form 8975 must be filed annually, if applicable.

2.7 Tax return disclosures

Tax Forms 5471, 5472, 8858, 8865, and 8975 require disclosure details on controlled transactions with foreign entities. If a company enters into cost sharing as defined under Treasury Regulation Section 1.482-7(k)(4), it requires a controlled participant to file a cost sharing statement with the IRS within 90 days after the first occurrence of intangible development costs, and to make specified disclosures on its annual tax return.

Regulations issued in 2010, require taxpayers to also disclose their uncertain tax positions ("UTPs") on Schedule UTP. Undocumented or uncertain controlled transactions are considered UTPs for the purposes of this schedule. On this schedule taxpayers must provide details such as the ranking of the positions by the size of their reserves and descriptions of the tax positions. As of 2014, the UTP disclosures are required by corporations with assets of USD 10 million or more.

2.8 Burden of proof

For penalty avoidance purposes, a taxpayer is considered to have satisfied the documentation requirement if it maintained certain documentation that substantiates the taxpayer's assertion that is has reasonably concluded that, given the available data and the applicable pricing methods, the method and its application provided the most reliable measure of arm's-length result under the principles of the best-method rule.

2.9 Penalties

2.9.1 General

There is no penalty for failure to have documentation if there is no adjustment. While the existence of a contemporaneous documentation report will not guarantee that a transfer pricing penalty will not be assessed, it will help a U.S. taxpayer avoid penalties if a transfer pricing adjustment is assessed.

United States of America

2.9.2 Penalties in case of a TP-adjustment

Per the Section 6662 Regulations, taxpayers may be liable for either a 20 percent or 40 percent penalty for an underpayment of tax attributable to a substantial or gross valuation misstatement, respectively (Section 6662(a) and Section 6662(h)). The penalties are calculated as a percentage of the total transfer pricing adjustment. In addition, the IRS may apply a penalty to an asset valuation misstatement. (Section 6662(e)).

2.9.3 CbC-reporting

The U.S. Treasury enacted CbC Reporting for fiscal years ending after January 1, 2017 and created Form 8975 for U.S.-based MNEs to file with their tax returns. Penalties under Section 6038(b) of the IRC may apply for failure to report the information required on the form.

2.10 Interest

Because the penalties described in Section 6662 Regulations is on an addition to tax, underpayment interest accrues on the penalty in the same manner as on the tax itself. The interest rate on such underpayment is established under Section 6621(a)(2) of the IRC and is the sum of the Federal short-term rate plus three percentage points.

2.11 Use of most reliable information

The arm's-length result of a controlled transaction must be determined under the method that, under the facts and circumstances, provides the most reliable measure of an arm's-length result. There is no strict priority of methods, and no method will invariably be considered to be more reliable than others. An arm's-length result may be determined under any method without establishing the inapplicability of another method, but if another method subsequently is shown to produce a more reliable measure of an arm's-length result, such other method must be used.

Data based on the results of transactions between unrelated parties provides the most objective basis for determining whether results of a controlled transaction are arm's length. The relative reliability of a method based on the results of transactions between unrelated parties depends on the degree of comparability between the controlled transaction or taxpayers and the uncontrolled comparables, taking into account the factors described in Treasury Regulation Section1.482-1(d)(3).

2.12 Languages

Documentation is required to be in English and cannot be submitted in any other language.

2.13 Confidentiality

The IRS will treat the transfer pricing documentation confidentially. All information received will be treated confidentially and prohibit any parties from using any of the information other than for the administration of taxes. Confidentiality should be maintained even when disclosure is required for public court proceedings or judicial decisions. Taxpayers' information should only be disclosed to the extent needed for the court or judicial decisions.

With respect to the information provided on Form 8975, the CbC Report will be exchanged under bilateral Competent Authority arrangements for the exchange of CbC Reports between the U.S. and applicable foreign jurisdictions.

3. Standards with respect to the content of transfer pricing documentation

The regulations associated with U.S. transfer pricing documentation do not require taxpayers with controlled transactions among foreign affiliates to maintain a Master File and/or a Local File as defined in the OECD guidelines. However, the documentation required under Section 6662 of the IRC requires similar information to the information in the Master File and Local File. The information required under Section 6662 of the IRC is as follows:

- An overview of the taxpayer's business, including economic and legal factors that affect pricing of its property or services. *Treasury Regulation Section* 1.6662-6(d)(2)(iii)(B)(1).
- A description of the taxpayer's organisational structure, including all related parties whose activities are relevant to transfer pricing. *Treasury Regulation Section* 1.6662-6(d)(2)(*iii*)(B)(2).
- Any document explicitly required by the regulations under section 482 (e.g., documentation of non-routine risks, cost sharing agreements, etc.). *Treasury Regulation Section* 1.6662-6(d)(2)(iii)(B)(3).
- A description of the method selected and the reason why it was selected. *Treasury Regulation Section* 1.6662-6(d)(2)(iii)(B)(4).
- A description of the alternative methods that were considered and an explanation of why they were not selected. *Treasury Regulation Section 1.6662-6(d)(2)(iii)(B)(5)*.

184

- A description of the controlled transactions (including terms of sale) and any internal data used to analyse them. *Treasury Regulation Section 1.6662-6(d)(2)(iii)(B)(6)*.
- A description of the comparables used, how comparability was evaluated, and what adjustments were
 made. Treasury Regulation Section 1.6662-6(d)(2)(iii)(B)(7).
- An explanation of the economic analysis and projections relied on in developing the method. Treasury Regulation Section 1.6662-6(d)(2)(iii)(B)(8).
- A description or summary of any relevant data that the taxpayer obtains after the end of the year and before filing a tax return. *Treasury Regulation Section* 1.6662-6(d)(2)(iii)(B)(9).
- An index of principal and background documents. Treas. Reg. § 1.6662-6(d)(2)(iii)(B)(10).

4. Country-by-Country reporting standards

4.1. Threshold and required content

For fiscal years beginning on or after June 30, 2016, certain U.S. persons that are the ultimate parent entity of a U.S. MNE group with annual revenue for the preceding reporting period of USD 850 million or more are required to file Form 8975. Form 8975 are used by filers to annually report certain information with respect to the filer's U.S. MNE group on a CbC-basis. The filer must list the U.S. MNE group's constituent entities, indicating each entity's tax jurisdiction (if any) country of organisation and main business activity, and provide financial and employee information for each tax jurisdiction in which the U.S. MNE does business. The financial information includes revenues, profits, income taxes paid and accrued, stated capital, accumulated earning, and tangible assets other than cash.

4.2. Notification requirement for subsidiary companies

There are no notification requirements for subsidiary companies as Form 8975 must be filed with the IRS with the income tax return of the ultimate parent entity of a U.S. MNE group. There is no secondary filing requirement for U.S. subsidiaries of foreign ultimate parent entities.

